## HARMONIC ANALYSIS, HECKE ALGEBRA AND COHOMOLOGY ON GROUPS OF TREES AND BUILDINGS

YAMENG JI

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



School of Mathematics & Statistics Newcastle University Newcastle upon Tyne United Kingdom

October 2018

#### Abstract

The PhD project consists of two parts. The first part is about finite trees, realizations and random walks. The second part is about the Hecke algebras of infinite trees and buildings and the cohomology groups. We note that some examples of finite trees can be generalized to the infinite cases. The words of finite length in the example of ultrametric rooted trees with finite depth can be extended to doubly infinite chains in the infinite homogeneous trees thus defining a Banach algebra.

As the background of the project, we study the topics of finite phylogenetic trees by understanding the combinatorial and geometrical structure of rooted and unrooted discrete BHV tree space of n taxa. Certain types of random walks on the space of trees can be used to model the evolution process. As a method to improve the computation of such random walks, we realize some tree spaces into polytopes in Euclidean space where the vertices, edges and faces indicate trees of different degenerate levels. In particular, we study the links between the permuto-associahedra and the BHV tree-space. One specific realization is called the secondary polytope, which is used to construct the associahedra, and we will generalize this construction into more complicated examples and compare with the BME polytopes of the BHV trees.

In order to study the random walks on tree space, we apply several classic methods such as the eigensolutions of Markov chains, Gelfand pairs and spherical functions to decompose the functions on tree space. We present some classic examples where these methods solve the random walk explicitly. We consider biinvariant subalgebras of group algebra which are commutative under convolution. These arise from Gelfand pairs where spherical functions can be used to produce the eigenvectors of the transition matrix of the random walk. We note that an example of the q-homogeneous rooted tree of a finite depth is a good link to generalize the study from finite to infinite cases where the space is still discrete.

The first example in the second part of the thesis is the infinite homogeneous trees and we study the invariant subalgebra under the  $\ell^1$  norm. The space can be discretized to  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  and we show that it is isomorphic to a Hecke algebra with single generator, the Hecke operator which corresponds to the random walk generator. It is natural to consider some key properties of the algebra, i.e. the spherical functions, character space, derivations and b.a.i.. The main example we study is the Gelfand pair given by projective general linear groups over *p*-adic numbers and the subgroup corresponding to the the *p*-adic integers, where the example of the smallest dimension corresponds to infinite homogeneous trees and examples of higher dimensions correspond to the Bruhat-Tits buildings of type  $\tilde{A}$ . We claim that the Hecke algebras of these Gelfand pairs are isomorphic to the invariant subalgebras of functions on the  $\tilde{A}$  lattice subject to weight conditions determined by p.

Based on the isomorphic algebras on the type  $\tilde{A}$  lattices, we consider the examples of types  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$ , with and without the invariance conditions under the Weyl group action on the lattices. We show that the above examples are all finitely generated and the number of generators in each case are equal to the dimension of the lattice in the Euclidean space. We then compute cohomology groups of the algebras of functions on the weighted lattices. We build up from the methods introduced in the examples of those similar to  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_+^k$ . The general idea is to calculate the approximate formulae from the precise ones in  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_+^k$  and iterate the process with an induction by reducing the degree of the leading terms. We also expect this method can be generalized to the Hecke algebras of other Gelfand pairs with corresponding weighted lattices.

#### Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to my first supervisor, Michael White: for his generous advice and patient support, not only throughout the four years as a postgraduate, but for my eight years in Newcastle. Right from the undergraduate introduction, he guided me with his precious time and mathematical insight, without which this thesis would not have come to fruition. When I felt stuck and hopeless, he always had some spectacular idea to find a way through with admirable methods. It has been a pleasure writing and scratching on a proper blackboard with him and his humoured talks in history and linguistics have been a constant joy beyond mathematics. Thank you Michael.

I would also like to thank my second supervisor, Tom Nye: for his tremendous knowledge in phylogenetics that motivated this PhD project, for his friendly comments in the first solid chapter and for his help during our visit to Winthrop where we met many nice people with great ideas in both phylogenetics and polytopes.

I must thank the School of Mathematics, Statistics and Physics for financial support. The staff have been nice and helpful as always. I must acknowledge Christian Lawson-Perfect: for his extraordinary programming skill to produce those fascinating polytopes. His web page 'The Aperiodical', tricky tweets and Mathjam puzzles have always been inspirational.

I owe an immeasurable debt to my parents and my wife for all the emotional and financial support they have given me. They enthusiastically ask me to explain my research and admire every single progress I have made. Thank you Feifei, for my survival of the infection in 2016.

Special thanks must go to I-Kang Liu, who was my flatmate in 2014 and 2015. I must thank him for his masterclass cooking and our exciting conversations beyond academia, especially the distraction when I needed it most.

Finally, thanks go to those friends in the School of Mathematics, Statistics and Physics: Wael Abdulateef Al-Taie, Robbie Bickerton, Tom Bland, David Brown, Matthew Buckley, Xi Chen, Yafeng Cheng, Dimitris Chiotis, Laura Cole, Paolo Comaron, David Cushing, Liam Dobson, Can Evirgen, Holly Fisher, Thomas Fisher, James Hollins, Safwan Ibrahim, Sarah Jowett, Yingying Lai, Nicholas Loughlin, Siddiqua Mazhar, Keith Newman, David Robertson, Amit Seta, George Stagg, Batzorig Undrakh, Gavin Whitaker, Pengcheng Zeng and all the other PhD students for the discussions, chess, birds' names, board games, office food & drinks and the fellowship of the ZAPPA's.

## Contents

## 1 Overview

Ι

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

Fin	ite tre	ees, realizations and random walks	4
Bac	kgrour	nd and finite tree spaces	5
2.1	Introd	uction	5
2.2	Phylog	genetic trees	11
	2.2.1	Combinatorics	12
	2.2.2	The nearest neighbour interchange and random walk	18
2.3	Realiz	ations of different tree spaces	20
	2.3.1	Realizations of the permutohedra	21
	2.3.2	Realizations of the associahedra	27
	2.3.3	Realizations of the permuto-associahedra	39
	2.3.4	Realizations of the space of finite phylogenetic trees	43
Ran	dom v	valks, finite Gelfand pairs and spherical functions	49
3.1	Finite	Gelfand pairs	50
3.2	Spheri	cal functions	55
3.3	Rando	m walk on tree spaces	58
	3.3.1	Lumpable random walk and eigensolutions	58
	3.3.2	Random walks on graphs of phylogenetic tree spaces	63

## II Infinite trees, buildings and the cohomology groups of their Banach algebras 68

4	Alg	ebras of automorphism groups of homogeneous trees	69
	4.1	The groups acting on the infinite homogeneous tree $\mathbb{T}_q \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	70
	4.2	The algebra of functions on the vertices on $\mathbb{T}_q$	71
	4.3	Random walk on $\mathbb{T}_q$ , spherical functions and characters $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	75

	4.4	Point derivations and b.a.i
	4.5	The isomorphism to a weighted subalebra of $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z})$
<b>5</b>	$\mathbf{Alg}$	ebras of automorphism groups of buildings and the $\omega_R$ -norm 90
	5.1	Lattices of $p$ -adic numbers and the buildings $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 91
	5.2	The Gelfand pair $(PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$
	5.3	Typed Laplace operators and random walks
	5.4	The $\tilde{A}_2$ lattice $A_2$ and the algebra $A_{3,p}$
	5.5	The weight condition on $\tilde{A}$ lattices $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
6	$\mathbf{Alg}$	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology 109
6	<b>Alg</b> 6.1	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology 109   Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices 109
6	<b>Alg</b> 6.1 6.2	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{B}$ lattices116
6	<b>Alg</b> 6.1 6.2 6.3	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{B}$ lattices116Higher cohomology of algebras with single generator121
6	<b>Alg</b> 6.1 6.2 6.3	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{B}$ lattices116Higher cohomology of algebras with single generator1216.3.1Second cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+$ 121
6	Alg 6.1 6.2 6.3	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{B}$ lattices116Higher cohomology of algebras with single generator1216.3.1Second cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+$ 1216.3.2Simplicial and cyclic cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}_+$ 130
6	<b>Alg</b> 6.1 6.2 6.3	ebras with weighted norms and cohomology109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices109Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{B}$ lattices116Higher cohomology of algebras with single generator1216.3.1Second cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+$ 1216.3.2Simplicial and cyclic cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}_+$ 130Future work143

## List of Figures

2.1	The rooted binary tree constructed from the Newick string $((a, c), b), ((d, e), (f, g))$ .	8
2.2	The triangulation of the dual polygon to the Newick string $((a, c), b), ((d, e), (f, g))$ .	9
2.3	$\mathbb{T}_{2,4}$ , the binary tree of depth 4	
2.4	The nearest neighbour interchange at an internal edge with 4 subtrees	
	A, B, C, D	
2.5	The Petersen graph with compatible partitions for $S_5$	
2.6	The permutohedron $P_2$	
2.7	The permutohedron $P_3$	
2.8	The dual permutohedron $P_3^*$	
2.9	The associahedron $K_4$	
2.10	The associahedron $K_5$	
2.11	The dual associahedron $K_5^*$	
2.12	The permuto-associahedron $KP_3$	
2.13	The permuto-associahedron $KP_4$	
3.1	The Petersen graph	

## Chapter 1

## Overview

In this chapter, we briefly outline the materials discussed in the contents. This PhD project is motivated by finite phylogenetic trees and the aim is to investigate specific problems related to the combinatorial, geometrical and algebraic structure of trees. The first part of the thesis focused on the problems of finite dimensional examples, mainly on the combinatorial properties and random walks. We review some background in phylogenetics and give our own realizations of certain tree spaces in terms of convex polytopes in Euclidean space. The second part of thesis move on to the problems in infinite dimensional examples, namely the infinite homogeneous trees and buildings. We study the Banach algebra of functions on the vertices of trees and buildings and state the link to the Iwahori-Hecke algebras with the  $\ell^1$  norm. We also study some cohomology groups of algebras of functions on lattices which corresponds to the subalgebras of functions on trees and buildings via an isomorphism.

Chapter 2 starts with a brief introduction to the topic of phylogenetic trees. We fix the number of leaves to be n and consider the *semi-labeled* trees. We define a tree as a connected graph with no cycles and specify the leaf vertices of degree 1 to be labeled and the internal vertices to be unlabeled. For  $n \geq 3$ , the space of fully resolved semi-labeled trees, denoted by  $S_n$  in Definition 2.11, consists of all trees with all n leaf vertices labeled by the set of n species and unlabeled (n-2) internal vertices of degree 3. The discrete phylogenetic tree space, denoted by  $S_n^*$  in Definition 2.12, consist of all semi-labeled trees with n leaves, including the trees in  $S_n$  and the semi-labeled trees with internal edges of degree greater than 3. Both  $S_n$  and  $S_n^*$  are finite sets thus we consider them to be discrete. By defining the adjacencies between the trees, e.g. by the *nearest neighbour interchange* in Section 2.2.2, we can define a graph and study the simple random walk on the corresponding graph.

We also define the continuous tree space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  by specifying the internal edge lengths for

the trees in the discrete space  $S_n^*$ , as in Definition 2.16. We embed the space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  into the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$  whose basis corresponds to the non-trivial splits of the *n* leaf labels.

The new results are presented in Section 2.3. We present the realizations of some tree spaces which preserve the nearest neighbour interchange adjacencies and combinatorial structures. We realize the permutations of n leaf labels on the permutohedron  $P_n$  as an (n-1)-dimensional convex polytope in Section 2.3.1. We then realize the space of fully resolved trees with leaf labels in a certain permutation on the associahedron  $K_n$  as an (n-2)-dimensional convex polytope in Section 2.3.2. We apply the secondary polytope construction to produce an explicit half-space presentation of  $K_n$ , with the proof using an original idea of the folding process in Theorem 2.39. We then combine the realizations of  $P_n$  and  $K_n$  to construct the (n-1)-dimensional convex polytope permuto-associahedron  $KP_n$  which consists of all fully resolved trees in the discrete space  $S_n$  in Section 2.3.3. Finally we generalize the secondary polytope construction to construct a polytope of higher dimension for the discrete space  $S_n$  as a generalized associahedron.

Chapter 3 is motivated by the topic of simple random walks on discrete tree spaces. We consider the algebra of functions on a group G and on the homogeneous space X = G/K where K is a subgroup. We present the definitions of finite Gelfand pairs and study some examples where the bi-K-invariant subalgebra is commutative under convolution. The spherical functions are applied to analyse the characters of the subalgebra. We will clarify the relation between the lumpable random walk on the partitions generated from the double cosets of a Gelfand pair (G, K) and the bi-K-invariant subalgebra of functions on the finite group G. The eigensolutions to the transition matrix of the simple random walk on the homogeneous space G/K can be obtained from the spherical functions for the Gelfand pair (G, K). In particular, we study the random walk on the vertices of the Petersen graph, which corresponds to the discrete tree space  $S_5^*$ . We also briefly outline how the random walks on other discrete tree space can be lumped to reduce the dimensions of the transition matrices for the simple random walks.

Chapter 4 starts with the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$ . We study the Gelfand pair given by the automorphism group acting on  $\mathbb{T}_q$  and the subgroup which stabilizes a fixed vertex  $x_0$ . The Iwahori-Hecke algebra defined from the Gelfand pair is singly generated and can be explicitly considered as an algebra on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ . We study the spherical functions, characters, the existence of point derivations and bounded approximate identities of these algebras. We introduce a new method of the shift matrix to compute spherical functions and characters. The main result is Theorem 4.25 which proves that the bi-K-invariant subalgebras of functions on the *p*-adic infinite trees with  $\ell^1$  norm are isomorphic to the  $S_2$ -invariant subalgebras on integers where the multiplications satisfy the rules for multiplications between Laurent polynomials with an  $\omega_R$ -weighted  $\ell^1$  norm.

Chapter 5 is a generalization from the example of the automorphism group acting on  $\mathbb{T}_q$ . We consider the Bruhat-Tits buildings defined from the homogeneous space  $PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)/PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ , the projective general linear groups over *p*-adic numbers and integers. In particular, we set the group  $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and the subgroup  $K = PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ and show that the pair (G, K) is a weakly symmetric Gelfand pair. Some results still need further justification so we present them as conjectures. The bi-*K*-invariant subalgebra of functions on the building correspond to the algebra of functions on a Weyl chamber of type  $\tilde{A}$  lattices which is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ , satisfying a multiplication rule  $*_p$  determined by the value of the prime number *p*.

In Chapter 6, we study the algebra of functions on Type  $\tilde{A}$  and Type  $\tilde{B}$  lattices with the  $\omega_R$ -weighted  $\ell^1$  norm. We also study the invariant subalgebra under the group actions of  $S_n$  and  $B_n$  on the corresponding lattices, namely  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$ . We describe the multiplication rules as the multiplications between the Laurent polynomials, the generators and point derivations of the two types of algebras.

For the higher cohomology groups of singly generated algebras, we review some well known methods to compute the cohomology groups of  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  on the point modules and dual modules, with and without the weight condition  $\omega_R$  on the  $\ell^1$  norm. For the simplicial and cyclic cohomology, we study an explicit construction of coboundaries for the algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  in [20]. The method is applied to derive an approximate construction of coboundaries with finite inductive steps to compute the simplicial and cyclic cohomology groups of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  which is isomorphic to the Iwahori-Hecke algebra generated from the infinite homogeneous tree in Chapter 4. The main statement is presented in Theorem 6.45. We finish with a conjecture of the higher cohomology groups of the invariant subalgeras of functions on the weighted type  $\tilde{A}$  and type  $\tilde{B}$  lattices under the Weyl group actions.

## Part I

# Finite trees, realizations and random walks

## Chapter 2

## Background and finite tree spaces

## 2.1 Introduction

Biologists use phylogenetic trees to analyse the evolution and structure of genes. Phylogenetic trees can be built by comparing DNA sequences using specific parts of the genome [53], [61]. Trees play a very important role in many fields of biology such as bioinformatics, systematics, and comparative phylogenetics [53]. Information can be obtained from a phylogenetic tree so that we give ourselves a better knowledge of evolutionary relationships between species.

Trees have mathematical structures based on graph theory and the space of phylogenetic trees can be studied from combinatoric and geometric view points [9], [62]. Scientists are keen to use mathematical tools to describe the space of evolutionary trees, which are widely used by biologists and statisticians to analyze data numerically [4]. In a specific version of tree space, the candidates for species on the leaves are fixed therefore we consider the space to be finite. Within the space, the divergent patterns and their network of paths give us numerous possibilities to infer the most likely evolutionary paths.

The space of phylogenetic trees is mostly studied by pure mathematicians analytically [37], [26], [27]. Originally the finite dimensional problem was approached by the triangulations of convex polygons, which are the dual graphs of a binary tree with fixed cyclic order of the labels [28]. In the last decade, the study of tree spaces has exploded and attracted different approaches from various directions [8], [9], [56], [23], [19], [57]. Therefore we review some important results in this research subject and develop it into more general cases.

The aim of this thesis is to investigate some pure mathematics developed for the study of tree spaces in both finite and infinite dimensions. We start by sketching a classification of tree spaces from different properties of geometry and combinatorics. We will then move on to the relations and adjacencies within the same tree space (the random walk) and compare our analysis with others. There are also published results from different perspectives and we would like to clarify the relationships between these approaches after the analytic work [59], [52].

We would like to produce a result on the decomposition of functions on tree spaces which use the Laplace operators from the adjacencies. The solution will be the decomposition into eigenvectors giving harmonic analysis on tree spaces. Meanwhile, the random walk on continuous spaces can be interpreted as the solutions to the heat equation and diffusion processes in applied mathematics. Similarly, the eigensolutions from the adjacency matrices will give us information including processes and paths of evolution by likelihood in statistics.

In graph theory, a tree is defined to be an undirected graph T = (E, V) which is connected and without any simple cycles. Every pair of distinct vertices on a tree is joined by a unique path which is a set of edges. We consider trees with no trivial internal vertices of degree 2 in the unrooted cases. The only vertex we allow to have degree 2 is the vertex that corresponds to the root in a rooted tree. A *leaf vertex* is a vertex of degree 1 and a *leaf edge* is the edge which is connected to a leaf vertex. A tree space  $\mathcal{T}$  is defined to be the collection of all trees that satisfy certain properties. We present some classic examples of trees, their related expressions and embeddings.

**Definition 2.1.** For  $n \ge 3$ , a star  $s_n$  is a tree with n edges and (n+1) vertices, the only internal vertex  $i_0$  and the leaf vertices  $\{v_1, \dots, v_n\}$ .

The internal vertex  $i_0$  has degree n and is connected with all leaf vertices and every leaf vertex has degree 1 is only joined to the internal vertex  $i_0$ . There are no internal edges in this graph. We may consider the star tree as the fully degenerate phylogenetic tree of n species. In the realization and the computation of metrics on tree spaces, the star tree is often considered as the origin in the corresponding Euclidean space [5].

Note that the star tree is *bipartite* therefore there exists an eigensolution which corresponds to the alternating eigenvector with eigenvalue -1 in the simple random walk on the graph in addition to the constant solution with eigenvalue 1. In this case, the simple random walk does not converge to a stationary distribution.

**Definition 2.2.** A tree is called semi-labeled if the leaf vertices are labeled and the internal vertices are not labeled.

For a semi-labeled unrooted tree with n leaves, we choose  $X = \{t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_n\}$  to be set of leaf labels which correspond to the species. To simplify the labeling, we might replace them with the set of numbers  $\mathcal{N} = \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ . For a semi-labeled rooted tree, one of the leaf labels is chosen to be the root. Note that in a binary rooted phylogenetic tree, the leaf edge for the root has positive length therefore the internal vertex adjacent to the root vertex has degree at least 3.

**Definition 2.3.** A permutation of X is a sequence:  $i_{\pi(1)}, i_{\pi(2)}, \ldots, i_{\pi(n)}$  where  $\{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_n\} = X$  and the group element  $\pi \in S_n$ .

We start from a string given by a permutation of X. Sometimes we write the root label R or 0 in front of the string so that it has length (n + 1). We then add brackets on the string by the following rules. We pick a subsequence of consecutive elements of length at least 2 in the string, i.e. the subsequence  $j_1, \ldots, j_k$  where there exists t such that  $j_l = i_{l+t}$  for all  $l = 1, \ldots, k$ . Then we put a left bracket to the left of  $j_1$  and a right bracket to the right of  $j_k$  on the string so that the subsequence  $j_1, \ldots, j_k$  is bracketed.

**Definition 2.4.** The partition given by a bracketed subsequence  $j_1, \ldots, j_k$  of the sequence  $i_{\pi(1)}, i_{\pi(2)}, \ldots, i_{\pi(n)}$  is a pair of disjoint subsets  $\{j_1, \ldots, j_k\}$  and  $\{X \cup R\} \setminus \{j_1, \ldots, j_k\}$  of the set  $X \cup R$ .

We then repeat the process by bracketing more subsequences of consecutive elements of the string by choosing a subsequence  $X_{jk}$  that satisfies that following conditions:

- the length of  $X_{ik}$  must be at least 2;
- the subsequence  $X_{jk}$  must not be identical to any subsequence that has been already bracketed;
- given any previously bracketed sequence  $X_0$ ,  $X_{jk}$  and  $X_0$  can either be disjoint, or one of them is completely included in the other i.e. the two brackets for  $X_0$  and  $X_{jk}$ are *compatible*.

**Remark 2.5.** The first two conditions make sure that all bracketings are nontrivial and the third condition defines the pairwise compatible relations of the set  $X \cup R$  for any two distinct brackets.

The string is fully bracketed if there are not any nontrivial brackets to be added by the rules above. Note that a single label in the string is also fully bracketed. In a fully bracketed string, every bracketed subsequence consists of a unique partition of two disjoint bracketed subsequences. Every single label in the string is also one of the two disjoint sets of the partition for a unique larger bracketed subsequence.

**Definition 2.6.** A semi-labeled Newick string of X without edge lengths is a string of X with compatible nontrivial bracketings.

We will now construct the semi-labeled rooted binary tree from the semi-labeled Newick string which is fully bracketed. The semi-labeled rooted binary tree will be constructed by defining the vertices and edges which are (computer-)readable from the Newick string. For the binary tree to be nontrivial we require  $n \geq 3$ . We start with the star tree  $s_3$  and label one leaf vertex by the root label R. Then we find two subsequences  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  whose union is the full sequence A on the Newick string such that  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are both bracketed or just consist of a single label. We then define both subsequences to be the *children* of the root R and label them on the other two vertices of the star tree respectively. If a subsequence  $X_{jk}$  consists of more than one labels, we label two vertices by the two disjoint bracketed subsequences of its partition as its *children* and join each of these two vertices to the vertex labeled  $X_{jk}$  by an edge. We repeat this process on all subsequences until vertices of children all correspond to single labels. We obtain a connected graph which is a tree with (n+1) leaves labeled by the set X and the root R. The bracketed subsequences on the internal vertices not only define the partition of splits, but also define the subtrees as they are all in the semi-labeled Newick string format. An example of semi-labeled rooted binary tree is given by the figure below.



Figure 2.1: The rooted binary tree constructed from the Newick string ((a, c), b), ((d, e), (f, g)).

Every fully bracketed semi-labeled Newick string and the rooted binary tree has a planar embedding to a triangulated convex polygon and these two constructions have many key properties in common.

**Definition 2.7.** A triangulation of a convex polygon with labeled edges is a cutting of the polygon into triangles by connecting vertices with non-crossing line segments.

For a semi-labeled Newick string of X where |X| = n, we set the convex polygon to have (n + 1) edges and label the top edge as the root label R. Then we label the other edges anticlockwise from R by the string of X. Every non-crossing line segment inside the convex polygon splits the edge labels into a partition of two disjoint strings with length at least 2. The string without the root label R is a subsequence which can be bracketed. The non-crossing condition for the line segments correspond to the property that all partitions of the bracketings are compatible. When the convex polygons are cut into triangles, we cannot add any other line segments which connect vertices and do not cross the existing line segments. This property corresponds to the condition of the *fully bracketed* string. Hence we construct the corresponding triangulation of the convex polygon from a fully bracketed Newick string. The embedding of the rooted binary tree is by putting the vertices inside the corresponding triangles of partitions and outside the labeled edges of the convex polygon. We then join two vertices by an edge if their regions share a common edge.

**Definition 2.8.** A triangulated convex polygon is the dual polygon of a semi-labeled Newick string and the corresponding rooted binary tree if it satisfies two conditions:

- 1. the anticlockwise permutation of the edge labels apart from the root label R is the same to the permutation for the sequence of the Newick string;
- 2. every partition of the edge labels given by a line segment inside the polygon is a partition defined by a bracketed subsequence as in Definition 2.4.

An example of the triangulation with the embedded binary tree of the above Newick string is given by the figure below.



Figure 2.2: The triangulation of the dual polygon to the Newick string ((a, c), b), ((d, e), (f, g)).

As a triangulation defines a unique set of compatible partitions of  $X \cup R$ , it gives a full bracketing of the semi-labeled Newick string of X which shows that it is also a one-to-one correspondence. There are  $C_{n-1}$  ways to triangulate a convex polygon where  $C_m$  is the *m*-th Catalan number  $\frac{1}{m+1} \binom{2m}{m}$ .

Conversely, it is also possible to construct a triangulated convex polygon from a binary tree as both graphs are planar and we can place all leaves across the polygon's edges and connect the vertices through the partitions of leaf labels given by the internal edges of the tree. The triangulated polygon which is constructed from the binary tree is not unique as there are more than one planar embeddings given by the valid cyclic orders of the leaves. We will then discuss the groups that act on the Newick strings and triangulated polygons, thus find the invariance conditions of the embedded binary trees.

If we fix the root label R and the positions of the brackets, the symmetric group  $S_n$  acts on the permutation of elements of X. This group action preserves the shape of the triangulation but changes the semi-labeling of the corresponding convex polygon.

We will now define a equivalence relation on the set of triangulated polygons and their corresponding Newick strings which give the same binary trees.

**Definition 2.9.** Two semi-labeled Newick strings are said to be BHV-equivalent if all partitions read from their corresponding bracketings are the same.

This implies the same equivalence relations on the triangulations for the *dual polygon* due to the one-to-one correspondence.

If the polygon is regular, the dihedral group  $D_{2(n+1)}$  acts on the semi-labeled triangulated convex through rotations and reflections. The cyclic order of the elements in the string X and the embedded binary tree is preserved under this action but the top edge for the root label may change and the bracketing of the Newick string might be different. Note that a rooted tree can also be unrooted if we do not specify the labeled leaf R as its root. Given an internal edge in the triangulation that cuts the polygon into two small semi-labeled polygons, the reflection of one of the two small polygons about the perpendicular bisector of that internal edge, together with the labels, also fix the partitions, but is likely to change the permutation of the labels. In the next section, we will enumerate the number of fully resolved phylogenetic trees through the constructions of semi-labeled Newick strings and triangulations and calculate the number of *BHV-equivalent* binary trees by the invariance conditions given by the actions described above.

**Example 2.10.** The q-homogeneous rooted tree of depth n.

Let  $\Sigma = \{0, 1, \dots, q-1\}$  be the *alphabet* where  $q \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . A finite word  $\omega$  over  $\Sigma$  is a sequence  $\omega = \sigma_1 \dots \sigma_k$  of length k where  $\sigma_j \in \Sigma$  for all  $j = 1, \dots, k$ . We denote by  $\Sigma^k$  the set of words of length k and  $\Sigma^0 = \emptyset$  the *empty word*.

We define the graph T = (V, E) of the finite *q*-homogeneous tree of depth  $n \mathbb{T}_{q,n}$  where  $n \geq 2$ . First we define the vertex set V to be  $\bigcup_{k=0}^{n} \Sigma^{k}$ , the set of words with length

0 to n. Then we define the edge set E by the adjacency relations between the vertices. Two vertices are connected by a single edge if and only if one word can be obtained from the other by adding or deleting the final letter. Two vertices are adjacent if they are connected. We can see that there are not any cycles in the graph therefore it is a tree. The empty word  $\emptyset$  is adjacent to the q words of length 1 and every word of length n,  $\omega = \sigma_1 \dots \sigma_n \in \Sigma^n$  is adjacent to one word of length n-1,  $\omega' = \sigma_1 \dots \sigma_{n-1}$ . Every internal vertex corresponds to a word of length k where  $1 \leq k \leq n-1$  and is adjacent to q words of length k + 1 and one word of length k - 1. The leaves are given by  $\Sigma^n$ , the set of words of length n. All internal vertices have degree q + 1, therefore the tree is homogeneous. Given an internal vertex  $v = \sigma_1 \dots \sigma_k \in \Sigma^k$ , we define  $\mathbb{T}_v$  to be the subtree rooted at v. The subtree  $\mathbb{T}_v$  is a subgraph of  $\mathbb{T}_{q,n}$  which consists of vertices of words of the form vv' where  $v' \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{n-k} \Sigma^j$  and the edges are given by the adjacency relations defined above.



Figure 2.3:  $\mathbb{T}_{2,4}$ , the binary tree of depth 4.

The symmetric group  $S_q$  acts at every internal vertex and the automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  acts on the entire tree. We define  $G_v \simeq S_q$  to be the group that acts at the internal vertex of the word v and there exists an isomorphism between  $G_v$  and  $S_q$  given by  $\theta_v(\pi) = \theta_{v,\pi} \in Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  where  $G \in S_q$ . The group  $G_v \simeq S_q$  stabilizes all vertices which are not on the subtree  $\mathbb{T}_v$ . For a word  $v\sigma_{k+1}v' \in \mathbb{T}_v$  where the word v has length k and  $v' \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{n-k-1} \Sigma^j$ , given a group element  $\pi \in S_q$  and the corresponding element  $\theta_{v,\pi} \in Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$ , we have  $\theta_{v,\pi}(v\sigma_{k+1}v') = v\pi(\sigma_{k+1})v'$ . In the next chapter, we will define the ultrametric on this space and identify a subgroup K which is the stabilizer of a fixed word  $00\ldots 0$ . We also consider the algebra of functions on the group and compute the spherical functions of the commutative bi-invariant subalgebras arising from the Gelfand pair of the automorphism group and the subgroup K.

## 2.2 Phylogenetic trees

In this section, we present various spaces of phylogenetic trees with n labeled leaves. We will first define the discrete spaces given by the set of trees as graphs by considering the case where all internal vertices have degree 3 and the case where some internal vertex has degree at least 4. We will also define the continuous space of semi-labeled phylogenetic trees where the internal edges are assigned with lengths.

We start by enumerating the tree shapes in the discrete semi-labeled tree space where all internal vertices have degree 3 and introduce different representations of a semi-labeled tree including the subtree splits, the quartet display and the trees and matchings of 2nnumbers [17]. We will then describe the adjacency relations between the trees in the space as an essential setting for a random walk e.g. the nearest neighbour interchange (NNI). The settings will be applied in the next section where we realize the discrete tree spaces to construct the polytope from the adjacency relations.

### 2.2.1 Combinatorics

In terms of a graph, for  $n \geq 3$ , a *fully resolved* semi-labeled phylogenetic tree with n species on the leaves consists of n leaves, (n-3) internal edges with positive lengths and (n-2) internal vertices of degree 3. A tree is said to be *semi-labeled* by the set of species X if the leaves are labeled by distinct elements of the set X and the internal vertices are not labeled. Normally we just define the set of n species X to be the set of numbers  $\mathcal{N} = \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ . As a graph, a tree can be rooted with a root label R or unrooted if we do not specify a root label. If there is a root, we may define the root label to be the number 0 as it satisfies the condition of a leaf on the graph of the tree.

A tree is either *fully resolved* if every internal vertex has degree 3 or *degenerate* if there exists an internal vertex with degree at least 4. We start from the *discrete* tree space to consider the trees as graphs and do not assign lengths to the edges. We will now define the sets of semi-labeled trees for only the fully resolved case and the set which consists of both fully resolved and degenerate trees.

**Definition 2.11.** The fully resolved discrete phylogenetic tree space  $S_n$  is the set of fully resolved semi-labeled trees with n leaves [9].

We will describe the structure of the adjacencies between the all trees in the set  $S_n$  in the next subsection 2.2.2.

**Definition 2.12.** The discrete phylogenetic tree space  $S_n^*$  is the set of semi-labeled trees with n leaves which consists of both fully resolved and degenerate trees.

If we use the same set  $\mathcal{N}$  for the leaf labels, we can see that  $\mathcal{S}_n$  is a subset of  $\mathcal{S}_n^*$ . We will first examine the combinatorial structure of  $\mathcal{S}_n$  and compare with the Newick strings introduced in the previous section 2.1.

**Definition 2.13.** A split of a set X is a partition of X into two disjoint subsets  $\{E, E^C\}$ . **Definition 2.14.** A split  $\{E, E^C\}$  of X is nontrivial if  $|X| \ge 4$  and  $2 \le |E| \le |X| - 2$ . **Definition 2.15.** Two splits  $\{E, E^C\}$  and  $\{F, F^C\}$  are compatible if  $E \cap F \in \{E, F, \emptyset\}$ . This compatibility relation is also described for the bracketing of the Newick string in Definition 2.4 and Remark 2.5 in the previous section 2.1, where E and F can only be disjoint or one of them is a subset of the other. For a fully resolved semi-labeled tree, every internal edge generates a split of the leaf labels. This is because when we remove an internal edge, the graph becomes disconnected and consists of two semi-labeled trees with disjoint sets of leaf labels. Therefore every fully resolved tree determines (n-3) compatible nontrivial partitions. Conversely, given (n-3) compatible nontrivial partitions of the set X, we can reconstruct the corresponding fully resolved tree [55].

To be precise, every internal edge is adjacent to four other edges which gives the partition of four disjoint subsets of the leaf labels. The *quartet display* of an internal edge of a semi-labeled tree T with leaf labels X is given by  $Q(T) = (T_1, T_2 | T_3, T_4)$  of the subtrees where the disjoint sets  $T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4 \in X$  with  $T_1 \cup T_2 \cup T_3 \cup T_4 = X$  and the notation | indicates the split  $\{\{T_1 \cup T_2\}, \{T_3 \cup T_4\}\}$ .

For  $S_n^*$ , in a degenerate tree with *n* leaves, there are less than (n-3) internal edges. However we can still produce the set of compatible splits from the existing internal edges. The star tree  $s_n$  is the fully degenerate tree as the internal edges do not exist therefore there are not any nontrivial splits of the leaf labels.

Given a tree  $T \in S_n$ , every partition  $\{E, E^C\}$  generated from an internal edge subdivides the tree into two subtrees. Each one of the two subtrees has a special internal vertex of degree 2 if we remove that internal edge. The subtree with the subset E for the leaf labels is defined to be a *cherry* if |E| = 2. For  $n \ge 4$ , a tree has least 2 cherries. A tree is called a *caterpillar tree* if it only has 2 cherries [9].

There are various ways to count the number of trees in the space of  $S_n$  and we will present three of them. The three methods are given by (I) the induction of building up from the star tree  $s_3$  [21]; (II) the counting of *BHV*-equivalent triangulations of semilabeled polygon; (III) the matching algorithm that sets the one-to-one correspondence between  $S_n$  and the disjoint unordered 2-subsets of (2n - 4) numbers [17].

Method (I): we verify that for n = 3, there is only one possible tree which is the star tree with leaf labels  $\{1, 2, 3\}$  and there is no internal edge for a star tree. For n = 4, there is only one internal edge and the three partitions for the three trees in  $S_4$  are  $\{\{1, 2\}, \{3, 4\}\}$ ,  $\{\{1, 3\}, \{2, 4\}\}$  and  $\{\{1, 4\}, \{2, 3\}\}$ . Equivalently, the three splits correspond to the three edges of the star tree  $s_3$  on which we insert the leaf edge labeled 4. Note that there are 4 leaf edges and 1 internal edge for the trees in  $S_4$ . To construct a tree in  $S_5$ , we may insert the leaf edge labeled 5 on any one of the 5 existing edges in a tree  $T \in S_4$ . We then repeat this inserting process, which means that to construct a tree in  $S_k$  from a tree in  $S_{k-1}$ , we may insert the leaf edge labeled k to any one of the (2k - 5) existing edges on a tree  $T \in S_{k-1}$  for  $k \ge 5$  [21]. Every single tree T in  $S_n^*$  can be constructed by this process. The construction can be reversed by removing the labeled leaves, from n down to 4. Then we will know the positions for the inserting process for all labeled leaves. By induction, the enumeration result of the number of trees in  $S_n$  is given by the falling factorial number (2n-5)!!.

Method (II): we can count the number of distinct trees from the fully triangulated semilabeled regular polygon with n edges and then quotient out the corresponding binary trees which are BHV-equivalent given in the previous section 2.1. Every permutation for the labels and a triangulation gives a dual graph of a fully resolved tree in  $S_n$  as in Definition 2.8. The dihedral group  $D_{2n}$  acts on the n-gon through rotations and reflections. Two trees are also BHV-equivalent under the twisting of internal edges which corresponds to the reflection of one of the two small polygons about the perpendicular bisector of the corresponding internal line segment in the triangulation. The twisting does not allow both small polygons to be reflected as this is one of the reflections generated from  $D_{2n}$ . Therefore every twist of an internal edge gives a two-fold symmetry which cannot be generated from the dihedral group action as a twist only reverses the edge labels on one of the two small polygons. These two actions, which are the dihedral group actions and the (n-3) twists of the internal line segments, preserve the set of splits thus preserves the tree in  $S_n$ . All of the (n-3) twists are independent from each other and also independent from the dihedral group action  $D_{2n}$  [9].

We enumerate the number of triangulated regular *n*-gons with *n* labeled edges, which is given by  $|S_n| C_{n-2}$  where  $C_{n-2}$  is the Catalan number and equal to the number of triangulations of a convex *n*-gon. We also calculate the number of *BHV*-equivalent trees which are embedded to these  $|S_n| C_{n-2}$  labeled triangulated polygons. For a triangulated regular *n*-gon with *n* labeled edges, any actions of the (n-3) twists and  $D_{2n}$  give a another triangulated regular *n*-gon which is BHV-equivalent to the original one. Hence the number of BHV-equivalent triangulated regular *n*-gons can be obtained by the product of the sizes of the independent twists and dihedral group action [9], which is given by  $|D_{2n}| 2^{n-3}$ . Therefore the size of the  $S_n$  can be calculated by

$$|\mathcal{S}_n| = \frac{|S_n| C_{n-2}}{|D_{2n}| 2^{n-3}} = \frac{n! (2n-4)!}{2^{n-2} n(n-1) ((n-2)!)^2} = (2n-5)!!.$$

Method (III): We note that the number (2n-5)!! is equal to the number of (n-2) unordered disjoint 2-subsets of (2n-4) numbers. There indeed exists such matchings of n pairs for a rooted tree of Newick string format with (n-1) leaves [17]. We will state the one-to-one correspondence between the matchings and trees. First we relabel the leaf labeled n as the root R, alternatively denoted by 0. The idea is to view the graph as hanging the tree up by its root. Then we express the tree in the Newick String format, without the length of edges. We will then label the internal vertices from the original semi-labeled tree to complete the labeling of the entire tree. As there exist at least two cherries

in a fully resolved tree, we can spot them as the brackets  $(i_1, i_2), (i_3, i_4), \ldots, (i_{2k-1}, i_{2k})$ which all consist of two leaf labels. We pick the bracket  $(j_1, j_2)$  if  $j_1$  or  $j_2$  is the smallest in the set  $\{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_{2k-1}, i_{2k}\}$  and write down the 2-subset with the two numbers from this bracket  $\{j_1, j_2\}$ . Then we replace this bracket by the number n in the Newick string and obtain another Newick string. This process labels the corresponding internal vertex on the rooted tree.

This process can be repeated by using the Newick string obtained from the previous step, which equivalently chops off a cherry with the smallest number and then labels the new leaf label with the next unused natural number. We repeat the process until all internal vertices are labeled and the (n-2) 2-subsets are written down. For example, the matching process of the Newick string (((5,2),4),(3,1)) are given by

$$\left( \left( (5,2),4 \right), (3,1) \right) : \left\{ \{1,3\} \right\}, \\ \longrightarrow \left( \left( (5,2),4 \right),6 \right) : \left\{ \{1,3\}, \{2,5\} \right\}, \\ \longrightarrow \left( (7,4),6 \right) : \left\{ \{1,3\}, \{2,5\} \right\}, \\ \longrightarrow \left( 8,6 \right) : \left\{ \{1,3\}, \{2,5\}, \{4,7\} \right\}, \\ \longrightarrow : \left\{ \{1,3\}, \{2,5\}, \{4,7\}, \{6,8\} \right\}.$$

Two Newick strings are BHV-equivalent if their corresponding splits defined by the bracketings are identical. Therefore two Newick strings return the same matchings if they are BHV-equivalent as they correspond to the same tree in  $S_n$  given by the same splits.

Conversely, given (n-2) unordered disjoint 2-subsets of a set of (2n-4) numbers, we are able to reconstruct the Newick string through the same process of spotting the cherry with the smallest number. At the start, there exists a 2-subset where both numbers are less than or equal to (n-1). Every 2-subsets which satisfy this condition is a cherry. The internal vertex of the cherry with the smallest number will be labeled by the number n. We then remove the 2-subset and also remove those two numbers in that 2-subset from the big set of (2n-4) numbers. Equivalently we remove that semi-labeled cherry from the semi-labeled tree and label the previous internal vertex of that cherry with number nas that vertex is now a labeled leaf vertex. We obtain another semi-labeled rooted binary tree and then repeat the process of spotting the cherry with the smallest number. This process gives a unique semi-labeled binary tree in the Newick string format which can be reversed to obtain the matchings. Therefore the one-to-one correspondence gives us the number of fully resolved trees in  $S_n$ , which is the number of (n-2) unordered disjoint 2-subsets of (2n-4) numbers,  $\frac{(2(n-2))!}{2^{n-2}(n-2)!} = (2n-5)!!.$ 

We will now define the space of phylogenetic trees with n taxa with specified lengths

for the internal edges. We always assume that the lengths of the leaf edges are strictly positive. We do not include the data of the lengths of the leaf edges as the splits for leaf labels are determined by the internal edges [9].

**Definition 2.16.** The continuous phylogenetic tree space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  is given by the set of semilabeled trees of n leaves  $\mathcal{S}_n^*$  with specified internal edge lengths.

Let the space  $S_n$  be the tree space with leaf labels  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_n\}$ . The number of nontrivial splits is the number of subsets with  $i_n$  of the set of the *n* leaf labels with size of every subset not equal to 0, 1, n-1 or *n*. For  $n \ge 4$ , the number of nontrivial splits is therefore  $2^{n-1} - n - 2$ . We define the standard basis of the vector space  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$  to be

$$\left\{\mathbf{1}_E: i_n \in E, \left\{E, E^C\right\} \text{ is a nontrivial split of leaf labels of } \mathcal{S}_n^*\right\}.$$

Every fully resolved tree  $T \in S_n$  is determined by (n-3) compatible splits which correspond to the (n-3) internal edges. We write  $E \in T$  if  $\{E, E^c\}$  is a nontrivial split of leaf labels in T. In  $\mathcal{T}_n$ , every internal edge which corresponds to a split  $\{E, E^c\}$  in the fully resolved tree  $T \in S_n$  has a positive length  $l_E$ . We explicitly write a tree T with internal edge lengths as a vector  $\sum_{E \in T} l_E \mathbf{1}_E \in \mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$  where  $l_E > 0$  for all  $E \in T$ . Therefore in  $\mathcal{T}_n$ , the trees with the same set of compatible splits can be identified in a Euclidean region isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$  with standard basis  $\{\mathbf{1}_E : E \in T\}$ .

In  $\mathcal{T}_n$ , every fully resolved tree corresponds to a vector in  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$ , which is a unique linear sum of the (n-3) unit vectors for the (n-3) compatible splits in the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$  with strictly positive coefficients given by the internal edge lengths. Every degenerate tree corresponds to a vector in  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$ , which is the linear sum of (n-3) unit vectors for the (n-3) compatible splits in the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$ with non-negative coefficients. A degenerate tree in  $\mathcal{S}_n^*$  has less than (n-3) internal edges which generate less than (n-3) compatible splits therefore the vector as a linear sum of the (n-3) unit vectors will have strictly positive coefficients for the splits which correspond to the existing internal edges, and coefficients 0 for the unit vectors of the non-existing internal edges. Hence every semi-labeled tree with n leaves with specified internal edge lengths can be uniquely written as a linear sum of no more than (n-3)unit vectors of the compatible splits in the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$  with non-negative coefficients. Therefore the space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  can be identified as a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}_+$  where the axes are labeled by the nontrivial splits of the leaf labels.

The space of a specific fully resolved tree with positive internal edge lengths is then isomorphic to an  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$  space as the (n-3) positive entries in the corresponding vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}_+$  are given by the lengths of the internal edges for the (n-3) compatible splits. **Definition 2.17.** The space of a specific fully resolved tree T is the orthant of T in the space of  $\mathcal{T}_n$ .

The faces of an orthant consist of trees which can be written by less than (n-3) unit vectors in the standard basis of its corresponding compatible splits. The space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  consists of all orthants of the fully resolved trees isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$ . The interior of these orthants are all disjoint as their corresponding fully resolved trees do not have the same set of splits thus their corresponding vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}_+$  have nonzero entries in different positions. These orthants of the fully resolved trees are glued together in  $\mathcal{T}_n$  which is isomorphic to a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$ . Two orthants share a boundary face which is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^k_+$  if they have k splits in common and face is given by the vectors of those splits.

In the space of  $\mathcal{T}_n$ , the star tree  $s_n$  corresponds to the origin point which is the zero vector. The star tree is also considered to be *fully degenerate* as there are not any internal edges.

We can define a natural metric on  $\mathcal{T}_n$  by the distance between the trees. If two trees are in the same orthant, the distance will be given by the Euclidean distance between their corresponding vectors. If two trees are in different orthants, we can define paths between them which only go through points in the subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}-n-2}$  which corresponds to  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . The length of the shortest path is defined to be the *geodesic distance* and does not necessarily go through the origin for two trees not in the same orthant [6], [50].

We can see that the space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  can be embedded in an  $(2^{n-1} - n - 2)$ -dimensional Euclidean space but some other constructions have shown that the trees can be fit in a much lower dimension of the Euclidean space [36].

Some stochastic process on  $\mathcal{T}_n$  are computed by changing the internal edge lengths and going across the faces of orthants with certain rules. This can be set as a movement of a point with some rules in the space of  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . Within an orthant of a fixed tree in  $\mathcal{S}_n$ , the change of internal edge lengths can be set as the diffusion on the space of  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$ . We may also define other spaces which have similar structures to  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . For example, we can restrict the lengths to be integers by setting a lattice of mesh points of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-3}_+$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$ . Then the stochastic process which corresponds to the diffusion on the space  $R^{n-3}_+$  is replaced by a another process on  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-3}_+$ . The stochastic process will be given in terms of the random walk and we seek the eigensolutions to the adjacency operators. We can also define another space  $\mathcal{T}^L_n$  which consists of all trees in  $\mathcal{S}^*_n$  with a fixed positive total internal edge lengths L. In this case, the star tree  $s_n$  does not exist and within each orthant, the dimension goes one lower as the vectors are in a subspace.

Our aim is to understand the adjacency relations between the trees in  $S_n$  and between the orthants in  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . We will then apply the adjacency relations to realize the space of trees into a graph in a Euclidean space of lower dimension to simplify the numerical computations of changing edge lengths and going across the orthants. The adjacency relations and realizations will give us better understandings to the property of tree spaces thus simplify the numerical work to analyse the diffusions and stochastic process by reducing the dimensions through the symmetry properties in the representations of  $S_n$ .

#### 2.2.2 The nearest neighbour interchange and random walk

The random walk on the space of discrete semi-labeled phylogenetic trees  $S_n$  is generated by the *nearest neighbour interchange*, or NNI [63]. Given an internal edge with internal vertices u and v in a fully resolved tree, we may identify its four adjacent edges thus the four subtrees A,B,C and D with the disjoint set of leaf labels  $\{T_A, T_B | T_C, T_D\}$  as in the quartet display. The NNI process regroup the four subtrees into one of the possible two partitions apart from the original structure. If the original split is given by  $\{T_A \cup T_B, T_C \cup T_D\}$ , there will be two possible splits after the NNI process, which are  $\{T_A \cup T_C, T_B \cup T_D\}$  and  $\{T_A \cup T_D, T_B \cup T_C\}$  as in the diagram below.



Figure 2.4: The nearest neighbour interchange at an internal edge with 4 subtrees A, B, C, D.

Note that the splits given by any other internal edges are preserved. When the cyclic order of the leaf labels are fixed by  $T_A, T_B, T_C, T_D$ , the split  $\{T_D \cup T_A, T_B \cup T_C\}$  is the only possible outcome of the NNI process from the split  $\{T_A \cup T_B, T_C \cup T_D\}$ .

In the NNI process between trees in  $S_n$ , we skip the degenerate tree with an internal vertex of degree 4 for the case of the internal edge uv in the fully resolved tree shrinks to a vertex. In  $S_n^*$ , the three fully resolved trees in the diagram are all neighbours of this degenerate tree. In the NNI process, we are not allowed to stay in the same tree although there exist three possible fully resolved trees from this degenerate tree. We also note the (n-2) compatible splits for the degenerate tree are included in each of these three fully resolved trees.

Two fully resolved trees are *BHV-adjacent* if they differ by one nearest neighbour interchange. Every fully resolved tree has (n-3) internal edges which means that it is adjacent to other 2(n-3) fully resolved trees in  $S_n$ . Therefore we can define a graph whose vertices are the fully resolved trees in  $S_n$  and the edges are obtained from the *BHV-adjacencies* [38], [60]. In the simple random walk on this graph, the probabilities of moving from a vertex to all of its 2(n-3) neighbours are equal to  $\frac{1}{2(n-3)}$ .

The four subsets in a quartet display on an internal edge are preserved under the NNI process of that specific edge. But the quartet display on other internal edges will change.

In the continuous phylogenetic tree space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  where the data of internal edge lengths are isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$ , we regard the NNI process as one of the internal edge length shrinks to zero and becomes a vertex of degree 4 and can still identify the 4 subtrees from this vertex. The tree is now degenerate and on the topological boundary and on an (n-4)dimensional face of an orthant. There are three ways to 2-2-split the 4 subtrees to make it fully resolved again and one of them is back to the orthant of the previous fully resolved tree. The problem of computing the geodesic distance applies the NNI process to find the shortest path between two trees in the continuous space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  [5].

Within an orthant where the splits of labels are fixed, the random walk is isomorphic to the diffusion on  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$  for the continuous space or isomorphic to the simple random walk on  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-3}_+$  lattice if we restrict the edge lengths to be integers [49]. On the continuous space  $\mathcal{T}_n$ , when the random walk goes across the topological boundary of the orthants, the probability are often to be considered as equal to the three possible directions given by the nearest neighbour interchange. We study the random walk by finding the eigensolutions of the transition matrix on the vector space of probability measures which can be applied to simulate the stochastic process and random walks. The dimensions for both of the spaces  $S_n$  and  $\mathcal{T}_n$  are huge therefore we seek other methods to simplify the calculations. In Section 2.3, we consider the realization of tree spaces into polytopes which reduce the dimensions to O(n) or  $O(n^2)$ . And in Chapter 3, we seek analytic solutions to the random walk under the invariance conditions of the group that acts on the tree space.

The space  $S_4$  only consists of three fully resolved trees and they are all BHV-adjacent to each other. The smallest nontrivial example to consider is  $S_5$ .

**Example 2.18.** The space  $\mathcal{S}_5^*$  and the Petersen graph.



Figure 2.5: The Petersen graph with compatible partitions for  $S_5$ .

The Petersen graph is a regular graph with 15 edges and 10 vertices of degree 3. The vertices can be labeled as above where the every edge consists of two disjoint subsets of the

set  $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$ . Every 2-subsets of the full set can be extended to a 2-3-split, which is the only possible size of nontrivial partitions in  $S_5$  and  $S_5^*$ . We can see that the two partitions for the two vertices of every edge are compatible. Therefore the 15 edges of the Petersen graph and the 15 fully resolved trees of  $S_5$  are in one-to-one correspondence. The 10 vertices of the Petersen graph and the 10 degenerate trees with one internal edge of  $S_5^*$  are also in one-to-one correspondence. We also notice that two edges share one common vertex if and only if they have a common split and correspond to the BHV-adjacency conditions. Therefore the vertices and edges of the Petersen graph represent the degenerate and fully resolved trees respectively in the space of  $S_5^*$ . The Petersen graph is also the dual graph for the graph with vertices of  $S_n$  with the adjacency relations where the 15 fully resolved trees are given as the vertices instead of edges and the 10 degenerate trees are given as the triangles. If the sum of the lengths of the two internal edges are fixed, then every point on the vertices can be identified as a Newick string with internal edge lengths.

The 10 vertices of the Petersen graph also represent the 10 degenerate trees where one of the internal edge has length zero. The symmetric group  $S_5$  acts on the 5-set and the stabilizer of a fixed partition is isomorphic to  $S_2 \times S_3$ . In the stochastic process for the discrete random walk, we will fix the size of splits and seek the eigensolutions on a set of degenerate trees for the adjacency operators. The group  $S_5$  and the subgroup  $S_2 \times S_3$  form a Gelfand pair. In Chapter 3, we shall use the properties of the Gelfand pair and further reduce the dimension for the vector space of the random walk to find the eigenfunctions which decompose the functions on the discrete space.

## 2.3 Realizations of different tree spaces

In this section, we seek better realizations of tree spaces as polytopes. As every binary tree has a planar embedding in a semi-labeled triangulated polygon, we construct a simplicial complex where the vertices correspond to the semi-labeled triangulated polygons. The aim is to realize the simplicial complex of a tree space as a polytope in the Euclidean space.

Throughout this section, we use the word "facet" for all lower dimensional boundaries. We use the word "face" if a facet is (n-1)-dimensional on an *n*-dimensional polytope.

We first construct the polytope in the Euclidean space where the vertices correspond to the permutations of the (n + 1) leaf labels, namely the permutohedron  $P_n$  which is *n*-dimensional; i.e., given *n* unit vectors from the standard basis of the Euclidean space, every point on the surface and inside  $P_n$  can be uniquely written as a linear sum of these *n* vectors. Then we fix a permutation; i.e., the labels on the edges of the polygon, and construct the polytope where the vertices correspond to the triangulations, namely the associahedron  $K_n$ . We apply the Dorman Luke construction [16] to construct the dual polytopes  $P_n^*$  and  $K_n^*$  of the permutohedron and the associahedron. We prove that the dimension of  $K_n$  is (n-1)-dimensional, thus always one lower than the dimension of  $P_n$ .

Finally we obtain the associahedra with different permutations of the edge labels and identify them on the faces of a dual permutohedron, namely the permuto-associahedron  $KP_n$ , where the vertices correspond to the fully bracketed Newick strings of n leaf labels with all possible permutations and bracketings (triangulations). We also outline a method to realize the the space of  $S_n$  using the secondary polytope construction and compare with the balanced minimal evolution (BME) polytope [36] of the same dimension.

#### 2.3.1 Realizations of the permutohedra

When we fix a root label in the discrete tree space  $S_{n+2}$ , we consider the binary trees written in the Newick string format. The Newick string is a fully bracketed sequence which corresponds to a permutation of the (n + 1) leaf labels. Our first aim is to find the realization of all permutations of the leaf labels in a Euclidean space.

**Definition 2.19.** The n-permutohedron is the convex hull of all permutations of the vector  $(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  where  $x_j \neq x_k$  for all  $j \neq k$ .

**Definition 2.20.** The standard *n*-permutohedron  $P_n$  is the convex hull of all permutations of the vector  $(1, 2, ..., n + 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

The symmetric group  $S_{n+1}$  acts on the entries of the vector and total number of points is (n + 1)!. We can verify that the all points of  $P_n$ ,  $\underline{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  lie on a *n*-dimensional subspace satisfying the affine condition  $\langle \underline{v}, \underline{1} \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} v_i = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)(n+2)$ . The subspace is given by the orthogonal vector  $(1, \ldots, 1)$  therefore the permutohedron lies in an *n*-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

Let  $E = \{j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_l\}$  be a nontrivial subset of  $\{1, 2, \ldots, n+1\}$  with  $1 \leq |E| \leq n$ . Let  $\underline{1}_E \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  be the vector with value 1 in the  $j_1$ -th,  $j_2$ -th,..., $j_l$ -th entries and 0 elsewhere. We define a hyperplane in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  from the normal vector  $1_E$  as the set of points

$$\left\{ \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : \langle \underline{x}, \underline{1_E} \rangle = \sum_{j \in E} v_j = \frac{|E| (|E|+1)}{2} \right\}.$$

**Definition 2.21.** The half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$  of the nonempty subset  $E \subsetneq \{1, 2, ..., n+1\}$  is the set of points given by

$$H_{P_n}(E) := \left\{ \underline{v} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : \sum_{j \in E, E \subsetneq \{1, \dots, n+1\}} v_j = \langle \underline{v}, \underline{1}_E \rangle \ge \frac{|E| \left( |E| + 1 \right)}{2} \right\},\$$

where  $1_E$  is the normal vector that defines the hyperplane for the half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$ .

The boundary of the half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$  is the hyperplane where the points are obtained by the equality relation in Definition 2.21. The points which are not in the half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$  are all on the same side of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  which is split by the hyperplane. The points in the half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$  which are not on the boundary correspond to the strict inequality in the definition.

**Lemma 2.22.** The permutohedron  $P_n$  is in an n-dimensional subspace with half-space representation given by the intersection of all half-spaces

$$P_{n} := \bigcap_{E \neq \emptyset, E \subsetneq \{1, \dots, n+1\}} H_{P_{n}}(E) \,.$$

*Proof.* Given all permutations of the vector  $(1, 2, ..., n + 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , the equality in the condition of the half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$  holds for a vector  $\underline{v}$  on the boundary. If a vector is given by a permutation of (1, 2, ..., n + 1) and on the boundary of  $H_{P_n}(E)$ , then the first l numbers  $\{1, ..., l\}$  are in the  $j_1$ -th,  $j_2$ -th,  $..., j_l$ -th entries of the vector for the nonempty subset  $E = \{j_1, j_2, ..., j_l\} \subsetneq \{1, ..., n + 1\}$ .

We get the strict inequality if any number greater than l appears to be in one of the  $j_1$ th,  $j_2$ -th,..., $j_l$ -th entries as the sum of the entries  $\sum_{j \in E} v_j$  will be greater than  $\frac{(l+1)l}{2}$ . The left hand side of the inequality in Definition 2.21 can be considered as an inner product between the vector  $\underline{v}$  and another vector  $\underline{1}_E \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  where the entries are either 1 or 0. All of the hyperplanes that define the half-spaces are (n-1)-dimensional in the *n*-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

We have a natural maximal flag of the set  $\{1, 2, ..., n+1\}$  given by

$$\emptyset \subsetneq \{1\} \subsetneq \{1,2\} \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \{1,2,\ldots,n\} \subsetneq \{1,2,\ldots,n,n+1\}.$$

Every vertex  $\underline{v}$  of the convex hull corresponds to a permutation of (1, 2, ..., n + 1) thus corresponds to another unique maximal flag of the set  $\{1, 2, ..., n + 1\}$ , given by the positions in  $\underline{v}$  for the elements in the natural maximal flag defined above, explicitly given by

$$\emptyset \subsetneq \{j_1\} \subsetneq \{j_1, j_2\} \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \{j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n\} \subsetneq \{j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n, j_{n+1}\}$$

where  $j_k$  is the position of entry with number k in  $\underline{v}$ , i.e.  $\underline{v}_{j_k} = k$ .

Apart from the full set and the empty set, every set in the middle of a maximal flag is a set E which corresponds to a half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$  and a defining hyperplane. Every vertex which is a permutation of the vector (1, 2, ..., n + 1) is then well defined by the intersection of the n hyperplanes which correspond to the subsets in the maximal flag for the positions of the entries in the n-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  given by the set of points  $\left\{\underline{x}: \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} x_i = \frac{(n+1)(n+2)}{2}\right\}$ . The coordinates of a vector on the convex hull can always be obtained by solving the (n + 1) linear equations, which are the n equations for the half-spaces and the one equation  $\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} x_i = \frac{(n+1)(n+2)}{2}$  for the fixed sum of the entries.

**Remark 2.23.** Note that during the proof, the maximal flag for the vector  $\underline{v}$ ,

$$\emptyset \subsetneq \{j_1\} \subsetneq \{j_1, j_2\} \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \{j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n\} \subsetneq \{j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n, j_{n+1}\}$$

where  $j_k$  is the position of entry with number k in  $\underline{v}$ , i.e.  $\underline{v}_{j_k} = k$ , also defines a permutation  $(j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_n, j_{n+1})$ . If  $\underline{v} = g(1, 2, \ldots, n+1)$  for  $g \in S_{n+1}$ , then we have  $(j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_n, j_{n+1}) = g^{-1}(1, 2, \ldots, n+1)$  and we define the permutation  $(j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_n, j_{n+1})$  to be the inverse permutation of  $\underline{v}$ .

The lemma proves that  $P_n$  is an *n*-dimensional convex polytope with a half-space representation. We will describe the (n - 1)-dimensional faces and lower dimensional facets of  $P_n$ . Every (n - 1)-dimensional face of  $P_n$  is on the boundary, i.e. the hyperplane of a half-space that defines  $P_n$  when the equality is achieved in the definition. Two faces on the boundaries of the two distinct half-spaces  $H_{P_n}(E_1)$  and  $H_{P_n}(E_2)$  intersect on the surface of  $P_n$  if and only if one of the two sets,  $E_1$  or  $E_2$ , is the subset of the other one.

There are also lower-dimensional facets on  $P_n$  given by the intersections of more than two (n-1)-dimensional faces. A 1-dimensional facet, which is a line segment on the polytope, is given by the intersection of (n-1) faces which correspond to (n-1) nonempty subsets of  $\{1, \ldots, n+1\}$  in the natural maximal flag. The (n-1) half-spaces determine the entries of (n-1) numbers and there are only two positions left to put the two adjacent numbers on. These two vectors differ by a swap of the two undetermined entries. If we take the 1-skeleton of the polytope which is isomorphic to a graph, the two vectors which correspond to the two vertices are connected by an edge and they are *adjacent* on the graph. Moreover, if we relabel the vertices of  $P_n$  by the *inverse permutation* of the vectors for the coordinates, the edges of the 1-skeleton will be generated by a swap of two adjacent entries in the relabeled permutations.

In particular, when |E| = 1 or n, the (n - 1)-dimensional faces of  $P_n$  given by the boundaries of the half-spaces  $H_{P_n}(E)$  are isomorphic to the permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$ . Faces with such properties fix the position of the number 1 and there exists an isomorphism from the vectors on a face to the vectors of  $P_{n-1}$  by shifting the vectors by the constant vector (1, 1, ..., 1). The two half-spaces  $H_{P_n}(E)$  and  $H_{P_n}(E^C)$  are parallel as they are determined by opposite normal vectors  $\underline{1}_E$  and  $\underline{1}_{E^C}$  that define their hyperplanes.

#### **Example 2.24.** The permutohedron $P_1$ .

The first nontrivial example of a permutohedron is the convex hull of two points (1, 2)and (2, 1) in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and the line segment is clearly 1-dimensional.

**Example 2.25.** The permutohedron  $P_2$ .

The permutohedron  $P_2$  consists of 6 points in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  which are the permutations of the vector (1, 2, 3). They live in a 2-dimensional subspace given by the vectors  $\underline{v} = (v_1, v_2, v_3)$  where  $v_1 + v_2 + v_3 = 6$ . The convex hull of the 6 points is a hexagon and the 1-dimensional faces, which are the edges of the hexagon, are given by the inequality of half-spaces  $H_{P_2}(E)$  for |E| = 1 or 2, with the coordinates satisfying  $v_j = 1$  and  $v_j + v_k = 1 + 2$  where  $j \neq k$  on the faces.



Figure 2.6: The permutohedron  $P_2$ .

#### **Example 2.26.** The permutohedron $P_3$ .

The permutohedron  $P_3$  consists of 24 points in  $\mathbb{R}^4$  which are the permutations of the vector (1, 2, 3, 4) thus in the subspace where the sum of entries are equal to 10. The convex hull is a 3-dimensional polytope and the shapes of the 2-dimensional faces are hexagons and squares. The hexagons are given by the hyperplanes for the half-spaces  $H_{P_3}(E)$  for |E| = 1 or 3 and they are isomorphic to  $P_2$ . The squares are given by the hyperplanes for the half-spaces  $H_{P_3}(E)$  for the half-spaces  $H_{P_3}(E)$  for |E| = 2. This polytope can also be considered as a truncated octahedron and we can recover the octahedron by sticking the pyramids back to the 6 square faces.



Figure 2.7: The permutohedron  $P_3$ .

**Definition 2.27.** Given two n-dimensional convex polytopes P and  $P^*$ , one is the dual polytope [64] of the other if they satisfy the following conditions:

- 1. the vertices of one correspond to the faces of the other;
- 2. the k-dimensional facets given by the intersection of the faces of one polytope correspond to the (n-1-k)-dimensional facets given by the corresponding vertices of the other polytope for  $1 \le k \le n-2$  where the corresponding vertices are given by condition 1.

Given an *n*-dimensional convex polytope P, we apply the Dorman Luke construction [16] to obtain the the dual polytope  $P^*$ . The process is to obtain the convex hull from a set of points on a sphere which are given by the positive multiples of the corresponding vectors on the faces of P. We give a detailed construction for the dual polytope of the permutohedron  $P_n$  from the Dorman Luke construction.

The centre of the polytope  $P_n$  is given by the average position of all vectors which are the permutations of (1, 2, ..., n + 1). Therefore the centre  $\underline{O}_{P_n}$  has coordinates  $(\frac{n}{2} + 1, ..., \frac{n}{2} + 1)$ . We can also verify that every permutation of (1, 2, ..., n + 1) have the same Euclidean distance to the centre  $\underline{O}_{P_n}$  thus all vertices of the permutohedron  $P_n$ are on the  $S^{n-1}$  sphere centered at  $\underline{O}_{P_n}$ .

Recall the (n-1)-dimensional faces of  $P_n$  given by the boundary of the half-spaces  $H_{P_n}(E)$ . We define the centre of the face to the average position of all vertices on the face. For a face given by the boundary of the half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$ , the coordinates of the centre of the face  $\underline{E} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  has value  $\frac{|E|+1}{2}$  at the k-th entry for all  $k \in E$  and value  $\frac{|E|+n+2}{2}$  at the j-th entry for all  $j \in E^C$ . Note that the point  $\underline{E}$  is inside the sphere as the corresponding (n-1)-dimensional face is inside the ball.

We take the  $S^{n-1}$  sphere centered at  $\underline{O}_{P_n}$  which consists of all vertices of the permutohedron  $P_n$ , in the *n*-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , where the coordinates of the points satisfy  $\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} x_i = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)(n+2)$  for  $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . We define the vector  $\underline{E^*}$  which is a point on the sphere such that the vector  $(\underline{E^*} - \underline{O}_{P_n})$  is a positive multiple of the vector  $(\underline{E^*} - \underline{O}_{P_n})$ . This point  $\underline{E^*}$  is unique as only one of the two intersections between the sphere and the line given by the scalar multiples of  $(\underline{E^*} - \underline{O}_{P_n})$  is positive.

**Definition 2.28.** We define the dual permutohedron  $P_n^*$  to be the convex hull of the vectors  $\underline{E^*}$ 

$$P_n^* := conv \{ \underline{E^*} : |E| \ge 1, E \subsetneq \{1, \dots, n+1\} \}$$

By this construction, the dual permutohedron  $P_n^*$  is an *n*-dimensional convex polytope. We can verify that both sets of vertices of  $P_n$  and  $P_n^*$  are on the same sphere. There are (n + 1)! distinct (n - 1)-dimensional faces on  $P_n^*$  where each (n - 1)-dimensional face consists of *n* vertices. Every (n - 1)-dimensional face of the dual permutohedron  $P_n^*$  is an (n - 1)-dimensional simplex where the *n* vertices correspond to *n* distinct subsets of the set of (n + 1) numbers. The *n* distinct subsets all have different sizes and generate a maximal flag for the set of (n + 1) numbers as the face corresponds to a permutation of the (n + 1) numbers.

Every k-dimensional facet of  $P_n^*$  is given by the convex hull of (k + 1) vertices which correspond to (k + 1) subsets in a maximal flag of the set of (n + 1) numbers. Every (n - k)-dimensional facet of  $P_n$  is given by the intersection of k (n - 1)-dimensional faces which also correspond to (k + 1) subsets in a maximal flag of the set of (n + 1) numbers. We can set the one-to-one correspondence between the k-dimensional facets of  $P_n^*$  and the (n - k)-dimensional facets of  $P_n$  as both sets of facets are generated from (k + 1) subsets from the maximal flags of the set of (n + 1) numbers. Therefore  $P_n^*$  can be considered as the dual polytope to  $P_n$  as the correspondence between the facets in all dimensions are satisfied.

The 2-dimensional dual permutohedron  $P_2^*$  is still a hexagon as the dual graph of a hexagon is also a hexagon. The 3-dimensional dual permutohedron  $P_3^*$  is a polytope with 24 triangular faces which correspond to the 4! permutations of 4 numbers. The dual permutohedron  $P_3^*$  consists of 14 points which correspond to the 14 half-spaces of  $P_3$ . This polytope can also be considered as sticking 6 square faces of 6 pyramids to the 6 square faces of a cube as in the diagram below.



Figure 2.8: The dual permutohedron  $P_3^*$ .

#### 2.3.2 Realizations of the associahedra

Recall the fully bracketed Newick string for a sequence of n letters and the corresponding dual polygon of the embedded binary tree of the Newick string in Definition 2.6, Definition 2.7 and Definition 2.8 in section 2.1. Given a permutation of n leaf labels and a specified root label, the binary trees of the fully bracketed Newick strings of these labels in the permutation have planar embeddings as convex polygons whose edges have the same permutation as the leaf labels.

**Definition 2.29.** The associahedron  $K_n$ , also known as the Stasheff polytope [58], is a convex polytope whose vertices correspond to the triangulations of a convex (n + 1)-gon with n edges labeled by the sequence apart from a root edge. Two vertices are connected by an edge if their corresponding triangulated polygons can be obtained from each other by removing a single diagonal and replacing by a different diagonal.

In this subsection, we will fix a permutation of the leaf labels and give an explicit realization of the space of triangulations as a convex polytope, namely the associahedron where the adjacency relation between the vertices of the polytope is restricted by the nearest neighbour interchange in the space of discrete fully resolved trees. We use the method of the secondary polytope [31] and give the half-space representation for the faces.

We obtain a new method of describing the faces of the associahedron in a folding process which is described in detail in Theorem 2.39. We also apply this idea of the generalized secondary polytope of higher dimensions to realize the actual space of  $S_n$  and  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . We will also produce a realization for the dual associahedron and show that it is isomorphic to a subset of the corresponding trees in the continuous space  $\mathcal{T}_n$ .

It is well known that the associahedron  $K_n$  is an (n-2)-dimensional convex polytope whose boundary is homeomorphic to the sphere  $S^{n-3}$  [58]. The vertices on the 1-skeleton of  $K_n$  and the triangulations of a convex (n + 1)-gon with fixed labels on the edges are in one-to-one correspondence.

Two vertices of  $K_n$  are joined by an edge if their corresponding triangulations have (n-3) diagonals in common, i.e. their corresponding embedded fully resolved trees have (n-3) splits in common out of the (n-2) splits of the leaf labels as the edge labels are the same with leaf labels. Therefore the two fully resolved trees which correspond to the two vertices on an edge of  $K_n$  differ by precisely one split of the (n-2) splits of the leaf labels, which means that the two trees are BHV-adjacent and can be obtained from each other through a nearest neighbour interchange.

In the secondary polytope realization, we will show that all triangulations which correspond to the vertices on an (n-3)-dimensional face of the (n-2)-dimensional polytope  $K_n$  have one diagonal in common and their corresponding fully resolved trees have one split in common. Every (n-2-j)-dimensional facets of  $K_n$ , which is the intersection of j distinct (n-3)-dimensional faces, consist of vertices whose corresponding triangulations have j diagonals in common; i.e., their corresponding fully resolved trees have j splits in common.

As a graph, the sets of vertices and edges of adjacencies only generate the combinatorial relations. The realization of the associahedron is to assign the vertices with vectors in the Euclidean space such that the polytope constructed from the convex hull of these vectors have clearer interpretation of the combinatorial relation from the geometrical structure. There are many classic realizations of the associahedra [35], [42], [31], [54], [43]. We choose the method of the secondary polytope construction as it has the symmetry of the dihedral group  $D_{2(n+1)}$  and gives the explicit half-space representation for both the associahedron  $K_n$  and the dual associahedron  $K_n^*$ .

We assume  $n \ge 4$  for the convex *n*-gon. We give a natural labeling on the vertices around a convex *n*-gon by the sequence (1, 2, ..., n). A *diagonal ij* is a line segment joining the vertices *i* and *j* inside the *n*-gon with  $2 \le |i - j| \le n - 2$ .

**Definition 2.30.** Two distinct diagonals are non-crossing if the two line segments do not intersect inside the n-gon.

Two distinct diagonals  $i_1j_1$ ,  $i_2j_2$  are always non-crossing if they have a common vertex on the polygon i.e.  $|\{i_1, j_1\} \cap \{i_2, j_2\}| = 1$ .

Every triangulation  $\Delta$  of a convex *n*-gon can also be uniquely written as a set of (n-3) non-crossing diagonals  $\Delta := \{i_1 j_1, \ldots, i_{n-3} j_{n-3}\}$ , where  $i_k$  and  $j_k$  are the labels on the vertices. Alternatively we can express the triangulation  $\Delta$  as the set of (n-2) triangles

which constitute the full polygon

$$\Delta := \left\{ \Delta_{iik} : ijk \text{ is a triangle inside the } n\text{-gon} \right\}.$$

If we place the triangulated *n*-gon on the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  plane, we can calculate the area of every triangle area  $(\Delta_{ijk})$  as well as the area of the *n*-gon given by the sum of the areas of all triangles. Let  $V_{\Delta_i}$  be the sum of the areas of the triangles with vertex j.

We define a vector space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with standard basis  $\{\mathbf{e}_i\}_{i=1}^n$  labeled by the vertices of the *n*-gon.

**Definition 2.31.** The vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  of the triangulation  $\Delta$  is given by

$$\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} \mathbf{e}_j = \left( V_{\Delta_1}, V_{\Delta_2}, \dots, V_{\Delta_n} \right).$$

**Remark 2.32.** The vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  of the triangulation  $\Delta$  can also be obtained by

$$\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} = \sum_{\Delta_{ijk} \in \Delta} \operatorname{area} \left( \Delta_{ijk} \right) \left( \mathbf{e}_i + \mathbf{e}_j + \mathbf{e}_k \right).$$

**Definition 2.33.** Given a convex polygon  $\mathcal{P}$  with n labeled vertices  $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , the secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}$  of  $\mathcal{P}$  is given by the convex hull in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , explicitly given by

$$\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P}) := conv \{ \mathbf{V}_{\Delta} : \Delta \text{ is a triangulation of } \mathcal{P} \}.$$

To preserve the symmetries of the dihedral group, we choose the polygon  $\mathcal{P}$  to be a regular *n*-gon which can be put on the unit circle centered at the origin of the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  plane. Every labeled vertex *j* on  $\mathcal{P}$  has coordinates  $\underline{v}_j = \left(\cos \frac{2\pi j}{n}, \sin \frac{2\pi j}{n}\right)$ .

**Lemma 2.34.** All  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfy the following three affine conditions given in the form of the inner product:

$$\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{1} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} = 3 \ area\left(\mathcal{P}\right),$$
  
$$\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{\cos} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} \cos \frac{2\pi j}{n} = 0,$$
  
$$\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{\sin} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} \sin \frac{2\pi j}{n} = 0,$$

*Proof.* As the sum of the areas of all triangles in a triangulation is equal to the area of the polygon  $\mathcal{P}$ , we can see that the sum of the components in the vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  is equal to
three times of the area of  $\mathcal{P}$ , which gives us the first affine condition

$$\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{1} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} = 3 \operatorname{area} (\mathcal{P})$$

We choose the  $\mathcal{P}$  to be a regular *n*-gon which can be put on the unit circle centered at the origin of the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  plane. Every labeled vertex *j* on  $\mathcal{P}$  has coordinates  $\underline{v_j} = \left(\cos \frac{2\pi j}{n}, \sin \frac{2\pi j}{n}\right)$ . The barycentre of the triangle *ijk* is given by

$$\underline{v_{ijk}} = \frac{1}{3} \left( \underline{v_i} + \underline{v_j} + \underline{v_k} \right),$$

which is also the centre of mass of the triangle if we distribute the mass uniformly in the interior of  $\mathcal{P}$ . The position of the centre of mass  $\underline{v_{\mathcal{P}}} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ , which is also the barycentre of  $\mathcal{P}$ , can be calculated by the equation

area 
$$(\mathcal{P})$$
  $\underline{v_{\mathcal{P}}} = \sum_{\Delta_{ijk} \in \Delta} \operatorname{area} \left( \Delta_{ijk} \right) \underline{v_{ijk}} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} \underline{v_j}.$ 

As the centre of the regular polygon  $\mathcal{P}$  is at the origin (0,0) of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we can obtain two affine conditions for the components of  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  for all triangulations  $\Delta$  of  $\mathcal{P}$ . The fixed *x*-coordinates gives

$$\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{\cos} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} \cos \frac{2\pi j}{n} = 0$$

The fixed y-coordinates gives

$$\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{\sin} \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_j} \sin \frac{2\pi j}{n} = 0.$$

**Remark 2.35.** The following three methods of distributing the mass m over a triangle give the same position for the centre of mass at the barycentre of the triangle:

- 1. put the entire mass m at the barycentre of the triangle;
- 2. put mass  $\frac{m}{3}$  at each one of the three vertices of the triangle;
- 3. distribute the mass m uniformly in the interior of the triangle.

In the vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  for the triangulation  $\Delta$ , the sum of the entries is equal to 3 area  $(\mathcal{P})$ , which can also be considered as the mass uniformly distributed inside the  $\mathcal{P}$  with constant density 3.

We will now derive the half-space representation for the secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$ . Let ij be a diagonal in the triangulated polygon  $\mathcal{P}$  and we always assume that  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$  and  $2 \leq j - i \leq n - 2$ . Set  $\theta_{ij} = \frac{(n-i-j)\pi}{n}$ . Let  $\mathbf{v}_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be a vector with value  $\cos\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right)$  at the k-th entry if  $1 \leq k \leq i - 1$  or  $j + 1 \leq k \leq n$  and with value  $2\cos\theta_{ij} - \cos\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right)$  at the k-th entry if i < k < j.

**Definition 2.36.** The inner product  $\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle$  is evaluated as

$$\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle = \sum_{1 \le k \le i, j \le k \le n} x_k \cos\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right) + \sum_{k=i}^j x_k \left(2\cos\theta_{ij} - \cos\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right)\right).$$

**Remark 2.37.** Note that all entries in  $\mathbf{v}_{ij}$  are greater than or equal to  $\cos \theta_{ij}$ .

**Definition 2.38.** The half-space  $H_{K_n}(i, j)$  for the diagonal ij is given by the set of points

$$H_{K_{n}}(i,j) := \left\{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \left\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \right\rangle \leq 3 \ area\left(\mathcal{P}\right) x_{ij} \right\},\$$

where 
$$x_{ij} = \frac{1}{3n} \left( (6j - 6i - 4) \cos \theta_{ij} - 4 \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} \cos \left( \frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij} \right) - \frac{2 \cos \theta_{ij} \sin \frac{2\pi (j-i)}{n}}{\sin \frac{2\pi}{n}} \right).$$

**Theorem 2.39.** The secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  is an (n-3)-dimensional polytope in the (n-3)-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  given in Lemma 2.34 with half-space representation

$$\mathcal{Q}\left(\mathcal{P}\right) := \bigcap_{i,j:1 \le i < j \le n, 2 \le j-i \le n-2} H_{K_n}\left(i,j\right)$$

*Proof.* Originally, the regular *n*-gon  $\mathcal{P}$  is placed on the unit circle centered at the origin of the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  plane with labeled vertices k at  $\left(\cos\frac{2\pi k}{n}, \sin\frac{2\pi k}{n}\right)$  for all  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ . We rotate  $\mathcal{P}$  anticlockwise by  $\theta_{ij} = \frac{(n-i-j)\pi}{n}$  such that the line connecting ij is perpendicular to the *x*-axis with the vertex *i* above the *x*-axis. After the rotation, the vertex *k* will have coordinates  $\left(\cos\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right), \sin\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right)\right)$ .

First we consider the case where ij is a diagonal of the triangulation  $\Delta$ . The diagonal ij splits the triangulated polygon  $\mathcal{P}$  into two triangulated polygons: the left polygon  $\mathcal{P}_L$  with vertices  $\{i, i+1, \ldots, j\}$ , and the right polygon  $\mathcal{P}_R$  with vertices  $\{j, j+1, \ldots, n, 1, 2, \ldots, i\}$ . The triangles in  $\mathcal{P}_L$  and the triangles in  $\mathcal{P}_R$  do not overlap and the two sets of triangles constitute the set of all triangles in the triangulated polygon  $\mathcal{P}_L$  and  $\mathcal{P}_R$  are triangulated, their areas are both fixed by area  $(\mathcal{P}_L)$  and area  $(\mathcal{P}_R)$ .

The centre of mass for the left polygon  $\mathcal{P}_L$  and the centre of mass for the right polygon  $\mathcal{P}_R$  are both fixed on the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  plane if we distribute the mass uniformly by a constant density 3 in the interior of all triangles inside  $\mathcal{P}$ . The two centers of mass of the two polygons  $\mathcal{P}_L$ 

and  $\mathcal{P}_R$  can also be calculated by a weighted sum of the centers of mass of the triangles in each side. By changing the distribution of the mass as described in Remark 2.35, for every triangle  $\Delta_{k_1k_2k_3}$ , we put the mass of value area  $(\Delta_{k_1k_2k_3})$  at the three vertices  $k_1$ ,  $k_2$  and  $k_3$ respectively and the centre of mass will stay the same if the mass is uniformly distributed in the interior of the triangles. Therefore the centers of mass for both polygons  $\mathcal{P}_L$  and  $\mathcal{P}_R$  will also stay the same at the centre of the mass if the mass is uniformly distributed in the interior of the entire polygon  $\mathcal{P}$ .

The above method for distributing the mass is equivalent to assigning the vertex k with the value of the sum of the areas of all triangles with vertex k, which is equal to the k-th entry of the vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  by Definition 2.31. We can obtain the centre of mass of the right polygon  $\mathcal{P}_R$  explicitly on the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  plane. The y-coordinate is always 0 as the centre of mass of  $\mathcal{P}_R$  is always on the x-axis. The x-coordinates  $x_{ij,R}$  is given by evaluating the weighted sum

$$3 \operatorname{area} \left( \mathcal{P}_R \right) x_{ij,R} = \sum_{\Delta_{k_1 k_2 k_3} \text{ is a triangle in } \mathcal{P}_R} \left( \operatorname{area} \left( \Delta_{k_1 k_2 k_3} \right) \left( \sum_{l=1}^3 \cos \left( \frac{2\pi k_l}{n} + \theta_{ij} \right) \right) \right).$$

Similarly, we can explicitly work out the coordinates  $(x_{ij,L}, 0)$  for the centre of mass of the left polygon  $\mathcal{P}_L$  where  $x_{ij,L}$  is given by

$$3 \operatorname{area}(\mathcal{P}_L) x_{ij,L} = \sum_{\Delta_{k_1 k_2 k_3} \text{ is a triangle in } \mathcal{P}_L} \left( \operatorname{area}\left(\Delta_{k_1 k_2 k_3}\right) \left( \sum_{l=1}^3 \cos\left(\frac{2\pi k_l}{n} + \theta_{ij}\right) \right) \right).$$

The centre of mass of  $\mathcal{P}$  is at (0,0) and can also be obtained from the weighted sum

3 area 
$$(\mathcal{P}_L)(x_{ij,L},0) + 3$$
 area  $(\mathcal{P}_R)(x_{ij,R},0) = 3$  area  $(\mathcal{P})(0,0)$ 

We then reflect the left polygon  $\mathcal{P}_L$  about the diagonal ij, i.e. fold the polygon  $\mathcal{P}$ along the line ij so that the folded left polygon  $\mathcal{P}'_L$  is to the right of ij. After the folding process, every vertex k where i < k < j have coordinates

$$\left(2\cos\theta_{ij}-\cos\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n}+\theta_{ij}\right),\sin\left(\frac{2\pi k}{n}+\theta_{ij}\right)\right).$$

The area of  $\mathcal{P}'_L$  is equal to the area of  $\mathcal{P}_L$ . The centre of mass  $(x'_{ij,L}, 0)$  of  $\mathcal{P}'_L$  can be obtained from the reflected centre of mass of  $\mathcal{P}_L$  where

$$x_{ij,L}' = 2\cos\theta_{ij} - x_{ij,L}.$$

Note that  $x'_{ij,L}$  is fixed as  $x_{ij,L}$  is fixed.

The new folded object which consists of both  $\mathcal{P}'_L$  and  $\mathcal{P}_R$ , has a fixed centre of mass  $(x'_{ij}, 0)$  on the x-axis where the value  $x'_{ij}$  can be obtained from the weighted sum

$$x_{ij}' = \frac{3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}_{L}'\right) x_{ij,L}' + 3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}_{R}\right) x_{ij,R}}{3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}_{L}'\right) + 3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}_{R}\right)} = \frac{3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}_{L}\right) x_{ij,L}' + 3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}_{R}\right) x_{ij,R}}{3 \operatorname{area}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)}$$

Recall the two vectors  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  defined in Definition 2.31 and the vector  $\mathbf{v}_{ij}$  in Definition 2.36. We can also obtain the fixed *x*-coordinate for the centre of mass of the folded object by the weighted sum of mass of all vertices given as the inner product between the vector of areas assigned to the vertices  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  and the vector of the *x*-coordinates  $\mathbf{v}_{ij}$ 

$$x'_{ij} = \frac{\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} V_{\Delta_k}} = \frac{\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle}{3 \operatorname{area} (\mathcal{P})} = x_{ij}.$$

Therefore the equality of the half-space  $H_{K_n}(i, j)$  as in Definition 2.38 is achieved for the vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  if ij is a diagonal in the triangulation  $\Delta$ ; i.e.,  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  is on the hyperplane which is the boundary of the half-space  $H_{K_n}(i, j)$ . Note that  $x_{ij} > \cos \theta_{ij}$  for all diagonals ij inside  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Since every triangulation  $\Delta$  has (n-3) distinct diagonals inside  $\mathcal{P}$ , we can identify the (n-3) hyperplanes which are the boundaries of (n-3) half-spaces correspond to the (n-3) diagonals. Therefore the corresponding vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  is given by the intersection of the (n-3) hyperplanes in the (n-3)-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

We will now consider the case where ij is not a diagonal in the triangulation  $\Delta$  and show that the vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  is indeed in the half-space  $H_{K_n}(i,j)$  but not on the boundary, i.e. the strict inequality of  $\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle > 3$  area  $(\mathcal{P}) x_{ij}$  is achieved.

If ij is not a diagonal in the triangulation  $\Delta$ , we draw a line segment that connects the two vertices i and j. The line segment ij crosses with other diagonals inside  $\mathcal{P}$ . We label the crossing points inside  $\mathcal{P}$  by the set  $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_p\}$ . This additional line segment ijwill separate some triangles in the triangulation  $\Delta$  into several small polygons. Note that sum of all separated regions of triangles and small polygons are still fixed by 3 area ( $\mathcal{P}$ ).

We apply the *additional triangulation*: for the small polygons which are not triangles inside  $\mathcal{P}$ , we triangulate them individually by drawing non-crossing line segments joining the vertices within the regions without creating any other crossing points apart from  $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_p\}$  inside  $\mathcal{P}$ . After the additional triangulation, we obtain a vector  $\mathbf{V}'_{\Delta} = (V'_{\Delta_1}, \ldots, V'_{\Delta_n}) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  where the component  $V'_{\Delta_k}$  is the mass assigned to vertex k, given by the sum of the areas of all triangles with vertex k. For the entries of the two vectors  $\mathbf{V}'_{\Delta}$ and  $\mathbf{V}'_{\Delta}$ , we have  $V'_{\Delta_k} \leq V_{\Delta_k}$  for all  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ , and some strict inequalities are achieved as some of triangles with vertex k are cut to smaller regions. We also assign mass  $V_{\alpha_l}$  to the vertex  $\alpha_l$  inside  $\mathcal{P}$ , which is given by the sum of the areas of all triangles with vertex  $\alpha_l$  for all  $l = 1, \ldots, p$ . We have the equation obtained by the fixed sum of the mass and areas of all triangles

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} V'_{\Delta_k} + \sum_{l=1}^{p} V_{\alpha_l} = 3 \operatorname{area} \left( \mathcal{P} \right).$$

We then repeat the process folding along the line segment ij and obtain the fixed centre of mass of the folded object, with coordinates  $(x_{ij}, 0)$ . The value of  $x_{ij}$  is obtained as a equation of the weighted sum given by

3 area 
$$(\mathcal{P}) x_{ij} = \langle \mathbf{V}'_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle + \sum_{l=1}^{p} V_{\alpha_l} \cos \theta_{ij}$$

If we move the mass on the vertices  $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_p\}$  to the vertices  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  so that every vertex k on the folded object has mass  $V_{\Delta_k}$ , we eventually shift the centre of mass of the folded object to the right of  $(x_{ij}, 0)$ . Hence the strict inequality  $\langle \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}, \mathbf{v}_{ij} \rangle > 3$  area  $(\mathcal{P}) x_{ij}$  is achieved.

Therefore we obtain the half-space representation of the polytope  $K_n$  in the (n-3)dimensional of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  as the intersection of half-spaces

$$\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P}) := \bigcap_{i,j:1 \le i < j \le n, 2 \le j - i \le n-2} H_{K_n}(i,j)$$

where a vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  is on the boundary of the half-space  $H_{K_n}(i, j)$  if the diagonal ij is in the triangulation  $\Delta$ . Every point  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  on the secondary polytope is the intersection of (n-3) hyperplanes of the half-spaces given by the (n-3) diagonals of the triangulation  $\Delta$ .  $\Box$ 

Every (n-4)-dimensional face which is on the boundary of a half-space  $H_{K_n}(i, j)$ of the (n-3)-dimensional polytope  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  is given by the convex hull of the vectors  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$ diagonal ij is in the triangulation  $\Delta$ 

$$\operatorname{conv} \{ \mathbf{V}_{\Delta} : \Delta \text{ is a triangulation with diagonal } ij \}$$

Two (n-4)-dimensional faces intersect on the surface of  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  if their half-spaces correspond to two distinct non-crossing diagonals. Every (n-3-k)-dimensional facet of  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  is given by the intersection of the k hyperplanes which are the boundaries half-spaces of the corresponding k non-crossing diagonals inside  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Every edge of the 1-skeleton of  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  can be considered as a 1-dimensional facet where the two vertices of the edge correspond to the two triangulations of the two embedded fully resolved trees which only differ by one split of the edge labels. Therefore the two embedded fully resolved trees can be obtained from each other through a nearest neighbour interchange (NNI). Hence the construction of  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  preserves the adjacency relation for both triangulations and the embedded trees.

We apply the Dorman Luke construction to obtain the dual polytope of  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  for the triangulations of the regular polygon  $\mathcal{P}$ , namely the dual associahedron  $K_{n-1}^*$ . The dual polytope  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  obtained from the Dorman Luke construction is also an (n-3)-dimensional polytope in the same (n-3)-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$ .

Define the centre of the secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  to be the average vector of all vectors that constitute the set of vertices of the convex hull

$$\mathbf{O}_{K_n} = \frac{1}{C_{n-2}} \sum_{\Delta \text{ is a triangulation of } \mathcal{P}} \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}.$$

Let  $\mathcal{P}_{ij}$  be set of triangulations of  $\mathcal{P}$  with diagonal ij.

**Definition 2.40.** The centre of the (n-4)-dimensional face  $\mathbf{H}_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  on the hyperplane for the half-space  $H_{K_n}(i,j)$  is given by the average vector of all vectors  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  with diagonal ij in the triangulation  $\Delta$ :

$$\mathbf{H}_{ij} := \frac{1}{|\mathcal{P}_{ij}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{P}_{ij}} \mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$$

Consider the (n-3)-dimensional subspace defined in Lemma 2.34. Let  $\mathbf{H}_{ij}^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be the vector on the  $S^{n-4}$  unit sphere centered at  $\mathbf{O}_{K_n}$  with  $\left(\mathbf{H}_{ij}^* - \mathbf{O}_{K_n}\right) = \nu_{ij} \left(\mathbf{H}_{ij} - \mathbf{O}_{K_n}\right)$ where  $\nu_{ij} > 0$ .

**Definition 2.41.** The polytope  $Q^*(\mathcal{P})$  is defined to be the convex hull of the set of vectors  $\mathbf{H}^*_{ij}$ 

$$\mathcal{Q}^{*}(\mathcal{P}) := conv \left\{ \mathbf{H}_{ij}^{*} : ij \text{ is a diagonal in } \mathcal{P} \right\}.$$

The (n-4)-dimensional faces of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  correspond to the vertices of  $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P})$  thus correspond to the triangulations of the convex polygon  $\mathcal{P}$ . Every (n-4)-dimensional face of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  consists of (n-3) vertices for the (n-3) diagonals in the corresponding triangulation. Therefore every (n-4)-dimensional face is an (n-4)-simplex. Every point on a face of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  can be uniquely written as a weighted sum of the (n-3) vectors of the (n-3) vertices of that simplex  $\sum_{ij\in\Delta}\lambda_{ij}\mathbf{H}_{ij}^*$  with  $\sum_{ij\in\Delta}\lambda_{ij} = 1$ . The boundary of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  is given by the union of all faces of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$ , which is homeomorphic to the sphere  $S^{n-4}$  as the (n-3)-dimensional polytope is homeomorphic to the (n-3)-ball. Therefore the set of points on the surface of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  and the set of points on the sphere  $S^{n-4}$  are in one-to-one correspondence.

Recall that every diagonal inside the polygon generates a split of the edge labels and the leaf labels of the corresponding tree written in the Newick string format with a fixed permutation  $\underline{v}$ . We pick the trees which can be written in the Newick string format with permutation  $\underline{v}$  from the continuous space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  and fix the sum of the internal edge lengths to be 1 to obtain a subset  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^1$  of  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . Then every tree in the subset  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^1$  can be first identified on a specific (n-4)-dimensional face of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$ , and each one of the (n-3) vertices of the face corresponds to a diagonal in the triangulated *n*-gon, which also corresponds to a split of leaf labels of that tree. Therefore the trees in the subset  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^1$  of  $\mathcal{T}_n$  and all points on the surface of the polytope  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$ , are in one-to-one correspondence.

Consider a triangulation  $\Delta$  with edges labeled by the leaf labels of permutation  $\underline{v}$ and the embedded fully resolved tree T. The internal edge given by the split from the diagonal ij has length  $\lambda_{ij}$  in the unique weighted sum for the point  $\sum_{ij\in\Delta}\lambda_{ij}\mathbf{H}_{ij}^*$  with  $\sum_{ij\in\Delta}\lambda_{ij} = 1$  on the simplex. Therefore the space  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^1$  is homeomorphic to the surface of the polytope  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$ .

**Corollary 2.42.** Let  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}$  be the subset of  $\mathcal{T}_n$  where all trees can be written in the Newick string format with permutation  $\underline{v}$  for the leaf labels. The space  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}$  is homeomorphic to the vector space  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}$ .

*Proof.* The space  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}$  is the union of the subsets given by

$$\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}} = \bigcup_{L \in \mathbb{R}_+} \mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^L,$$

where L indicates the total lengths of the internal edges.

The dual associahedron  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  is homeomorphic to both the space  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^1$  and the sphere  $S^{n-4}$ . Therefore the sphere  $S^{n-4}$  is homeomorphic to the space  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^L$  for all positive L.

The dual associahedron  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  is in an (n-3)-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  which is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}$ . We shift the polytope  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$  so that the centre  $\mathbf{O}_{K_n}$  is at the origin and the vertices  $\mathbf{H}_{ij}^*$  are shifted to  $\mathbf{H}_{ij}'$  on the unit sphere centered at the origin. We define the cone of the triangulation  $\Delta$  to be the set of vectors

$$\left\{\sum \lambda_{ij}\mathbf{H}'_{ij}: ij \text{ is a diagonal in the triangulation } \Delta, \lambda_{ij} \ge 0\right\}.$$

Let  $\lambda_{ij}$  be the length of internal edge of the embedded tree given by the corresponding diagonal  $\lambda_{ij}$ . As in Definition 2.17, the cone of the triangulation  $\Delta$  isomorphic to the orthant of a tree T in the space  $\mathcal{T}_n$ , therefore isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}_+$ .

Then every face of the shifted polytope  $Q^*(\mathcal{P})$ , which is given by (n-3) vertices on the unit sphere, can be identified in the corresponding cone of the triangulation  $\Delta$ . When we restrict the sum of the internal edges of the embedded trees to be bounded by  $L_0$  for the triangulations, i.e., take the union

$$\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}} = \bigcup_{L \le L_0} \mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}^L,$$

the corresponding vectors in the cones of all triangulations is a set of points given by the convex hull

$$\operatorname{conv}\left\{L_0\mathbf{H}'_{ij}: ij \text{ is a diagonal in } \mathcal{P}\right\}.$$

By the definition of  $\mathcal{Q}^*(\mathcal{P})$ , the convex hull defined above is the scaled dual associahedron constructed inside the (n-3)-ball centered at the origin with radius  $L_0$ .

The vector space  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}$  is homeomorphic to the union of the zero vector and the  $S^{n-4}$  spheres of all positive sizes, which is homeomorphic to union of the boundaries of the scaled dual associahedra of all positive sizes.

**Remark 2.43.** The homeomorphism between  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}$  suggests that we can simplify the numerical work of  $\mathcal{T}_n$  to the space of  $\mathbb{R}^{n-3}$  for a set of specific trees which can be written in the Newick string format with permutation  $\underline{v}$  for the leaf labels.

**Example 2.44.** The associahedron  $K_3$ .

The associahedron  $K_3$  consists of two vertices which are connected by an edge. The two vertices correspond to the two triangulations of a square.

# **Example 2.45.** The associahedron $K_4$ .

The associahedron  $K_4$  is given by the five triangulations of a pentagon, which can be constructed in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and homeomorphic to the circle  $S^1$ . Every edge in  $K_4$  corresponds to a pentagon with one diagonal, which is the common diagonal of the two triangulations which correspond to the two vertices of that edge in  $K_4$ . The dual graph of  $K_4$  is also a pentagon as there is no higher dimensional faces in  $K_4$ .



Figure 2.9: The associahedron  $K_4$ 

### **Example 2.46.** The associahedron $K_5$ .

The associahedron  $K_5$  can be constructed as a polytope in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  whose 14 vertices correspond to the 14 triangulations of a labeled hexagon. Every vertex has degree 3 and is the intersection of 3 faces. The 9 faces of  $K_5$  correspond to the 9 possible diagonals inside the hexagon. If a diagonal cuts the hexagon into a triangle and a pentagon, the corresponding face of the diagonal will be a pentagon which is isomorphic to  $K_4$ .

If a diagonal cuts the hexagon into two quadrilaterals with separated regions, the triangulation to each quadrilateral is a given by the associahedron  $K_3$  which is a line segment. The triangulations of the two quadrilaterals are independent therefore the corresponding face is a quadrilateral homeomorphic to the product  $K_3 \times K_3$ .



Figure 2.10: The associahedron  $K_5$ 

The dual associahedron  $K_5^*$  is the dual polytope of  $K_5$ , with 9 vertices and 14 triangular faces. The dual associahedron  $K_5^*$  is also called the triangmented triangular prism and can be constructed by sticking three pyramids to the three square faces of a triangular prism. Every triangle corresponds to a triangulation and is adjacent to the other 3 triangles. Every vertex corresponds to a diagonal inside the hexagon and there are six vertices of degree 5 and three vertices of degree 4.

By Corollary 2.42 and Remark 2.43, we can identify the trees in the subset  $\mathcal{T}_{n,\underline{v}}$  where  $\underline{v}$  is a fixed permutation of the leaf labels for the Newick string format of some trees in  $\mathcal{T}_6$ . The numerical work can be simplified to  $\mathbb{R}^3$  for the trees in the subset, which is an improvement compared to the space of  $\mathcal{T}_6$  defined as a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{15}$ .



Figure 2.11: The dual associahedron  $K_5^*$ 

# 2.3.3 Realizations of the permuto-associahedra

We have shown that the permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$  and its dual polytope  $P_{n-1}^*$  are realizable in the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  and homeomorphic to the sphere  $S^{n-2}$ . Each one of the n!distinct (n-2)-dimensional faces of  $P_n^*$  corresponds to a permutation of n elements. The associahedron  $K_n$  and its dual polytope  $K_n^*$  are realizable in  $\mathbb{R}^{n-2}$  and homeomorphic to the sphere  $S^{n-3}$ . Every vertex on the associahedron  $K_n$  corresponds to a triangulation of a convex polygon with fixed labels on the its (n+1) edges.

We will give a brief description of the realization of the permuto-associahedron, the polytope denoted by  $KP_n$ , where the vertices correspond to the triangulations of a convex polygon with all permutations [40] of edge labels. We also present how the vertices of  $KP_n$ link to the semi-labeled fully resolved trees with (n+1) leaves in the discrete phylogenetic tree space  $S_{n+1}$  and show that the adjacencies on  $KP_n$  are restricted by the nearest neighbour interchange in  $S_{n+1}$ .

**Definition 2.47.** The permuto-associahedron  $KP_n$ , also known as the Type A Coxeterassociahedron [40], is the convex polytope whose vertices correspond to the fully bracketed strings of n letters of all permutations. Two vertices are connected by an edge of the 1skeleton of  $KP_n$  if their corresponding fully bracketed strings can be obtained from each other by one of the two actions:

- 1. a swap of two letters in a bracket which only consists of the two letters;
- 2. replacing one bracket with another bracket so that the string is still fully bracket i.e. given three subsequences  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$  and  $A_3$  which form a bracketed subsequence in the

Newick string, the two bracketings  $(A_1, (A_2, A_3))$  and  $((A_1, A_2), A_3)$  can be obtained from each other by this action.

Recall the permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$  whose vertices are the vectors  $\underline{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  which are permutations of  $(1, \ldots, n)$ . Given (n+1) leaf labels  $\{i_0, i_1, \ldots, i_n\}$ , we assign every vertex  $(v_1, \ldots, v_n)$  of  $P_{n-1}$  a permutation of leaf labels  $(i_0, i_{j_1}, \ldots, i_{j_n})$  where the subscripts in the permutation of the leaf labels are given by the *inverse permutation* of  $\underline{v}$  apart from  $i_0$ .

We also assign the same permutations of leaf labels to the corresponding faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_{n-1}^*$ . Note that  $i_0$  is always fixed and corresponds to the specified root label on the tree. Two faces on the dual permutohedron  $P_{n-1}^*$  are adjacent, i.e. their corresponding simplexes have (n-2) vertices in common, if their corresponding permutations of the leaf labels differ by a swap of two adjacent labels.

Loday's explicit realization of the associahedron  $K_n$  [43] proves that the vertices of the polytope can be constructed as a subset of an (n-2)-simplex. The faces of  $K_n$  which correspond to the diagonal j, (j+2) can be set parallel to the faces of the (n-2)-simplex and the vertices in Loday's realization which is constructed by truncating the simplex. We define this realization of the associahedron as the polytope  $\mathcal{K}_n$  where the coordinates of its vertices satisfy the above properties.

Similar to Kapranov's realization by putting the associahedra around the vertices of the permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$  [40], we construct the permuto-associahedron  $KP_n$  by the convex hull of points of the associahedra  $\mathcal{K}_n$  identically on all n! faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_{n-1}^*$ .

**Definition 2.48.** Let  $\mathcal{K}_{n,\underline{v}}$  be the Loday's realization of the associahedron on the face with of the dual permutohedron  $P_n^*$ , constructed by the triangulations of the convex (n+1)-gon with edges labeled by the permutation  $\underline{v}$  with fixed  $i_0$  [24]. The polytope  $\mathcal{KP}_n$  is given by the convex hull

 $conv \left\{ \mathcal{K}_{n,\underline{i}} : \underline{i} \text{ is a permutation of the leaf labels } \left\{ i_0, i_1, \ldots, i_n \right\} \text{ with fixed } i_0 \right\}.$ 

The polytope  $\mathcal{KP}_n$  given by the convex hull is an (n-1)-dimensional convex polytope in the Euclidean space. As the vertices are placed in the interior of the (n-2)-dimensional faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_{n-1}^*$ , the convex hull can also be considered as a truncated dual permutohedron. The n! associahedra on the polytope  $\mathcal{KP}_n$  can be identified on the n! faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_{n-1}^*$ . There are also additional (n-2)-dimensional faces on the polytope  $\mathcal{KP}_n$  apart from the faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_{n-1}^*$ . The additional faces are given by the edges whose pairs of vertices correspond to the same triangulation in the polygons with different permutation of edge labels which only differ by a swap of two adjacent edge labels if these two labels are in the same triangle.

We consider the adjacencies between the vertices on the polytope  $\mathcal{KP}_n$  which are

given by the edges of the 1-skeleton of  $\mathcal{KP}_n$ . Two vertices are joined by an edge in an associahedron  $\mathcal{K}_{n,(\underline{i})}$  if their corresponding sets of splits leaf labels differ by only one split, which means that their corresponding embedded trees in  $\mathcal{S}_{n+1}$  are adjacent under the nearest neighbour interchange.

Two vertices are joined by an edge in one of those additional faces if their corresponding trees in  $S_{n+1}$  differ by a twist of a cherry. A twist of only one cherry corresponds to a swap of two adjacent edge labels not including  $i_0$ . The swapping of two adjacent edge labels changes the permutation of the edge labels and correspond to the two adjacent faces of  $P_n^*$ . The swap does not change any diagonals inside the (n+1)-gon thus preserve all splits of the embedded tree. Therefore every pair of vertices which are joined by an edge on the polytope is either a correspondence of a nearest neighbour interchange, or preserves the splits of a tree in the space of  $S_{n+1}$ .

The conditions of the permuto-associahedron are satisfied in the construction of  $\mathcal{KP}_n$ , which shows that the realization is valid and the  $S_n$  symmetry of the (n-1) dimensional polytope is preserved.

As the polytope  $KP_n$  consists of points of all possible permutations and compatible splits of the leaf labels, all trees in the discrete space  $S_{n+1}$  can be identified by  $2^{n-2}$  points. The BHV-adjacencies in  $S_{n+1}$ , i.e. the set of all nearest neighbour interchanges, can be identified by the edges in the n! associahedra on the surface of  $KP_n$ .

#### **Example 2.49.** The permuto-associahedron $KP_3$ .

As shown in Figure 2.12, the permuto-associahedron  $KP_3$  is a dodecagon, which is a 2-dimensional convex polytope. We can identify the 6 faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_2^*$ , which are labeled by the permutations inside the 6 edges of the dodecagon. Every face which is labeled by a permutation is an edge and an associahedron  $K_3$ , where the vertices are given in the bracketings of the Newick string format labeled on the 12 vertices of  $KP_3$ . The 6 unlabeled edges correspond to a swap of two adjacent labels in the same bracket, which is a cherry in the embedded tree.



Figure 2.12: The permuto-associahedron  $KP_3$ 

### **Example 2.50.** The permuto-associahedron $KP_4$

The permuto-associahedron  $KP_4$  is a 3-dimensional polytope with 24 pentagon faces, 8 dodecagon faces, 6 square faces and 24 rectangle faces as shown in the figure below.



Figure 2.13: The permuto-associahedron  $KP_4$ 

Each one of the 120 vertices can be identified in one of the 24 pentagons. Every pentagon can be identified as an associahedron  $K_4$  with 5 vertices correspond to the triangulations of a pentagon with specific permutations of edge labels which correspond to the faces of the dual permutohedron  $P_3^*$ . The edges which do not belong to any associahedron connect to vertices which correspond to the same bracketing of two Newick strings with the permutations differ by a swap of two labels in the same bracket which only consist of those two labels, e.g. the two vertices which correspond to the Newick strings  $((i_1, (i_3, i_4)), i_2)$  and  $((i_1, (i_4, i_3)), i_2)$  as they differ by a swap of the leaf labels  $i_3$  and  $i_4$  inside the bracket with two labels. The vertices on the square faces all correspond to the bracketing  $((i_1, i_2), (i_3, i_4))$  and all of its permutations of the 4 leaf labels. A vertex is on a dodecagon face if it is not on a square face. Every dodecagon face is isomorphic to the permuto-associahedron  $KP_3$ . We can identify the isomorphism by fixing the first or the fourth leaf label of the Newick string with 4 leaf labels, the Newick strings with the other three labels correspond to the permuto-associahedron  $KP_3$ .

# 2.3.4 Realizations of the space of finite phylogenetic trees

In this subsection, we first briefly present the balanced minimal evolution (BME) polytope constructed as the convex hull of vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  which correspond to the fully resolved trees in the discrete tree space  $S_n$ . Then we outline another idea of the realization of the space  $S_n$  from the method of realizing the associahedron as the secondary polytope. These two realizations give two different families of polytopes of the same dimension in the Euclidean space which may lead to further applications and numerical work.

Given a fully resolved tree  $T \in S_n$  with leaf labels  $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ , we define  $l_{ij}$  to be the number of internal vertices in the path from leaf i to leaf j. We also have  $l_{ii} = 0$ and  $l_{ji} = l_{ij}$ . The values for  $l_{ij}$  are integers with  $1 \leq i, j \leq n-2$  for all pairs  $i \neq j$  [9]. We define a vector  $\mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  with subscripts of the components in the lexicographic order  $\mathbf{d} = (d_{12}, d_{13}, \ldots, d_{1n}, d_{23}, d_{24}, \ldots, d_{n-1 n})$ . The vector  $\mathbf{l}^T \in \mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  is given by  $\mathbf{l} =$  $(l_{12}, l_{13}, \ldots, l_{1n}, l_{23}, l_{24}, \ldots, l_{n-1 n})$ . Let  $\mathbf{c}^T \in \mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  be the vector with components in the lexicographic order which have values  $c_{ij}^T = 2^{-l_{ij}}$ . We may choose to multiply all entries by  $2^{n-2}$  so that components in the vector  $\mathbf{x}^T = 2^{n-2}\mathbf{c}^T$  are all integers. Then every fully resolved tree  $T \in S_n$  corresponds to a different vector  $\mathbf{x}^T \in \mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  [36].

**Definition 2.51.** The balanced minimum evolution (BME) polytope  $BME_n$  for the discrete fully resolved tree space  $S_n$  is defined as

$$BME_n := conv \left\{ \mathbf{x}^T : T \in \mathcal{S}_n \right\},$$

the convex hull in  $\mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  given by the vectors determined by the number of internal vertices between any pair of leaves.

Given any leaf label *i* for a vector  $\mathbf{x}^T$  on the BME polytope  $BME_n$ , we have a Kraft equality [36] given by

$$\sum_{i:i\neq j} x_{ij}^T = 2^{n-2}.$$

These *n* equalities for the *n* leaves give the dimension of the BME polytope  $BME_n$ , dim  $(BME_n) = \binom{n}{2} - n$ . For example, the three fully resolved trees in  $BHV_4$ , given in the quartet display  $\{1, 2|3, 4\}, \{1, 3|2, 4\}$  and  $\{1, 4|2, 3\}$ , correspond to the vectors (2, 1, 1, 1, 1, 2), (1, 2, 1, 1, 2, 1) and (1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1). The three points given by the three vectors form a triangle in  $\mathbb{R}^6$ , which is a 2-dimensional convex polytope.

Recent publications have described some of the facets on the BME polytopes and outlined an idea to describe all faces of the maximum dimension and the adjacencies between the vertices which correspond to the nearest neighbour interchange in  $S_n$  [25], [24].

However, we would like to have a realization of the discrete space  $S_n$  as a convex polytope which can be further applied to construct the dual polytope to realize the continuous space  $\mathcal{T}_n$ . When we have a fixed cyclic order of the leaf labels, the embedded fully resolved trees can be put in the dual polygon with fixed leaf labels on the edges in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . If we do not fix the cyclic order of the leaf labels of  $S_n$ , it is natural to consider them on the nvertices of a standard (n-1)-simplex. We apply the similar idea of the secondary polytope construction for the associahedra and generalize to higher dimensions; i.e., the generalized secondary polytope for the triangulation of an (n-1)-dimensional polytope. We outline the idea of the realization which can be extended to further analysis.

**Definition 2.52.** Two hyperplanes are non-crossing inside a polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  if the intersection of the two hyperplanes are not in the interior of the polytope  $\mathcal{P}$ .

**Definition 2.53.** A cutting hyperplane of the n-dimensional convex polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is an (n-1)-dimensional hyperplane which is an (n-1)-dimensional convex hull of some vertices of the polytope  $\mathcal{P}$ .

**Definition 2.54.** A triangulation of an n-dimensional convex polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is a cutting of the polytope into disjoint regions with the maximum number of non-crossing (n-1)-dimensional cutting hyperplanes inside  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Note that the disjoint regions after the triangulation are still convex or non-concave.

We identify the vertices for every disjoint region  $\Delta_{j_1...j_k}$  inside  $\mathcal{P}$ , given as vectors in Euclidean space  $\{\mathbf{j}_k, \ldots, \mathbf{j}_k\}$ . We will assign mass vol  $(\Delta_{j_1...j_k}, j_l)$  to every vertex of  $\Delta_{j_1...j_k}$  by the *barycentric distribution* which has the following properties. The sum of the mass assigned to all vertices  $\sum_{l=1}^k \text{vol}(\Delta_{j_1...j_k}, j_l)$ , are equal to its volume vol  $(\Delta_{j_1...j_k})$ . The centre of mass  $\underline{\Delta}_{j_1...j_k}$ , which can be evaluated by the weighted sum of the vertices' coordinates

$$\operatorname{vol}\left(\Delta_{j_1\dots j_k}\right)\underline{\Delta_{j_1\dots j_k}} = \sum_{l=1}^k \operatorname{vol}\left(\Delta_{j_1\dots j_k}, j_l\right) \mathbf{j}_l$$

have the same coordinates as the fixed barycenter of the region, for the case where the mass is uniformly distributed within the interior of the region. This distribution of mass to the vertices can always be achieved as the region is *n*-dimensional in the Euclidean space, equal to the dimension of  $\mathcal{P}$ , thus consists of at least (n + 1) vertices which are not on an (n - 1)-dimensional hyperplane. This can be done by setting the mass at the vertices as unknown variables and we can obtain precisely (n + 1) equations. One of these equations corresponds to the fixed sum of mass, which is equal to the volume of the region. The other *n* equations correspond to the *n* components for the coordinates of the centre of mass in the Euclidean space, which are equal to the entries for the barycenter of the region.

**Definition 2.55.** For convex polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  with m vertices, let  $\{\mathbf{e}_i\}_{i=1}^m$  be the standard basis of the vector space  $\mathbb{R}^m$  with subscripts labeled by the vertices of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Let  $\Delta$  be a triangulation of  $\mathcal{P}$  and vol<sub>i</sub> be the sum of all mass assigned to the vertex *i*. The vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} \in \mathbb{R}^m$  is given by

$$\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} vol_i \mathbf{e}_i.$$

**Remark 2.56.** The vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta}$  can also be expressed as

$$\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} = \sum_{\Delta_{j_1...j_k} \text{ is a truncated region in } \mathcal{P}} \sum_{l=1}^{k} vol\left(\Delta_{j_1...j_k}, j_l\right) \mathbf{e}_{j_l},$$

where  $vol(\Delta_{j_1...j_k}, j_l)$  is the mass given by the volume of the region  $\Delta_{j_1...j_k}$  assigned to the vertex  $j_l$  by the barycentric distribution.

**Definition 2.57.** The amended generalized secondary polytope Q for the convex polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  with m vertices is given by the convex hull

$$\mathcal{Q} := conv \{ \mathbf{V}_{\Delta} : \Delta \text{ is a triangulation of } \mathcal{P} \}.$$

We define the polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  to be the convex hull of the middle points of all edges of the standard (n-1)-simplex in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The *n* vertices of the standard (n-1)-simplex have coordinates  $\mathbf{e}_j = (0, \ldots, 0, 1, 0, \ldots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  where the only nonzero component 1 is at the *j*-th entry. In  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the standard *n*-simplex is explicitly given by the set of points

$$\left\{ \mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \middle| \sum_{i=1}^n x_i = 1, 0 \le x_i \le 1 \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n \right\}.$$

The middle points of the edges of this standard (n-1)-simplex have coordinates  $\mathbf{e}_{ij} = \mathbf{e}_{ji} = \left(0, \ldots, \frac{1}{2}, \ldots, \frac{1}{2}, \ldots, 0\right)$  where the only two nonzero components  $\frac{1}{2}$  are at the *i*-th and *j*-th entries. The polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  can be considered as a truncated *n*-simplex, which is the union of the standard (n-1)-simplex and the *n* half spaces defined by  $x_j \leq \frac{1}{2}$  for

j = 1, ..., n; i.e., the set of points whose components are all between 0 and  $\frac{1}{2}$  inside the standard *n*-simplex. Therefore in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  is explicitly given by the set of points

$$\Sigma'_{n} := \left\{ \mathbf{x} = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \middle| \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i} = 1, 0 \le x_{i} \le \frac{1}{2} \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n \right\}.$$

There are *n* faces of  $\Sigma'_n$  given by the hyperplanes  $x_j = \frac{1}{2}$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, n$  in the subspace where the components satisfy  $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = 1$ . We will label these *n* faces by the *n* leaf labels in the discrete tree space  $S_n$  and consider the triangulations of  $\Sigma'_n$ . Note that every pair of labeled faces *i* and *j* do not have any common edge, but only have one point in common, the vertex  $\mathbf{e}_{ij}$ . The other unlabeled *n* faces of  $\Sigma'_n$  are part of the original faces of the *n*-simplex before the truncation, given by the hyperplanes  $x_j = 0$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, n$  where the components satisfy  $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = 1$ .

We will consider the hyperplanes that cut  $\Sigma'_n$  into disjoint regions which satisfy the conditions of triangulating an (n-1)-dimensional convex polytope. For  $n \ge 4$ , let E be a subset of the set of leaf labels with  $2 \le |E| \le n-2$ . Therefore the two sets E and  $E^C$  constitute a nontrivial split of the leaf labels. We may always assume that the leaf label n is in the subset E.

**Definition 2.58.** Let  $\mathbf{v}_E \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be the vector with values 1 at the entries with subscripts in the subset E and -1 at the entries with subscripts in the subset  $E^C$ . The cutting hyperplane  $\underline{E}$  inside  $\Sigma'_n$  is given by the set of points

$$\underline{\underline{E}} := \left\{ \mathbf{x} \in \Sigma'_n : \langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_E \rangle = \sum_{i \in E} x_i - \sum_{j \in E^C} x_j = 0 \right\}.$$

We can see that a vertex  $\mathbf{e}_{ij}$  of the polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  is on the hyperplane  $\underline{E}$  if i and j are not in the same subset E or  $E^C$ . The hyperplane  $\underline{E}$  also defines the half-spaces inside  $\Sigma'_n$ ; i.e., we obtain the inequalities for the vertices which are not on the hyperplane from the split:

$$\langle \mathbf{e}_{ij}, \mathbf{v}_E \rangle > 0 \text{ if } i, j \in E,$$
  
 $\langle \mathbf{e}_{ij}, \mathbf{v}_E \rangle < 0 \text{ if } i, j \in E^C.$ 

Two distinct vertices  $\mathbf{e}_{i_1j_1}$  and  $\mathbf{e}_{i_2j_2}$  are connected by an edge of  $\Sigma'_n$  if and only if  $|\{i_1, j_1\} \cap \{i_2, j_2\}| = 1$ . Therefore every edge given by two adjacent vertices  $e_{i_1j_1}$  and  $e_{i_2j_2}$  satisfies precisely one of the three following conditions.

• the edge is parallel to the hyperplane  $\underline{E}$ , if the three numbers  $i, j_1, j_2$  are in the same subset E or  $E^C$  as it is on the parallel hyperplane defined by  $\langle \mathbf{e}_{ij}, \mathbf{v}_E \rangle = 1$  or -1;

- the edge is on the hyperplane  $\underline{E}$ , if  $i \in E, j_1, j_2 \in E^C$  or  $i \in E^C, j_1, j_2 \in E$ ;
- the edge crosses the hyperplane at  $e_{i_1j_1}$  or  $e_{i_2j_2}$  if  $j_1$  and  $j_2$  are not in the same subset E or  $E^C$ .

Therefore the hyperplane  $\underline{E}$  cuts the polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  into two disjoint regions without creating additional vertices on the surface of  $\Sigma'_n$ . Both regions are also convex polytopes and consist of at least two labeled faces which correspond to the nontrivial split of the leaf labels.

Given two compatible nontrivial splits of the leaf labels E and F, the two hyperplanes  $\underline{E}$  and  $\underline{F}$  do not cross in the interior of the polytope  $\Sigma'_n$ . The entries for the coordinates of any interior points of the *n*-simplex are all nonzero and there does not exists any nonzero solutions for the coordinates  $\mathbf{x}$  that satisfy both equations below of the hyperplane if their splits are compatible.

$$\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_E \rangle = \sum_{i \in E} x_i - \sum_{j \in E^C} x_j = 0,$$
  
$$\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_F \rangle = \sum_{i \in F} x_i - \sum_{j \in F^C} x_j = 0.$$

Moreover, the two hyperplanes  $\underline{E}$  and  $\underline{F}$  cross on the boundary of the polytope  $\Sigma'_n$ , defined by the facets with vertices  $\mathbf{e}_{ij}$  where i and j are not in same subset E or  $E^C$ , and not in same subset F or  $F^C$ .

Therefore the (n-3) compatible nontrivial splits of a fully resolved tree  $T \in S_n$ correspond to (n-3) non-crossing hyperplanes inside the convex polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  which gives a triangulation of  $\Sigma'_n$ , as every hyperplane  $\underline{E}$  of a split generates the same split of the labeled faces of  $\Sigma'_n$ . We will now define the amended secondary polytope of  $\Sigma'_n$  given by the convex hull of the vectors define by the triangulations of  $\Sigma'_n$ .

**Definition 2.59.** Let  $\Delta$  be a triangulation of  $\Sigma'_n$  and  $\tilde{vol}(\Delta_{j_1...j_k}, j_l)$  be the mass of from the region  $\Delta_{j_1...j_k}$  assigned to the vertex  $j_l$  by the barycentric distribution. The barycentric distribution is a symmetric distribution if the value  $\tilde{vol}(\Delta_{j_1...j_k}, j_l)$  is invariant under the group action that stabilizes the region  $\Delta_{j_1...j_k}$  by permuting the *n* labels in the subscripts of the vertices on  $\Sigma'_n$ .

**Definition 2.60.** Let  $\tilde{\mathbf{V}}_{\Delta} \in \mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$  be the vector of the triangulation  $\Delta$  of the convex polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  where the mass is assigned to the vertices by the symmetric distribution.

By definition we have

$$\tilde{\mathbf{V}}_{\Delta} = \sum_{\Delta_{j_1\dots j_k} \text{ is a truncated region in } \Sigma_n' } \sum_{l=1}^k \tilde{\text{vol}} \left( \Delta_{j_1\dots j_k}, j_l \right) \mathbf{e}_{j_l} = \sum_{\alpha \text{ is a vertex of } \Sigma_n' } \tilde{\text{vol}}_{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\alpha},$$

**Definition 2.61.** The amended generalized secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}_n$  for the convex polytope  $\Sigma'_n$  is given by the convex hull

$$\mathcal{Q}_n := conv \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{V}}_\Delta : \Delta \text{ is a triangulation of } \Sigma'_n \right\},$$

The dimension of the secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}_n$  is  $\binom{n}{2} - n$  where  $\binom{n}{2}$  corresponds to the number of vertices on  $\Sigma'_n$ . The points on the secondary polytope  $\mathcal{Q}_n$ , given in the form of vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$ , are in the subspace generated from the *n* affine conditions. One affine condition is given by the fixed sum of mass and the other (n-1) conditions are given by the fixed position of the barycentre of the convex polytope  $\Sigma'_n$ .

The secondary polytope  $Q_n$  and the BME polytope  $BME_n$  have the same dimension in the Euclidean space. Both realizations have reduced the dimension of the graph of the discrete space  $S_n$  to the order of  $n^2$ , which suggests a construction of the continuous space  $\mathcal{T}_n$  in the same dimension.

# Chapter 3

# Random walks, finite Gelfand pairs and spherical functions

In this chapter, we study the definitions and properties of *Gelfand pairs* and *spherical func*tions and seek methods to solve the random walks given by nearest neighbour interchange on the discrete tree spaces  $S_n$  and  $S_n^*$  defined in Chapter 2.

Some examples of tree spaces we consider are relatively large and cost more than exponential time to simulate numerically [53], [61]. We can produce the Markov chain from the nearest neighbour interchange (NNI) process that generates the simple random walk in  $S_n$  but the dimension of the transition matrix is (2n - 5)!!. Our aim is to find the decomposed eigensolutions under the invariance conditions of the symmetric groups acting on the tree spaces  $S_n$  and  $S_n^*$ .

We also note that some tree spaces can be parametrized by a large group G and a nontrivial subgroup K which form a Gelfand pair. Thus we apply the connection between the Gelfand pairs and the simple random walks to find the characters and spherical functions of the bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  which can be interpreted as the eigensolutions of the transition matrix for the simple random walks.

The Gelfand pair  $(S_n, S_m \times S_{n-m})$  is used to solve the random walk on the split of the leaf labels of the trees in  $S_n$  and  $S_n^*$ . We outline a method to solve the spherical functions from the Johnson scheme and the Bernoulli-Laplace diffusion model. In particular, we present the solution for the random walk on the vertices and edges of the Petersen graph which corresponds to  $S_5$  and  $S_5^*$ .

The trees and matchings of 2n elements into unordered n pairs as defined in Method (II) of enumerating the number of trees in  $S_{n+2}$  in Section 2.2 correspond to the Gelfand pair  $(S_{2n}, S_2 \wr S_n)$ . The matchings only correspond to the set of fully resolved trees and do not have the same NNI adjacencies and symmetry properties as the space of phylogenetic trees [17].

The automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  acts on the rooted q-ary ultrametric trees of depth n. The automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  and the stabilizer of a fixed leaf  $K_{q,n}$  form a Gelfand pair and is a model which can be generalized to the infinite case; i.e., Banach algebras in the second part of the thesis.

# 3.1 Finite Gelfand pairs

Throughout this chapter we assume that the group G is finite and consider the  $\ell^1$  norm on the group algebras and the invariant subalgebras. We mainly use the definitions and notations from [15].

Let G be a finite group and  $\ell^{1}(G)$  be the algebra of summable complex-valued functions on the group. For all  $f \in \ell^{1}(G)$ , we have  $\sum_{g \in G} |f(g)| < \infty$ .

Let  $\delta_g \in \ell^1(G)$  be the characteristic function on the group element  $g \in G$ . We have  $\delta_g(g) = 1$  and  $\delta_g(h) = 0$  for  $h \in G$  with  $h \neq g$ . The algebra  $\ell^1(G)$  has a basis  $\{\delta_g\}_{g \in G}$  given by the characteristic functions on the group elements.

**Definition 3.1.** Given a group G and a subgroup  $K \subseteq G$ , a function  $f \in \ell^1(G) : G \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is right-K-invariant if for all  $g \in G$  and for all  $k \in K$ , we have f(g) = f(gk) and is left-K-invariant if for all  $g \in G$  and for all  $k \in K$ , we have f(g) = f(kg).

The set of summable right-K-invariant functions  $\ell^1(G/K)$  is a subspace of  $\ell^1(G)$ . A function  $f \in \ell^1(G/K)$  satisfies  $f(h_1) = f(h_2)$  for all  $h_1, h_2$  in the same right coset gK. Set  $\delta_{gK} \in \ell^1(G) = \sum_{h \in gK} \delta_h$  to be the sum of characteristic functions of the group elements h in the right coset gK. The right-K-invariant subspace  $\ell^1(G/K)$  has a basis  $\{\delta_{gK}\}_{gK \subset G}$  given by the characteristic functions of the right cosets  $\delta_{gK} = \sum_{h \in gK} \delta_h$ .

Let G acts on the space X and K be the stabilizer of  $x_0 \in X$ . Then X is the homogeneous space of G/K and for all  $x \in X$  we have  $x = gx_0$  for some  $g \in G$ . The set of right cosets  $\{gK\}_{g \in G}$  is isomorphic to the homogeneous space X.

We can then define  $f_X \in \ell^1(X) : X \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  as the complex valued functions on X. The values of  $f_X$  are given by the right-K-invariant function  $f \in \ell^1(G)$  where  $f_X(x_0) = f(e)$  and  $f_X(gx_0) = f(g)$ . Therefore the right-K-invariant subspace  $\ell^1(G/K)$  has a basis  $\{\delta_x\}_{x \in X}$  for all  $x = gx_0$ . The right-K-invariant subspace  $\ell^1(G/K)$  can also be considered as the algebra of functions on the homogeneous space X. When X is finite, the dimension of  $\ell^1(X)$  is equal to the cardinality |X|. The basis is given by the set of characteristic functions  $\{\delta_x : x \in X\}$ . For all  $y \in X$ , we have

$$\delta_x(y) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } y = x \\ 0 \text{ if } y \neq x \end{cases}$$

**Definition 3.2.** Given a group G and a subgroup  $K \subseteq G$ , we define that a function  $f \in \ell^1(G)$  is bi-K-invariant if f is both left-K-invariant and right-K-invariant; i.e., for all  $g \in G$  and for all  $k_1, k_2 \in K$ , we have  $f(g) = f(k_1gk_2)$ .

**Definition 3.3.** Let G be a finite group and K be a subgroup of G. The pair (G, K) is called a Gelfand pair if the algebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  of bi-K-invariant functions under the convolution multiplication \* is commutative [15].

**Lemma 3.4.** Let  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  be the subalgebra of bi-K-invariant functions under the convolution multiplication \*. Then  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  closed is with respect to convolution. That is, for all  $f_1, f_2 \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ ,  $f_1 * f_2$  is bi-K-invariant.

*Proof.* For all  $g' \in KgK$ , there exists  $k_1, k_2 \in K$  such that  $g' = k_1gk_2$ .

$$[f_1 * f_2](g') = \sum_{h \in G} f_1(g'h) f_2(h^{-1}) = \sum_{h \in G} f_1(k_1gk_2h) f_2(h^{-1})$$
  
=  $\sum_{h \in G} f_1(gk_2h) f_2(h^{-1}) = \sum_{h \in G} f_1(gk_2h) f_2(h^{-1}k_2^{-1})$   
setting  $h' = k_2h$   
=  $\sum_{h' \in G} f_1(gh') f_2(h'^{-1}) = [f_1 * f_2](g)$ .

**Lemma 3.5.** Given a group G and a subgroup  $K \subseteq G$ , Suppose for any  $g \in G$  we have  $g^{-1} \in KgK$ . Then (G, K) is a Gelfand pair (Example 4.3.2 of [15]).

*Proof.* We assume that  $f(g) = f(g^{-1})$  for all  $f \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . Then for  $f_1, f_2$  in this algebra we get

$$[f_1 * f_2](g) = \sum_{h \in G} f_1(gh) f_2(h^{-1})$$
$$= \sum_{h \in G} f_1(gh) f_2(h)$$

setting t = gh

$$= \sum_{t \in G} f_1(t) f_2(g^{-1}t)$$
$$= \sum_{t \in G} f_1(t^{-1}) f_2(g^{-1}t)$$
$$= [f_2 * f_1](g^{-1}).$$

By Lemma 3.4,  $f_2 * f_1$  is also bi-K-invariant. Hence we have  $[f_2 * f_1](g^{-1}) = [f_2 * f_1](g)$ . Therefore  $[f_1 * f_2](g) = [f_2 * f_1](g)$ , which shows that (G, K) is a Gelfand pair. **Remark 3.6.** If (G, K) is a Gelfand pair and  $g^{-1} \in KgK$  for all  $g \in G$ , then (G, K) is called a symmetric Gelfand pair.

**Definition 3.7.** Let (X, d) be a finite metric space and G be a group acting on X by isometries i.e. d(gx, gy) = d(x, y) for all  $x, y \in X$ . The action is 2-point homogeneous (or distance-transitive) if for all  $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2) \in X \times X$  such that  $d(x_1, y_1) = d(x_2, y_2)$ , there exists  $g \in G$  such that  $gx_1 = x_2$  and  $gy_1 = y_2$  [15].

Let X be the homogeneous space G/K. Let G be the finite group that acts isometrically and 2-point homogeneously on the metric space (X, d). The condition of the metric  $d(x_0, y) = d(y, x_0)$  implies that there exists  $g \in G$  such that  $y = gx_0$  and  $x_0 = gy$  for all  $x_0, y \in X$  which further implies  $x_0 = gy = g^{-1}y$  and  $d(x_0, gx_0) = d(x_0, g^{-1}x_0)$ . If K is the stabilizer of  $x_0$ , then  $x_0 = kx_0$  and  $d(kx_0, kg^{-1}x_0) = d(x_0, kg^{-1}x_0) = d(x_0, gk^{-1}x_0) =$  $d(x_0, gx_0)$  for all  $k \in K$ , The equality  $d(x_0, kg^{-1}x_0) = d(x_0, gx_0)$  shows that there exists  $k' \in G$  such that  $x_0 = k'x_0$  and  $k'kg^{-1}x_0 = gx_0$ . Therefore we have  $k' \in K$  and  $g^{-1} \in KgK$  thus (G, K) is a symmetric Gelfand pair.

We identify the following examples of groups and subgroups and show that they form symmetric Gelfand pairs and present the links to the corresponding tree spaces.

**Example 3.8.** We consider the group that acts on the m, (n-m) splits of the leaf labels on trees in the discrete tree space  $S_n^*$ .

Let G be the symmetric group  $S_n$  acting on the *m*-subsets of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  by permuting the numbers. Let K be the subgroup  $S_m \times S_{n-m}$  which is isomorphic to the stabilizer of the *m*-subset  $x_0 = \{1, \ldots, m\}$ . The homogeneous space X, which is the set of all *m*-subsets of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ , is isomorphic to G/K.

Let  $S_n^*$  be the tree space with leaf labels  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Every nontrivial split of a tree  $T \in S_n^*$  is given by the partition of a subset of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  and the complement of the subset. In this example, we fix the size of the subset to be m and consider the splits correspond to the m-subsets of the set of leaf labels  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

**Lemma 3.9.** The pair  $(S_n, S_m \times S_{n-m})$  is a symmetric Gelfand pair.

*Proof.* First we identify the double cosets. The group G acts transitively on the m-subset of  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_n\}$  by

$$\pi\{i_1,\ldots,i_n\} = \{\pi(i_1),\ldots,\pi(i_n)\}, \text{ for all } \pi \in G.$$

We have  $kx_0 = k$  and  $|kx \cap x_0| = |kx \cap x_0|$  for all  $k \in K$ . For all  $k_1, k_2 \in K$ , we have

$$|k_1gk_2x_0 \cap x_0| = |k_1gx_0 \cap x_0| = |gx_0 \cap x_0|$$

which shows that the double cosets of g are determined by the number of unmoved elements in  $x_0$  after the group action g:

$$KgK = \left\{ \pi \in G | |\pi x_0 \cap x_0| = |gx_0 \cap x_0| \right\}.$$

Given a group element  $g \in G$  and a number  $i_k \in x_0$ , we have either  $gi_k \in x_0$  or  $gi_k \notin x_0$ . The group  $S_n$  also acts on all subsets of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ . We define the set  $x_1 = \{i_k \in x_0 | gi_k \in x_0\}$  and the set  $x_2 = \{i_k \in x_0 | gi_k \notin x_0\}$ . Then we have a partition  $x_0 = x_1 \cup x_2$  and  $gx_0 = gx_1 \cup gx_2$ . Note that  $x_1 \cap x_2 = \phi$ ,  $|gx_2 \cap x_0| = |x_2 \cap g^{-1}x_0| = 0$  and  $|gx_0 \cap x_0| = |x_0 \cap g^{-1}x_0| = |gx_1| = |x_1|$ .

We have  $g^{-1}x_0 \cap x_0 = (g^{-1}(x_1 \cup x_2)) \cap x_0 = (g^{-1}x_1 \cap x_0) \cup (g^{-1}x_2 \cap x_0)$ . Then  $|g^{-1}x_0 \cap x_0| = |x_1 \cap x_0| = |x_1|$ , i.e. if g stabilizes j elements in  $x_0$ , then  $g^{-1}$  also stabilizes j elements in  $x_0$  which implies  $|gx_0 \cap x_0| = |g^{-1}x_0 \cap x_0|$ . Therefore  $g^{-1} \in KgK$  and (G, K) is a symmetric Gelfand pair.

**Remark 3.10.** Let  $d : X \times X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$  be the metric defined as  $d(x, y) = \min\{m, n-m\} - |x \cap y|$  for all x, y which are the m-subsets of the set of n numbers. The action of  $S_n$  on the metric space (X, d) is 2-point homogeneous.

In the next section, we consider the random walk on the *m*-subsets of the set of *n* numbers and the random walk on the double cosets given by the subalgebra of bi-*K*-invariant functions. We may use this setting as the model of the random walks on the trees in  $S_n^*$  and only consider the degenerate trees when the splits correspond to the *m*-subsets. The eigensolutions to both random walks can be obtained from each other. When *n* is small, the number of possible choices of *m* is also small and we will be able to use this Gelfand pair to solve the random walks quickly. For n = 5, we have only one nontrivial choice of m = 2 which corresponds to the random walk on the Petersen graph as described in Example 2.18. When *n* is large, the number of tree topologies given by the partitions of the internal edges are not easy to compute [9].

**Example 3.11.** We consider trees in the discrete space  $S_n$  and the matchings of the (n-2) unordered disjoint 2-subsets of (2n-4) numbers.

As described in Method (II) of enumerating the number of trees in  $S_n$  in section 2.2.1, we set up a one-to-one correspondence between the semi-labeled fully resolved trees and the (n-2) unordered disjoint 2-subsets of (2n-4) numbers [17].

Let X be the family of all partitions of  $\{1, \ldots, 2n\}$  consisting of 2-subsets. The elements  $x \in X$  are of the form  $\{\{i_1, i_2\}, \{i_3, i_4\}, \ldots, \{i_{2n-1}, i_{2n}\}\}$ . The symmetric group  $S_{2n}$  acts on these n unordered pairs. For all  $\pi \in S_{2n}$ ,

$$\pi x = \left\{ \left\{ \pi i_1, \pi i_2 \right\}, \left\{ \pi i_3, \pi i_4 \right\}, \dots, \left\{ \pi i_{2n-1}, \pi i_{2n} \right\} \right\}.$$

Set  $x_0 = \{\{1, 2\}, \{3, 4\}, \dots, \{2n - 1, 2n\}\}$  and let the subgroup K be the stabilizer of  $x_0$ . We express K as the wreath product  $S_2 \wr S_n$  and we can compute that  $|X| = \frac{(2n)!}{2^n n!}$ .

The pair  $(S_{2n}, S_2 \wr S_n)$  is a symmetric Gelfand pair [17]. However the elements of X which belong to a double coset KgK do not have the  $S_{n+2}$  symmetry we expect to have for  $S_n$ . The adjacencies are different from the nearest neighbour interchange [17] hence the corresponding homogeneous space and double cosets from the Gelfand pair  $(S_{2n}, S_2 \wr S_n)$  do not correspond to the discrete metric structure of the space  $S_n$  [9].

**Example 3.12.** We consider the q-homogeneous rooted tree of depth n, the ultrametric space, the automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  and the stabilizer of the word 0...0.

As defined in Example 2.10 in section 2.1, the *q*-homogeneous rooted tree of depth *n* is a graph whose vertices correspond to the words from the alphabet  $\Sigma = \{0, 1, \ldots, q-1\}$ with length at most *n*. The automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  is isomorphic to the *n*-iterated wreath product  $S_q \wr \cdots \wr S_q$  [7] and we define the subgroup  $K_{q,n}$  to be the stabilizer of the word  $0 \ldots 0$  of length *n*.

**Definition 3.13.** Given two leaves of  $\mathbb{T}_{q,n}$  which correspond to the two words  $x = x_1 \cdots x_n \in \Sigma^n$  and  $y = y_1 \cdots y_n \in \Sigma^n$ , we define the function  $d : \Sigma^n \times \Sigma^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ as

$$d(x, y) = n - \max\left\{k : x_i = y_i \text{ for all } i \leq k\right\}.$$

We see that  $d(x, y) = d(y, x) \ge 0$  for all  $x, y \in \Sigma^n$  and the equality holds if and only if x = y. Note that for any three words  $x, y, z \in \Sigma^n$ , the triangle inequality  $d(x, y) \le d(x, z) + d(z, y)$  can be obtained from the relation

$$d(x, y) \le \max\left\{d(x, z) + d(z, y)\right\},\$$

which is called the *ultrametric inequality*. Therefore the function d is a metric. This metric d is called the *ultrametric distance* and  $(\Sigma^n, d)$  is called the *ultrametric space*. For  $x, y \in \Sigma^n$  we have  $d(x, y) \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ .

We denote the stabilizer of the word  $x_0 = 00 \cdots 0 \in \Sigma^n$  by

$$K_{q,n} = \left\{ g \in Aut \left( \mathbb{T}_{q,n} \right) : g \left( x_0 \right) = x_0 \right\}.$$

If the subgroup  $K_{q,n}$  stabilizes  $x_0$ , then  $K_{q,n}$  also stabilizes all words of the form  $00\cdots 0$  of any length less than n including the empty word  $\phi$ .

We identify the double cosets from the orbits of the leaves determined by the ultrametric d. For  $j \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ , define the set of leaves  $\Omega_{n,j}$  as the set of words  $\{x \in \Sigma^n : d(x_0, x) = j\}$ . The total numbers of words in each orbits are given by  $|\Omega_{n,0}| = 1$  and  $|\Omega_{n,j}| = (q-1) q^{j-1}$  for  $1 \le j \le n$ . Given  $g_{n,j} \in Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  where  $d(x_0, g_{n,j}x_0) = j$ ,

the double coset  $Kg_{n,j}K$  is given by

$$Kg_{n,j}K = \left\{g \in Aut\left(\mathbb{T}_{q,n}\right) \middle| gx_0 \in \Omega_{n,j}\right\}$$

**Lemma 3.14.** The pair  $(Aut (\mathbb{T}_{q,n}), K_{q,n})$  is a symmetric Gelfand pair.

*Proof.* For all  $k \in K_{q,n}$  we have  $k^{-1} \in K_{q,n}$ .

If  $g \notin K$ , let  $x = gx_0 = 0 \cdots 0x_j \cdots x_n$  where the first nonzero letter  $x_j \in \Sigma \setminus \{0\}$  appears in the *j*-th position. Then we have  $y = g^{-1}x_0 = 0 \cdots 0y_j \cdots y_n$  where the first nonzero letter  $y_j \in \Sigma \setminus \{0\}$  also appears in the *j*-th position. Therefore  $d(x, x_0) = d(y, x_0) = n - j$ . We can see that  $g^{-1} \in KgK$  which implies that  $\left(Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n}), K_{q,n}\right)$  is a symmetric Gelfand pair.

**Remark 3.15.** The action of  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_{q,n})$  on the metric space  $(\Sigma^n, d)$  is 2-point homogeneous [15].

In the next chapter, we study the automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{T}_q)$  acting on the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$  and the stabilizer K of a fixed vertex  $x_0$ . We use the 2-point homogeneous property to show that  $(Aut(\mathbb{T}_q), K)$  is a Gelfand pair and study the properties of the corresponding Iwahori-Hecke Algebra with  $\ell^1$  norm.

# **3.2** Spherical functions

In this section, we introduce the definitions and some key properties of the spherical functions for a commutative bi-K-invariant subalgebra of the group algebra  $\ell^1(G)$ . We also present how the spherical functions link to the minimal idempotents of the bi-K-invariant subalgebra for finite dimensions.

We consider the bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . The subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  has a natural basis given by the set of characteristic functions on the double cosets  $\{Y_{KgK}\}_{g \in G}$  given by

$$Y_{KgK}(h) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } h \in KgK \\ 0 \text{ if } h \notin KgK \end{cases}$$

**Remark 3.16.** There exists a natural normalization for the set of bases  $\{Y_{KgK}\}_{g\in G}$  as  $\left\{\frac{Y_{KgK}}{|KgK|}\right\}_{g\in G}$  such that all elements in the set of bases have norm 1.

**Definition 3.17.** Let (G, K) be a Gelfand pair. A bi-K-invariant function  $\phi$  on G is a spherical function if it satisfies the following conditions

- 1. For all  $f \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  there exists  $\lambda_f \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\phi * f = \lambda_f \phi$ .
- 2.  $\phi(1_G) = 1$ .

Note that the constant function  $\phi(g) = 1$  is always a spherical function as for all  $g \in G$ , we have

$$\phi * f(g) = \sum_{t \in G} \phi(gt) f\left(t^{-1}\right) = \left(\sum_{h \in G} f(h)\right) \phi(g).$$

The following statement is proved in Theorem 4.5.3 in [15].

**Theorem 3.18.** A nonzero bi-K-invariant function  $\phi$  is a spherical function if and only if

$$\frac{1}{|K|}\sum_{k\in K}\phi\left(gkh\right)=\phi(g)\phi(h)$$

for all  $g, h \in G$ .

**Corollary 3.19.** Let  $Y_{KgK} \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  be the characteristic function of the double coset KgK. Let  $\delta_{\phi}(Y_{KgK}) = \phi(g)$ . Then  $\delta_{\phi}$  is a character on the algebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  given by the spherical function  $\phi$ .

*Proof.* The convolution product of two characteristic functions is given by

$$Y_{Kg_1K} * Y_{Kg_2K}(h) = \sum_{t \in G} Y_{Kg_1K} \left(ht^{-1}\right) Y_{Kg_2K}(t)$$
  
=  $\sum_{t \in Kg_2K} Y_{Kg_1K} \left(ht^{-1}\right) Y_{Kg_2K}(t)$   
=  $\frac{1}{|K|^2} \sum_{k_1, k_2 \in K} Y_{Kg_1K} \left(hk_1g_2^{-1}k_2\right)$   
=  $\frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{k \in K} Y_{Kg_1kg_2K}(h)$ .

The identity element of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  for the convolution multiplication is the characteristic function  $Y_{K_{1_G}K}$ . We verify that the character corresponds to the characteristic function of  $K_{1_G}K$  is  $\chi_{\phi}(Y_{K_{1_G}K}) = \phi(1_G) = 1$ . Therefore the character is nontrivial.

Given two characteristic functions of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ , by Theorem 3.18 we have

$$\chi_{\phi} \left( Y_{Kg_1K} * Y_{Kg_2K} \right) = \chi_{\phi} \left( \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{k \in K} Y_{Kg_1kg_2K} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{k \in K} \phi \left( g_1 kg_2 \right)$$
$$= \phi \left( g_1 \right) \phi \left( g_2 \right)$$
$$= \chi_{\phi} \left( Y_{Kg_1K} \right) \chi_{\phi} \left( Y_{Kg_2K} \right),$$

which shows that  $\chi_{\phi}$  is a character.

**Remark 3.20.** Note that the characters are in the dual of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . The dual of the space  $\ell^1(G)$  is given by  $\ell^{\infty}(G)$ .

Let G be a finite group and (G, K) be a Gelfand pair with the number of orbits of K on the corresponding homogeneous space  $X \simeq G/K$  equal to N + 1. We apply the following statements from [15] to present the connection between the idempotents of the subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and the spherical functions:

- 1. There exist N + 1 pairwise orthogonal spherical functions  $\{\phi_j\}_{j=0}^N$ , including the constant spherical function,  $\phi_0(g) = 1$  for all  $g \in G$ , by Corollary 4.5.6, Proposition 4.5.7 in [15].
- 2.  $\ell^{1}(X)$  decomposes into N + 1 distinct irreducible subrepresentations, by Theorem 4.6.1 in [15].
- 3. Every spherical function corresponds to a 1-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation in  $\ell^1(X)$ , Theorem 4.6.2 in [15].

The invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is (N+1)-dimensional and has a set of (N+1) distinct minimal idempotents  $\{\mathbf{e}_i\}_{i=0}^N$  which correspond to the natural basis of  $\mathbb{C}^{N+1}$ . The minimal idempotents satisfy  $\mathbf{e}_i \mathbf{e}_i = \mathbf{e}_i$  and  $\mathbf{e}_i \mathbf{e}_j = 0$  for  $i \neq j$ . Every minimal idempotent  $\mathbf{e}_i$  corresponds to a character  $\chi_i$  where  $\chi_i(\mathbf{e}_i) = 1$  and  $\chi_i(\mathbf{e}_i) = 0$  for  $i \neq j$ .

Every function  $f \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  can be written as a linear sum of the minimal idempotents, given by  $f = \sum_{j=0}^N \alpha_j \mathfrak{e}_j$ . We have  $f\mathfrak{e}_j = \alpha_j \mathfrak{e}_j$  and  $\chi_j(f\mathfrak{e}_j) = \chi_j(f) \chi_j(\mathfrak{e}_j) = \alpha_j$ for all  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ .

Let (G, K) be a Gelfand pair and  $\{Kg_jK\}_{j=0}^N$  be the set of distinct double cosets which constitute the finite group G as a disjoint union. Let  $\{\phi_j\}_{j=0}^N$  be the set of spherical functions for the subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . We find the set of minimal idempotents  $\{\mathfrak{e}_i\}_{i=0}^N$ from the set of spherical functions.

If  $\phi_j$  is a spherical function, then there exists  $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\phi_j * \phi_j = \lambda_j \phi_j$ . Let  $\mathfrak{f}_j = \frac{1}{\lambda_j} \phi_j$  be the scalar multiple of the spherical function  $\phi_j$ . We have  $\mathfrak{f}_j * \mathfrak{f}_j = \mathfrak{f}_j$ , which shows that  $\mathfrak{f}_j$  is an idempotent. Since all spherical functions are orthogonal, i.e.  $\phi_j * \phi_l = 0$  when  $j \neq l$ , the set of scaled spherical functions  $\{\mathfrak{f}_j\}_{j=0}^N$  constitute the set of minimal idempotents of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ .

# 3.3 Random walk on tree spaces

Random walks are widely used in simulating the data of discrete tree spaces [9]. Statisticians require the probability distribution to analyze the stochastic process which simulates the evolutions as a random walk with a transition matrix [9], [4]. The dimension of the transition matrix is normally given by the size of the corresponding set which consists of elements in  $S_n^*$ . The aim is to find the eigensolutions for the random walk which are given in the form of eigenvectors and eigenvalues which predict the probability distribution after certain steps without expanding the multiplications of the transition matrix.

The data given by the trees can be large but there might exist an invariance condition between the trees under certain group actions on the labels. Thus we seek better methods to simplify the random walk on a set of trees; e.g., to reduce the dimension of the transition matrix by defining a partition of the set of the trees. The partition is normally given by a lumping process as in Definition 3.24 and the eigensolutions of the random walk on the partition are preserved from the eigensolutions of the random walk on the original set through an invariant group action.

In some particular examples, given a symmetric Gelfand pair (G, K), the random walk is on the homogeneous space  $X \simeq G/K$  and is lumpable (Definition 3.24) to the random walk on the partition of X given by the double cosets. We show that the adjacency operator on the vector space of the partition is equivalent to the convolution multiplication of the bi-K-invariant subalgebra of the group algebra thus find the correspondence between the eigensolutions of the random walk and spherical functions of the subalgebra.

One obvious example to study is the random walk on the *m*-subsets of a set of *n* numbers which correspond to the random walk on the m, (n - m)-splits of trees in  $S_n^*$  and  $S_n$ . We describe the lumpable random walk on the space of the *m*-subsets of a set of *n* numbers and link to the Gelfand pair  $(S_n, S_m \times S_{n-m})$ . We also present that the eigensolutions of the random walk can be interpreted as the spherical functions of the commutative bi-invariant subalgebra defined from the Gelfand pair.

### 3.3.1 Lumpable random walk and eigensolutions

When we consider the random walks on the set X, we construct a graph  $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$  as a realization of the space X. The set of vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  correspond to the elements in X and the

edges  $\mathcal{E}$  correspond to the adjacency relations in the random walks.

For  $x, y \in X$ , let p(x, y) be the probability of moving from x to y in one step. The transition matrix  $P = (p(x, y))_{x,y \in X}$  is a square matrix of dimension |X| with nonnegative entries and satisfies  $\sum_{y \in X} p(x, y) = 1$  for all  $x \in X$ .

**Definition 3.21.** Let X be a finite set and  $\nu_0$  be a probability distribution on X. A (homogeneous) Markov chain with state space X, initial distribution  $\nu_0$  and transition matrix P is a finite sequence  $\nu_0, \nu_1, \ldots, \nu_n, \ldots$  where  $\nu_j = P^j \nu_0$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ .

Note that the distribution on X is normally given as a column vector so that the left multiplication with the transition matrix P is still a column vector.

A distribution  $\nu_T \in \ell^1(X)$  is a stationary distribution if  $P\nu_T = \nu_T$ . When the initial distribution  $\nu_0$  is given by a *Dirac measure*  $\delta_x$ , we define that the Markov chain starts at the point x. We choose a starting position  $x_0$  in the space and compute the probability distribution after n steps of diffusion. In the discrete phylogenetic tree space  $\mathcal{S}_n^*$ , a possible initial distribution is the Dirac measure from the start tree which is fully degenerate.

Let  $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$  be a graph where there is at most one edge between two connected vertices. We denote an edge by  $x \sim y$  if two vertices  $x, y \in \mathcal{V}$  are connected by an edge. The probabilities of moving from a vertex x to its adjacent vertices are all equal. The corresponding transition matrix P for the simple random walk is given by

$$p(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\deg x} & \text{if } x \sim y\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Let  $P_{\mathcal{G}}$  be a  $|\mathcal{V}|$  by  $|\mathcal{V}|$  matrix with entries given by p(x, y) as above. We verify that  $\sum_{y \in \mathcal{V}} p(x, y) = 1$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{V}$ . Hence  $P_{\mathcal{G}}$  is a transition matrix.

**Definition 3.22.** A simple random walk on the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  of the graph  $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$  is a particular case of Markov chain (Definition 3.21) with state space  $\mathcal{V} \in \ell^1(\mathcal{V})$  and the transition matrix  $P_{\mathcal{G}}$ .

**Remark 3.23.** Multiple edges and self loops are allowed in the graph that defines the simple random walk.

Given the discrete tree space  $S_n^*$ , we may define the graph as  $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$  where the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  correspond to the trees in  $S_n^*$  and the edges correspond to the adjacencies, e.g. the nearest neighbour interchange. We can also define a subgraph where the vertices are given by a subset of  $S_n^*$ . The aim is to find the eigensolutions of the random walk on the graph  $\mathcal{G}$  given as the eigenvectors and eigenvalues.

Let  $X' = \bigcup_{j=0}^{N} X_j$  be a partition of the finite set X by the disjoint subsets  $\{X_j\}_{j=0}^{N}$ . Let  $\{\mathbf{e}_x\}_{x\in X}$  be the natural basis of  $\ell^1(X)$ . Given a probability distribution  $v = \sum_{x\in X} v(x) \mathbf{e}_x \in \ell^1(X)$ , we obtain the corresponding probability distribution on

the partition X' as the vector  $v' = \sum_{j=0}^{N} v'(X_j) \mathbf{e}_j \in \ell^1(X')$  where  $v'(X_j) = \sum_{x \in X_j} v(x)$ . Let  $P_X$  be the transition matrix of a random walk on X and the sequence  $v_0, v_1, \ldots$  be the Markov chain with initial distribution  $v_0$ .

**Definition 3.24.** The random walk on X given by the transition matrix  $P_X$  is lumpable with respect to the partition X' if for any initial distribution  $v_0 \in \ell^1(X)$ , the sequence of the corresponding probability distributions on the partition X',  $v'_0, v'_1, \ldots$  is also a Markov chain whose transition matrix does not depend on the choice of  $v_0$ .

There exists a transition matrix  $P'_X$  for the partition X' from the lumpable random walk given by the transition matrix  $P_X = (p(x, y))_{x,y \in X}$ . By Proposition 1.10.2 in [15], for all  $x \in X_j$ ,  $y \in X_k$  and  $X_j, X_k \in X'$ , we require the transition matrix  $P_X$  to satisfy  $\sum_{y \in X_k} p(x, y)$  is a constant  $p(X_j, X_k)$ ; i.e., the probability of moving from subset  $X_j$  to the subset  $X_k$  does not depend on the choice of  $x \in X_j$ . Therefore the transition matrix  $P'_X$  is an (N + 1) by (N + 1) square matrix given by

$$P_X' = \left( p\left(X_j, X_k\right) \right)_{X_j, X_k \in X'}$$

Let  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$  be a finite, connected graph without self loops. Let d(x, y) be the number of edges in the shortest path joining the two vertices  $x, y \in X$ . We verify that d(x, y) is always a nonnegative integer satisfying

- 1. d(x, x) = 0 for all  $x \in X$ ,
- 2. d(x,y) = d(y,x) for all  $x, y \in X$ ,
- 3.  $d(x,y) \leq d(x,z) + d(z,y)$  for all  $x, y, z \in X$  where equality holds if the vertex z is in the shortest path joining x and y.

Therefore (X, d) is a metric space and there exists a smallest  $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  such that  $d(x, y) \in \{0, 1, \ldots, N\}$  for all  $x, y \in X$ . We denote diam  $(X) = N = \max \{d(x, y) : x, y \in X\}$  by the *diameter* of the graph. Note that a vertex y is a *neighbour* of a vertex x if d(x, y) = 1 and the degree of a vertex deg(x) is the number of the neighbours of x. A graph is *regular* if the degrees on all vertices are equal.

**Definition 3.25.** Let  $\Delta_0, \Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_N : \ell^1(X) \longrightarrow \ell^1(X)$  be the linear operators on the vector space  $\ell^1(X)$  given by

$$\left(\Delta_j f\right)(x) = \sum_{y \in X, d(x,y)=j} f(y).$$

For  $j \leq -1$  or  $j \geq N+1$ , we define the other linear operators  $\Delta_j : \ell^1(X) \longrightarrow \ell^1(X)$  to be the zero operators.

Consider the simple random walk on the regular graph  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$  where the probability of moving to one neighbours is  $\frac{1}{\deg(x)}$ . The operator  $\Delta_0$  is the identity operator. The multiplication between the transition matrix  $P_X$  and a probability distribution column vector  $v \in \ell^1(X)$  can be obtained from the normalized operator  $\Delta_1$  as

$$P_X v = \frac{1}{\deg(x)} \Delta_1 v.$$

The operator  $\Delta_1$  is called the *Laplace operator* of the graph and normalized operator  $\frac{1}{\deg(x)}\Delta_1$  is called the *random walk operator*.

Let  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$  be a distance-regular graph; that is, there exists a set of constants  $\{a_0, b_0, c_0, a_1, b_1, c_1, \ldots, a_N, b_N, c_N\}$  for all  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ , one has

$$\Delta_j \Delta_1 = a_j \Delta_{j-1} + b_j \Delta_j + a_j \Delta_{j+1},$$

which implies  $\Delta_j = p_j(\Delta_1)$  is a polynomial of  $\Delta_1$  with degree j. Therefore all distance operators  $\Delta_0, \Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_N$  can be generated from the single generator  $\Delta_1$ . The algebra of functions on the vertices of the finite graph  $\mathcal{G}$  with operators  $\Delta_0, \Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_N$  is also called the *Bose-Mesner algebra* associated with the set of vertices X [41], [18], [39].

Let  $X_j = \{x \in X : d(x, x_0) = j\}$  be the subset of X where all vertices have distance j away from the vertex  $x_0$ . Then  $X' = \bigcup_{j=0}^N X_j$  is a partition of the finite set X. Let  $\{\mathbf{e}_x\}_{x \in X}$  be the natural basis of  $\ell^1(X)$ . We have  $\Delta_j(\mathbf{e}_{x_0}) = p_j(\Delta_1)(\mathbf{e}_{x_0}) = \sum_{x \in X_j} \mathbf{e}_x$  for all linear operators  $\Delta_0, \Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_N$  as defined in Definition 3.25.

Consider the simple random walk on the distance-regular graph  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$  which is lumpable with respect to the partition X'. Let the probability distribution on X,  $v \in \ell^1(X)$  be invariant on the vertices which belong to the same subset  $X_j$ . The basis of the probability distribution which are constant on the subsets  $\{X_j\}_{j=0}^N$  on X are given by the vectors  $\mathbf{e}_{X_j} = \sum_{x \in X_j} \mathbf{e}_x \in \ell^1(X)$  for all  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ . The basis  $\{\mathbf{e}_{X_j}\}_{j=0}^N$ correspond to the natural basis  $\{\mathbf{e}_j\}_{j=0}^N$  the vector space  $\ell^1(X')$ . The random walk on the partition X' from the lumpable random walk on X is also generated by a single random walk operator which corresponds to the Laplace operator  $\Delta_1$  for  $\ell^1(X)$  [15].

Let G be a finite group acting on the metric space (X, d) transitively and 2-pointhomogeneously where  $d(x, y) \in \{0, 1, ..., N\}$  for all  $x, y \in X$ . Let K be the stabilizer of  $x_0 \in X$  where the homogeneous space X is given by G/K. Then (G, K) is a symmetric Gelfand pair. We choose X' to be the partition of the double cosets KgK where every double coset is a union of right cosets which correspond to a subset of X. Let  $X' = \bigcup_{j=0}^{N} X_j$ be the partition of the orbits determined by the distance j from the element  $x_0$ . The bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  has a basis  $\{Y_{Kg_jK}\}_{j=0}^{N}$  given by the characteristic functions of the double cosets. Define a graph with the set of vertices X with no self loops. Two vertices x and y are connected by an edge if there exists  $g \in Kg_1K$  such that gx = y. The characteristic function  $Y_{Kg_0K}$  is the identity in the convolution multiplication in  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and can be considered as the zero-th power of any other characteristic functions.

**Definition 3.26.** The bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is singly generated if there exists a function  $\mathfrak{f} \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  such that all functions in  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  can be uniquely written as a polynomial of  $\mathfrak{f}$ .

**Remark 3.27.** If the bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is singly generated by the characteristic function  $Y_{Kg_1K}$ , then the characteristic functions of other double cosets can be written as polynomial of  $Y_{Kg_1K}$ .

Assume that the bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is singly generated by  $Y_{Kg_1K}$ . The convolution multiplications between the characteristic functions are given by

$$Y_{Kg_1K} * Y_{Kg_jK} = \sum_{l=0}^{N} m_{j,l} Y_{Kg_lK}.$$

Let  $P'_X = (p(j,l))_{j,l \in \{0,1,\dots,N\}}$  be a square matrix labeled by the double cosets of the Gelfand pair (G, K) where

$$p(j,l) = \frac{|Kg_lK|}{|Kg_jK| |Kg_1K|} m_{j,l}$$

We verify that  $0 \leq p(j,l) \leq 1$  for all  $j,l \in \{0,1,\ldots,N\}$  and  $\sum_{l=0}^{N} p(j,l) = 1$  for all  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ . Therefore  $P'_X$  is a transition matrix thus define a random walk on the double cosets. Note that the scaled operator  $\frac{Y_{Kg_1K}}{|Kg_1K|}$  can be considered as the corresponding random walk operator for the vector space  $\ell^1(X')$  with scaled characteristic functions as the basis, given as

$$\frac{Y_{Kg_1K}}{|Kg_1K|} * \frac{Y_{Kg_jK}}{|Kg_jK|} = \sum_{l=0}^{N} p(j,l) \frac{Y_{Kg_lK}}{|Kg_lK|}$$

**Lemma 3.28.** The eigenvectors of the transition matrix  $P'_X$  are given by the spherical functions of the bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ .

*Proof.* Let X' be the partition of the homogeneous space X = G/K given by the corresponding double cosets. Let  $\{\mathbf{e}_j\}_{j=0}^N$  be the natural basis of  $\ell^1(X') \simeq \mathbb{C}^{N+1}$ . For  $f = \sum_{j=0}^N f(g_j) Y_{Kg_jK} \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ , we define the column vector  $v \in \ell^1(X')$  as

$$v_f = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \frac{1}{\left|Y_{Kg_jK}\right|} f\left(g_j\right) \mathbf{e}_j.$$

Note that  $\{\mathbf{e}_j\}_{j=0}^N$  can be considered as another basis of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  as  $\mathbf{e}_j$  is given by a scalar multiple of the characteristic function  $Y_{Kg_jK}$  for  $\ell^1(X)$ . This implies the one-to-one correspondence between vectors  $v_f$  and the functions  $f \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ .

Let  $\phi$  be a spherical function of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . By Definition 3.17, there exists  $\lambda_{\phi} \in \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$\frac{1}{|Kg_1K|}Y_{Kg_jK} * \phi = \lambda_\phi\phi.$$

Therefore the vector  $v_{\phi}$  is an eigenvector of the transition matrix  $P'_X$  with eigenvalue  $\lambda_{\phi}$ , i.e.  $P'_X v_{\phi} = \lambda_{\phi} v_{\phi}$ .

Conversely, if  $v_{\phi}$  is an eigenvector of the transition matrix  $P'_X$  with eigenvalue  $\lambda_{\phi}$ , then  $\phi$  is a spherical function of  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . Every function  $f \in \ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  can be written as a polynomial of the characteristic function  $Y_{Kg_1K}$  as  $f = p_f(Y_{Kg_1K})$ . Therefore there exists  $\lambda_f \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $p_f(Y_{Kg_1K}) * \phi = \lambda_f \phi$ .

**Remark 3.29.** The random walk on X' given by the transition matrix  $P'_X$  is the corresponding lumped simple random walk on the graph  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$  where x and y are joined by an edge if there exists  $g \in Kg_1K$  such that y = gx.

Let  $v \in \ell^1(X)$  be an eigenvector of the transition matrix for the simple random walk on  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$ . The vector  $v^k$  given by the group action  $k \in K$  on the vertices X is still an eigenvector if the graph and orbits of vertices given by the double cosets are invariant under K. Therefore the average of all eigenvectors under the group action K,  $\frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{k \in K} v^k$ , is also an eigenvector with the same eigenvalue.

The eigenvectors of the random walk on  $\mathcal{G} = (X, \mathcal{E})$  which are invariant on the vertices inside the same orbit given by a double coset, correspond to the eigenvectors of the lumped random walk with transition matrix  $P'_X$ . Therefore by solving the random walk on X', we effectively obtain all eigenvalues and K-invariant eigenvectors.

# 3.3.2 Random walks on graphs of phylogenetic tree spaces

In this section, we consider examples of random walks on sets which are related to discrete tree spaces. We show that the simple random walk on the permutohedra and the associahedra are lumpable. We also present the explicit eigensolutions for the lumpable simple random walk on the vertices of the Petersen graph as the eigensolutions corresponds to the random walk on the trees in  $S_5^*$  under the nearest neighbour interchange. The eigenvectors of the transition matrix of the lumped random walk can be interpreted as the spherical functions of the bi-invariant subalgebra defined from the Gelfand pair  $(S_5, S_2 \times S_3)$ .

**Example 3.30.** We consider the simple random walk on the permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$ .

As introduced in Section 2.3.1, we label the vertices of the standard permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$  by the *inverse permutation* of the coordinates of the *n* numbers in the coordinates in the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

The vertices with the *inverse permutations* correspond to the sequence of the planar embedding of the leaf labels on the binary trees. The 1-skeleton of the permutohedron  $P_{n-1}$  can be considered as a regular graph  $\mathcal{G}_{P_n}$  which does not contain any multiple edges or self loops. The edges of  $\mathcal{G}_{P_n}$  indicate the adjacencies between the sequences of the leaf labels. Two vertices are connected by an edge if their corresponding sequences of the leaf labels differ by a swap of two adjacent labels in the sequence of n elements. Hence we can see that every vertex of  $\mathcal{G}_{P_n}$  has degree (n-1).

As defined in Definition 2.21, given a half-space  $H_{P_n}(E)$ , we can identify the normal vector  $\underline{1}_E$  that defines the hyperplane of the half-space. A vertex with coordinates  $\underline{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is on the hyperplane if it satisfies

$$\langle \underline{v}, \underline{1}_E \rangle = \sum_{j \in E} v_j = \frac{|E| (|E| + 1)}{2}.$$

Since all entries in the coordinates of vertices on  $P_{n-1}$  are integers, the inner product  $\langle \underline{v}, \underline{1}_E \rangle = \sum_{j \in E} v_j$  always gives an integer for all vertices  $\underline{v}$  of  $P_{n-1}$ . We can verify that

$$\frac{|E|\left(|E|+1\right)}{2} \le \langle \underline{v}, \underline{1}_E \rangle \le \frac{|E|\left(|E|+1\right)}{2} + |E|\left(n-|E|\right),$$

which shows that the values of  $\langle \underline{v}, \underline{1}_E \rangle$  is the set of integers

$$\mathcal{L}_{E} = \left\{ \frac{|E|(|E|+1)}{2}, \frac{|E|(|E|+1)}{2} + 1, \dots, \frac{|E|(|E|+1)}{2} + |E|(n-|E|) \right\}.$$

Therefore every vertex  $\underline{v} \in P_{n-1}$  can be identified in a set

$$\mathcal{V}_{E,l} = \left\{ \langle \underline{v}, \underline{1}_E \rangle = l, l \in \mathcal{L}_E \right\}.$$

Given a vertex with coordinates  $\underline{v}$ , the (n-1) neighbours of  $\underline{v} \in \mathcal{V}_{E,l}$  can only be in one of the three subsets:  $\mathcal{V}_{E,l-1}$ ,  $\mathcal{V}_{E,l}$  and  $\mathcal{V}_{E,l+1}$  as the adjacencies are generated from a single swap of two adjacent integers. The numbers of neighbours of  $\underline{v}$  in all three subsets are also fixed. Hence by Definition 3.24, the simple random walk on  $\mathcal{G}_{P_n}$  is lumpable with respect to the partition  $\bigcup_{l\in\mathcal{L}_E}\mathcal{V}_{E,l}$  for all subset  $E \subsetneq \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ .

**Example 3.31.** We consider the simple random walk on the associahedron  $K_{n-1}$ .

As introduced in Section 2.3.2, given a permutation  $\underline{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  of n leaf labels, we obtain a subset of trees in the discrete space  $S_n$  and  $S_n^*$ . The vertices of the associahedron  $K_{n-1}$  correspond to a subset of  $S_n$  which is a set of fully resolved trees with a fixed permutation of leaf labels in their corresponding Newick string formats.

The adjacencies between the vertices of  $K_{n-1}$  are given by one of the two neighbours from the nearest neighbour interchange process which preserve the cyclic order of the leaf labels. Therefore we can define the simple random walk on  $K_{n-1}$  which can be considered as the simple random walk on the graph  $\mathcal{G}_{K_{n-1}}$  obtained from the 1-skeleton of  $K_{n-1}$  with the set of vertices { $\mathbf{V}_{\Delta} : \Delta$  is a triangulation of the regular *n*-gon}. The dihedral group  $D_{2n}$  acts on the coordinates of the vertices from the secondary polytope realization of the regular *n*-gon defined in Section 2.3.2.

Let  $\mathcal{V}_{\underline{\Delta}}$  be a subset of vertices of  $K_{n-1}$  constructed from the secondary polytope realization. A vertex  $\mathbf{V}'_{\underline{\Delta}}$  is in the subset  $\mathcal{V}_{\underline{\Delta}}$  if the corresponding triangulated regular *n*-gon can be obtained from the triangulation  $\underline{\Delta}$  through the  $D_{2n}$  action on the labeled coordinates in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Since the number of triangulations is finite, we obtain a partition  $\bigcup \mathcal{V}_{\underline{\Delta}}$  which is a union of disjoint subsets which constitute the set of all vertices on  $K_{n-1}$ . Every subset  $\mathcal{V}_{\underline{\Delta}}$  is invariant under the  $D_{2n}$  action thus the simple random walk on  $\mathcal{G}_{K_{n-1}}$  is lumpable with respect to the partition  $\bigcup \mathcal{V}_{\underline{\Delta}}$ .

**Example 3.32.** We consider the simple random walk on the vertices of the Petersen graph.

Let the vertices of the Petersen graph be labeled as below.



Figure 3.1: The Petersen graph

The 10 vertices correspond to the set of 2-subsets X or the 2-3-splits of the set  $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$ . Two vertices are connected by an edge if their corresponding subsets are disjoint; i.e., the two corresponding 2-3-splits for the leaf labels of the discrete tree space  $S_5^*$  are compatible.

The transition matrix  $P_X = \left(p\left(\{i_1, i_2\}, \{j_1, j_2\}\right)\right)$  is a 10 by 10 square matrix labeled by the 10 subsets. The nonzero entries are given by  $p\left(\{i_1, i_2\}, \{j_1, j_2\}\right) = \frac{1}{3}$  if  $\{i_1, i_2\}$  and  $\{j_1, j_2\}$  are disjoint.
We define three subsets of the set of 10 vertices as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} X_0 &= \{\{1,2\}\} \\ X_1 &= \{\{3,4\}, \{3,5\}, \{4,5\}\}, \\ X_2 &= \{\{1,3\}, \{1,4\}, \{1,5\}, \{2,3\}, \{2,4\}, \{2,5\}\} \end{aligned}$$

The partition X' is given by  $X = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup X_2$ . We can see that the simple random walk on the Petersen graph is lumpable with respect to the partition X' [49]. We obtain the transition matrix  $P'_X$  for the lumped random walk on X' as

$$P'_X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 1 & 0 & \frac{1}{3}\\ 0 & \frac{2}{3} & \frac{2}{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$

As the partition X' is singly generated by the random walk operator, we can obtain the eigensolutions by solving the equations of the eigenvalue  $\lambda$  and express the entries of the corresponding eigenvector as a polynomial of  $\lambda$ . All eigenvectors of  $P'_X$  are of the form  $v = (1, 3\lambda, 9\lambda^2 - 3)$  with eigenvalue  $\lambda$ . The three eigenvectors of  $P'_X$  are  $v_0 = (1, 3, 6)$  with eigenvalue 1,  $v_1 = (1, -2, 1)$  with eigenvalue  $-\frac{2}{3}$  and  $v_2 = (1, 1, -2)$  with eigenvalue  $\frac{1}{3}$ .

We also note that the symmetric group  $G = S_5$  acts transitively and 2-pointhomogeneously on the set of 2-subsets X and the stabilizer of the subset  $\{1,2\}$  is isomorphic to the subgroup  $K = S_2 \times S_3$ . The pair (G, K) is a symmetric Gelfand pair and the partition X' correspond to the partition  $G = Kg_0K \cup Kg_1K \cup Kg_2K$  as a union of the three disjoint double cosets. Therefore by Lemma 3.28, we can obtain the spherical functions of the bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  by normalizing the eigenvectors of the transition matrix  $P'_X$  for the lumped random walk on the Petersen graph.

**Example 3.33.** We consider the simple random walk on the space X of the m-subsets of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

For  $n - m \ge 2$ , we construct a graph  $\mathcal{G}_{n,m}$  where the vertices correspond to the *m*-subsets or m, (n - m)-splits of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Two vertices are connected by an edge if their corresponding *m*-subsets have exactly (m - 1) elements in common.

The symmetric group  $G = S_n$  acts transitively and 2-point-homogeneously on the m-subsets  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ . The stabilizer of  $\{1, \ldots, m\}$  is isomorphic to the subgroup  $K = S_m \times S_{n-m}$ . The pair (G, K) is a symmetric Gelfand pair [15] and we can define the metric space (X, d) as in Remark 3.10.

The random walk on  $\mathcal{G}_{n,m}$  is lumpable with respect to the partition X' which corresponds to the double cosets from the Gelfand pair (G, K). The bi-K-invariant subalgebra  $\ell^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is also singly generated thus we can obtain the spherical functions from the eigenvectors of the lumped random walk.

Note that the m, (n-m)-splits of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  correspond to the split of leaf labels in the discrete tree space  $S_n^*$ . We may apply the eigensolutions of the lumpable random walk on  $\mathcal{G}_{n,m}$  to the random walk on a subset of  $S_n^*$  which only consists of degenerate trees given by a single internal edge that indicates the m, (n-m)-splits of the leaf labels.

**Example 3.34.** We consider the random walk on the tree shapes of the space of fully resolved trees  $S_n$ .

We consider the simple random walk on the discrete tree space  $S_n$  with the nearest neighbour interchange as the adjacencies. The transition matrix is (2n - 5)!!-dimensional but does not have the symmetries from the symmetric Gelfand pair  $(S_{2n}, S_n \wr S_2)$ . The symmetric group  $S_{2n}$  does not act transitively and 2-point homogeneously on the graph of  $S_n$  where the adjacencies are obtained from the nearest neighbour interchange.

We can still define a partition X' of the space  $S_n$ . The symmetric group  $S_n$  acts on the leaf labels, thus acts on all splits of the fully resolved trees. Two fully resolved trees  $T_1, T_2 \in S_n$  are of the same *tree-shape* if they can be obtained from each other by permuting the leaf labels in all (n-3) splits with a group element  $g \in S_n$ . The partition X' is then given by the disjoint union of trees with different tree-shapes.

The simple random walk on  $S_n$  with the nearest neighbour interchange is lumpable with respect to the partition X' of the tree-shapes. The eigensolutions of the lumped random walk may help us obtain an approximate distribution of different tree shapes for small n, but the number of tree-shapes grows fast for n > 10 [55].

## Part II

# Infinite trees, buildings and the cohomology groups of their Banach algebras

## Chapter 4

## Algebras of automorphism groups of homogeneous trees

In this chapter, we consider some algebras of automorphism groups of homogeneous trees and buildings and the *Iwahori-Hecke algebras* of the corresponding infinite Gelfand pairs [11]. These particular examples of Banach algebras are motivated by those which arise from harmonic analysis on structures related to phylogenetic trees. The method is to apply the properties of Gelfand pairs and spherical functions to solve some specific random walk problems and to check the amenability and other homological properties of those Banach algebra examples.

We start with a group acting on the vertices of the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$  and the subgroup which stabilizes a fixed point. We show that these two locally compact groups form a Gelfand pair. We define the algebra of summable functions on the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $\mathbb{T}_q$  whose values are determined by the distance from a fixed vertex  $x_0$ . The Laplace operator which is given by the average adjacency relations, corresponds to the diffusion or the simple random walk to the adjacent vertices [14].

By fixing the Haar measure to normalize the size of the subgroup, the algebra of integrable bi-invariant functions on the locally compact group, is discretized to be isomorphic to the Hecke algebra  $A_q$  on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ , with  $\ell^1$  norm. The Hecke operator can be understood as the single generator of the algebra. The conditions for the eigenfunctions for the Laplace operator can be worked out straightforwardly from the random walk equation, and scaled to be spherical functions. We show that the bounded spherical functions indeed give the values of bounded characters for the isomorphic Hecke algebra  $A_q$ .

We use a shift matrix to compute the characters on  $A_q$ . The character space is parametrized by an ellipse arising from a symmetrized bi-disc, generated by the set of unordered pairs of points with fixed product on an annulus on the complex plane. We will prove the existence of point derivations and bounded approximate identities given by the interior and the boundary of the character space.

#### 4.1 The groups acting on the infinite homogeneous tree $\mathbb{T}_q$

A tree is a non-directed connected graph without any closed cycles. An edge is an unordered pair of connected vertices  $(x_i, x_j)$ . The vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  in the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$  all have degree q+1 and there exists a unique path between any pair of vertices (x, y).

A sequence of vertices  $X_n = [x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  is a chain if every adjacent pair of vertices  $(x_i, x_{i+1})$  is connected as an edge and  $x_i \neq x_j$  for all  $0 \leq i < j \leq n$ . The length of the chain is  $d(x_0, x_n) = d(x_n, x_0) = n$ . This sequence of vertices can be extended to be doubly infinite as  $[\ldots, x_{-N}, \ldots, x_0, \ldots, x_N, \ldots]$ .

A map  $g: \mathcal{V} \longrightarrow \mathcal{V}$  is an *automorphism* if it is bijective, and (x, y) is an edge if and only if (g(x), g(y)) is an edge. Given a chain which is a sequence of vertices, every adjacent pair of vertices form an edge. Under the automorphism, an edge (x, y) is mapped to another edge (x', y'). If  $X_n$  is a chain then  $gX_n$  is also a chain. Therefore the composition of two automorphisms maps one edge to another edge and also maps a chain to another chain. If g is an automorphism, then  $g^{-1}$  is also an automorphism. The identity map is an automorphism. Hence the set of automorphisms of the infinite homogeneous tree is a group under composition.

We define G to be the group of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{T}_q$ . Hence G preserves all chain structures on  $\mathbb{T}_q$ . The infinite tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$  is *locally finite* and *homogeneous* as all vertices have the same degree q + 1 with  $q < \infty$ , as the common cardinality; i.e., the graph is (q + 1)-regular.

When q = 1, the vertices of the tree  $\mathbb{T}_2$  are isomorphic to the integers  $\mathbb{Z}$  and there exists only one doubly infinite chain. In this case, the group algebra is easier to compute and we will discuss this example in a later section.

The group of automorphisms  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{T}_q)$  of the infinite homogeneous tree can be turned into a topological group [22], [48]. For any  $W \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{T}_q)$ , W is open in the compact-open topology. We also use the fact that  $\mathbb{T}_q$  is discrete and  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{T}_q)$  is a Hausdorff topological group.

In general, we assume that  $q \ge 2$ . We choose a subgroup K of the locally compact group G where K is the stabilizer of a given vertex  $x_0$ . Note that G is unimodular and Kis compact [51]. When q is a prime number, we will show that (G, K) is a Gelfand pair and the pair of p-adic projective general linear groups  $\left(PGL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)\right)$  is also a Gelfand pair. The two bi-invariant subalgebras under the  $\ell^1$ -norm from the two Gelfand pairs are isomorphic to each other. For any  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , we define a set of vertices

$$\mathcal{V}_j = \left\{ x \in \mathcal{V} \middle| d(x, x_0) = j \right\}.$$

For every  $\mathcal{V}_j$ , we define a subset of G as

$$\Omega_j = Kg_j K = \left\{ g \in G : gx_0 \in \mathcal{V}_j \right\}.$$

We fix a family  $(g_j)_{j=0}^{\infty}$  such that  $g_j \in \Omega_j$ . This ensures that  $d(g_j(x_0), x_0) = j$  and  $\Omega_j = Kg_jK$ , which shows that the group G is an infinite disjoint union of the double cosets. The size of every orbit can be computed by enumerating the number of vertices with the same distance away from  $x_0$ , explicitly as

$$|\mathcal{V}_0| = |\{x_0\}| = 1$$
 and  $|\mathcal{V}_j| = (q+1)q^{j-1}$  for  $q \ge 2$ .

We will show that (G, K) is a Gelfand pair and compute the random walks on the vertices of  $\mathbb{T}_q$  in the following sections. We define the group algebra and the bi-K-invariant subalgebra with  $L^1$  norm by fixing a Haar measure. The commutativity from the property of the Gelfand pair allows us to find the isomorphic Iwahori-Hecke algebra in a discretized version.

#### 4.2 The algebra of functions on the vertices on $\mathbb{T}_q$

The purpose of this section is to study the algebra of integrable bi-K-invariant functions in  $L^1(K\backslash G/K)$ . We present all bounded spherical functions of the Gelfand pair (G, K). We set up an isomorphism from the algebra of bi-K-invariant functions in  $L^1(K\backslash G/K)$  to a Banach algebra on the discrete space  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  and find the space of characters and describe the topology. It is then natural to determine the existence of b.a.i. and point derivations for the character space.

**Definition 4.1.** Let G be a locally compact, unimodular group and let K be a compact subgroup. An integrable function  $f \in L^1(G)$  is said to be bi-K-invariant if  $f(k_1gk_2) = f(g)$ for all  $k_1, k_2 \in K$  and  $g \in G$ , from Chapter II, Section 4 in [22].

We write  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  for the space of all bi-K-invariant integrable functions on G. We say that (G, K) is a Gelfand pair if  $f_1 * f_2 = f_2 * f_1$  for all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ .

**Lemma 4.2.**  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is closed with respect to convolution. That is, if  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  then  $f_1 * f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ .

*Proof.* For all  $g' \in KgK$ , there exists  $k_1, k_2 \in K$  such that  $g' = k_1gk_2$ .

$$[f_1 * f_2] (g') = \int_{h \in G} f_1(g'h) f_2(h^{-1}) dh = \int_{h \in G} f_1(k_1gk_2h) f_2(h^{-1}) dh$$
  
=  $\int_{h \in G} f_1(gk_2h) f_2(h^{-1}) dh = \int_{h \in G} f_1(gk_2h) f_2(h^{-1}k_2^{-1}) dh$ 

setting  $h' = k_2 h$ 

$$= \int_{h' \in G} f_1(gh') f_2(h'^{-1}) dh' = [f_1 * f_2](g).$$

**Proposition 4.3.** For all  $g \in \Omega_j$ , we have  $g^{-1} \in \Omega_j$ .

Proof. Given any  $g \in Aut(\mathbb{T}_q)$ , suppose  $g \in \Omega_j$ , we have  $d(x_0, gx_0) = d(g^{-1}x_0, x_0) = j$ . The subgroup K acts transitively on all infinite chains starting at  $x_0$  thus K acts on the finite chains with length  $d(g^{-1}x_0, x_0)$  and starting at  $x_0$ . Hence K acts on the all vertices x which have the same distance n from  $x_0$ , namely  $\mathcal{V}_j$ . This implies that there exists  $k \in K$  such that  $(kg^{-1})x_0 = gx_0$  and  $h = g^{-1}kg^{-1} \in K$ , which shows that  $g^{-1} = hgk^{-1}$  and  $g^{-1} \in KgK$ .

**Corollary 4.4.** The pair (G, K) is a Gelfand pair, i.e.  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is commutative under convolution.

*Proof.* By Proposition 4.3, we have  $f(g) = f(g^{-1})$  for all  $f \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ . We show that for all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  where  $f_1 = f_2$  almost everywhere, the convolution satisfies

$$f_1 * f_2(g) = \int_{h \in G} f_1(h) f_2\left(h^{-1}g\right) dh$$
$$= \int_{h \in G} f_1(h) f_2\left(\left(g^{-1}h\right)^{-1}\right) dh$$
(setting  $h = gh_1$ )

$$= \int_{h_1 \in G} f_1(gh_1) f_2\left(h_1^{-1}\right) dh_1$$

(as G is unimodular)

$$= \int_{h_1 \in G} f_1\left(h_1^{-1}g^{-1}\right) f_2(h_1) dh_1$$
  
= 
$$\int_{h_1 \in G} f_2(h_1) f_1\left(h_1^{-1}g^{-1}\right) dh_1$$
  
= 
$$f_2 * f_1\left(g^{-1}\right).$$

By Lemma 4.2, we have  $f_2 * f_1(g^{-1}) = f_2 * f_1(g)$ . Thus  $f_1 * f_2 = f_2 * f_1$  for all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ , which shows that the pair (G, K) is a Gelfand pair.

We will now define a basis for the bi-K-invariant functions  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ , the functions on the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  and the functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ .

The basis of  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is given by the characteristic function

$$\delta_{\Omega_j}(g) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } g \in \Omega_j \\ 0 \text{ elsewhere} \end{cases}$$

For a bi-K-invariant function on G, it is right invariant i.e. f(g) = f(h) if  $h \in gK$ . We therefore define the summable functions on the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$ ,  $f_{\mathcal{V}} \in \ell^1(\mathcal{V})$  as

$$f_{\mathcal{V}}: \mathcal{V} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \quad f_{\mathcal{V}}(gx_0) = \int_{h \in gK} f(h) dh.$$

We can also define the basis of  $\ell^1(\mathcal{V})$  by the characteristic function

$$\delta_{gx_0}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } x = gx_0 \\ 0 \text{ elsewhere} \end{cases}$$

Since f is bi-K-invariant function on G, the function on vertices  $f_{\mathcal{V}}$  is invariant on every orbit set  $\mathcal{V}_j$ . Therefore the values of  $f_{\mathcal{V}}$  are determined by a radial function [29]  $\tilde{f}$  on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ , which is defined to be

$$\tilde{f}: \mathbb{Z}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \ \tilde{f}(j) = \tilde{f}(d(gx_0, x_0)) = \left| \mathcal{V}_j \right| f_{\mathcal{V}}(x) \text{ for } g \in \Omega_j$$

The basis for the radial function  $\tilde{f} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  is given by the characteristic function  $Y_j$  where

$$Y_j(k) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } j = k \\ 0 \text{ if } j \neq k \end{cases}$$

Fix the Haar measure on G by setting the mass of the subgroup K to be 1. By normalizing the characteristic functions, we will show that there exists an isomorphism between  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and a Banach algebra on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  with specific multiplication rules  $*_q$ given by the properties of  $\mathbb{T}_q$ .

**Definition 4.5.** Let  $A_q = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, *_q)$  be a commutative Banach algebra with multiplication  $*_q$ . Let  $\{Y_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  be the normalized characteristic functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ . Let  $Y_0$  be the identity

and  $Y_1$  be the single generator of  $A_q$ , given by

$$Y_m *_q Y_0 = Y_m,$$
  
$$Y_m *_q Y_1 = \frac{q}{q+1} Y_{m+1} + \frac{1}{q+1} Y_{m-1} \quad for \quad m \ge 1.$$

For  $m \ge n \ge 2$ , the multiplication of  $*_q$  in the algebra  $A_q$  gives

$$Y_m *_q Y_n = \frac{q}{q+1} Y_{m+n} + \frac{1}{(q+1)q^{n-1}} Y_{m-n} + \frac{q-1}{q+1} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{Y_{m+n-2j}}{q^j}.$$

**Theorem 4.6.** The Banach algebras  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and  $A_q$  are isomorphic. The isomorphism sends  $\delta_{\Omega_0}$  to  $Y_0$  and  $\delta_{\Omega_1}$  to  $Y_1$ .

*Proof.* We note that normalized basis  $\{Y_j\}$  for  $A_q$  is a rescaling of the characteristic functions  $\delta_{\Omega_j} \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  as

$$Y_j(j) = \frac{1}{|\Omega_j|} \int_{g \in G} \delta_{\Omega_j}(g) dg$$

so that all  $Y_j$  have mass 1.

For all  $\delta_{\Omega_j} \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and  $Y_j \in A_q$ , define a linear map

$$\theta: L^1(K \setminus G/K) \longrightarrow A_q, \quad \theta\left(\frac{\delta_{\Omega_j}}{|\Omega_j|}\right) = Y_j$$

We need to show that for all  $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ ,  $\theta\left(\frac{\delta_{\Omega_m}}{|\Omega_m|} * \frac{\delta_{\Omega_n}}{|\Omega_n|}\right) = \theta\left(\frac{\delta_{\Omega_m}}{|\Omega_m|}\right) *_q \theta\left(\frac{\delta_{\Omega_n}}{|\Omega_n|}\right) = Y_m *_q Y_n$ . When n = 0,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta_{\Omega_m} * \delta_{\Omega_0}(g)}{|\Omega_m| |\Omega_0|} &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m|} \int_{h \in G} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h) \delta_{\Omega_0}(h^{-1}g) dh \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m|} \int_{h \in G} \delta_{\Omega_m}(hg^{-1}) \delta_{\Omega_0}(h^{-1}) dh \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m|} \int_{h \in K} \delta_{\Omega_m}(hg^{-1}) dh \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m|} \delta_{\Omega_m}(g^{-1}) = \frac{1}{|\Omega_m|} \delta_{\Omega_m}(g). \end{split}$$

When  $m \ge n$  and n = 1,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta_{\Omega_m} * \delta_{\Omega_1}(g)}{|\Omega_m||\Omega_1|} &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m||\Omega_1|} \int_{h \in G} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h) \delta_{\Omega_1}(h^{-1}g) dh \\ (\text{setting } h_1 = hg) \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m||\Omega_1|} \int_{h_1 \in G} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h_1g^{-1}) \delta_{\Omega_1}(h_1^{-1}) dh_1 \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m||\Omega_1|} \int_{h_1 \in \Omega_1} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h_1g^{-1}) dh_1 \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m||\Omega_1|} \left(\delta_{\Omega_{m+1}} + q\delta_{\Omega_{m-1}}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{(q+1)q^{m-1}(q+1)} \left((q+1)q^m Y'_{m+1} + (q+1)q^{m-1} Y'_{m-1}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{q}{q+1}Y'_{m+1} + \frac{1}{q+1}Y'_{m-1}\right). \end{split}$$

When  $m \ge n \ge 2$ ,

$$\frac{\delta_{\Omega_m} * \delta_{\Omega_n}(g)}{|\Omega_m| |\Omega_n|} = \frac{1}{|\Omega_m| |\Omega_n|} \int_{h \in G} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h) \delta_{\Omega_n}(h^{-1}g) dh$$
(setting  $h_1 = hg$ )
$$= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m| |\Omega_n|} \int_{h_1 \in G} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h_1g^{-1}) \delta_{\Omega_n}(h^{-1}) dh_1$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m| |\Omega_n|} \int_{h_1 \in \Omega_n} \delta_{\Omega_m}(h_1g^{-1}) dh_1$$

(enumerating  $x \in \mathcal{V}_{m+n-2j}$  such that  $h_1g^{-1} \in \Omega_m$  and  $d(x, g^{-1}x_0) = n$ )

$$= \frac{1}{|\Omega_m||\Omega_n|} \left( \delta_{\Omega_{m+n}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} (q-1)q^{j+1}\delta_{\Omega_{m+n-2j}} + q^n \delta_{\Omega_{m-n}} \right)$$
$$= \left( \frac{q}{q+1}Y'_{m+n} + \frac{q-1}{q+1}\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{Y'_{m+n-2j}}{q^j} + \frac{1}{(q+1)q^{n-1}}Y'_{m-n} \right).$$

Since the convolution multiplications in  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  are commutative, we have shown that  $\theta$  is an isomorphism between  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and  $A_q$ , which proves that these two algebras are isomorphic.

### 4.3 Random walk on $\mathbb{T}_q$ , spherical functions and characters

To study the random walk on the vertices of the homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$ , we define a linear operator, the *Laplace operator* on the vector space of bounded complex-valued function on  $\mathcal{V}$ . For a function  $f_{\mathcal{V}} : \mathcal{V} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ , we define the value of  $(Lf_{\mathcal{V}})(x)$  to be the average of the values of all  $f_{\mathcal{V}}(y)$ , where y is adjacent to x, expressed as

$$(Lf_{\mathcal{V}})(x) = \frac{1}{q+1} \sum_{d(x,y)=1} f_{\mathcal{V}}(y).$$

The Laplace operator can be used as the generator of the unweighted random walk on the vertices through adjacencies.

Under the bi-K-invariance condition; i.e., the function on  $\mathcal{V}$  is radial, we can also define the corresponding Laplace operator to the radial function,  $\tilde{L}\tilde{f}: \mathbb{Z}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  where

$$(\tilde{L}\tilde{f})(j) = \frac{1}{q+1}\tilde{f}(j-1) + \frac{q}{q+1}\tilde{f}(j+1), \text{ for } j \ge 1$$
  
 $(\tilde{L}\tilde{f})(0) = \tilde{f}(1),$ 

which can be seen as a weighted random walk between adjacent orbits of vertices.

A bounded radial function  $\tilde{\psi} \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  is an eigenfunction for the Laplace operator  $\tilde{L}$ if it satisfies that for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\left(\tilde{L}\tilde{\psi}\right)(j) = \lambda \tilde{\psi}(j)$ , where  $\lambda$  is the eigenvalue. In this example, we can work out the values of  $\tilde{\psi}$  from the adjacency relations

$$\tilde{\psi}(1) = \lambda \tilde{\psi}(0), \tag{4.1}$$

$$\tilde{\psi}(j+2) = \frac{q+1}{q}\tilde{\psi}(j+1) - \frac{1}{q}\tilde{\psi}(j) \text{ for } j \ge 0,$$

$$(4.2)$$

where  $\tilde{\psi}(0) \neq 0$  and an extra condition on  $\lambda$  will be needed for the eigenfunction to be bounded. We will work out the condition of boundedness explicitly by from the growth rate later in this section. From the identity above we can show that  $\tilde{\psi}(m) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} a_{m,j} \lambda^{j}$ by induction. Note that we always have  $a_{m,j} = 0$  if m+j is odd. For  $j \neq 0$ , the coefficients  $a_{m,j}$  are given by

$$a_{m,j} = (-1)^{\frac{m-j}{2}} q^{-\frac{m+j}{2}} \left( \binom{\frac{m+j}{2}-1}{j-1} (q+1)^{j-1} q + \binom{\frac{m+j}{2}-1}{j} (q+1)^j \tilde{\psi}(0).$$
(4.3)

For j = 0, we have

$$a_{m,j} = (-1)^{\frac{m-j}{2}} q^{-\frac{m+j}{2}} {\binom{m+j}{2} - 1} j (q+1)^j \tilde{\psi}(0).$$
(4.4)

In Lemma 4.7 and Lemma 4.9, we explain the conversion between the powers of  $Y_1$  and natural basis of  $A_q$ , given by the set  $\{Y_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ . The coefficients in the conversion between the two set of basis are mostly used in numerical computations.

**Lemma 4.7.** For the algebra  $A_q$ , set  $Y_1^0 = Y_0$  The natural basis element  $Y_m$  of  $A_q$  can be

expressed as a linear sum of powers of the generator  $Y_1$ ,  $Y_m = \sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j} Y_1^j$ . For  $j \neq 0$ , the coefficients  $a_{m,j}$  are given by

$$a_{m,j} = (-1)^{\frac{m-j}{2}} q^{-\frac{m+j}{2}} \left( \binom{\frac{m+j}{2}-1}{j-1} (q+1)^{j-1} q + \binom{\frac{m+j}{2}-1}{j} (q+1)^j \right).$$
(4.5)

For j = 0, we have

$$a_{m,j} = (-1)^{\frac{m-j}{2}} q^{-\frac{m+j}{2}} {\binom{m+j}{2} - 1} {j} (q+1)^j.$$
(4.6)

*Proof.* First we have  $a_{0,0} = 1$  and  $a_{1,1} = 1$ . For  $m \ge 2$ , the adjacency relation  $Y_m Y_1 = \frac{q}{q+1}Y_{m+1} + \frac{1}{q+1}Y_{m-1}$  gives

$$a_{m,j} = \frac{q}{q+1} a_{m-1,j-1} + \frac{1}{q+1} a_{m-1,j+1} \text{ for } j \ge 2,$$
  
$$a_{m,0} = \frac{1}{q+1} a_{m-1,1},$$
  
$$a_{m,1} = a_{m-1,0} + \frac{1}{q+1} a_{m-1,1}.$$

The values of  $a_{m,j}$  can then be verified by induction.

**Remark 4.8.** As for the uniqueness, we know that the leading term  $a_{m,m}$  is the first nonzero term. Every step by canceling the next term we can determine the other coefficients downwards. Note that the odd terms from the top are all positive and the even terms are negative. Although the sum of these coefficients  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{m,j}$  is always 1, the value of  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} |a_{m,j}|$  grows exponentially with growth rate  $\frac{q+1}{q}$ , which is not a good control to the norm.

**Lemma 4.9.** The power of the generator  $Y_1^n$  can be expanded as a linear sum of elements in terms of the natural basis  $Y_k$ ,  $Y_1^n = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} c_{n,k} Y_{n-2k}$ , where

$$c_{n,k} = \sum_{p=0}^{k-1} \left( \binom{n-p-1}{k-p} - \binom{n-p-1}{k-p-1} \right) (q+1)^{p-n+1} q^{n-1-p-k} + (q+1)^{k-n+1} q^{n-2k-1}.$$

*Proof.* Consider the expansion of  $Y_1^{n+1}$  into  $Y_1^n *_q Y_1$ . For  $n \ge 2$ , the coefficients  $c_{n+1,k}$ 

are given by

$$c_{n+1,0} = \frac{q}{q+1}c_{n,0},$$

$$c_{n+1,k} = \frac{q}{q+1}c_{n,k} + \frac{1}{q+1}c_{n,k-1} \text{ for } 1 \le k < \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor,$$

$$c_{n+1,n/2} = c_{n,n/2} + \frac{1}{q+1}c_{n,n/2-1} \text{ for even } n,$$

$$c_{n+1,(n+1)/2} = \frac{1}{q+1}c_{n,(n-1)/2} \text{ for odd } n.$$

The values of  $c_{n,k}$  can then be verified by induction.

**Remark 4.10.** Since the coefficients of the expansion are all nonegative, the power of  $Y_1$  in terms of the natural basis  $Y_k$  also have mass 1. However the expansion of  $Y_m$  into powers of  $Y_1$  in the previous proposition does not have good control of the norm, despite the sum of the coefficients is always 1.

**Proposition 4.11.** Let (G, K) be the Gelfand pair as above and  $\psi$  be a bi-K-invariant function on G. Let  $\psi_{\mathcal{V}}$  and  $\tilde{\psi}$  be the corresponding functions on  $\mathcal{V}$  and the radial function. Then  $\psi$  is a spherical function if and only if the bounded radial function  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for the Laplace operator  $\tilde{L}$  with  $\tilde{\psi}(0) = 1$ .

*Proof.* If  $\psi$  is a spherical function, from  $\psi(e) = 1$  we know that the corresponding radial function satisfies  $\tilde{\psi}(0) = 1$ . Let  $\tilde{\psi}(1) = \lambda$ , i.e. for all  $g \in G$  such that  $d(x_0, gx_0) = 1$ ,  $\psi(g) = \lambda$ .

Given an edge (x, y) such that  $gx_0 = x$  and  $hx_0 = y$ , we have  $d(gx_0, hx_0) = 1$ . Since *G* acts transitively on  $\mathcal{V}$ , we obtain further adjacency relations as

$$d(x_0, g^{-1}hx_0) = d(x_0, kg^{-1}hx_0) = d(x, gkg^{-1}hx_0) = 1,$$

where there exists (q+1) distinct  $k_j \in K$  such that  $gk_jg^{-1}hx_0 = y_j$ , the (q+1) distinct vertices which are adjacent to x. Note that the (q+1) vertices  $k_jg^{-1}hx_0$  are the (q+1)neighbours of  $x_0$ , therefore each one of the set  $K_j = \{k_j \in K | gk_jg^{-1}hx_0 = y_j\}$  will have mass  $\frac{1}{q+1}$  by the Haar measure 1 of K, as the (q+1) disjoint sets of  $K_j$  form K. Therefore

$$\begin{split} \psi(1)\psi(d(x,x_0)) &= \psi(g^{-1}h)\psi(g) \\ &= \int_{k \in K} \psi\left(gkg^{-1}h\right)dk \\ &= \int_{k \in K} \tilde{\psi}\left(d\left(gkg^{-1}hx_0,x_0\right)\right)dk \\ &= \frac{1}{q+1}\sum_{d(x,y_j)=1}\psi_{\mathcal{V}}(y_j) \\ &= (L\psi_{\mathcal{V}})(x) \\ &= (\tilde{L}\tilde{\psi})(d(x,x_0)), \end{split}$$

which shows that  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for the Laplace operator  $\tilde{L}$  with eigenvalue  $\tilde{\psi}(1) = \lambda$ .

Conversely, we assume that the radial function  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for the Laplace operator  $\tilde{L}$  with eigenvalue  $\lambda$  and  $\tilde{\psi}(0) = 1$ . The value of  $\tilde{\psi}(1) = \lambda$  is the eigenvalue. We need to show that for all  $g, h \in G$ ,  $\int_{K} \psi(gkh) dk = \psi(g)\psi(h)$ , where  $\psi(g) = \tilde{\psi}(d(gx_0, x_0))$  for all  $g \in G$ .

For  $d(gx_0, x_0) = m$  and  $d(hx_0, x_0) = n$ , we have  $\psi(g) = \tilde{\psi}(m)$  and  $\psi(h) = \tilde{\psi}(n)$ . When  $g \in K$ , it is trivial to show that  $\psi(e) = \tilde{\psi}(0) = 1$  and  $\int_K \psi(gkh)dk = \psi(h)$ . When  $d(gx_0, x_0) = 1$ , from analysis of the disjoint set in the previous proof, we have

$$\int_{K} \psi(gkh)dk = \frac{1}{q+1} \sum_{y|d(y,hx_0)=1} \psi_{\mathcal{V}}(y)$$
$$= (L\psi_{\mathcal{V}})(hx_0) = \lambda\psi(h) = \tilde{\psi}(1)\tilde{\psi}(n).$$

When  $m \ge n \ge 2$ , from the weight of the orbits in the multiplications, we expand  $\int_K \psi(gkh) dk$  in terms of powers of  $\tilde{\psi}(1)$  and prove that the expansion is indeed the product

of  $\tilde{\psi}(m)$  and  $\tilde{\psi}(n)$ .

$$\begin{split} \int_{K} \psi(gkh)dk &= \frac{q}{q+1}\tilde{\psi}(m+n) + \frac{1}{(q+1)q^{n-1}}\tilde{\psi}(m-n) + \frac{q-1}{q+1}\sum_{j=1}^{n-1}\frac{\tilde{\psi}(m+n-2j)}{q^{j}} \\ &= \frac{q}{q+1}\left(\sum_{k=0}^{m+n}a_{m+n,k}\tilde{\psi}(1)^{k}\right) + \frac{q}{q+1}\left(\sum_{k=0}^{m-n}a_{m-n,k}\tilde{\psi}(1)^{k}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{q-1}{q+1}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n-1}\frac{1}{q^{j}}\left(\sum_{k=0}^{m+n-2j}a_{m+n-2j,k}\tilde{\psi}(1)^{k}\right)\right) \\ &= \left(\sum_{j=0}^{m}a_{m,j}\tilde{\psi}(1)^{j}\right)\left(\sum_{k=0}^{n}a_{n,k}\tilde{\psi}(1)^{k}\right) \\ &= \tilde{\psi}(m)\tilde{\psi}(n), \end{split}$$

which shows that  $\psi$  is indeed a spherical function.

By Lemma 4.2 and Lemma 4.3 of Chapter II in [22], we can also define the bounded characters of  $A_q$  from the spherical functions in  $L^{\infty}(K \setminus G/K)$ . A character  $\chi$  of the commutative algebra  $A_q$  is a bounded linear function  $\chi : A_q \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\chi(Y_m Y_n) =$  $\chi(Y_m)\chi(Y_n)$  for all  $Y_m, Y_n \in A_q$ . For an eigenfunction  $\tilde{\psi}$  where  $\tilde{\psi}(0) = 1$  and  $\tilde{\psi}(1) = \lambda$ , let  $\chi_{\lambda} : A_q \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  be a function which satisfies  $\chi_{\lambda}(Y_m) = \tilde{\psi}(m)$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . Then we have  $\chi_{\lambda}(Y_0) = 1$  and  $\chi_{\lambda}(Y_m)\chi_{\lambda}(Y_n) = \tilde{\psi}(m)\tilde{\psi}(n) = \chi_{\lambda}(Y_m Y_n)$  for all  $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  from the previous isomorphism  $\theta$ , which shows that  $\chi_{\lambda}$  is a character for  $A_q$ .

**Proposition 4.12.** There exists a decomposed form for the bounded characters of the algebra  $A_q$ .

Proof. We will now compute the values of characters and spherical functions in the decomposed form from the above linear relations between adjacent terms, using a *shift matrix*. We denote a *basic edge* by a column vector  $\mathcal{Y}_j = (Y_{j+1}, Y_j)^T \in A_q^2$ , the linear operator  $\mathcal{S}_2 \in M_2(A_q)$  shifts the  $\mathcal{Y}_j$  vector by one step to  $\mathcal{Y}_{j+1}$  as  $\mathcal{S}_2\mathcal{Y}_j = \mathcal{Y}_{j+1}$ , explicitly expressed as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{q+1}{q}Y_1 & -\frac{1}{q} \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y_{j+1} \\ Y_j \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{j+2} \\ Y_{j+1} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.7)

Given  $\chi(Y_1) = \lambda$ , the eigenvalues  $\mu_1, \mu_2$  of the matrix  $\chi(\mathcal{S}_2)$  are the solutions to

$$\mu^2 - \frac{q+1}{q}\lambda\mu + \frac{1}{q} = 0.$$

The corresponding eigenvectors of the distinct eigenvalues  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are  $(\mu_1, 1)^T$  and

 $(\mu_2, 1)^T$  respectively. We verify that the vector  $\chi(Y_1, Y_0) = (\lambda, 1)$  is a linear combination of the two eigenvectors with nonzero coefficients. Therefore we express  $\chi(Y_1, Y_0)$  as the decomposed form

$$\chi(Y_1, Y_0) = \alpha_1(\mu_1, 1) + \alpha_2(\mu_2, 1)$$
(4.8)

where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2$  are determined by the value of  $\lambda$  and both nonzero. When  $\mu_1 \neq \mu_2$ , we have

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{\lambda - \mu_2}{\mu_1 - \mu_2}, \quad \alpha_2 = \frac{\lambda - \mu_1}{\mu_2 - \mu_1}.$$
(4.9)

Hence we work out the characters from the eigenvectors and eigenvalues of the shift matrix as

$$\chi \left( Y_{j+1}, Y_j \right)^T = \chi \left( \mathcal{S}_2^j \mathcal{Y}_0 \right)^T = \left( \alpha_1 \mu_1^j \left( \mu_1, 1 \right) + \alpha_2 \mu_2^j \left( \mu_2, 1 \right) \right)^T.$$
(4.10)

We cannot have the case where  $|\mu_1| = |\mu_2| > 1$  as the product of  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  is fixed to be 1/q. The only case we have  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  is when  $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = q^{-1/2}$  and  $\lambda = \frac{2q^{1/2}}{q+1}$ . In this case, we compute the values of the characters as  $\chi(Y_m) = \frac{2q}{q+1}\mu_1^m$  for  $m \ge 1$ .

As the value of the character grows exponentially in terms of  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  and to be bounded by arbitrary powers of j, we require the norms of both  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  to be bounded by 1, to obtain the bounded characters. Therefore, every unordered pair

$$\left\{ \{\mu_1, \mu_2\} : \frac{1}{q} \le |\mu_1| \le 1, \frac{1}{q} \le |\mu_2| \le 1, \mu_1 \mu_2 = \frac{1}{q} \right\}$$
(4.11)

gives a unique bounded character in  $A_q$ .

Conversely, every character  $\chi_{\lambda}$  in  $A_q$  also determines an undered pair  $(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ . Since every character in  $A_q$  gives a unique value of  $\lambda = \chi_{\lambda}(Y_1)$  and the value  $\lambda$  is the parameter that affects the solutions to the equation for the growth rate  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$ , thus the unordered pair  $(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  is determined by the character  $\chi_{\lambda}$ .

**Lemma 4.13.** The character space of  $A_q$  is parametrized by an ellipse  $M_A$  centered at the origin on the complex plane.

Proof. A character  $\chi_{\lambda}$  in  $A_q$  is determined by the value  $\chi_{\lambda}(Y_1) = \lambda$ . Recall the symmetrized bi-disc [2], given by a set of points on the complex plane  $\Gamma = \{(\mu_1 + \mu_2, \mu_1 \mu_2) : 0 \le |\mu_1| \le 1, 0 \le |\mu_2| \le 1\}$ . Let  $s = \mu_1 + \mu_2$  and  $p = \mu_1 \mu_2$ . Agler and Young showed that  $(s, p) \in \Gamma$  if and only if

$$|s| \le 2$$
, and  $|s - \bar{s}p| + |p|^2 \le 1$ .

Since we have a fixed  $p = \mu_1 \mu_2 = \frac{1}{q}$ , the above inequality implies that

$$|q\mu - \bar{\mu}| \le q - 1$$

Set  $\mu = x + iy$  in the complex plane, the character space  $M_A$  we have is

$$|(q-1)x - i(q+1)y| \le q - 1,$$

which is an ellipse centered at the origin. We can also check that  $|\lambda| \leq 1$  for all  $q \geq 1$ , which agrees with the property of the random walk.

**Remark 4.14.** The boundary of the character space  $\partial M_A$  is achieved when one of  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  has modulus 1 and the other has modulus  $\frac{1}{q}$ .

#### 4.4 Point derivations and b.a.i

**Definition 4.15.** Let A be an algebra and  $\chi : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  be a character. A point derivation D on A is a linear function  $D : A \to \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$D(f_1f_2) = D(f_1)\chi(f_2) + \chi(f_1)D(f_2), \text{ for all } f_1, f_2 \in A.$$

The function D(f) is a point bi-module to be evaluated by the multiplication with a character in the character space.

**Lemma 4.16.** There exists an essentially unique point derivation  $D : A_q \to \mathbb{C}$  for every character  $\chi_{\lambda}$  for which  $\lambda \in M_A \setminus \partial M_A$ .

*Proof.* For a character  $\chi_{\lambda}$  where  $\chi_{\lambda}(Y_1) = \lambda$  is not on the boundary of the ellipse, i.e., both  $|\mu_1|$ ,  $|\mu_2|$  are strictly less than 1, we have the unique expressions of the eigenfunction and character as a polynomial of degree m

$$\tilde{\psi}(m) = \chi_{\lambda}(Y_m) = \sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j} \lambda^j = \mathcal{P}_m(\lambda).$$

We can define a point derivation on the basis term  $Y_m \in A_q$  as  $D_{\lambda} : A_q \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$ , where

$$D_{\lambda}(Y_m) := \frac{d}{dz'} \left( \mathcal{P}_m(z') \right) \Big|_{z'=\lambda} D_{\lambda}.$$

Set  $z' = \frac{q+1}{q}(\mu'_1 + \mu'_2)$  and  $\mu'_1\mu'_2 = \frac{1}{q}$ , we have

$$\mathcal{P}_m(z') = \frac{z' - \mu_2'}{\mu_1' - \mu_2'} \mu_1'^m + \frac{z' - \mu_1'}{\mu_2' - \mu_1'} \mu_1'^m,$$

which shows that  $D_{\lambda}(Y_m)$  is indeed bounded.

Since  $A_q$  is singly generated by  $Y_1$ , every element  $Y_j$  of the natural basis of  $A_q$  is a unique finite sum of powers of  $Y_1$ , the set of powers of  $Y_1$   $\{Y_1^k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$  also form a basis of

,

 $A_q$ . Every  $Y_1^k$  is also a finite sum of powers of  $(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)$ . Thus  $\{(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$  is also a basis for  $A_q$ .

To prove the uniqueness of  $D_{\lambda}$ , we can choose the basis  $\{(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$  and the identity  $Y_0$  for  $A_q$ . Given a point derivation  $D : A_q \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$ , we have

$$D((Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)^n) = nD(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)(z' - \lambda)^{n-1}\Big|_{z'=\lambda} = \begin{cases} D(Y_1) \text{ if } n = 1\\ 0 \text{ if } n \neq 1 \end{cases}$$

which shows that the point derivation D is determined by the value of  $D(Y_1)$ . Therefore any linear multiple of D is also a point derivation of  $A_q$ .

**Definition 4.17.** A bounded left approximate identity for a normed algebra A is a bounded net  $\{e_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in I}$  with the property  $\lim_{\alpha} e_{\alpha}a = a$  for  $a \in A$ . Bounded right and two-sided approximate identities are defined similarly. [10]

For the algebra  $A_q$ , we seek a sequence  $(e_N)_{N\geq 1}$  which satisfies the condition of being a b.a.i.. Lemma 4.18 and Lemma 4.19 are based on a suggestion of the external examiner.

**Lemma 4.18.** Let A be a commutative Banach algebra, J a closed ideal,  $(e_N)_{N\geq 1}$  a bounded sequence in J. Suppose there is  $x \in J$  such that  $\overline{Ax} = J$  and  $\lim_N xe_N = x$ . Then  $(e_N)$  is a b.a.i. for J.

*Proof.* Let  $b \in J$  and let  $\epsilon > 0$ . By assumption there exists  $a \in A$  with  $||b - ax|| < \epsilon$ . Then

$$||be_N - b|| \le ||(b - ax)e_N|| + ||a(xe_N - x)|| + ||ax - b||$$
  
$$\le \epsilon ||e_N|| + ||a|| ||xe_N - x|| + \epsilon.$$

As  $N \to \infty$  the middle term  $\to 0$ . Therefore, for all sufficiently large N,  $||be_N - b|| \le (\sup_N ||e_N|| + 2) \epsilon$ . Since  $\epsilon$  is arbitrarily small,  $||be_N - b|| \to 0$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.19.** Let  $\chi_{\lambda}$  be any character on  $A_q$ . Then every  $f \in \text{ker}(\chi_{\lambda})$  may be approximated by elements of the form  $g(Y_1)(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)$  where g is a polynomial.

*Proof.* We know from Lemma 4.7 that there is a sequence of polynomials  $(h_n)$  such that  $||h_n(Y_1) - f|| \to 0$ . Define the new polynomials  $(h'_n)$  by  $h'_n(X) = h_n(X) - h_n(\lambda)$ . Then

$$\|h'_{n}(Y_{1}) - f\| = \|h_{n}(Y_{1}) - \chi_{\lambda}(h_{n}(Y_{1}))Y_{0} + \chi_{\lambda}(f)Y_{0}\|$$
  
 
$$\leq \|h_{n} - f\| + |\chi_{\lambda}(f_{n} - f)| \to 0$$

and the polynomial  $h'_n(X)$  has a root at  $X = \lambda$ , hence it has a factor of  $X - \lambda$ , so we may define  $g_n(X) = h'_n(X)/(X - \lambda)$ .

**Proposition 4.20.** There exists a b.a.i. for the kernel of every character  $\chi_{\lambda}$  on the boundary of the character space.

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.18 and Lemma 4.19, it suffices to find a bounded sequence  $(e_N)$  in ker  $\chi_{\lambda}$  which also satisfies  $e_N *_q (Y_1 - \lambda Y_0) \to Y_1 - \lambda Y_0$ . We seek a solution of the form  $e_N = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \alpha_j Y_j$ .

For  $f = Y_1 - \lambda Y_0$ ,

$$e_N f = \left(-\lambda \alpha_0 + \frac{1}{q+1}\alpha_1\right) Y_0 + \left(\alpha_0 + \frac{1}{q+1}\alpha_2 - \lambda \alpha_1\right) Y_1 \\ + \sum_{j=2}^{N-2} \left(-\lambda \alpha_j + \frac{q}{q+1}\alpha_{j-1} + \frac{1}{q+1}\alpha_{j+1}\right) Y_j \\ + \left(\frac{q}{q+1}\alpha_{N-2} - \lambda \alpha_{N-1}\right) Y_{N-1} + \frac{q}{q+1}\alpha_{N-1}Y_N.$$

Set  $\beta_k = \alpha_{N-k}$ . We choose  $\alpha_j$  such that all middle terms vanish i.e.  $-\lambda \alpha_j + \frac{q}{q+1}\alpha_{j-1} + \frac{1}{q+1}\alpha_{j+1} = 0$ , then

$$\lambda \beta_k = \frac{q}{q+1} \beta_{k+1} + \frac{1}{q+1} \beta_{k-1}$$
 for  $k = 2, \dots, N-2$ ,

which has the same form as for the difference equation to the random walk with the shift matrix in Equation (4.7), and the terms in the eigenfunction corresponding to eigenvalue  $\lambda$ . By Remark 4.14, we consider the characters at the boundary of the character space; i.e., one of  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  has modulus 1 and the other has modulus  $\frac{1}{q}$ . Set  $|\mu_1| = 1$  and  $|\mu_2| = \frac{1}{q}$ . Any middle terms  $\alpha_j$  of the form  $\alpha_j = A\mu_1^{-j} + B\mu_2^{-j}$  vanish for  $Y_j$  when  $1 \leq j \leq N - 1$ . Choose  $\alpha_0 = 1$  and B = 0.

For the condition  $\chi_{\lambda}(e_N) = \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \alpha_j \chi_{\lambda}(Y_j) = 0$ , the equation

$$\sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \alpha_j \chi_\lambda(Y_j) = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} A \mu_1^{-k} \left( \mu_1^k \left( \frac{\lambda - \mu_2}{\mu_1 - \mu_2} \right) + \mu_2^k \left( \frac{\lambda - \mu_1}{\mu_2 - \mu_1} \right) \right)$$
$$= 1 + A \left( (N-1) \left( \frac{\lambda - \mu_2}{\mu_1 - \mu_2} \right) + \left( \frac{\lambda - \mu_1}{\mu_2 - \mu_1} \right) \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \left( \frac{\mu_2}{\mu_1} \right)^k \right)$$
$$= 0$$

holds when

$$A = -\left( (N-1)\left(\frac{\lambda - \mu_2}{\mu_1 - \mu_2}\right) + \left(\frac{\lambda - \mu_1}{\mu_2 - \mu_1}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \left(\frac{\mu_2}{\mu_1}\right)^k \right)^{-1}.$$

Since  $|\frac{\mu_2}{\mu_1}| = \frac{1}{q} < 1$  and  $\mu_1 \neq \mu_2 \neq 0$ , we can choose large N such that

$$(N-1)\left(\frac{\lambda-\mu_2}{\mu_1-\mu_2}\right) + \left(\frac{\lambda-\mu_1}{\mu_2-\mu_1}\right)\sum_{k=1}^{N-1}\left(\frac{\mu_2}{\mu_1}\right)^k \neq 0.$$

Note that  $\lambda \neq \mu_2$ , as shown in Equation (4.9) as the nonzero coefficients in the decomposed form of the characters. Since  $|A|^{-1}$  grows like O(N), we have  $\sup_N ||e_N|| < \infty$  and  $||f *_q e_N - f|| \to 0$ .

We introduce another variable  $Z_k = (q+1)q^{k/2-1}Y_k$ , which has a simpler form in the relations of the multiplication:

$$Z_j * Z_1 = Z_{j+1} + Z_{j-1} \text{ for } j \ge 1,$$
  

$$Z_j * Z_0 = \frac{q}{q+1} Z_j$$
  

$$Z_m * Z_n = Z_{m+n} + Z_{m-n} + \frac{q-1}{q} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} Z_{m+n-2j} \text{ for } m > n \ge 2.$$

The power of  $Z_1$  and  $Y_1$  can be computed as

$$Y_1^n = \left(\frac{\sqrt{q}}{q+1}\right)^n Z_1^n$$
  
=  $(q+1)^{-n} q^{\frac{n}{2}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \left(\sum_{m=0}^k C(n-1-k,k-m) \left(\frac{q}{q+1}\right)^m\right) Z_{n-2k}\right)$   
=  $(q+1)^{1-n} q^n \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \left(\sum_{m=0}^k C(n-1-k,k-m) \left(\frac{q}{q+1}\right)^m\right) q^{-1-k} Y_{n-2k}\right),$ 

where C(a, b) is the generalized Catalan number  $\binom{a+b}{b} - \binom{a+b}{b-1}$ . Conversely, by induction we can also rewrite  $Y_n$  as a polynomial of  $Y_1$  and  $Y_0$ , where  $Y_0$  acts as the constant term in the polynomial. For an element  $f = \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j Y_j = p_n(Y_1)$  in the algebra, the character  $\chi_{\lambda}$  can be calculated by  $\chi_{\lambda}(f) = p_n(\lambda)$ , which is a polynomial in  $\lambda$ . If  $\chi_{\lambda}(f) = 0$ , then  $p_n(Y_1)$  can be factorized and one of the factors is  $(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)$ .

We have shown that  $e_N(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0) \rightarrow (Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)$ . Since f can be factorized as  $(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)g$ when  $\chi_{\lambda}(f) = 0$ , we have  $e_N f = e_N(Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)g = (Y_1 - \lambda Y_0)g$ , which proves that  $e_N$  is a b.a.i. for the character  $\chi_{\lambda}$ .

**Remark 4.21.** If there exists a bounded approximate identity which is in the kernel of a character  $\chi_{\lambda}$ , there cannot exist a nontrivial point derivation. Given a b.a.i.  $e_N \in \ker \chi_{\lambda}$  such that  $e_N f \to f$  and  $\chi_{\lambda}(e_N) = \chi_{\lambda}(f) = 0$ , for all  $f \in \ker \chi_{\lambda}$ , a point derivation  $D_{\lambda}$ 

satisfies

$$D_{\lambda}(f) = D_{\lambda}(e_N f) = e_N D_{\lambda}(f) + D_{\lambda}(e_N)f = 0$$

For  $f \notin \ker \chi_{\lambda}$ , we can write f as  $f = e_N f' + cY_0$ , where  $D_{\lambda}(cY_0) = 0$  as  $Y_0$  is the identity of  $A_q$ .

#### 4.5 The isomorphism to a weighted subalebra of $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z})$

As the multiplications in  $A_q$  are not balanced, we seek an isomorphism between  $A_q$  and another commutative algebra on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  with a weighted  $\ell^1$ -norm. First we define the  $\omega_R$ weighted  $\ell^1$ -norm on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ .

**Definition 4.22.** Let  $Z_j$  be the characteristic function for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . The  $\omega_R$ -norm of  $Z_j$  is given by

$$\left\|Z_j\right\|_{\omega_R} = R^j$$

Consider the normalized symmetric Laurent polynomials on with one variable  $z, Z_a = \frac{1}{2} (z^a + z^{-a})$  for  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . The multiplications satisfy  $Z_a * Z_b = \frac{1}{2} (Z_{a+b} + Z_{|a-b|})$ .

We define a commutative algebra on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  with the  $\omega_R$  norm and the multiplications between the characteristic functions  $\{Z_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+}$  satisfy the rules from the symmetric Laurent polynomials on  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

**Definition 4.23.** Let \* be the multiplication rule given by the normalized symmetric Laurent polynomials with one variable and  $\{Z_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+}$  be the characteristic functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ . The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  is defined to be

$$\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R} \coloneqq \ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}_+, *, \omega_R\right) = \left\{ f = \sum_{j=0}^\infty c_j Z_j \left\| \|f\|_{\omega_R} = \sum_{j=0}^\infty |c_j| R^j < \infty \right\}.$$

**Remark 4.24.** We can extend the definition of  $\omega_R$ -norm to  $\mathbb{Z}$ ; i.e.,  $||Z_j||_{\omega_R} = R^{|j|}$  for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  is the  $S_2$ -invariant subalgebra of  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}, *, \omega_R)$ , which is given by  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, \omega_R)^{S_2}$ .

**Theorem 4.25.** There exists an isomorphism between the Hecke algebra  $A_q$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ when  $R = q^{1/2}$ .

*Proof.* The algebra  $A_q$  has generator  $Y_1$  and every element in the natural basis can be written as

$$Y_m = \sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j} Y_1^j.$$

The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  has generator  $Z_1 = \frac{1}{2} (z^{-1} + z)$  and every basis element can be written as

$$Z_m = \sum_{j=0}^m a'_{m,j} Z_1^j$$

For  $\check{f} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \beta_j Z_j \in \mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ , the  $\omega_R$ -weighted  $\ell^1$  norm is given by

$$\left\|\check{f}\right\|_{\omega_R} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\left|\beta_j\right| R^j\right).$$

We scale the generator  $Y_1$  of  $A_q$  to

$$Y_1' = \frac{q^{\frac{1}{2}} + q^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{2} Y_1.$$

Define  $Y'_0 = Y_0$  and  $Y'_{m+1} = 2Y'_m Y'_1 - Y'_{m-1}$  for  $m \ge 1$ . We have the following identities

$$\begin{split} Y'_m *_q Y'_0 &= Y'_m, \\ Y'_m *_q Y'_1 &= \frac{1}{2} \left( Y'_{m+1} + Y'_{m-1} \right), \text{ when } m \geq 1, \\ Y'_m *_q Y'_n &= \frac{1}{2} \left( Y'_{m+n} + Y'_{m-n} \right), \text{ when } m \geq n \geq 0, \end{split}$$

which satisfy the same multiplication rules for the basis elements  $\{Z_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$  of  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ . For  $m \geq 2$ , we compute  $Y'_m = \sum_{j=0}^m \beta_{m,j} Y_j$  explicitly. The nonzero coefficients  $\beta_{m,j}$  are given by

$$\beta_{m,m} = \left(\frac{q+1}{2q}\right) q^{\frac{m}{2}} \text{ for all } m \ge 2,$$
  

$$\beta_{m,0} = -\left(\frac{q-1}{2}\right) q^{-\frac{m}{2}} \text{ when } m \text{ is even},$$
  

$$\beta_{m,m-2k} = -q^{-2k} \left(q-1\right) \beta_{m,m} = -\left(\frac{q^2-1}{2q}\right) q^{\frac{m}{2}-2k} \text{ for all } 1 \le k < \frac{m}{2}$$

We verify that

$$\sup_{m} q^{-m/2} \left\| Y'_{m} \right\| < \infty.$$

Define a linear map  $\theta_{R,q}: \mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow A_q$  by

$$\theta_{R,q}\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\alpha_j Z_j\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\alpha_j Y_j'.$$

From the multiplication rules above, we apply the identities to show that  $\theta_{R,q}$  is a homo-

morphism as

$$\theta_{R,q}(Z_m Z_n) = Y'_m *_q Y'_n, \text{ for all } m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$$

When  $R = q^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , we have

$$\sup_{m} \frac{\left\|Y'_{m}\right\|}{\left\|Z_{m}\right\|} < \infty.$$

Therefore the map  $\theta_{R,q}$  is well-defined, linear and bounded from  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  to  $A_q$ .

Conversely, we can scale the generator  $Z_1$  for  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  to be

$$Z_1' = \frac{2}{q^{\frac{1}{2}} + q^{-\frac{1}{2}}} Z_1.$$

For  $m \geq 2$ , define the elements  $Z'_m \in \mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  by induction

$$Z'_{m} = \frac{q+1}{q} Z'_{m-1} Z'_{1} - \frac{1}{q} Z'_{m-2}.$$

We have the following identities

$$Z'_m Z'_0 = Z'_m,$$
  
 $Z'_m Z'_1 = \frac{q}{q+1} Z'_{m+1} + \frac{1}{q+1} Z'_{m-1}$  when  $m \ge 1.$ 

For  $m \ge 2$ , we compute  $Z'_m = \sum_{j=0}^m \gamma_{m,j} Z_j$  explicitly. The nonzero coefficients  $\gamma_{m,j}$  are given by

$$\gamma_{m,m} = \frac{2q^{-m+1}}{q^{\frac{1}{2}} + q^{-\frac{1}{2}}},$$
  

$$\gamma_{m,0} = \frac{q-1}{2}q^{-2m},$$
  

$$\gamma_{m,m-2k} = (q-1)q^{-m-2k} \text{ for all } 1 \le k < \frac{m}{2}.$$

When  $R = q^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , we verify that

$$\sup_m \left\| Z'_m \right\|_{\omega_R} < \infty.$$

Define a linear map  $\theta_{q,R}: A_q \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  by

$$\theta_{q,R}\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\alpha_j Y_j\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\alpha_j Z'_j.$$

From the multiplication rules above, we apply the identities to show that  $\theta_{q,R}$  is a homomorphism as

$$\theta_{q,R}\left(Y_m *_q Y_n\right) = Z'_m Z'_n$$
, for all  $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ .

When  $R = q^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , we have

$$\sup_{m} \frac{\left\|Z'_{m}\right\|}{\left\|Y_{m}\right\|} < \infty.$$

Therefore the map  $\theta_{q,R}$  is well-defined, linear and bounded from  $A_q$  to  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ .

## Chapter 5

## Algebras of automorphism groups of buildings and the $\omega_R$ -norm

For the projective general linear group over the *p*-adic numbers and *p*-adic integers, we show that the quotient space  $PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)/PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$  has the structure of a Bruhat-Tits building [1]. The building is homogeneous where the degree of every vertex is equal and determined by the prime number *p*. The group  $PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  acts on the equivalence classes of *n*-dimensional *p*-adic integer lattices which correspond to the vertices of the building.

We define the algebra of the bi-invariant summable functions on the vertices of the building given by the Gelfand pair  $(PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$  [47]. There will be a set of (n-1) distinct and independent Laplace operators generated by different types of adjacency relations on the building. The Hecke algebra  $A_{n,p}$  on  $\mathbb{Z}^n_+$  with  $\ell^1$  norm, which is isomorphic to the discretized bi-invariant subalgebra of the group algebra, will also have (n-1) Hecke operators as the generators. There is a correspondence between eigenfunctions, spherical functions and characters. The shift matrices for each algebra are more complicated to compute. For n = 2 and n = 3 we conjecture an explicit description of the character space and the existence of bounded approximate identities for the ideals given by certain points in the space. In particular, we will study the Gelfand pair  $(PGL_3(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_3(\mathbb{Z}_p))$  and the related  $\tilde{A}_2$  building and lattices [46].

By rescaling the normalized orbit, we obtain the multiplication rules of  $A_{n,p}$  with the same coefficients as the algebra of summable functions on the weighted (n-1)-dimensional permutohedral lattice,  $\ell^1(A_n, \omega_R)$  where every vertex corresponds to a monomial. These two algebras have isomorphic character spaces determined by the prime number p and the weight conditions  $\omega_R$  for the rescaling. The isomorphism between the character spaces suggest that these two algebras are isomorphic to each other. We finish with a conjecture that there exists an isomorphism between  $A_{n,p}$  and the weighted subalgebra. The computation of derivations and bounded approximate identities will be easier and enable us to analyze the cohomology groups in later problems.

#### 5.1 Lattices of *p*-adic numbers and the buildings

Throughout this section we denote by  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  the *p*-adic rational numbers and the *p*-adic integers. Let  $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  be the projective general linear group over *p*-adic rational numbers, which is locally compact. Let the subgroup  $K = PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$  be the projective general linear group over *p*-adic integers. We recall some definitions of lattices on *p*-adic numbers and show that the quotient space G/K is isomorphic to the Bruhat-Tits building.

**Definition 5.1.** Given a set of n linearly independent vectors  $\{\underline{v}_i | i = 1, ..., n, \underline{v}_i \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n\}$ , an n-dimensional lattice of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  is a set of vectors  $\{\underline{v} = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \underline{v}_i | \alpha_i \in \mathbb{Z}_p\}$ .

If we write  $\{\alpha_i \underline{v_i}\}$  as column vectors, then the  $n \times n$  matrix  $g = (\alpha_1 \underline{v_1} | \alpha_2 \underline{v_2} | \dots | \alpha_n \underline{v_n})$ is an element in the general linear group  $GL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . Let  $P_n(V)$  be the set of diagonal matrices which are powers of the diagonal matrix  $\operatorname{diag}(p, p, \dots, p)$ . The projective general linear group  $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  can therefore be expressed explicitly as the quotient group  $G = GL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)/P_n(V)$ .

We know that every  $g \in PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  can be written as a product of two matrices  $g = (\underline{u_1}|\underline{u_2}| \dots |\underline{u_n})k = Mk$ , where  $M = (\underline{u_1}|\underline{u_2}| \dots |\underline{u_n}) \in PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  is an upper triangular matrix and  $k \in PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ . We can assume without loss of generality that all column vectors  $\{\underline{u}_i\}_{i=1}^n$  form upper triangular matrix  $(\underline{u_1}|\underline{u_2}| \dots |\underline{u_n})$  such that the diagonal entries have value  $p^{a_i}$  all  $i = 1, \dots, n$ . This shows that  $\{\underline{u_i}|i = 1, \dots, n, \underline{u_i} \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n\}$  is also a basis of the lattice.

Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be the set of all equivalence classes of lattices in  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $L_M$  be a lattice generated by  $M \in PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . Two lattices  $L_{(\underline{u}_1|\underline{u}_2|\ldots|\underline{u}_n)}$  and  $L_{(\underline{v}_1|\underline{v}_2|\ldots|\underline{v}_n)}$  are physically the same if and only if for all  $(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^n$  there exists a unique  $(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^n$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \underline{u}_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i \underline{v}_i$ , and for all  $(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^n$ , there exists a unique  $(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^n$ such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \underline{u}_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i \underline{v}_i$ .

**Remark 5.2.** We denote  $L_M$  the lattice with basis consisting of the column vectors in M. The (projective) equivalence class  $[L_{(\underline{u_1}|\underline{u_2}|...|\underline{u_n})}]$  [45] consists of lattices of the form  $L_{(\alpha \underline{u_1}|\alpha \underline{u_2}|...|\alpha \underline{u_n})}$  and  $L_{(p^l \underline{u_1}|p^l \underline{u_2}|...|p^l \underline{u_n})}$ , where  $\alpha$  is invertible in  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and l is an arbitrary integer. Therefore the quotient G/K is isomorphic to the set of equivalence classes of n-dimensional lattices of p-adic numbers.

**Definition 5.3.** The lattice  $L_{(\underline{u_1}|...|\underline{u_n})}$  is said to be a sublattice of the lattice  $L_{(\underline{v_1}|...|\underline{v_n})}$  if we have

$$L_{(\underline{u_1}|\dots|\underline{u_n})} \subsetneq L_{(\underline{v_1}|\dots|\underline{v_n})}$$

The lattice  $L_{(pu_1|...|pu_n)}$  is clearly a sublattice of  $L_{(u_1|...|u_n)}$ .

**Definition 5.4.** Two lattices  $L_{(u_1|...|u_n)}$  and  $L_{(v_1|...|v_n)}$  are adjacent if we have

$$L_{(\underline{pu_1}|\dots|\underline{pu_n})} \subsetneq L_{(\underline{v_1}|\dots|\underline{v_n})} \subsetneq L_{(\underline{u_1}|\dots|\underline{u_n})}$$

There are at most n lattices  $M_0, M_1, \ldots, M_{n-1}$  which are pairwise adjacent.

**Example 5.5.** Let  $M_0 = I$  such that  $L_{M_0}$  is the lattice generated by the identity matrix and  $M_j = diag(p, p, \ldots, p, 1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  for  $j = 1, \ldots n - 1$ , the diagonal matrix with the first j diagonal entries to be p and the last (n - j) diagonal entries to be 1. Then we have  $L_{diag(p,p,\ldots,p)M_0} \subsetneq L_{M_{n-1}} \subsetneq L_{M_{n-2}} \subsetneq \ldots \subsetneq M_1 \subsetneq L_{M_0}$ .

We explicitly list all the sets  $\mathcal{M}_l$  of different families of upper triangular matrices M such that  $L_{\text{diag}(p,p,\dots,p)M_0} \subsetneq L_M \subsetneq L_{M_0} = L_I$ , for different families  $l = 1, \dots, n-1$  as

$$\mathcal{M}_{l} = \left\{ M \in PGL_{n}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}) \middle| \begin{array}{l} M_{ij} = 0 \text{ when } i > j, \\ M_{ii} \in \{1, p\}, \\ \det M = p^{l}, \\ M_{ij} \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}, \text{ when } i < j, M_{ii} = p \text{ and } M_{jj} = 1, \\ 0 \text{ elsewhere} \end{array} \right\}$$

Note that the disjoint union of the right cosets  $\mathcal{M}_l K = \{MK | M \in \mathcal{M}_l\}$  is a double coset for  $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and  $K = PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p) \subset G$ .

**Definition 5.6.** A lattice y generated by  $M_y$  is said to be a type-i neighbour of another lattice x generated by  $M_x$  if there exists an element  $M' \in \mathcal{M}_i$  such that  $M_y = M'M_x$ . We denote this adjacency relation by  $y \sim_i x$ .

**Remark 5.7.** Note that  $y \sim_i x$  if and only if  $x \sim_{n-i} y$ .

The size of every family  $\mathcal{M}_l$  can be computed by enumerating the number of matrices in the above set. The number of lattices in  $\mathcal{M}_l$  is given by

$$|\mathcal{M}_l| = \sigma_l \left( 1, p, \dots, p^{n-1} \right) = \sum_{0 \le k_1 < k_2 < \dots < k_l \le n-1} p^{\sum_{i=1}^l k_i},$$
(5.1)

the *l*-th elementary symmetric polynomial of  $(1, p, \ldots, p^{n-1})$ .

Define a graph  $\mathcal{G}_n$  whose vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  correspond to the set of equivalence classes of lattices above. Two vertices are adjacent and connected by an edge if their corresponding lattices are connected by the description of sublattice relations above. The graph  $\mathcal{G}_n$  have both the combinatorial and geometric structure of a building [30]. The building is locally finite and homogeneous and the degree of every vertex is determined by the prime number p. Note that the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$  also has these properties.

The group  $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  is an automorphism group acting on the equivalence classes of lattices and K is the stabilizer of the standard lattice generated by the identity matrix. The isomorphism between the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  of the building and the equivalence classes of lattices shows that G acts transitively on the  $\mathcal{V}$  and K stabilizes a fixed vertex  $x_0$  which corresponds to the identity matrix [13]. Thus we have  $\mathcal{L} \simeq G/K \simeq \mathcal{V}$ .

By Proposition 4.4.3 of [12], the double coset  $\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} = Kg_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}K$  consists of all elements which can be written as the form  $k_1 \operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, \ldots, p^{a_n})k_2$  as the *Cartan decomposition*, where  $k_1, k_2 \in K$ . We will clarify the notations which relate to the powers of the diagonal entries.

Pick a representative vector  $\underline{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$  in the equivalence class of  $(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{S_n}/(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ . Another vector  $\underline{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  is said to be in the same equivalence class with  $\underline{a}$  if they differ by a multiple of the vector  $(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  or by a permutation of the entries. There exists a unique **m**-vector in  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  from the equivalence class of  $\underline{\tilde{a}}$ -vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  with monotonic descending order given by

$$\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2, \dots, m_{n-1}) = (a_1 - a_2, a_2 - a_3, \dots, a_{n-1} - a_n),$$

where  $\underline{\tilde{a}} = a_1 \geq \ldots \geq a_n$ . Thus we can alternatively denote the orbit  $\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}$  by  $\Omega_{\mathbf{m}}$ . Let  $\{\underline{e_i}\}_{i=1}^n$  be the set of canonical basis for  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  and  $\{\mathbf{e_j}\}_{j=1}^{n-1}$  be the set of canonical basis for  $\mathbb{Z}^+_+$ . Note that  $\sum_{i=1}^n \underline{e_i} = \underline{0}$ . We can see that the space  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  is isomorphic to the (n-1)-dimensional permutohedral lattice, denoted by  $\Lambda_{n-1}$ . The **m**-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  are in a *Weyl chamber* of the lattice.

### **5.2** The Gelfand pair $(PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$

We will show that the algebra of the integrable bi-K-invariant functions on G,  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  is commutative and isomorphic to a Banach algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+, *_p)$ . We will use the following facts to show that (G, K) is a Gelfand pair.

- G is locally compact and unimodular by Lemma 8.1.5 in [65];
- K is a compact subgroup of G by Proposition 8.1 in [22];
- the transpose  $g^T$  is also in the double coset KgK as  $g = k_1 \operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, \ldots, p^{a_n})k_2$ implies that  $g^T = k_2^T \operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, \ldots, p^{a_n})k_1^T$ ;
- the transpose operation  $g \to g^T$  preserves the Haar measure as G is unimodular by Lemma 8.1.5 of [65].

**Theorem 5.8.** Let  $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and  $K = PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ . The pair (G, K) is a Gelfand pair; i.e., the bi-K-invariant functions on G are commutative under convolution.

*Proof.* For all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and  $g \in G$ , we have the convolution between  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  as

$$f_{1} * f_{2}(g) = \int_{h \in G} f_{1}(h) f_{2}(h^{-1}g) dh$$
(setting  $h_{1} = h^{-1}g$ )
$$= \int_{h_{1} \in G} f_{1}(gh_{1}^{-1}) f_{2}(h_{1}) dh_{1}$$

$$= \int_{h_{1} \in G} f_{1}((gh_{1}^{-1})^{T}) f_{2}(h_{1}^{T}) dh_{1}$$

$$= \int_{h_{1} \in G} f_{1}((h_{1}^{-1})^{T}g^{T}) f_{2}(h_{1}^{T}) dh_{2}$$
(setting  $h_{2} = h_{1}^{T}$ )
$$= \int_{h_{2} \in G} f_{2}(h_{2}) f_{1}(h_{2}^{-1}g^{T}) dh_{2}$$

$$= f_{2} * f_{1}(g^{T}).$$

Since  $g^T \in KgK$ , then by Lemma 4.2, we have  $f_2 * f_1(g^T) = f_2 * f_1(g)$ . Thus  $f_1 * f_2 = f_2 * f_1$  for all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ , which shows that the pair (G, K) is a Gelfand pair.

Note that for  $n \ge 3$ , (G, K) is not a symmetric Gelfand pair as  $Kg^{-1}K \ne KgK$  for most  $g \in G$ .

We will now define a basis for the integrable bi-K-invariant functions  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$ , the functions on the equivalence classes of lattices and the functions on  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ . We fix a Haar measure such that the subgroup K has normalized mass 1.

We define a basis for  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  by the scaled characteristic function as

$$Y'_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}(g) = \frac{1}{|\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}|} \delta_{\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}}(g) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}|} & \text{if } g \in \Omega_j \\ 0 & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$

We also define the summable functions on the equivalence classes of lattices which are isomorphic to the vertices  $\mathcal{V}$  of the building,  $f_{\mathcal{L}} \in \ell^1(\mathcal{L})$  as

$$f_{\mathcal{L}}: G/K \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \quad f_{\mathcal{L}}(L_g) = \int_{h \in gK} f(h) dh.$$

The basis for  $\ell^1(\mathcal{L})$  is given by the characteristic function

$$\delta_{L_g}(L_{g'}) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } L_{g'} = L_g \\ 0 \text{ elsewhere} \end{cases}$$

We now define the summable functions on  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ , which are isomorphic to the vertices of a Weyl chamber of the  $A_{n-1}$  lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$ , including the vertices on the boundary of the chamber. The function  $\tilde{f}$  which corresponds to  $f_{\mathcal{L}} \in \ell^1(\mathcal{L})$  and  $f \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  are defined as

$$\tilde{f}: \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n-1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \tilde{f}(\mathbf{m}) = |\Omega_{\mathbf{m}}| f_{\mathcal{L}}(L_{g}) \text{ for } g \in \Omega_{\mathbf{m}}$$

The basis are given by the characteristic functions  $Y_{\mathbf{m}}$  on the **m**-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  as

$$Y_{\mathbf{m}}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{m} \\ 0 \text{ elsewhere} \end{cases}$$

**Remark 5.9.** Alternatively, for  $\underline{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ , we are allowed to express  $Y_{\mathbf{m}} = Y_{\underline{a}}$  if there exists  $\underline{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$  such that  $\mathbf{m} = (b_1 - b_2, \ldots, b_{n-1} - b_n)$ , which is in the same equivalence class of  $(\mathbb{Z}^n)^{S_n} / (1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  with the <u>a</u>-vector.

We will show that there exists an isomorphism between  $L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and a Banach algebra on  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  with specific multiplication rules  $*_p$  given by the properties of  $\mathcal{G}_n$ .

**Definition 5.10.** We define the commutative algebra  $A_{n,p} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}, *_p)$ , where

$$\begin{split} Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} *_p Y_0 = & Y_{\underline{a}}, \\ Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e_j}} = & \frac{1}{\left|\mathcal{M}_j\right|} \sum_{1 \leq k_1 < k_2 < \ldots < k_j \leq n} \left( p^{\sum_{i=1}^j (n-k_i)} Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}} + \sum_{i=1}^j \underline{e_{k_i}}} \right), \\ & \text{for all } j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n-1\}. \end{split}$$

Alternatively, we may write the above equations in the form of  $Y_{\mathbf{m}} *_p Y_0$  and  $Y_{\mathbf{m}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e}_j}$  by the conversion stated in Remark 5.9.

**Theorem 5.11.** Recall the equivalence class of the <u>a</u>-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1,1,\ldots,1)$  with canonical basis  $\{\underline{e_j}\}_{j=1}^n$  and the **m**-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}$  with canonical basis  $\{\underline{e_i}\}_{i=1}^{n-1}$ . The algebra of bi-K-invariant functions  $L^1(K\backslash G/K)$  is isomorphic to the commutative algebra  $A_{n,p}$ . The isomorphism sends the characteristic functions  $Y'_{\underline{a}}$  of  $L^1(K\backslash G/K)$  to the corresponding characteristic functions  $Y_{\underline{a}}$  of  $A_{n,p}$ .

*Proof.* For  $n \ge 2$  the commutative algebra  $A_{n,p}$  has got (n-1) generators  $\{Y_{\mathbf{e}_j}\}_{j=1}^{n-1}$ ; i.e., every  $Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} \in A_{n,p}$  can be uniquely written as a linear sum of products of the generators.

For all normalized basis elements  $Y'_{\tilde{a}} \in L^1(K \setminus G/K)$  and  $Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} \in A_{n,p}$ , define a linear map

$$\theta: L^1(K \setminus G/K) \longrightarrow A_{n,p}, \ \theta\left(Y'_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}\right) = Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}.$$

Denote  $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}$  and a representative vector in the equivalence classes of  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, \ldots, 1)$ ,  $\underline{\tilde{a}} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ , such that  $m_k = a_k - a_{k-1}$  for all  $k \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n-1\}$ . We need to show that for all equivalence classes of the  $\underline{\tilde{a}}$ -vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, \ldots, 1)$  and every  $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n-1\}$ ,  $\theta(Y'_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} * Y'_{\mathbf{e_j}}) = \theta(Y'_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}) *_p \theta(Y'_{\mathbf{e_j}}) = Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e_j}}$ . We will show the proof for the multiplication with  $Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}$  and the multiplications with the rest of generators just follow from the usual steps.

$$\begin{aligned} Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}' * Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}'(g) &= \frac{1}{\left|\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}\right| \left|\Omega_{\mathbf{e_1}}\right|} \int_{h \in G} \delta_{\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}}\left(h\right) \delta_{\Omega_{\mathbf{e_1}}}\left(h^{-1}g\right) dh \\ &= \frac{1}{\left|\Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}\right| \left|\Omega_{\mathbf{e_1}}\right|} \int_{h \in \Omega_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}} \delta_{\Omega_{\mathbf{e_1}}}\left(h^{-1}g\right) dh. \end{aligned}$$

For every  $h^{-1} = k_1^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(p^{-a_1}, p^{-a_2}, \dots, p^{-a_n})k_2^{-1}$  where  $k_1, k_2 \in K$  and  $h^{-1}g \in \Omega_{\mathbf{e}_1}$ , we require  $g = k_2 \operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, p^{a_2}, \dots, p^{a_n})Mk_3$ , where  $M \in \mathcal{M}_1$ . For every upper triangular matrix  $M \in \mathcal{M}_1$ , if M has value p at its *i*-th diagonal entry, then  $\operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, p^{a_2}, \dots, p^{a_n})M$  is in the double coset  $K \operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, \dots, p^{a_i+1}, \dots, p^{a_n})K$ . Since there are precisely  $p^{n-i}$  elements in  $\mathcal{M}_1$  with value p at its *i*-th entry, we can work out the integral of the characteristic function as

$$Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}' * Y_{\mathbf{e}_{1}}'(g) = \frac{1}{\left|\Omega_{\mathbf{e}_{1}}\right|} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(p^{n-i}Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}+\underline{e_{j}}}'\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\left|\mathcal{M}_{1}\right|} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(p^{n-i}Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}+\underline{e_{j}}}'\right)$$

which shows that  $\theta\left(Y'_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} * Y'_{\mathbf{e_1}}\right) = \theta\left(Y'_{\underline{\tilde{a}}}\right) *_p \theta\left(Y'_{\mathbf{e_1}}\right)$ . Similarly, we can show this equality holds for the multiplications with all generators  $\{Y_{\mathbf{e_j}}\}_{j=1}^{n-1}$ , which shows that the two Banach algebras are isomorphic to each other.

**Remark 5.12.** For the algebra  $A_q$  (Definition 4.5) where q = p is a prime number, the two algebras  $A_q$  and  $A_{2,p}$  are the same. By Equation (5.1), we have  $|\mathcal{M}_l| = p + 1$ . The multiplication rules  $*_p$  and  $*_q$  are of the same form with the same coefficients.

$$Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e_1}} = \frac{1}{p+1} \left( \sum_{1 \le k \le 2} p^{2-k} Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} + \underline{e_k} \right) = \frac{p}{p+1} Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} + \underline{e_1} + \frac{1}{p+1} Y_{\underline{\tilde{a}}} + \underline{e_2}$$

When n = 2, the **m**-vectors are just non-negative integers. The canonical basis of the <u>a</u>-

vectors,  $\underline{e_1}$  and  $\underline{e_2}$ , correspond to +1 and -1 in the **m**-vectors. Then  $(\underline{\tilde{a}} + \underline{e_1})$  corresponds to m + 1 and  $(\underline{\tilde{a}} + e_2)$  corresponds to m - 1 in the **m**-vectors.

#### 5.3 Typed Laplace operators and random walks

To study the random walk on the vertices of the building  $\mathcal{G}_n$ , we define a set of linear operators  $\{L_i\}_{i=1}^{n-1}$ , where  $L_i$  is the type-*i* Laplace operator on the vector space of bounded complex-valued functions on the set of equivalence classes of lattices  $\mathcal{L}$  of the *p*-adic numbers.

For a function  $f_{\mathcal{L}} : \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ , we define the value of  $(L_i f_{\mathcal{L}})(x)$  to be the average of the values of all  $f_{\mathcal{L}}(y)$ , where y is a type-*i* neighbour of x, expressed as

$$(L_i f_{\mathcal{L}})(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma_i(1, p, \dots, p^{n-1})} \sum_{y \sim_i x} f_{\mathcal{L}}(y)$$

Under the bi-K-invariance condition; i.e., the function on  $\mathcal{L}$  is determined by its corresponding position on a fixed Weyl chamber of the  $A_{n-1}$  integer lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}^{S_n}$ , we can also define the typed Laplace operators on to the functions on the integer lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}^{S_n}$ ,  $\tilde{L}_j \tilde{f} : \mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ , as

$$\left(\tilde{L}_{j}\tilde{f}\right)(\mathbf{m}) = \frac{1}{\left|\mathcal{M}_{j}\right|} \sum_{1 \leq k_{1} < k_{2} < \dots < k_{j} \leq n} \left( p^{\sum_{i=1}^{j} (n-k_{i})} \tilde{f}\left(\mathbf{m} + \sum_{i=1}^{j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k_{i}} (\mathbf{e}_{n-l})\right)\right) \right),$$

for all  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ . By definition, we can see that the typed Laplace operators are commutative, i.e.

$$\left(\tilde{L}_k\left(\tilde{L}_j\tilde{f}\right)\right)(\mathbf{m}) = \left(\tilde{L}_j\left(\tilde{L}_k\tilde{f}\right)\right)(\mathbf{m}).$$

The type-*j* Laplace operator parametrizes a weighted random walk to  $\binom{n}{j}$  directions on the integer lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$ . We will compute the eigenfunctions to the random walk, starting with n = 3, and generalize the result to all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  in the next section.

**Proposition 5.13.** Let (G, K) be the Gelfand pair  $(PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$  and  $\psi \in L^{\infty}(K \setminus G/K)$  be a bounded bi-K-invariant function on G. Let  $\psi_{\mathcal{V}}$  and  $\tilde{\psi}$  be the corresponding functions on the equivalence classes of lattices  $\mathcal{L}$  and the function on the integer lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$ . Then  $\psi$  is a spherical function if and only if the bounded radial function  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for the Laplace operators  $\{\tilde{L}_i\}_{i=1}^{n-1}$  with  $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{0}) = 1$ .

*Proof.* If  $\psi$  is a spherical function, from  $\psi(e) = 1$  we know that the corresponding function on the (n-1)-dimensional permutohedral lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  has value  $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{0}) = 1$  at **0**. For the **m**-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+ \simeq \Lambda_{n-1}$ , let  $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{e_j}) = \lambda_j$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n-1\}$ . First we show that  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for the type-1 Laplace operator  $\tilde{L}_1$ . Let  $x_0$  be the lattice generated by the identity matrix I. Given two lattices x generated by  $M_x \in PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and  $y \in PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  generated by  $M_y$  such that  $y \sim_1 x$ , we know that y is a type-1 neighbour of x. Let  $M_x$  be in the double coset  $\Omega_{\mathbf{m}}$ . Since G acts transitively on  $\mathcal{L}$ , we obtain more type-1 adjacency relations as

$$L_{M_y} \sim_1 L_{M_x}$$
$$\iff L_{M_x^{-1}M_y} \sim_1 L_I$$
$$\iff L_{kM_x^{-1}M_y} \sim_1 L_I$$
$$\iff L_{M_x kM_x^{-1}M_y} \sim_1 L_M$$

where the  $(1 + p + \ldots + p^{n-1})$  distinct  $k_j \in \mathcal{M}_1$  such that every  $M_x k_j M_x^{-1} M_y$  generates a a lattice  $y_j$  which is a type-1 neighbour of x and these corresponding  $(1 + p + \ldots + p^{n-1})$ right cosets are all disjoint. Not that each one of the set  $K_j = \{k \in K | L_{M_x k M_x^{-1} M_y} = y_j\}$ will have mass  $\frac{1}{(1+p+\ldots+p^{n-1})}$  by the Haar measure 1 of K, as the union of the disjoint sets  $K_j$  is K. Therefore, from the properties of the spherical function, we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\psi}\left(\mathbf{e_{1}}\right)\tilde{\psi}\left(\mathbf{m}\right) &= \psi\left(M_{x}^{-1}M_{y}\right)\psi\left(M_{x}\right) \\ &= \int_{k\in K}\psi\left(M_{x}kM_{x}^{-1}M_{y}\right)dk \\ &= \frac{1}{q+1}\sum_{y_{j}\sim_{1}x}\psi_{\mathcal{L}}\left(y_{j}\right) \\ &= \left(L_{1}\psi_{\mathcal{L}}\right)\left(x\right) \\ &= \left(\tilde{L}_{1}\tilde{\psi}\right)(\mathbf{m}), \end{split}$$

which shows that  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for the type-1 Laplace operator  $\tilde{L}_1$ . Similarly, we can show that  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for all (n-1) typed Laplace operators with eigenvalues  $\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^{n-1}$ .

Conversely, we assume that the function on the (n-1)-dimensional permutohedral lattice  $\tilde{\psi}$  is an eigenfunction for all of the typed Laplace operators  $\{\tilde{L}_i\}_{i=1}^{n-1}$ . The eigenvalues for the (n-1) typed Laplace operators are  $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{e_i}) = \lambda_i$  for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ . We need to show that for all  $g, h \in G$ , we have  $\int_K \psi(gkh) dk = f(g)f(h)$ . The steps of the proof is the same for all dimensions. Since we have proved the n = 2 example, where the Gelfand pair  $(PGL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_2(\mathbb{Z}_p))$  is isomorphic to the automorphism group and a selected subgroup of  $\mathbb{T}_q$  in Section 4.3, it is a repetition to show for general *n*-dimensional cases.  $\Box$ 

### 5.4 The $\tilde{A}_2$ lattice $A_2$ and the algebra $A_{3,p}$

In this section, we consider the Hecke algebra of the Gelfand pair  $(PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$ with  $L^1$  norm and the algebra  $A_{n,p}$  which are functions on the  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$  lattice. In Section 4.3, as shown in Equation (4.11), we have found the character space for the example of n = 2 which is the only example of a symmetric Gelfand pair. We now start with n = 3 and generalize the result to n-dimensional example based on our analysis for the n = 2 case. We compute the bounded characters of the algebra from a shift matrix and describe the character space  $\mathbf{\Lambda} = \{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{n-1}$ . When  $n \geq 3$ , the characters of the algebra  $A_{n,p}$  are parametrized by more than three variables. We finish with two conjectures for the existence of point derivations and bounded approximate identities as the calculations are much more complicated than the n = 2 case.

In Section 5.1, we have shown that the algebra of integrable bi- $PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ -invariant functions on  $PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  is commutative and isomorphic to the Hecke algebra  $A_{n,p}$  by Theorem 5.11. When n = 3, we can view  $A_{3,p}$  as living on a Weyl chamber of the  $\tilde{A}_2$ lattice  $\Lambda_2$ , which is a triangular grid. The lattice  $\Lambda_2$  consist of three types of vertices which are determined by the determinant of the representative diagonal matrix in the double coset  $K \operatorname{diag}(p^{a_1}, p^{a_2}, p^{a_3})K$ . The type-*j* vertices of  $\Lambda_2$  correspond to the double cosets with the determinant of representative diagonal matrix equal to  $p^j$ . The types for the vertices can be easily computed by  $(a_1 + a_2 + a_3)$  modulo 3. Every vertex on the  $\tilde{A}_2$ lattice  $\Lambda_2$  is adjacent to six vertices which form a hexagon. For a vertex of type *j*, three of its neighbours are of type *k* and the other three are of type *l*, where  $\{j, k, l\} = \{1, 2, 3\}$ .

In this computation, we use the **m**-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^2_+$  with natural basis  $\{\mathbf{e_1}, \mathbf{e_2}\}$ . In the commutative algebra  $A_{3,p}$ , the multiplications with generators  $Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}$  and  $Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}$  are expressed in different forms. By definition 5.10, for  $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2)$ , when both  $m_1, m_2 > 0$ , we have

$$Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}Y_{(m_1,m_2)} = \frac{1}{p^2 + p + 1} \left( p^2 Y_{(m_1+1,m_2)} + p Y_{(m_1-1,m_2+1)} + 1 Y_{(m_1,m_2-1)} \right),$$
  
$$Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}Y_{(m_1,m_2)} = \frac{1}{p^2 + p + 1} \left( p^2 Y_{(m_1,m_2+1)} + p Y_{(m_1+1,m_2-1)} + 1 Y_{(m_1-1,m_2)} \right).$$

For  $m_1 = 0$  or  $m_2 = 0$ , we have

$$\begin{split} Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}Y_{\mathbf{0}} &= Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}, \\ Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}Y_{\mathbf{0}} &= Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}, \\ Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}Y_{(m_1,0)} &= \frac{1}{p^2 + p + 1} \left( p^2 Y_{(m_1+1,0)} + (p+1) Y_{(m_1-1,1)} \right), \\ Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}Y_{(m_1,0)} &= \frac{1}{p^2 + p + 1} \left( \left( p^2 + p \right) Y_{(m_1,1)} + 1Y_{(m_1-1,0)} \right), \\ Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}Y_{(0,m_2)} &= \frac{1}{p^2 + p + 1} \left( \left( p^2 + p \right) Y_{(1,m_2)} + 1Y_{(0,m_2-1)} \right), \\ Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}Y_{(0,m_2)} &= \frac{1}{p^2 + p + 1} \left( p^2 Y_{(0,m_2+1)} + (p+1) Y_{(1,m_2-1)} \right), \end{split}$$

where the coefficients are slightly different to the general case due to the reflections on the boundaries of the Weyl chamber.

By proposition 5.13, the values for the spherical functions in the algebra of bi- $PGL_3(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ -invariant functions on  $PGL_3(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , the eigenfunctions for the Laplace operators and the characters for the algebra are given by the same form

$$\psi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}\left(\operatorname{diag}\left(p^{m_1+m_2},p^{m_2},1\right)\right) = \tilde{\psi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}\left(m_1,m_2\right) = \chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}\left(Y_{\mathbf{m}}\right),$$

where

$$\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} (Y_0) = 1,$$
  
$$\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} (Y_{\mathbf{e_1}}) = \lambda_1,$$
  
$$\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} (Y_{\mathbf{e_2}}) = \lambda_2.$$

Similar to Proposition 4.12, we seek the shift matrices for the algebra  $A_{3,p}$  to obtain the decomposed form of the bounded characters.

**Proposition 5.14.** There exists a decomposed form for the bounded characters of the algebra  $A_{3,p}$ .

Proof. We define a column vector  $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}} = (Y_{\mathbf{m}}, Y_{\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{e}_1}, Y_{\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{e}_2})^T \in A^3_{3,p}$ , which can be seen as a vector with entries which are the basis of three vertices which form a triangle on the lattice. Define the linear operators  $\mathcal{S}_{3,1}, \mathcal{S}_{3,2} \in M_3(A_{3,p})$  such that  $\mathcal{S}_{3,1}\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{e}_1}$  and  $\mathcal{S}_{3,2}\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{e}_2}$ . The linear operators  $\mathcal{S}_{3,1}$  and  $\mathcal{S}_{3,2}$  shift the column vector  $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}}$  along the  $\mathbf{e}_1$  and  $\mathbf{e}_2$  directions by one step, respectively. For  $\mathbf{m}' = (m'_1, m'_2)$  and  $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2)$ where  $m'_1 > m_1$  and  $m'_1 > m_1$ , we have  $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}'} = \mathcal{S}_{3,1}^{m'_1-m_1} \mathcal{S}_{3,2}^{m'_2-m_2} \mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}}$ . If we choose  $m_1$  or  $m_2$  to be 0, then the shift relations can be explicitly expressed as

$$S_{3,1} \begin{pmatrix} Y_{(m_1,0)} \\ Y_{(m_1+1,0)} \\ Y_{(m_1,1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{(m_1+1,0)} \\ Y_{(m_1+2,0)} \\ Y_{(m_1+1,1)} \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$S_{3,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{(p^2 + p + 1)}{p^2 + p} Y_{\mathbf{e_1}} & -\frac{p + 1}{p^2} \\ -\frac{1}{p^2 + p} & \frac{(p^2 + p + 1)}{p^2 + p} Y_{\mathbf{e_2}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\mathcal{S}_{3,2}\left(\begin{array}{c}Y_{(0,m_2)}\\Y_{(1,m_2)}\\Y_{(0,m_2+1)}\end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c}Y_{(0,m_2+1)}\\Y_{(1,m_2+1)}\\Y_{(0,m_2+2)}\end{array}\right),$$

where

$$S_{3,2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{(p^2 + p + 1)}{p^2 + p} Y_{\mathbf{e_2}} & -\frac{p + 1}{p^2} \\ -\frac{1}{p^2 + p} & \frac{(p^2 + p + 1)}{p^2 + p} Y_{\mathbf{e_1}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Define a function  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}: M_3(A_{3,p}) \longrightarrow M_3(\mathbb{C})$  by

$$\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}\left(\mathcal{S}_{ij}\right) = \chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}\left(\mathcal{S}_{ij}\right)M_{ij},$$

where  $S_{ij}$  is the matrix entry in  $M_3(A_{3,p})$  and  $M_{ij}$  is a matrix unit in  $M_3(\mathbb{C})$ .

Similar to the method of computing the characters of  $A_q$  in Section 4.2, we use the shift matrices  $S_{3,1}$  and  $S_{3,2}$  to obtain

$$\check{\chi}_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}\left(\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}}\right) = \check{\chi}_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}\left(\mathcal{S}_{3,1}^{m_{1}}\mathcal{S}_{3,2}^{m_{2}}\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{0}}\right) = \check{\chi}_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}\left(\mathcal{S}_{3,1}^{m_{1}}\right)\check{\chi}_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}\left(\mathcal{S}_{3,2}^{m_{2}}\right)\check{\chi}_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}\left(\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{0}}\right).$$
(5.2)

We verify that the column vector  $\chi(\mathcal{Y}_0) = (1, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)^T$  is not an eigenvector of  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,1})$ or  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,2})$ . Therefore all eigenvalues of  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,1})$  or  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,2})$  contribute to the growth rate in the decomposed form of characters.

By Equation (5.2), the values of  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{m}})$  are obtained by computing the powers of the two shift matrices. Therefore, for the character  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}: A_{3,p} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  to be bounded on all  $Y_{\mathbf{m}}$ , we require both matrices  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,1})$  and  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,2})$  have eigenvalues bounded by modulus 1, which indicate the growth rate of  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(Y_{\mathbf{m}})$  in terms of  $m_1$  and  $m_2$ .
The eigenvalues of  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,1})$  and  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,2})$  are the solutions of the equations

$$\mu_1^3 - \lambda_1 \left( 1 + \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p^2} \right) \mu_1^2 + \lambda_2 \left( \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p^2} + \frac{1}{p^3} \right) \mu_1 - \frac{1}{p^3} = 0,$$
  
$$\mu_2^3 - \lambda_2 \left( 1 + \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p^2} \right) \mu_2^2 + \lambda_1 \left( \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p^2} + \frac{1}{p^3} \right) \mu_2 - \frac{1}{p^3} = 0,$$

which are obtained from the characteristic polynomials of  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,1})$  and  $\check{\chi}_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(\mathcal{S}_{3,2})$ .

Let  $\{\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13}\}$  be the set of solutions to the first equation above with  $|\mu_{11}| \ge |\mu_{12}| \ge |\mu_{13}|$  and  $\{\mu_{21}, \mu_{22}, \mu_{23}\}$  be the set of solutions to the first equation above with  $|\mu_{21}| \le |\mu_{22}| \le |\mu_{23}|$ . We obtain the following identities from the solutions:

$$\sigma_{3}(\mu_{11},\mu_{12},\mu_{13}) = \sigma_{3}(\mu_{21},\mu_{22},\mu_{23}) = \sigma_{3}\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^{2}}\right)$$
$$\lambda_{1} = \frac{\sigma_{1}(\mu_{11},\mu_{12},\mu_{13})}{\sigma_{1}\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^{2}}\right)} = \frac{\sigma_{2}(\mu_{21},\mu_{22},\mu_{23})}{\sigma_{2}\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^{2}}\right)},$$
$$\lambda_{2} = \frac{\sigma_{2}(\mu_{11},\mu_{12},\mu_{13})}{\sigma_{2}\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^{2}}\right)} = \frac{\sigma_{1}(\mu_{21},\mu_{22},\mu_{23})}{\sigma_{1}\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^{2}}\right)},$$

where  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3$  denote the elementary symmetric polynomials. We can see that  $\mu_{21} = \mu_{12}\mu_{13}/p^2$ ,  $\mu_{22} = \mu_{11}\mu_{13}/p^2$  and  $\mu_{23} = \mu_{11}\mu_{12}/p^2$ . Therefore the solutions to the second equation is completely dependent on the first one. When the values of  $\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13}$  are distinct, the character  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$  can be explicitly written as the decomposed form

$$\chi_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}\left(Y_{(m_{1},m_{2})}\right) = \sum_{\substack{0 \le j_{1} \le m_{1}, 0 \le j_{2} \le m_{2}}} a_{\mathbf{m},j_{1},j_{2}}\lambda_{1}^{j_{1}}\lambda_{2}^{j_{2}}$$
$$= C_{123}\mu_{11}^{m_{1}}\mu_{12}^{m_{2}} + C_{132}\mu_{11}^{m_{1}}\mu_{13}^{m_{2}}$$
$$+ C_{213}\mu_{12}^{m_{1}}\mu_{11}^{m_{2}} + C_{231}\mu_{12}^{m_{1}}\mu_{13}^{m_{2}}$$
$$+ C_{312}\mu_{13}^{m_{1}}\mu_{11}^{m_{2}} + C_{321}\mu_{13}^{m_{1}}\mu_{12}^{m_{2}},$$

where  $C_{ijk}$  are the *chamber coefficients* for the six Weyl chambers of the hexagonal lattice on the plane.

As we require the modulus of all solutions to be bounded by 1, the modulus all six values will also have a lower bound of  $\frac{1}{p^2}$ . Therefore the character  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$  is parametrized by an unordered triple  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$  with fixed product  $\frac{1}{p^3}$ , which are three points on an annulus with interior radius  $\frac{1}{p^2}$  and exterior radius 1 on the complex plane.

The above computation shows that given a bounded character  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$ , we can find out the bounded growth rate which is a triple  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$ . And the elementary symmetric polynomials of the triple are equal to the values determined by  $\lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_2$ . **Conjecture 5.15.** Conversely, if we have an unordered triple  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$  with fixed product  $\frac{1}{p^3}$  and every  $\mu_{1j}$  satisfies  $\frac{1}{p^2} \leq |\mu_{1j}| \leq 1$ , we can find a bounded character  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$  with  $\lambda_1 = \frac{\sigma_1(\mu_{11},\mu_{12},\mu_{13})}{\sigma_1\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^2}\right)}$  and  $\lambda_2 = \frac{\sigma_2(\mu_{11},\mu_{12},\mu_{13})}{\sigma_2\left(1,\frac{1}{p},\frac{1}{p^2}\right)}$ . This construction gives  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(Y_0) = 1$ ,  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(Y_{e_1}) = \lambda_1$  and  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(Y_{e_2}) = \lambda_2$ .

We assume that  $|\mu_{11}| \ge |\mu_{12}| \ge |\mu_{13}|$ . Let  $M_{A_{3,p}}$  be the space of  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$  that parametrize the characters. Then we have

$$M_{A_{3,p}} = \left\{ \left(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13}\right) \middle| 1 \ge |\mu_{11}| \ge |\mu_{12}| \ge |\mu_{13}| \ge \frac{1}{p^2}, \mu_{11}\mu_{12}\mu_{13} = \frac{1}{p^3} \right\}.$$
 (5.3)

**Remark 5.16.** We observe that the triple  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$  with a fixed product for a character of  $A_{3,p}$  is only determined by two values on an annulus on the complex plane. Similar to the definition of the boundary of a symmetrized bi-disc [3], we clarify different types of boundary points of  $M_{A_{3,p}}$  in Definition 5.17.

**Definition 5.17.** We say that the topological boundary  $M_{A_{3,p}}$  is obtained when either  $|\mu_{11}| = 1$  or  $|\mu_{13}| = \frac{1}{p^2}$  is satisfied, and the distinguished boundary of  $M_{A_{3,p}}$  is achieved when both  $|\mu_{11}| = 1$  and  $|\mu_{13}| = \frac{1}{p^2}$  are satisfied.

We finish this section with the following conjectures which can probably be extended from Lemma 4.16 and Proposition 4.20. These two statements can probably be generalized to the cases for  $n \ge 3$ .

**Conjecture 5.18.** If  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$  does not belong to the distinguished boundary, then there is a non-trivial point derivation on  $A_{3,p}$ .

**Conjecture 5.19.** There exists a bounded approximate identity for every character  $\chi_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$ where the corresponding triple  $(\mu_{11}, \mu_{12}, \mu_{13})$  for  $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2)$  is on the distinguished boundary of  $M_{A_{3,p}}$ .

## 5.5 The weight condition on A lattices

In this section, we aim to show that the Hecke algebra  $A_{n,p}$  is isomorphic to another commutative Banach algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1},\omega_R)$ . The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  consist of all *weighted* bounded functions on the  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$  lattice which are invariant under  $S_n$  action on the Weyl chambers. The weight condition  $\omega_R$  of the lattice is parametrized by the prime number p in the Hecke algebra  $A_{n,p}$ .

Consider the  $A_{n-1}$  lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  where  $n \geq 2$ . Recall the equivalence classes of <u>a</u>-vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, 1, ..., 1)$  with the canonical basis  $\{\underline{e}_i\}$ , and the **m**-vectors with basis  $\{\mathbf{e}_j\}_{j=1}^{n-1}$  of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}$ . Every vertex on  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  can be uniquely expressed as a representative of

an equivalence class of the <u>a</u>-vectors or an **m**-vector. Note that the entries of the <u>a</u>-vectors do not have to be of descending order and the entries of the **m**-vectors do not have to be positive for the vertices on all Weyl chambers of  $\Lambda_{n-1}$ .

To each <u>a</u>-vector  $\underline{a} = (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  we assign a monomial  $(\underline{z})^{\underline{a}} = z_1^{a_1} z_2^{a_2} \cdots z_n^{a_n}$ , with the condition  $\prod_{i=1}^n z_i = 1$  imposed to satisfy the quotient relation. The algebra of summable functions on the lattice  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1})$ 

$$\check{f}:\Lambda_{n-1}\longrightarrow\mathbb{C}$$

has the set of characteristic functions  $\{\tilde{\chi}_{\underline{a}}\}_{\underline{a}\in\Lambda_{n-1}}$  as basis. The multiplication between two characteristic functions on this lattice is clearly commutative. The multiplication is explicitly given by the vector addition, generated by the multiplications of monomials which are defined above. Therefore the algebra  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1})$  is isomorphic to the set of infinite Laurent polynomials where the  $\ell^1$  norm is bounded.

The lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  consist of n! Weyl chambers, which are given by the elements in the symmetry group  $\pi \in S_n$  to indicate the descending order  $a_{\pi(1)} \ge a_{\pi(2)} \ge \cdots \ge a_{\pi(n)}$ . Fix a value R > 1. We define the weight condition on the lattice to be

$$R(\underline{a}) = \left\| (\underline{z})^{\underline{a}} \right\|_{\Lambda_{n-1}} = R^{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (j - \frac{n+1}{2})a_j},$$

where  $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \ldots \ge a_n$ .

We define an algebra of bounded functions on the weighted lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  to be

$$\ell^{1}(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_{R}) = \left\{ \sum_{\underline{a}\in\Lambda_{n-1}} \left(\check{f}(\underline{a})\prod_{i=1}^{n} z_{i}^{a_{i}}\right) \middle| \prod_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} = 1, \left\|\check{f}\right\|_{\omega_{R}} < \infty \right\},$$
(5.4)

where  $\omega_R$  is the weight condition that defines the weight  $R(\underline{a})$  on the corresponding lattice points and the weighted one norm of  $\check{f}$  is bounded. The weight condition  $\omega_R$  is defined to be invariant on the vertices which are invariant under the  $S_n$  action on the  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  lattice.

The algebra of the functions on the lattice has an  $S_n$ -invariant subalgebra generated by  $Z_{\mathbf{m}}$ . For  $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}$  in terms of the **m**-vectors, the corresponding truncated <u>a</u>-vector where  $a_n = 0$  is given by  $\underline{\check{a}} = (a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}$ , where the entries are in monotonic descending order. Therefore we have the basis of the  $S_n$ -invariant subalgebra as

$$Z_{\mathbf{m}} = Z_{\underline{\check{a}}} = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\pi \in S_n} \left( \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} z_{\pi(j)}^{a_j} \right), \tag{5.5}$$

for all  $\underline{\check{a}} = (a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  where the entries are in monotonic descending order. Note that the every basis element  $Z_{\underline{\check{a}}}$  is given by the symmetric polynomials of n variables with certain powers of every monomial.

**Definition 5.20.** The  $S_n$ -invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+,\omega_R)$  is given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1 (\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)^{S_n} = \left\{ \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}} \left( f(\mathbf{m}) Z_{\mathbf{m}} \right) \middle| \|f\|_{\omega_R} < \infty \right\}.$$

Note that the weight condition is multiplicative in a fixed Weyl chamber  $\Lambda_{n-1}^{S_n}$  as

$$R\left(\underline{\check{a}}+\underline{\check{b}}\right) = \left\|Z_{\underline{\check{a}}+\underline{\check{b}}}\right\|_{\Lambda_{n-1}} = \left\|Z_{\underline{\check{a}}}\right\|_{\Lambda_{n-1}} \left\|Z_{\underline{\check{b}}}\right\|_{\Lambda_{n-1}}$$

Every lattice point has n-1 types of adjacent points, and the types are given by the corresponding typed vertices in the Hecke algebra. There are n-1 generators for the  $S_n$ -invariant subalgebra, namely  $\{Z_{\mathbf{e}_k}\}_{k=1}^{n-1}$ . The multiplication with a generator in the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  are given by the unbiased random walk on the lattice

$$Z_{\mathbf{m}} Z_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{1}{\binom{n}{k}} \sum_{\mathbf{m}' \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}, \mathbf{m}' \sim_k \mathbf{m}} Z_{\mathbf{m}'},$$
(5.6)

where  $\sim_k$  denotes the relation of *type*-k adjacency on the vertices of  $\Lambda_{n-1}$ .

Recall the multiplication  $Y_{\underline{a}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e}_j}$  and  $Y_{\mathbf{m}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e}_k}$  in the algebra  $A_{n,p}$  in Definition 5.10. By the conversion Equation (5.5), we seek a scaling  $Z'_{\underline{a}} = C_{\underline{a}}Z_{\underline{a}}$  such that the multiplication between the scaled variables  $Z'_{\underline{a}}$  have similar coefficients as the multiplications  $Y_{\mathbf{m}} *_p Y_{\mathbf{e}_k}$ in  $A_{n,p}$ . The only possible scaling that gives the same magnitude as the coefficients in the multiplications between the generators of the *p*-adic algebras  $A_{n,p}$  will be

$$C_{\underline{a}} = A_m p^{\sum_{j=1}^n (j - \frac{n+1}{2})a_j},$$

for  $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \cdots \ge a_{n-1} > a_n = 0$  in the integer vector **a**, where  $A_m$  are the constants in the scaling functions and m is the number of actual equalities in the array. We can check that the centre of the lattice which corresponds to the constant vector in the quotient always has weight 1 so that the scaling function is well defined on  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  and  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ .

Based on the isomorphism between the Hecke algebras  $A_{2,p}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ , we aim to reach the statement of a conjecture of the existence of an isomorphism between  $A_{n,p}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$ . Both algebras  $A_{n,p}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  consist of bounded functions on a Weyl chamber of the  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$  lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}^{S_n}$ . Theorem 5.11 showed that  $A_{n,p}$  with  $\ell^1$  norm is isomorphic to the Hecke algebra of the Gelfand pair  $(PGL_n(\mathbb{Q}_p), PGL_n(\mathbb{Z}_p))$  with  $L^1$  norm for all prime numbers p. The prime number p parametrizes the condition of boundedness and the character space. The characters of  $A_{n,p}$  are parametrized by n points on an annulus with a fixed product. When p = 1, the  $\ell^1$  norm for the algebra  $A_{n,1}$  is unweighted and  $A_{n,1}$  is isomorphic to the bounded functions on a Weyl chamber of the  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$  lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}^{S_n}$ . The characters of this algebra are parametrized by n points on a circle with the fixed product to be 1, which is not homeomorphic to the annulus.

The following statement is generalized from Theorem 4.25 but requires further explicit computation to complete the proof.

**Conjecture 5.21.** There exists an isomorphism between the Hecke algebra  $A_{n,p}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$ .

The aim is to find a bounded linear map  $\theta_{p,R}$  from  $A_{n,p}$  to  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  which is an homomorphism and to find the inverse map  $\theta_{R,p}$ . The steps follow from the proof of Theorem 4.25.

We define the elements  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}} \in A_{n,p}$  for all  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  where the 1-norms are uniformly bounded. We will construct these elements from the scaled generators of this algebra.

Both Banach algebras  $A_{n,p}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  have n-1 generators, namely  $\{Y_{\mathbf{e}_k}\}_{k=1}^{n-1}$  for  $A_{n,p}$ and  $\{Z_{\mathbf{e}_k}\}_{k=1}^{n-1}$  for  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$ . We keep the identity term  $Y'_{\mathbf{0}} = Y_{\mathbf{0}}$  and scale the generators of  $A_{n,p}$  to

$$Y'_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{\sigma_j\left(1, \frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{p^2}, \dots, \frac{1}{p^{n-1}}\right)}{\binom{n}{k}} p^{\frac{n-1}{2}k} Y_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}}, \text{ for all } k = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

In the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$ , recall that every basis element  $Z_{\mathbf{m}} \in \mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  can be constructed by induction  $Z_{\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{e_k}} = \binom{n}{k} Z_{\mathbf{m}} Z_{\mathbf{e_k}}$  lower terms, which can be easily obtained from the type-k adjacency relation  $Z_{\mathbf{m}} Z_{\mathbf{e_k}} = \frac{1}{\binom{n}{k}} \sum_{\mathbf{m}' \sim_k \mathbf{m}} Z_{\mathbf{m}'}$ . Thus every  $Z_{\mathbf{m}} \in \mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  can be written as a linear combinations of powers of the generators uniquely as

$$Z_{\mathbf{m}} = \sum_{\mathbf{l} = (l_1, \dots, l_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}} \left( a'_{\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{l}} \prod_{k=1}^{n-1} Z_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}}^{l_k} \right).$$
(5.7)

Similarly, we define the type-k adjacency relations between elements in the algebra  $A_{n,p}$  as

$$Y'_{\mathbf{m}}Y'_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{1}{\binom{n}{k}} \sum_{\mathbf{m}' \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}, \mathbf{m}' \sim_{k} \mathbf{m}} Y'_{\mathbf{m}'}, \text{ for all } k = 1, \dots, n-1.$$
(5.8)

These adjacency relations allow us to express the terms  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}} \in A_{n,p}$  explicitly by induction for all  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ . We have all  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}} \in A_{n,p}$  in terms of the linear combinations of powers of the scaled generators  $Y'_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}}$ . By expanding the powers of the generators, we will have  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}}$  in terms of a unique linear combination of the natural basis elements  $Y_{\mathbf{j}} \in A_{n,p}$  as

$$Y'_{\mathbf{m}} = \sum_{\mathbf{l}=(l_1,\dots,l_{n-1})\in\mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}} \left( a'_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{l}} \prod_{k=1}^{n-1} Y'^{l_k}_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{j}=(j_1,\dots,j_{n-1})\in\mathbb{Z}_+^{n-1}} \left( \beta_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}} Y_{\mathbf{j}} \right).$$

We need to show that the 1-norm of  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}}$ ,  $\|Y'_{\mathbf{m}}\|_1 = \sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+} |\beta_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}}|$  is uniformly bounded by some conditions on powers of p.

There exist linear relations between the values of  $\beta_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}}$ . Such relations are obtained from the adjacency equations of  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}}Y'_{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{1}{\binom{n}{k}} \sum_{\mathbf{m}' \sim_k \mathbf{m}} Y'_{\mathbf{m}'}$ , where the coefficients for the expansions into the linear combinations of  $Y_{\mathbf{j}}$  need to be equal for all  $\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ . Note that the value of  $\beta_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}}$  is always zero if  $\mathbf{j}$  is not of the same type with  $\mathbf{m}$ .

Define the  $\Lambda_{n,p}$ -weight function on  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$  by

$$\|\mathbf{m}\|_{A_{n,p}} = p^{\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left( \sum_{k=j}^{n-1} (j - \frac{n+1}{2}) m_k \right)}$$
$$= \|Z_{\mathbf{m}}\|_{\omega_R}$$

when  $R = p^{\frac{n-1}{2}}$ .

By solving the linear equations of the adjacency relations, we can obtain all values of  $\beta_{m,j}$  explicitly as

$$\beta_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}} = \check{\alpha}_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}} \frac{\|\mathbf{m}\|_{\Lambda_{n,p}}}{\|\mathbf{m} - \mathbf{j}\|_{\Lambda_{n,p}}^2} = \check{\alpha}_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}} \frac{\|Z_{\mathbf{m}}\|_{\omega_R}}{\|Z_{\mathbf{m}-\mathbf{j}}\|_{\omega_R}^2}$$

where  $\check{\alpha}_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}}$  is a constant which is determined only by whether  $\mathbf{m}$  is on any boundary of the Weyl chamber and whether there are any zero entries in the vector  $\mathbf{m} - \mathbf{j}$ . Note that all  $\check{\alpha}_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}}$  are bounded by  $\frac{\beta_{(1,1,\ldots,1),(1,1,\ldots,1)}}{\|(1,1,\ldots,1)\|}$ . We note that  $\mathbf{j} \in \Delta \mathbf{m}$  if  $\beta_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}} \neq 0$ .

For  $\mathbf{m} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} m_k \mathbf{e}_k$ , the 1-norm of  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}}$  can be computed by

$$\begin{split} \left| Y'_{\mathbf{m}} \right\|_{1} &= \sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_{+}} \left| \beta_{\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{j}} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\beta_{(1,1,\dots,1),(1,1,\dots,1)} \|\mathbf{m}\|_{A_{n,p}}}{\left\| (1,1,\dots,1) \right\|_{A_{n,p}}} \sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \Delta \mathbf{m}} \frac{1}{\left\| \mathbf{m} - \mathbf{j} \right\|_{A_{n,p}}^{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{\beta_{(1,1,\dots,1),(1,1,\dots,1)} \|\mathbf{m}\|_{A_{n,p}}}{\left\| (1,1,\dots,1) \right\|_{A_{n,p}}} \prod_{k=1}^{n-1} \left( \sum_{i_{k}=0}^{m_{k}} \frac{1}{\left\| i_{k} \mathbf{e}_{k} \right\|_{A_{n,p}}^{2}} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\beta_{(1,1,\dots,1),(1,1,\dots,1)} \|\mathbf{m}\|_{A_{n,p}}}{\left\| (1,1,\dots,1) \right\|_{A_{n,p}}} \prod_{k=1}^{n-1} \left( \sum_{i_{k}=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\left\| i_{k} \mathbf{e}_{k} \right\|_{A_{n,p}}^{2}} \right) \end{split}$$

which is the product of n-1 sums of bounded geometric sequences. Thus, when  $R = p^{(n-1)/2}$ , there is a constant  $K_{n,p}$  such that  $\|Y'_{\mathbf{m}}\| \leq K_{n,p} \|\mathbf{m}\|_{A_{n,p}} = K_{n,p} \|Z_{\mathbf{m}}\|_{\omega_R}$  for all  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ .

Since the construction of  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}}$  is unique for all  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ , we can alternatively obtain another basis of the algebra  $A_{n,p}$ , given by the set of elements  $\left\{\frac{Y'_{\mathbf{m}}}{\|\mathbf{m}\|_{A_{n,p}}}\right\}$  where  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+$ . Define a linear map  $\theta_{p,R} : A_{n,p} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  by

$$\theta_{p,R}\left(Y'_{\mathbf{m}}\right) = Z_{\mathbf{m}}, \text{ for all } \mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}_+.$$

Since both  $Y'_{\mathbf{m}}$  and  $Z_{\mathbf{m}}$  are constructed by induction from the generators, they satisfy the same adjacency relations which are given by the type-k adjacency equation in the two algebras. Thus we can check that the linear map  $\theta_{p,R}$  is a homomorphism. Conjecture 5.21 would now follow if we knew that  $\theta_{p,R}$  is surjective. This would require an upper bound on  $\|Z_{\mathbf{m}}\|_{\omega_R}$  by some constant multiple of  $\|Y'_{\mathbf{m}}\|$ .

## Chapter 6

# Algebras with weighted norms and cohomology

In this chapter, we study the algebras of summable functions on weighted type A and type  $\tilde{B}$  lattices where the characteristic functions on the lattice points are generated by the corresponding Laurent polynomials. The weight conditions on the lattices are related to the size of different orbits on the *p*-adic buildings in Chapter 5. We also study the invariant subalgebras under the corresponding Weyl group actions on the components of the coordinates on the lattices. We clarify the character space for both cases, with or without the invariance conditions, and study the existence of point derivations.

For the higher cohomology groups of the algebras of functions on weighted lattices, we start with the algebras with single generator; e.g., summable functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  and  $\mathbb{Z}$ , with or without invariance conditions, with weighted or unweighted  $\ell^1$  norm. We look at some classical methods to explicitly find the second cohomology groups and derive a inductive process on an example with the invariance condition under the weighted  $\ell^1$  norm. Finally we generalize the method for higher simplicial and cyclic cohomology groups on the invariant subalgebras of functions on the weighted lattices with multi-generators.

## 6.1 Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{A}$ lattices

In this section, we consider  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_R)$ , the algebra of summable functions on the weighted  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$  lattice  $\Lambda_{n-1}$  and the  $S_n$ -invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_R)^{S_n}$ . We will discuss the space of characters of the two algebras and the existence of point derivations. In addition, we find the space of simplicial derivations for  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ , which is isomorphic to the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_q$  for the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$  in Chapter 4.

We recall the definitions of the algebra  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_R)$  and the invariant subalgebra

 $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  from Section 5.5:

$$\ell^{1}(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_{R}) = \left\{ \sum_{\underline{a}\in\Lambda_{n-1}} \left(\check{f}(\underline{a})\prod_{i=1}^{n} z_{i}^{a_{i}}\right) \middle| \prod_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} = 1, \left\|\check{f}\right\|_{\omega_{R}} < \infty \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_{R}} = \ell^{1}(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_{R})^{S_{n}} = \left\{ \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n-1}} \left(f(\mathbf{m})Z_{\mathbf{m}}\right) \middle| \|f\|_{\omega_{R}} < \infty \right\}.$$

Given *n* variables with fixed product 1, the basis of the algebra without the invariance condition  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$ , is given by the Laurent monomials of the *n* variables,  $\underline{z}^{\underline{a}} = \prod_{j=1}^n z_j^{a_j}$ with  $\prod_{j=1}^n z_j = 1$  and  $\underline{a} \in \Lambda_{n-1}$ . The invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  is isomorphic to the Hecke algebra  $A_{n,p}$  which corresponds to the building from the *p*-adic general linear groups, and thus is generated by the (n-1) elementary symmetric polynomials of the *n* variables. We obtain the space of characters of  $\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}$  as

$$M_{\mathcal{A}_{n,\omega_R}} = \left\{ \left\{ \mu_j \right\}_{j=1}^n \left| \prod_{j=1}^n \mu_j = 1, R^{-1} \le \left| \mu_j \right| \le R \text{ for } j = 1, \dots, n \right\} \right\}$$

The characters on the generators  $Z_{\mathbf{e}_i}$  are given by elementary symmetric polynomials of the set of *n* numbers  $\{\mu_j\}_{j=1}^n$  as

$$\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}(Z_{\mathbf{e}_i}) = \lambda_i = \sigma_i(\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n) \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

The characters of the algebra  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$  are parametrized by *n* ordered points on an annulus with fixed product 1. The space of characters of  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$  is given by

$$M_{\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1},\omega_R)} = \left\{ (\mu_1,\dots,\mu_n) \middle| \prod_{j=1}^n \mu_j = 1, R^{-1} \le |\mu_j| \le R \text{ for } j = 1,\dots,n \right\}.$$

The character  $\tilde{\chi}_{\mu}$  on each variable  $z_j$  is given by  $\tilde{\chi}_{\mu}(z_j) = \mu_j$ .

It can be shown that a character  $\chi_{\mu}$  is determined by the sequence  $\left\{\chi_{\mu}(z_{j})\right\}_{j=1}^{n}$  with a condition imposed for the product of the *n* values to be fixed. The set of analytic functions which determine a character indicate that every character is mapped to a set of *n* points on an annulus on the complex plane with the fixed product.

The interior of the character space of the algebra  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$  is obtained when all n points are not on the internal or external circle of the annulus. The topological boundary is obtained when at least one point is on the internal or external circle whereas the distinguished boundary is achieved when there are precisely  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  points on the internal circle and  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  points on the external circle of the annulus.

**Lemma 6.1.** Let  $\chi_{\underline{\mu}}$  be a character on  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$  where  $\chi(z_j) = \mu_j$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ . If  $\chi_{\underline{\mu}}$  is not on the distinguished boundary of  $M_{\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)}$ , the set of point derivations  $\mathcal{H}^1\left(\ell^1\left(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R\right), \mathbb{C}_{\underline{\mu}}\right)$  is in an (n-1)-dimensional subspace of the linear span of  $\langle D_{\mu_1}, D_{\mu_2}, \ldots, D_{\mu_n} \rangle$  with  $\sum_{j=1}^n \mu_j^{-1} D_{\mu_j} = 0$  and  $D_{\mu_j} = D(z_j)$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ .

*Proof.* The functions in the algebra  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$  are given by the linear sums of monomials  $\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}$  where  $\underline{a}$  is in the equivalence class of  $\mathbb{Z}^n/(1, \ldots, 1)$ . Note that the product of the n variables is 1; i.e.,  $\prod_{j=1}^n z_j = 1$ . A point bi-module  $\mathbb{C}_{\mu}$  of the commutative algebra  $\ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R)$  is evaluated by

$$\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}D\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{b}}\right)\underline{z}^{\underline{c}} = \chi_{\mu}\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}\right)\chi_{\mu}\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{c}}\right)D\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{b}}\right).$$

A point derivation is a bounded linear function  $D : \ell^1(\Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}_{\underline{\mu}}$  satisfying  $D\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}\underline{z}^{\underline{b}}\right) = \underline{z}^{\underline{a}}D\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{b}}\right) + D\left(\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}\right)\underline{z}^{\underline{b}}$  with D(1) = 0. We expand D(1) as

$$D(z_{1}z_{2}...z_{n}) = z_{2}z_{3}...z_{n}.D(z_{1}) + z_{1}z_{3}...z_{n}.D(z_{2}) + ... + z_{1}...z_{n-1}D(z_{n})|_{\mathbb{C}_{\underline{\mu}}}$$
  
=  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} z_{j}^{-1}D(z_{j})|_{\mathbb{C}_{\underline{\mu}}}$   
=  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu_{j}^{-1}D(z_{j}),$ 

which shows that the *n* values of  $(D(z_1), \ldots, D(z_n))$  are actually in an (n-1)-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

We can always add any integer multiples of  $(1, \ldots, 1)$  to a vector  $\underline{a}$  such that the monomial  $Z_{\underline{a}}$  have positive powers on all n variables. Assume that all entries of  $\underline{a}$  are positive, then the linear function D can be expanded as

$$D\left(Z_{\underline{a}}\right) = \chi_{\underline{\mu}}\left(Z_{\underline{a}}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} \mu_{j}^{-1} D\left(z_{j}\right), \qquad (6.1)$$

which shows that the point derivations is determined by the *n* values of  $D_{\mu_i}$ .

We will consider the special case where the set of n points of the annulus for a character  $\chi_{\mu}$  is on the topological boundary; i.e.,  $|\mu_j| = R$  or  $R^{-1}$ . When  $|\mu_j| = R$ , the function  $D\left(z_j^{a_j}\right) = a_j \mu_j^{a_j-1} D_{\mu_j}$  is not uniformly bounded by  $\left\|z_j^{a_j}\right\|_{\omega_R}$  if  $D_{\mu_j}$  is not zero. Since  $D\left(z_j^{a_j}\right) = a_j \mu_j^{a_j-1} D_{\mu_j}$ , when  $|\mu_j| = R$  we have

$$\frac{\left|D\left(z_{j}^{a_{j}}\right)\right|}{\left\|z_{j}^{a_{j}}\right\|_{\omega_{R}}} = \frac{\left|a_{j}\right|\left|D_{\mu_{j}}\right|}{R}.$$

Therefore  $\left|D_{\mu_j}\right| \leq R|a_j|^{-1}||D||$ , for arbitrarily large  $a_j$ , hence  $\left|D_{\mu_j}\right| = 0$ . When  $|\mu_j| = R^{-1}$ ,

$$\frac{\left|D\left(z_{j}^{-a_{j}}\right)\right|}{\left\|z_{j}^{-a_{j}}\right\|_{\omega_{R}}} = \frac{\left|a_{j}\right|\left|D_{\mu_{j}}\right|}{R},$$

and so by similar reasoning  $\left|D_{\mu_j}\right| = 0$ .

Therefore the value of  $D_{\mu_j}$  must be zero if  $\mu_j$  is on the internal or external circle of the annulus for the character  $\chi_{\underline{\mu}}$ . When there are maximum number of points on the boundary of the annulus, i.e. when we have a character on the distinguished boundary, all values  $D_{\mu_j}$  must be zero.

For n = 2, we consider the invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ . By Theorem 4.25, when  $R = q^{1/2}$ , the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  is isomorphic to the Hecke algebra  $\mathcal{A}_q$  of the infinite homogeneous tree  $\mathbb{T}_q$ . The multiplications and change of variables are easier to compute if we consider  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  where the multiplications with the generator corresponds to a balanced random walk on the  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  lattice. Explicitly, we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R} = \ell^1 \left( \Lambda_{n-1}, \omega_R \right)^{S_2} = \left\{ f = \sum_{j=0}^\infty c_j y_j \left\| \|f\|_{\omega_R} = \sum_{j=1}^\infty |c_j| R^j < \infty \right\},$$
(6.2)

where  $y_j = \frac{1}{2} (z^j + z^{-j})$  with  $y_j = y_{-j}$  and  $y_j y_k = \frac{1}{2} (y_{j+k} + y_{j-k})$ .

**Definition 6.2.** The simplicial derivations on an algebra A is the set of linear functions  $D: A \longrightarrow A^*$  such that

$$D(f_1f_2)(f_3) = D(f_1)(f_2f_3) + D(f_2)(f_3f_1), \text{ for all } f_1, f_2, f_3 \in A.$$

Since  $A_q$  is singly generated by  $Y_1$ , we can derive that  $D(1)(Y_m) = 0$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and

$$D(Y_1^m)(Y_1^n) = \frac{m}{m+n} D(Y_1^{m+n})(Y_0),$$

which shows that D is determined by the sequence  $\left\{D\left(Y_1^m\right)(1)\right\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$ . It is not straightforward to compute the simplicial derivations of  $A_q$  in terms of its natural basis. Since this commutative algebra has one single generator  $Y_1$ , it is possible to convert all  $Y_m$  into a linear sum of powers of  $Y_1$ . The values of  $a_{m,j}$  from Lemma 4.7 and  $c_{n,k}$  from Lemma 4.9 will be used in the numerical computation.

Let  $\mathcal{HH}^1(A_q)$  be the set of bounded simplicial derivations of  $A_q$ . The map from  $\mathcal{HH}^1(A_q)$  to  $A_q^*$  gives a correspondence from the simplicial derivation  $D: A_q \longrightarrow A_q^*$  to a sequence  $\tau$ . Set  $\tau_n = D(Y_n)(1)$  We aim to prove that there exists a simplicial derivation

 $D: A_q \longrightarrow A_q^*$  if and only if the sequence  $\tau$  is bounded. Given a bounded sequence on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ which determines the values of  $\{D(Y_n)(1)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ , we seek the general form of  $D(Y_m)(Y_n)$  by converting the terms between the two different methods of expansions as

$$\begin{split} D(Y_m)(Y_n) &= D\left(\sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j}Y_1^j\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^n a_{n,k}Y_1^k\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^m \sum_{k=0}^n \left(a_{m,j}a_{n,k}\frac{j}{j+k}D(Y_1^{j+k})\left(Y_0\right)\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^m \sum_{k=0}^n \sum_{l=0}^{\lfloor \frac{j+k}{2} \rfloor} \left(c_{j+k,l}a_{m,j}a_{n,k}\frac{j}{j+k}D(Y_{j+k-2l})\left(Y_0\right)\right) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{m+n} C_{m,n,i}D(Y_i)(Y_0) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{m+n} C_{m,n,i}\tau_i, \end{split}$$

where the numerical computation suggests that  $\sum_{i=1}^{m+n} |C_{m,n,i}| < 1$ .

**Lemma 6.3.** The simplicial derivation D on the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  is determined by

$$D(y_{a})(y_{b}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{a}{a+b} D(y_{a+b})(1) + \frac{a}{a-b} D(y_{a-b})(1) \right) \text{ for } a \neq \pm b,$$
  
$$D(y_{n})(y_{n}) = \frac{1}{4} D(y_{2n})(1).$$

Moreover, if we define  $\tau_n = D(y_n)(1)$ , then  $||D|| \le ||\tau||_{\infty}$ .

*Proof.* After defining the simplicial derivation in Definition 6.2, we showed that every simplicial derivation  $D(y_a)(y_b)$  can be written as a linear sum of  $\sum_{l=0}^{a+b} C_{a,b,l} D(y_l)(1)$ . However we did not compute the values of the coefficients  $C_{a,b,l}$  for the algebra  $A_q$  of the infinite homogeneous tree. The boundedness also needs to be clarified in both  $A_q$  the isomorphic algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ .

Let  $\tau$  be a sequence such that  $\tau_n = D(y_n)(1)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . We need to show that for all pairs  $(a, b) \in \mathbb{Z}^2_+$ , the derivation  $D(y_a)(y_b)$  is bounded by  $R^{a+b} ||\tau||$ .

For b = 0, we have  $D(y_a)(y_0) = D(y_a)(y_1)$ . For a = b = n, it is clear that

$$D(y_n)(y_n) + D(y_n)(y_n) = D(y_ny_n)(1) = \frac{1}{2}D(y_{2n})(1),$$

which implies that  $D(y_n)(y_n) = \frac{1}{4}D(y_{2n})(1)$ .

From  $D(y_a y_b)(1) = D(y_a)(y_b) + D(y_b)(y_a)$ , we will know the value of  $D(y_b)(y_a)$  once we know the value of  $D(y_a)(y_b)$ . Therefore we only need to find values of  $D(y_a)(y_b)$  for all positive integer pairs where  $b > a \ge 1$ .

We then consider the derivation  $D(y_m)(y_1)$ . For  $m \ge 2$ , using the coefficients of  $a_{m,j}$  from Lemma 4.7 with q = 1, the expansion gives

$$D(y_m)(y_1) = D\left(\sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j}y_1^j\right)(y_1)$$
  
=  $D\left(\sum_{j=0}^m \frac{j}{j+1}a_{m,j}y_1^{j+1}\right)(1)$   
=  $D\left(\sum_{j=0}^m \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{m}{m+1}a_{m+1,j+1} + \frac{m}{m-1}a_{m-1,j+1}\right)y_1^{j+1}\right)(1)$   
=  $\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{m}{m+1}D(y_{m+1})(1) + \frac{m}{m-1}D(y_{m-1})(1)\right).$ 

For N = a + b = 3, the only case is a = 2 and b = 1, which is included in the previous calculation with m = 2.

We assume that  $D(y_a)(y_b) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{a}{a+b} D(y_{a+b})(1) + \frac{a}{a-b} D(y_{a-b})(1) \right)$  is true for all  $b > a \ge 1$  and  $a+b \le N$ . We have shown that it is true for all  $a \ge 2$  with b = 1 and we can obtain the values of all  $D(y_1)(y_a)$  from the values of  $D(y_a)(y_1)$ . For a+b=N+1, we assume that it is true for all  $1 \le b \le n$ . When  $m-n \ne 2$ , for a=m-1 and b=n+1,

we have

$$\begin{split} D\left(y_{m-1}\right)\left(y_{n+1}\right) \\ &= D\left(y_{m-1}\right)\left(2y_{n}y_{1} - y_{n-1}\right) \\ &= D\left(y_{m-1}\right)\left(2y_{n}y_{1}\right) - D\left(y_{m-1}\right)\left(y_{n-1}\right) \\ &= D\left(2y_{n}y_{m-1}\right)\left(y_{1}\right) - D\left(y_{n}\right)\left(2y_{1}y_{m-1}\right) - D\left(y_{m-1}\right)\left(y_{n-1}\right) \\ &= D\left(y_{m+n-1}\right)\left(y_{1}\right) + D\left(y_{m-n-1}\right)\left(y_{1}\right) - D\left(y_{n}\right)\left(y_{m}\right) - D\left(y_{n}\right)\left(y_{m-2}\right) - D\left(y_{m-1}\right)\left(y_{n-1}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{m+n-1}{m+n}D\left(y_{m+n-2}\right)\left(1\right) + \frac{m+n-1}{m+n-2}D\left(y_{m+n-2}\right)\left(1\right)\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{m-n-1}{m-n}D\left(y_{m-n}\right)\left(1\right) + \frac{m-n-1}{m-n-2}D\left(y_{m-n-2}\right)\left(1\right)\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{m+n}D\left(y_{m+n}\right)\left(1\right) + \frac{n}{n-m}D\left(y_{m-n}\right)\left(1\right)\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{m+n-2}D\left(y_{m+n-2}\right)\left(1\right) + \frac{n}{n-m+2}D\left(y_{n-m+2}\right)\left(1\right)\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{m-1}{m+n-2}D\left(y_{m+n-2}\right)\left(1\right) + \frac{m-1}{m-n}D\left(y_{m-n}\right)\left(1\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{m-1}{m+n}D\left(y_{m+n}\right)\left(1\right) + \frac{m-1}{m-n-2}D\left(y_{m-n-2}\right)\left(1\right)\right). \end{split}$$

The first term  $\frac{m-1}{m+n}D(y_{m+n})(1)$  is clearly bounded by  $\|\tau\| R^{m+n}$ . The maximum value of  $\frac{m-1}{m-n-2}\|y_{m-n-2}\|$  is achieved when  $m-n-2 = \log R$ . Hence the norm of the second term is uniformly bounded by  $(m-1)e\|\tau\|$ . Therefore we have

$$\frac{\frac{m-1}{m-n-2}D\left(y_{m-n-2}\right)\left(1\right)}{\|y_{m+1}\|\|y_{n-1}\|} \le e\|\tau\| mR^{-m} \le \frac{eR^{-\frac{1}{\log R}}}{\log R} \|\tau\| = C\|\tau\|,$$

which indicates that  $D(y_{m-1})(y_{n+1})$  is bounded by  $\frac{1}{2}(1+C) \|\tau\| R^{m+n}$ .

Hence for all positive integer pairs (a, b), the simplicial derivation is bounded if and only if the sequence  $\tau$  is bounded.

**Remark 6.4.** The isomorphism between  $A_q$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  shows that there indeed exists a simplicial derivation for  $A_q$ , as well as the Hecke algebra  $A_{2,p}$  with  $\ell^1$  norm of the Gelfand pair  $\left(PGL_2\left(\mathbb{Q}_p\right), PGL_2\left(\mathbb{Z}_p\right)\right)$ .

## 6.2 Algebras of functions on weighted type $\tilde{B}$ lattices

In this section, we consider  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R)$ , the algebra of functions on the  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  integer lattice with respect to the  $\omega_R$ -weighted  $\ell^1$  norm. We assume that the characteristic functions multiply as the Laurent polynomials of n independent variables. In particular, we compute the invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R)^{B_n}$  where the functions on the lattice are invariant under the action of the Coxeter group  $B_n$  which acts on the n-hypercube. We start from n = 1 and n = 2 and then generalize to higher dimensions by finding the space of characters and study the existence of the point derivations of the two algebras.

Given a point  $\underline{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  on the integer grid, we express the characteristic function on at the point  $\underline{a}$  as the Laurent monomial  $\underline{z}^{\underline{a}} = \prod_{j=1}^n z_j^{a_j}$ .

**Definition 6.5.** The  $\omega_R$  norm of a characteristic function  $\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}$  on the  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  integer lattice is given by a weighted  $\ell^1$  norm as

$$\left\|\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}\right\|_{\omega_{R}} = R^{\sum_{i=1}^{n} |a_{i}|}.$$

The Weyl group  $B_n$  acts on the  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  integer lattice by alternating the signs and permuting the *n* entries of the coordinates. We have  $|B_n| = 2^n n!$ . The  $\omega_R$  norm of a characteristic function  $\|\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}\|_{\omega_R}$  is fixed under the  $B_n$  action on the coordinates.

**Definition 6.6.** The algebra of summable functions on the weighted  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  integer lattice is given by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R\right) = \left\{ \tilde{f} = \sum_{\underline{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} c_{\underline{a}} \underline{z}^{\underline{a}} \, \left\| \left\| \tilde{f} \right\|_{\omega_R} < \infty \right\}.$$

For all i = 1, ..., n, a character  $\chi_{\mu}$  of the algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R)$  is given by

$$\chi_{\underline{\mu}}(z_i) = \mu_i,$$
  
$$\chi_{\underline{\mu}}\left(z_i^{-1}\right) = \mu_i^{-1},$$
  
$$\chi_{\underline{\mu}}(\underline{z}^{\underline{a}}) = \prod_{i=1}^n \mu_i^{a_i}$$

For the characters to be bounded, we require  $R^{-1} \leq |\mu_i| \leq R$  for all i = 1, ..., n. Thus the character space is parametrized by n ordered points on an annulus where the radii are  $R^{-1}$  and R for the internal and external circle on the complex plane as

$$M_{\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n,\omega_R)} = \left\{ (\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_n) \middle| R^{-1} \le |\mu_i| \le R \text{ for all } j=1,\ldots,n \right\}.$$

We consider the  $B_n$ -invariant subalebgra  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R} = \ell^1 (\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R)^{B_n}$ . The values of the functions on the vertices of  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  are invariant if and only if the coordinates of these points

can be obtained from each other by alternating the signs and permuting the entries. There are  $2^n n!$  Weyl chambers on the  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  integer lattice. We pick a specific chamber which consists of the vertices  $\underline{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  such that  $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \ldots \ge a_n \ge 0$ . Every vertex in this chamber corresponds to a vector in  $\mathbb{Z}^n_+$  where the entries are in monotonic descending order. We use another vector  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$  which corresponds to a unique element in this chamber, given by  $\mathbf{m} = (a_1 - a_2, a_2 - a_3, \ldots, a_{n-1} - a_n, a_n)$ . The basis of  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$  is given by the set of  $B_n$ -symmetric Laurent polynomials, denoted by  $Z_{\mathbf{m}}$  or  $Z_{\underline{a}}$  as

$$Z_{\mathbf{m}} = Z_{\underline{a}} = \frac{1}{|B_n|} \sum_{g \in B_n} \underline{z}^{\underline{a}^g}.$$

with  $||Z_{\underline{a}}|| = ||\underline{z}^{\underline{a}^g}||$  for all  $g \in B_n$ . In particular, we have  $\mathcal{B}_{1,\omega_R} = \mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ . Explicitly, the algebra  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$  can be considered as summable functions on the lattice

Explicitly, the algebra  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$  can be considered as summable functions on the lattice points of a Weyl chamber of the  $\mathbb{Z}^n$  lattice. We denote the characteristic functions on the lattice points of the specific Weyl chamber by the  $B_n$ -symmetric Laurent polynomials from the algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R)$ . We have

$$\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R} = \left\{ f = \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n} c_{\mathbf{m}} Z_{\mathbf{m}} \; \left| \|f\|_{\omega_R} < \infty \right\}.$$

**Proposition 6.7.** Every  $B_n$ -symmetric Laurent polynomial  $Z_{\mathbf{m}} \in \mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$  is generated by the elementary symmetric polynomials of the set of polynomials

$$\left\{\left(z_1+z_1^{-1}\right),\ldots,\left(z_n+z_n^{-1}\right)\right\},\,$$

namely

$$\sigma_j^{\pm} = \sigma_j \left( \left( z_1 + z_1^{-1} \right), \left( z_2 + z_2^{-1} \right), \dots, \left( z_n + z_n^{-1} \right) \right), \quad 1 \le j \le n;$$

*i.e.*, every symmetric polynomial  $Z_{\mathbf{m}}$  can be uniquely written as a linear sum of powers of the elementary symmetric polynomials as

$$Z_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{m}}\left(\sigma_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, \sigma_{n}^{\pm}\right) = \sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}} \left(a_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{j}} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left(\sigma_{k}^{\pm}\right)^{j_{k}}\right).$$

*Proof.* The elementary symmetric polynomials  $\sigma_j^{\pm}$  are in fact the element  $Z_{\mathbf{e}_j} \in \mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$ , where  $\{\mathbf{e}_j\}_{j=1}^n$  are the canonical basis of the **m** vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}_+^n$ . Let  $Z_{\underline{a}} = Z_{\mathbf{m}}$  where  $\mathbf{m} = (a_1 - a_2, a_2 - a_3, \ldots, a_{n-1} - a_n, a_n)$ . Given any  $\underline{a} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$  and the corresponding  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ , we expand the product  $\prod_{k=1}^n (\sigma_k^{\pm})^{m_k}$  and observe that the term with the highest power is indeed  $Z_{\mathbf{m}}$  and the coefficient of this leading term is fixed to be 1. For  $\underline{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ and  $\underline{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$ , the expansion is given by

$$\begin{split} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left( \sigma_{k}^{\pm} \right)^{m_{k}} &= Z_{\mathbf{m}} + \text{lower terms} \\ &= Z_{\underline{a}} + \sum_{\underline{b} \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}} \gamma_{\underline{a}, \underline{b}} Z_{\underline{b}}, \end{split}$$

where the coefficient  $\gamma_{\underline{a},\underline{b}}$  is nonzero only when  $b_i \leq a_i$  for all entries of  $\underline{a}$  and  $\underline{b}$ . This step can be repeated until there are no other terms apart from the elementary symmetric polynomials. Then we can recover the symmetric polynomial  $Z_{\mathbf{m}}$  in terms of a linear sum of powers of the elementary symmetric polynomials. The coefficients in this construction are fixed as we have no choice for the leading term thus have no alternative route for the repeated steps of the induction.

We apply some concepts of the symmetrized bi-disc from [2] The symmetrized bi-disc is a set of points in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , given by

$$\Gamma = \left\{ (z+w, zw) \mid |z| \le 1, |w| \le 1 \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2.$$

The topological boundary of  $\Gamma$  is achieved when either z or w has modulus 1. The distinguished boundary of  $\Gamma$  is achieved when both z and w have modulus 1. The royal variety of  $\Gamma$  is achieved when z = w.

**Lemma 6.8.** The character space of  $\mathcal{B}_{2,\omega_R}$ ,  $M_{\mathcal{B}_{2,\omega_R}}$  is parametrized by the symmetrized bi-disc.

*Proof.* The two elementary symmetric polynomials that generate this subalgebra are

$$\sigma_1^{\pm} = Z_{1,0} = \left(z_1 + z_1^{-1}\right) + \left(z_2 + z_2^{-1}\right),$$
  
$$\sigma_2^{\pm} = Z_{1,1} = z_1 z_2 + z_1^{-1} z_2 + z_1 z_2^{-1} + z_1^{-1} z_2^{-1} = \left(z_1 + z_1^{-1}\right) \left(z_2 + z_2^{-1}\right)$$

Every character  $\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is determined by  $\lambda_1 = \chi_{\underline{\lambda}} \left( \sigma_1^{\pm} \right)$  and  $\lambda_2 = \chi_{\underline{\lambda}} \left( \sigma_2^{\pm} \right)$ , which can be considered as the sum and the product of the pair  $\left\{ \left( z_1 + z_1^{-1} \right), \left( z_2 + z_2^{-1} \right) \right\}$ .

As described in the examples of  $A_q$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ , the character space of  $A_q$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ , are both parametrized by an ellipse on the complex plane, which is homeomorphic to a unit disc. The boundary of the ellipse is achieved when |z| or  $|z^{-1}|$  is on the boundary of the annulus.

Therefore the character space of  $\mathcal{B}_{2,\omega_R}$  is parametrized by the symmetrized bi-ellipse. Both ellipses are homeomorphic to the unit disc which implies that this character space is

also parametrized by the symmetrized bi-disc.

**Remark 6.9.** In general, it can be proved that the character space of  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$ , is parametrized by the symmetrized *n*-disc

$$\Gamma_n = \left\{ \left( \sigma_1 \left( z_1, \ldots, z_n \right), \ldots, \sigma_n \left( z_1, \ldots, z_n \right) \right) \mid |z_j| \le 1 \text{ for all } j = 1, \ldots, n \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}^n,$$

which is homeomorphic to a set of n unordered ellipses thus corresponds to the set of n unordered points on an annulus of the complex plane.

Let  $\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}$  be a character on  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$ , the character on the elementary symmetric Laurent polynomials are evaluated as

$$\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}\left(\sigma_{j}^{\pm}\right) = \lambda_{j} = \sigma_{j}\left(\left(\mu_{1} + \mu_{1}^{-1}\right), \dots, \left(\mu_{n} + \mu_{n}^{-1}\right)\right)$$

Similar to the point derivations of the algebra of functions on the type A lattice, a point derivation  $D \in \mathcal{H}^1\left(\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}^n, \omega_R\right), \mathbb{C}_{\underline{\lambda}}\right)$  for a character  $\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}$ , is determined by the *n* values  $\left(D(z_1), \ldots, D(z_n)\right)$ . If the modulus of  $\mu_j$  is equal to *R* or  $R^{-1}$ , then we have  $D(z_j) = 0$ .

We will now calculate the point derivations on the  $B_n$ -invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R}$  by computing the derivative of the polynomial of the generators by the chain rule.

**Lemma 6.10.** Given a character  $\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}$  not on the distinguished boundary of the character space, the set of point derivations  $\mathcal{H}^1\left(\mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R},\mathbb{C}_{\underline{\lambda}}\right)$  is given by the linear span of  $\langle D_{\lambda_1}, D_{\lambda_2}, \ldots, D_{\lambda_n} \rangle$  with  $D\left(Z_{\mathbf{e}_j}\right) = D_{\lambda_j}$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ .

*Proof.* For a character  $\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}$  in the interior of the character space, i.e.  $R > |\mu_i| > R^{-1}$  for all j = 1, 2, ..., n, we consider the unique expressions of the character as a polynomial of  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_n, \chi_{\underline{\lambda}}(Z_{\mathbf{m}}) = \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{m}}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_n).$ 

We define a point derivation  $D_{\lambda_j} : \mathcal{B}_{n,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}_{\underline{\lambda}}$  by

$$D_{\lambda_j}(Z_{\mathbf{m}}) := \frac{d}{dy_j} \left( \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{m}}(y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n) \right) \Big|_{y_1 = \lambda_1, \dots, y_n = \lambda_n} D_{\lambda_j},$$

for all j = 1, 2, ..., n. This shows that every point derivation D is determined by the set of values  $\left\{D_{\lambda_j}\right\}_{j=1}^n$ . We need to find the condition for the boundedness for all characters  $\chi_{\lambda}$  in the character space.

We consider the symmetric polynomial which corresponds to  $Z_{\underline{a}}$  as a homogeneous polynomial with positive powers of 2n variables. namely  $f_{\underline{a}}(z_1, \ldots, z_n, z_1^{-1}, \ldots, z_n^{-1})$ . For

n=2,

$$Z_{\underline{a}} = f_{\underline{a}} \left( z_1, z_2, z_1^{-1}, z_2^{-1} \right)$$
  
=  $z_1^{a_1} z_2^{a_2} + \left( z_1^{-1} \right)^{a_1} z_2^{a_2} + z_1^{a_1} \left( z_2^{-1} \right)^{a_2} + \left( z_1^{-1} \right)^{a_1} \left( z_2^{-1} \right)^{a_2}$   
+  $z_1^{a_2} z_2^{a_1} + \left( z_1^{-1} \right)^{a_2} z_2^{a_1} + z_1^{a_2} \left( z_2^{-1} \right)^{a_1} + \left( z_1^{-1} \right)^{a_2} \left( z_2^{-1} \right)^{a_1}$ 

We set  $y_j = \sigma_j ((x_1 + x_{-1}), \dots, (x_n + x_{-n}))$ , the *j*-th elementary symmetric polynomial of the *n* sums of pairs  $(x_1 + x_{-1}), \dots, (x_n + x_{-n})$ . For a continuous function  $f_{\underline{a}}$  on the 2*n* variables  $x_1, \dots, x_n, x_{-1}, \dots, x_{-n}$ , we have

$$f_{\underline{a}}(\underline{x}_{\pm}) = f_{\underline{a}}(x_1, \dots, x_n, x_{-1}, \dots, x_{-n}) = \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{m}}(y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n).$$

The derivative can also be evaluated as

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dy_j} \left( \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{m}} \left( y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n \right) \right) \Big|_{y_1 = \lambda_1, \dots, y_n = \lambda_n} \\ &= \left. \frac{d}{dy_j} f_{\underline{a}} \left( \underline{x}_{\pm} \right) \right|_{x_1 = \mu_1, \dots, x_n = \mu_n, x_{-1} = \mu^{-1}, \dots, x_{-n} = \mu_n^{-1}} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{dx_k}{dy_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} f_{\underline{a}} \left( \underline{x}_{\pm} \right) \Big|_{x_1 = \mu_1, \dots, x_n = \mu_n, x_{-1} = \mu^{-1}, \dots, x_{-n} = \mu_n^{-1}} \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{dx_{-k}}{dy_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{-k}} f_{\underline{a}} \left( \underline{x}_{\pm} \right) \Big|_{x_1 = \mu_1, \dots, x_n = \mu_n, x_{-1} = \mu^{-1}, \dots, x_{-n} = \mu_n^{-1}} \\ &= \sum_{g \in B_n} \frac{d \left( x_{g(1)} \dots x_{g(j)} \right)}{dy_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \left( x_{g(1)} \dots x_{g(j)} \right)} f_{\mathbf{m}} \left( \underline{x}_{\pm} \right) \Big|_{x_1 = \mu_1, \dots, x_n = \mu_n^{-1}}. \end{aligned}$$

Note that none of the values of  $\frac{dx_k}{dy_j}$  and  $\frac{dx_{-k}}{dy_j}$  depend on the choice of **m** or <u>a</u>. When  $R^{-1} < |\mu_k| < R$  for all k = 1, ..., n, all partial derivatives  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} f_{\underline{a}}(\underline{x}_{\pm})$  and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{-k}} f_{\underline{a}}(\underline{x}_{\pm})$  are uniformly bounded by  $||Z_{\underline{a}}||_{\omega_R}$ .

We consider the case for the character  $\chi_{\underline{\lambda}}$  on the topological boundary of the character space. When the corresponding unordered set of points on the annulus,  $\{\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n\}$  has precisely k values with modulus equal to R or  $R^{-1}$ , there exists an element g in the Weyl group  $B_n$  such that the partial derivative  $\frac{\partial}{\partial (x_{g(1)} \dots x_{g(j)})} f_{\mathbf{m}}(\underline{x}_{\pm})$  is unbounded if  $j \leq k$ . In this case we require  $D_{\lambda_j}$  to be zero for the point derivations to be bounded for all  $1 \leq j \leq k$ .

Furthermore, when a character is on the distinguished boundary of the character space, i.e. all n values of  $\{\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n\}$  are equal to R or  $R^{-1}$ , all  $D_{\lambda_j}$  need to be zero, i.e. there does not exist any nontrivial point derivations.

#### 6.3 Higher cohomology of algebras with single generator

In this section, we consider the examples of higher cohomology groups of algebras of functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  with weighted and unweighted  $\ell^1$  norm. We also consider the higher cohomology groups of functions on  $\mathbb{Z}$ , with or without the invariance condition of  $S_2$  for the weighted case.

#### 6.3.1 Second cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+$

**Definition 6.11.** A bounded 2-linear map  $\phi$  from  $\mathcal{A}^2$  to the bimodule Y is a 2-cocycle if for all  $a, b, c \in \mathcal{A}$ , we have

$$\delta\phi(a,b,c) = a\phi(b,c) - \phi(ab,c) + \phi(a,bc) - \phi(a,b)c = 0.$$

**Definition 6.12.** A bounded 2-linear map  $\delta \psi$  from  $\mathcal{A}$  to the bimodule Y is a 2-coboundary if

$$\delta\psi(a,b) = \psi(a)b - \psi(ab) + a\psi(b)$$

for some bounded linear map  $\psi$  from  $\mathcal{A}$  to Y.

We denote the linear space of the 2-cocycles by  $\mathcal{Z}^2(\mathcal{A}, Y)$  and the linear space of the 2-coboundaries by  $\mathcal{B}^2(\mathcal{A}, Y)$ . The second cohomology group  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathcal{A}, Y)$  is defined by the quotient

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\mathcal{A}, Y) = \frac{\mathcal{Z}^2(\mathcal{A}, Y)}{\mathcal{B}^2(\mathcal{A}, Y)}.$$

The proofs for Lemma 6.13 and Lemma 6.14 are well known. We will apply the ideas from the two lemmas to the algebras with the weighted  $\ell^1$  norm.

**Lemma 6.13.**  $\mathcal{H}^{2}(\ell^{1}(\mathbb{Z}_{+}), \mathbb{C}_{0}) = 0.$ 

*Proof.* A bounded 2-linear map  $\phi$  from  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  to the point bimodule  $\mathbb{C}_0$  is a 2-cocycle if it satisfies

$$\delta\phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2}, z^{a_3}) = z^{a_1}\phi(z^{a_2}, z^{a_3}) - \phi(z^{a_1+a_2}, z^{a_3}) + \phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2+a_3}) - \phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2}) z^{a_3} = 0$$

When  $n = a_1 + a_2 + a_3$  and  $a_1, a_3 \neq 0$ , the 2-cocycle equation shows that  $\phi(z^{a_1+a_2}, z^{a_3}) = \phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2+a_3}) = f(z^n)$  for some bounded function f. When  $a_1 \neq 0$  and  $a_3 = 0$ , we have  $\delta\phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2}, z^0) = -\phi(z^{a_1+a_2}, 1) = 0$ .

Define  $\psi(z^{n+1}) := -\phi(z^n, z)$  for  $n \ge 0$  and  $\psi(1) := \phi(1, 1)$ . For  $a, b \ne 0$ ,

$$\delta \psi(z^{a}, z^{b}) = \psi(z^{a})z^{b} - \psi(z^{a+b}) + z^{a}\psi(z^{b})$$
$$= -\psi(z^{a+b}) = \phi(z^{a+b-1}, z).$$

We also have  $\delta \psi(z^a, 1) = 0$  when  $a \ge 1$ ,  $\delta \psi(1, z^b) = 0$  when  $b \ge 1$  and  $\delta \psi(1, 1) = \psi(1) = \phi(1, 1)$ .

Let  $\phi' = \phi - \delta \psi$ . For  $a, b \neq 0$ , we have  $\phi'(z^a, z^b) = \phi(z^a, z^b) - \delta \psi(z^a, z^b) = f(z^{a+b}) - f(z^{a+b-1+1}) = 0$ . With  $\phi'(1,1) = 0, \phi'(z^a,1) = \phi'(1,z^b) = 0$ , we obtain that the function  $\psi$  cobounds  $\phi$ .

Lemma 6.14.  $\mathcal{H}^2\left(\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}_+\right),\mathbb{C}_{\frac{1}{2}}\right)=0.$ 

*Proof.* We consider the algebra of summable functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  with the unweighted  $\ell^1$  norm. We write the characteristic functions as the monomials  $\{z^j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ .

The character space of the algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  is given by a unit disc centered at the origin on the complex plane. We consider the point module  $\mathbb{C}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Set  $w = z - \frac{1}{2}$  and we have  $||w||^n = \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^n$ . The 2-cocycles equation can be written in the form of powers of w. The set of powers of w span the set of powers of z and  $w^n = \left(z - \frac{1}{2}\right)^n = \sum_{j=0}^n (-1)^{n-j} {n \choose j} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{n-j} z^j$ . We will define a 2-coboundary function  $\psi$ that cobounds  $\phi$  and then show that  $\psi$  is bounded.

Define  $\psi(w^{n+1}) := -\phi(w^n, w)$  for  $n \ge 0$  and  $\psi(1) := \phi(1, 1)$ . We apply the proof in Lemma 6.13. For  $a, b \ne 0$ , we have

$$\delta\psi\left(w^{a},w^{b}\right) = \psi\left(w^{a}\right)w^{b} - \psi\left(w^{a+b}\right) + w^{a}\psi\left(w^{b}\right)$$
$$= -\psi\left(w^{a+b}\right) = \phi\left(w^{a+b-1},w\right).$$

We also have  $\delta \psi(w^a, 1) = 0$  when  $a \ge 1$ ,  $\delta \psi(1, w^b) = 0$  when  $b \ge 1$  and  $\delta \psi(1, 1) = \psi(1) = \phi(1, 1)$ .

Let  $\phi' = \phi - \delta \psi$ . We can show that  $\phi'(w^a, w^b) = 0$  for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  therefore  $\phi'(z^a, z^b) = 0$  as the powers of z are spanned by the powers of w.

We will show that  $\psi$  is bounded by induction. First we verify that

$$\psi(z) = \psi\left(w + \frac{1}{2}\right) = -\phi(1, w) + \frac{1}{2}\phi(1, 1) = -\phi(1, z) + \phi(1, 1),$$

which indicates  $|\psi(z)| \leq 2 ||\phi||$ .

We assume that  $|\psi(z^m)| \leq 2||\phi|| + 2|\phi(1,z)|$  for all  $m \leq n$ .

Consider  $\delta \psi(z^n, z)$ , as  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  satisfy the inequality

$$|\phi(z^n, z)| = |\delta\psi(z^n, z)| = \left|\frac{1}{2^n}\psi(z) - \psi(z^{n+1}) + \psi(z^n)\frac{1}{2}\right| \le ||\phi||,$$

we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \psi(z^{n+1}) \right| &\leq \|\phi\| + \frac{1}{2^n} \left| \psi(z) \right| + \frac{1}{2} \left| \psi(z^n) \right| \\ &\leq \|\phi\| + \frac{1}{2^n} \left| \psi(z) \right| + \frac{1}{2} \|\phi\| + \frac{1}{2^{n-1}} \left| \psi(z) \right| + \left| \psi(z^{n-1}) \right| \\ &\cdots \\ &\leq 2 \|\phi\| + 2 \left| \psi(z) \right| \\ &\leq 2 \|\phi\| + 2 \left| \phi(1, z) \right|, \end{split}$$

which proves that  $|\psi(z^{n+1})|$  is indeed bounded by  $2\|\phi\| + 2|\phi(1,z)|$ . Hence  $\psi$  is well defined.

The proof for the following statement applies a similar method from Lemma 6.14. In general, we assume the weight condition  $\omega_R$  to have R > 1.

## Lemma 6.15. $\mathcal{H}^{2}\left(\ell^{1}\left(\mathbb{Z}_{+},\omega_{R}\right),\mathbb{C}_{1}\right)=0.$

*Proof.* We consider the algebra of summable functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  with the  $\omega_R$  weighted  $\ell^1$  norm. We write the characteristic functions as the monomials  $\{z^j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ . With the weight condition  $\omega_R$ , a monomial  $z^n$  has weight  $R^n$ .

The character space of the algebra  $l^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, \omega_R)$  is given by a disc with radius R centered at the origin on the complex plane. Consider the point module  $\mathbb{C}_1$  where the point 1 is in the interior of the character space.

The method is similar to the proof of Lemma 6.14. Set  $w_+ = z - 1$ . Then  $w_+^n$  has weight  $||w_+^n|| = (R+1)^n$ . Define  $\psi(w_+^{n+1}) := -\phi(w_+^n, w_+)$  for  $n \ge 0$  and  $\psi(1) := \phi(1, 1)$ . We can show that  $\phi' = \phi - \delta \psi$  on  $l^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, \omega_R)^2$  is always zero; i.e.,  $\phi'(w_+^a, w_+^b) = 0$  and  $\phi'(z^a, z^b) = 0$  for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . To prove that  $\psi$  is bounded, we have the inequality

$$|\phi(z^n, z)| = |\delta\psi(z^n, z)| = |\psi(z) - \psi(z^{n+1}) + \psi(z^n)| \le R^{n+1} ||\phi||$$

to give

$$\begin{split} \left| \psi(z^{n+1}) \right| &\leq R^{n+1} \|\phi\| + \left| \psi(z) \right| + \left| \psi(z^n) \right| \\ &\leq R^{n+1} \|\phi\| + \left| \psi(z) \right| + R^n \|\phi\| + \left| \psi(z) \right| + \left| \psi(z^{n-1}) \right| \\ & \cdots \\ &\leq \frac{R}{R-1} R^{n+1} \|\phi\| + (n+1) \left| \psi(z) \right| \\ &\leq R^{n+1} \left( \frac{R}{R-1} + \frac{R}{e \log R} \right) \|\phi\| \,. \end{split}$$

which proves that  $\psi$  is bounded and  $\|\psi\| \le \left(\frac{R}{R-1} + \frac{R}{e\log R}\right) \|\phi\|.$ 

The below statement is a new result.

### **Proposition 6.16.** $\mathcal{H}^2\left(\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z},\omega_R\right),\mathbb{C}_1\right)=0.$

*Proof.* We define  $\mathcal{A}_+ = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, \omega_R)$  and  $\mathcal{A}_+ = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_-, \omega_R)$ , therefore  $\mathcal{A} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}, \omega_R) = \mathcal{A}_+ \oplus \mathcal{A}_-$ . We use the Laurent monomials as the basis and use the weight condition  $||z^m|| = R^{|m|}$  on the characteristic functions.

Define  $w_+ = z - 1$  and  $w_- = z^{-1} - 1$ . We have  $-w_+w_- = w_+ + w_-$ . Then the positive and negative powers of z can be expressed in terms of  $w_+$  and  $w_-$  separately. We have shown that  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathcal{A}_+, \mathbb{C}_1) = 0$  in Lemma 6.15 and we can show that  $\mathcal{H}^2(\mathcal{A}_-, \mathbb{C}_1) = 0$  with the same method.

Define  $\psi(1) := \phi(1,1)$  which agrees on both  $\mathcal{A}_+$  and  $\mathcal{A}_-$ . Define  $\psi(w_+^{n+1}) := -\phi(w_+^n, w_+)$  and  $\psi(w_-^{n+1}) := -\phi(w_-^n, w_-)$ . By the inequalities shown at the end of Lemma 6.15,  $\psi$  is bounded on both  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_-$  therefore bounded on all  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Set  $\phi' = \phi - \delta \psi$ . We have  $\phi'(z^a, z^b) = 0$ ,  $\phi'(z^{-a}, z^{-b}) = 0$ ,  $\phi'(w_+^a, w_+^b) = 0$  and  $\phi'(w_-^a, w_-^b) = 0$  for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ .

We will now need to show what conditions  $\phi'(z^a, z^b)$  satisfy when a > 0, b < 0 or a < 0, b > 0. Consider the 2-cocycles equation, for all  $a_1, a_2, a_3 \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \delta\phi'(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2})(z^{a_3}) \\ &= z^{a_1}\phi'(z^{a_2}, z^{a_3}) - \phi'(z^{a_1+a_2}, z^{a_3}) + \phi'(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2+a_3}) - \phi'(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2})z^{a_3} = 0. \end{split} \tag{(\star)}$$

By taking  $a_1 = 1$ ,  $a_2 = -1$  and  $a_3 = 1$ , we have

$$\phi'(z^{-1}, z) - \phi'(1, z) + \phi'(z, 1) - \phi'(z, z^{-1}) = 0.$$

The middle two terms vanish, hence  $\phi'(z^{-1}, z) = \phi'(z, z^{-1})$ .

Suppose  $a \ge 1$ . Taking  $a_1 = -a$ ,  $a_2 = 1$  and  $a_3 = -1$  in Equation (\*), we have

$$\phi'(z^{-a}, z^{-1}) - \phi'(z^{-a+1}, z^{-1}) + \phi'(z^{-a}, 1) - \phi'(z^{-a}, z^{1}) = 0.$$

The middle two terms vanish, hence  $\phi(z^{-a}, z) = \phi'(z, z^{-1})$ .

If  $b \ge j \ge 1$ , then taking  $a_1 = b$ ,  $a_2 = -j$  and  $a_3 = 1$  in Equation (\*), we have

$$\phi'(z^{-j}, z) - \phi'(z^{b-j}, z) + \phi'(z^b, z^{-j+1}) - \phi'(z^b, z^{-j}) = 0.$$

The second term vanishes, hence

$$\phi'(z^b, z^{-j}) - \phi'(z^b, z^{-j+1}) = \phi'(z^{-j}, z) = \phi'(z, z^{-1}) \tag{(\star\star)}$$

For  $b \ge a \ge 1$ , a summation of Equation (\*\*) gives

$$\sum_{j=1}^{a} \left( \phi'(z^{b}, z^{-j}) - \phi'(z^{b}, z^{-j+1}) \right) = \phi'(z^{b}, z^{-a}) - \phi'(z^{b}, 1) = \phi'(z^{b}, z^{-a}) = a\phi'(z, z^{-1}).$$

Similarly, by taking  $a_1 = 1$ ,  $a_2 = -j$  and  $a_3 = b$  and apply the summation as above, we obtain that for all  $b \ge a \ge 1$ ,

$$\phi'(z^{-a}, z^b) = a\phi'(z^{-1}, z) = \phi'(z^b, z^{-a}).$$

We then consider the cases where the signs are alternated. The analysis is by swapping z and  $z^{-1}$  in the previous arguments. For all  $b \le a \le -1$ , we have

$$\phi'(z^b, z^{-a}) = \phi'(z^{-a}, z^b) = a\phi'(z, z^{-1}).$$

Therefore, for any  $m, n \ge 1$ , we have shown that

$$\phi'\left(z^{\pm m}, z^{\mp n}\right) = \min(m, n)\phi'\left(z, z^{-1}\right).$$

Now define  $\psi'(z^a) := \frac{1}{2} |a| \phi'(z, z^{-1})$ , which shows that  $\psi'$  is uniformly bounded by  $\|\phi\|'$ , hence uniformly bounded by  $\|\phi\|$ . For a, b both non-negative or non-positive, we have  $\delta\psi'(z^a, z^b) = 0$  and  $\delta\psi'(z^a, z^{-b}) = \min\{|a|, |b|\}\phi'(z, z^{-1})$ , which proves that  $\phi'' = \phi' - \delta\psi' = \phi - \delta(\psi + \psi') = 0$ , where  $\psi'' = \psi + \psi'$  is uniformly bounded by  $\|\phi\|$ .  $\Box$ 

Theorem 6.17.  $\mathcal{H}^2\left(\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R},\mathbb{C}_1\right)=0.$ 

Proof. We consider the  $S_2$ -invariant subalgebra of  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}, \omega_R)$ . The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  is generated by a single generator  $y_1 = \frac{z+z^{-1}}{2}$  and all variables of the form  $y_m = \frac{z^m+z^{-m}}{2}$  can be written as  $y_m = \sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j} y_1^j$ . Similarly, we set  $w = y_1 - 1$  and define  $\psi(w^{n+1}) := \phi(w^n, w)$  for  $n \ge 0$  and  $\psi(1) = \phi(1, 1)$ . Now we have three sets of elements: the powers of  $\frac{w}{R+1}$ , the powers of  $\frac{y_1}{R}$  and  $\left\{\frac{y_j}{R^j}\right\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ . It is obvious that these three sets have the same span; i.e., each set of elements can be expressed as a linear sum of other set of elements. From Lemma 6.15 we know that  $\phi - \delta \psi$  vanishes on the powers of w. Therefore we need

to check that  $\psi$  is uniformly bounded by  $\|\phi\|$  on this set  $\left\{\frac{y_j}{R^j}\right\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  against their weight. Recall the coefficients of  $a_{m,j}$  from Lemma 4.7 and  $c_{n,k}$  from Lemma 4.9 with q = 1. We compute  $\psi(y_m)$  explicitly from the relations between the variables of  $y_m$ ,  $y_1$  and w as

$$\begin{split} \psi(y_m) &= \psi\left(\sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j}y_1^j\right) \\ &= \psi\left(\sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j}\left(w+1\right)^j\right) \\ &= \psi\left(\sum_{j=0}^m a_{m,j}\left(\sum_{k=0}^j \binom{j}{k}w^k\right)\right) \\ &= \psi\left(\sum_{j=1}^m a_{m,j}\left(\sum_{k=1}^j \binom{j}{k}w^k\right)\right) + \phi(1,1) \\ &= -\sum_{j=1}^m a_{m,j}\left(\sum_{k=1}^j \binom{j}{k}\phi\left(w^{k-1},w\right)\right) + \phi(1,1) \\ &= -\sum_{j=1}^m a_{m,j}\left(\sum_{k=1}^j \binom{j}{k}\phi\left((y_1-1)^{k-1},w\right)\right) + \phi(1,1) \\ &= -\sum_{j=1}^m a_{m,j}\left(\sum_{k=1}^j \binom{j}{k}\phi\left(\sum_{l=1}^{k-1}\binom{k-1}{l}y_1^l(-1)^{k-1-l},w\right)\right) + \phi(1,1) \\ &= -\sum_{j=1}^m a_{m,j}\left(\sum_{k=1}^j \binom{j}{k}\phi\left(\sum_{l=1}^{k-1}\binom{k-1}{l}(-1)^{k-1-l},w\right)\right) + \phi(1,1) \end{split}$$

The numerical computation suggests

$$\psi(y_m) = -\phi\left(2\sum_{p=1}^{m-1} py_{m-p}, y_1 - 1\right) + \left(2m^2 - m + 1\right)\phi(1, 1).$$
(6.3)

This can be proved by induction from the relation

$$\psi(y_{n+1}) = 2\psi(y_n) + 2\psi(y_1) - \psi(y_{n-1}) - 2\phi(y_n, y_1).$$

By Equation (6.3), we calculate the size of  $|\psi(y_m)|$  by

$$\left\|\psi(y_m)\right\| \le \left(\sum_{p=1}^{m-1} 2(R+1)pR^{m-p} + \left(2m^2 - m + 1\right)\right) \|\phi\|$$

The first term is bounded by  $\frac{2R(R+1)}{(R-1)^2} ||y_m||$  and the second term is bounded by  $\frac{8R^{-\frac{2}{\log R}}}{(\log R)^2} ||y_m||$ . Hence for all weight conditions  $\omega_R$  where R > 1, the  $\psi$  function is well defined.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 6.18.** An *n*-cochain  $\phi \in C^n(\mathcal{A})$  is cyclic if

$$\phi(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}) = (-1)^n (a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}, a_0)$$

for all  $a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1} \in \mathcal{A}$ .

A bounded 2-linear map  $\phi$  from  $\mathcal{A}^2$  to the dual module  $\mathcal{A}'$  is cyclic if for all  $a_1, a_2, a_0 \in \mathcal{A}$ , we have

$$\phi(a_1, a_2)(a_0) = \phi(a_0, a_1)(a_2) = \phi(a_2, a_0)(a_1)$$

The cyclic map  $\phi$  is a cyclic 2-cocycle if  $\delta \phi = 0$ .

A bounded linear map  $\psi$  from  $\mathcal{A}$  to the dual module  $\mathcal{A}'$  is cyclic or antisymmetric if for all  $a_1, a_0 \in \mathcal{A}$ , we have

$$\psi\left(a_{1}\right)\left(a_{0}\right) = -\psi\left(a_{0}\right)\left(a_{1}\right).$$

The map  $\delta \psi$  is a cyclic 2-coboundary if  $\delta \psi(a_1, a_2)(a_0) = \psi(a_1)(a_2a_0) - \psi(a_1a_2)(a_0) + \psi(a_2)(a_0a_1)$ . We denote the linear space of the cyclic 2-cocycles by  $\mathcal{ZC}^2(\mathcal{A})$  and the linear space of the 2-coboundaries by  $\mathcal{BC}^2(\mathcal{A})$ . The cyclic cohomology group  $\mathcal{HC}^2(\mathcal{A})$  is defined by the quotient

$$\mathcal{HC}^{2}\left(\mathcal{A}
ight)=rac{\mathcal{ZC}^{2}\left(\mathcal{A}
ight)}{\mathcal{BC}^{2}\left(\mathcal{A}
ight)}.$$

Lemma 6.19.  $\mathcal{HC}^{2}\left(\ell^{1}\left(\mathbb{Z}_{+},\omega_{R}\right)\right)\simeq\mathbb{C}^{1}.$ 

*Proof.* Consider the algebra  $\mathcal{A} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, \omega_R)$ . The dual module is defined to be  $z^{a_1}\phi(z^{a_2}, z^{a_3}) = \phi(z^{a_2}, z^{a_3})(z^{a_0}z^{a_1})$ . The 2-cocycles equation is given by

$$\begin{split} \delta\phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2}, z^{a_3})(z^{a_0}) &= \phi(z^{a_2}, z^{a_3})(z^{a_0+a_1}) - \phi(z^{a_1+a_2}, z^{a_3})(z^{a_0}) \\ &+ \phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2+a_3})(z^{a_0}) - \phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2})(z^{a_3+a_0}) \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

For a + b > 0, we define

$$\psi(z^{a})(z^{b}) = \frac{1}{a+b} \left( \sum_{i=1}^{a} \phi(z^{i}, z^{a-i})(z^{b}) - \sum_{j=1}^{b} \phi(z^{a}, z^{j})(z^{b-j}) \right),$$

where a summation term is zero if a = 0 or b = 0. Given a bounded  $\phi$ , we have

$$\left|\psi(z^{a})(z^{b})\right| \leq \frac{1}{a+b} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{a} \|\phi\| R^{i+a-i+b} + \sum_{j=1}^{b} \|\phi\| R^{a+j+b-j}\right) = \|\phi\| R^{a+b}, \tag{6.4}$$

which shows that  $|\psi(z^a)(z^b)|$  is bounded by  $||\phi||$  against the weight of  $(z^a)(z^b)$ . We expand the 2-coboundary equation  $\delta\psi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2})(z^{a_3})$  from the  $\psi$  defined above and obtain that  $\delta\psi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2})(z^{a_3}) = -\phi(z^{a_1}, z^{a_2})(z^{a_3})$ . The only function which cannot be cobounded is the function  $\phi(1, 1)(1)$  supported by the triple  $(z^0, z^0, z^0)$  as  $\delta(1, 1)(1) = \psi(1)(1) = 0$ . Therefore we have  $\mathcal{HC}^2(l^1(\mathbb{Z}_+, \omega_R)) \simeq \mathbb{C}^1$ .

We will now move to the invariant subalgebra and show that the second cyclic cohomology group is also one-dimensional.

**Theorem 6.20.** For  $R > \sqrt{2}$ ,  $\mathcal{HC}^2(\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}) \simeq \mathbb{C}^1$ .

*Proof.* The only term we cannot cobound is  $\phi(1,1)(1)$ . Given  $\phi \in \mathcal{ZC}^2(\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R})$ , we will find bounded  $\psi(y_{m_1})(y_{m_2})$  for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  such that  $\delta \psi = \phi$ .

As the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  is generated by a single generator  $y_1$ , it is possible to apply the similar construction of  $\psi$  in the proof of  $\mathcal{HC}^2(l^1(\mathbb{Z}_+,\omega_R))$  in Lemma 6.19 to define  $\psi(y_1^a)(y_1^b)$  as

$$\psi\left(y_{1}^{a}\right)\left(y_{1}^{b}\right) = -\left(\sum_{i=1}^{a}\phi\left(y_{1}^{i}, y_{1}^{a-i}\right)\left(y_{1}^{b}\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{b}\phi\left(y_{1}^{a}, y_{1}^{j}\right)\left(y_{1}^{b-j}\right)\right).$$

Therefore  $\psi(y_{m_1})(y_{m_2})$  can be expressed as a linear combination as

$$\psi(y_{m_1})(y_{m_2}) = \sum_{j_1=0}^{m_1} \sum_{j_2=0}^{m_2} a_{m_1,j_1} a_{m_2,j_2} \psi(y_1^{j_1})(y_1^{j_2}).$$

This construction makes  $\psi$  antisymmetric and  $\delta \psi = \phi$ . We will now show that  $\psi$  is bounded.

First, we consider  $\delta \psi(y_0, y_0)(y_n)$ . This gives us  $\psi(y_0)(y_n) = \phi(y_0, y_0)(y_n)$ . The norm estimate is straightforward to show that  $|\psi(y_0)(y_n)| = |\phi(y_0, y_0)(y_n)| \le R^n ||\phi||$ . By the antisymmetry property, we have  $\psi(y_a)(y_a) = 0$ .

Then we consider the first example that needs conversion into powers of  $y_1$ ,  $\psi(y_1)(y_2)$ . The expansion gives

$$\begin{split} \psi\left(y_{1}\right)\left(y_{2}\right) &= \psi\left(y_{1}\right)\left(2y_{1}^{2} - y_{0}\right) \\ &= 2\psi\left(y_{1}\right)\left(y_{1}^{2}\right) - \psi\left(y_{1}\right)\left(y_{0}\right) \\ &= -\frac{2}{3}\left(\phi\left(y_{1}, y_{0}\right)\left(y_{1}^{2}\right) - \phi\left(y_{1}, y_{1}\right)\left(y_{1}\right) - \phi\left(y_{1}, y_{1}^{2}\right)\left(y_{0}\right)\right) + \phi\left(y_{0}, y_{0}\right)\left(y_{1}\right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{3}\phi\left(y_{1}, y_{0}\right)\left(y_{2}\right) + \frac{1}{3}\phi\left(y_{1}, y_{2}\right)\left(y_{0}\right) + \frac{2}{3}\phi\left(y_{1}, y_{1}\right)\left(y_{1}\right) + \phi\left(y_{1}, y_{1}\right)\left(y_{1}\right), \end{split}$$

which shows that  $|\psi(y_1)(y_2)| \leq 2R^3 ||\phi||$ .

We will prove by induction that all  $|\psi(y_{m_1})(y_{m_2})|$  are bounded by  $R^{m_1+m_2} ||\phi|| \frac{2R^2+1}{R^2-2}$ . Let  $K_N = \max\{|\psi(y_{m_1})(y_{m_2}): m_1 + m_2 \leq N\}$ . By our previous remarks,  $K_2 \leq R^2 ||\phi||$ and  $K_3 \leq 2R^3 ||\phi||$ .

We have verified the cases of  $m_1 + m_2 \leq 3$ ,  $m_1$  or  $m_2 = 0$ , and  $m_1 = m_2$ . By the antisymmetry property, we are now left to check the cases where  $1 \leq m_1 < \frac{m_1 + m_2}{2}$ .

Let  $N = m_1 + m_2$ , and choose a such that

$$|\psi(y_a)(y_{N-a})| := \max\left\{ |\psi(y_i)(y_{N-i})| : 1 \le i \le \frac{N-1}{2} \right\}.$$

This set is nonempty as  $|\psi(y_1)(y_{N-1})|$  is in the set. We have

$$\delta\psi(y_a, y_a)(y_{N-2a}) = 2\psi(y_a)(y_a y_{N-2a}) - \psi(y_a y_a)(y_{N-2a}) = \phi(y_a, y_a)(y_{N-2a}),$$

which simplifies to

$$2\psi(y_a)(y_{N-a}) - \psi(y_{2a})(y_{N-2a}) = 2\psi(y_a)\left(y_{|N-3a|}\right) - \psi(y_0)(y_{N-2a}) + 2\phi(y_a, y_a)(y_{N-2a}).$$

As  $\psi(y_a)(y_{N-a})$  is chosen to be the function which has the largest norm of all  $\psi(y_{m_1})(y_{m_2})$  such that  $m_1 + m_2 = N$ , we have  $|\psi(y_{2a})(y_{N-2a})| \le |\psi(y_a)(y_{N-a})|$ . Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \psi \left( y_{a} \right) \left( y_{N-a} \right) \right| &\leq \left| 2\psi \left( y_{a} \right) \left( y_{N-a} \right) - \psi \left( y_{a} \right) \left( y_{N-a} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \left| 2\psi \left( y_{a} \right) \left( y_{N-a} \right) - \psi \left( y_{2a} \right) \left( y_{N-2a} \right) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

And we use the setting that a is a positive integer and strictly less than  $\frac{N}{2}$  to have  $a \leq \frac{N-1}{2}$ and  $a + |N - 3a| \leq N - 2$ , which shows that  $\left| \psi(y_a) \left( y_{|N-3a|} \right) \right| \leq K_{N-2}$ . The inequalities give

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \psi \left( y_a \right) \left( y_{N-a} \right) \right| &\leq \left| 2\psi \left( y_a \right) \left( y_{N-a} \right) - \psi \left( y_{2a} \right) \left( y_{N-2a} \right) \right| \\ &\leq 2 \left| \psi \left( y_a \right) \left( y_{N-3a} \right) \right| + \left| \psi \left( y_0 \right) \left( y_{N-2a} \right) \right| + 2 \left| \phi \left( y_a, y_a \right) \left( y_{N-2a} \right) \right| \\ &\leq 2 \left| \psi \left( y_a \right) \left( y_{N-3a} \right) \right| + \left| \phi \left( y_0, y_0 \right) \left( y_{N-2a} \right) \right| + 2 \left| \phi \left( y_a, y_a \right) \left( y_{N-2a} \right) \right| \\ &\leq 2 K_{N-2} + R^{N-2} \| \phi \| + 2R^N \| \phi \| . \end{aligned}$$

Using the inductive hypothesis for  $K_{N-2}$ , we obtain that

$$K_N \le R^{N-2} \|\phi\| \left( \frac{2(1+2R^2)}{R^2-2} + 1 + 2R^2 \right) \le R^N \|\phi\| \frac{2R^2+1}{R^2-2}$$

which shows that  $\psi$  is indeed bounded for  $R > \sqrt{2}$ .

#### 6.3.2 Simplicial and cyclic cohomology of algebras on $\mathbb{Z}_+$

In this section, we study higher simplicial and cyclic cohomology groups of some singly generated algebras. We first consider the algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  and the higher simplicial and cyclic cohomology groups  $\mathcal{HH}^n(\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+))$  and  $\mathcal{HC}^n(\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+))$ . We present the method introduced in [20] with an explicit construction of cobounding in the algebra  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$ . The aim is to apply a similar method to the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  with the weighted  $\omega_R$  norm. We use a finite induction method to find an explicit construction of the coboundaries for the higher simplicial and cyclic cohomology groups. We use a setting of similar notations in [44], [33], [34] and [32] to define the cohomology groups.

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Banach algebra and the dual  $\mathcal{A}'$  be an  $\mathcal{A}$ -bimodule. Let the *n*-cochain  $\phi$  be a bounded *n*-linear map from  $\mathcal{A}^n$  to  $\mathcal{A}'$ , denoted by  $\phi \in C^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$ .

**Definition 6.21.** The n-cochain  $\phi$  is cyclic if we have

$$\phi(w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n)(w_0) = (-1)^n \phi(w_0, w_1, \dots, w_{n-1})(w_n).$$

**Definition 6.22.** We define a map  $\delta : C^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}') \longrightarrow C^{n+1}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$  as

$$\delta^{n}\phi(w_{1}, w_{2}, \dots, w_{n+1})(w_{0}) = \phi(w_{2}, \dots, w_{n+1})(w_{0}w_{1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} (-1)^{j}\phi(w_{1}, w_{2}, \dots, w_{j}w_{j+1}, w_{n+1})(w_{0}) + (-1)^{n+1}\phi(w_{1}, \dots, w_{n})(w_{n+1}w_{0}).$$

**Definition 6.23.** The *n*-cochain  $\phi$  is an *n*-cocycle if  $\delta \phi = 0$ .

**Definition 6.24.** The *n*-cochain  $\phi$  is an *n*-coboundary if there exists  $\psi \in C^{n-1}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$ such that  $\phi = \delta^{n-1}\psi$ .

**Definition 6.25.** The n-cochain  $\phi$  is a cyclic n-coboundary if there exists cyclic  $\psi \in C^{n-1}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$  such that  $\phi = \delta^{n-1}\psi$ .

We denote the linear space of all *n*-cocycles by  $\mathcal{Z}^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$  and the linear space of all *n*-coboundaries by  $\mathcal{B}^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$ . We use the fact that  $\mathcal{B}^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$  is a subset of  $\mathcal{Z}^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$ . The *n*-th simplicial cohomology group is defined by the quotient

$$\mathcal{H}\mathcal{H}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A}\right)=\mathcal{H}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}'\right)=\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}'\right)}{\mathcal{B}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}'\right)}$$

We denote the linear space of all cyclic *n*-cocycles by  $\mathcal{ZC}^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$  and the linear space of all cyclic *n*-coboundaries by  $\mathcal{BC}^n(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}')$ . The *n*-th cyclic cohomology group is defined by the quotient

$$\mathcal{HC}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A}
ight)=rac{\mathcal{ZC}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}'
ight)}{\mathcal{BC}^{n}\left(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}'
ight)}.$$

For  $w = w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_n \otimes w_0 \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}$ , we write  $\phi(w)$  as the *n*-cochain  $\phi(w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_n)(w_0)$ .

We start with a discussion on the pre-dual of the algebra  $A_+$ . We consider the algebra  $A_+ = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  where the characteristic functions at all nonnegative integers  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  are given by the monomials  $z^m$ . The algebra  $A_+$  is singly generated by z. First we consider the subalgebra of polynomials with finite sums of powers  $\tilde{A}_+$  and then extend to the Banach algebra  $A_+$ .

**Definition 6.26.** Define single-variable-splitting map  $\tilde{s} : \tilde{A}_+ \longrightarrow \tilde{A}_+ \otimes \tilde{A}_+$  as  $\tilde{s}(z^n) = \sum_{i=1}^n z^{a-i} \otimes z^i$  for n > 0 and  $\tilde{s}(1) = 0$ .

**Definition 6.27.** Define the product map  $\pi : \tilde{A}_+ \otimes \tilde{A}_+ \longrightarrow \tilde{A}_+$  as  $\pi \left( z^a \otimes z^b \right) = z^a z^b = z^{a+b}$ .

Note that  $\frac{1}{n}(\pi \tilde{s})(z^n) = z^n$ , which is the identity map of the monomial  $z^n$  for n > 0.

We consider an elementary tensor product  $w = z^{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_j} \otimes z^{a_{j+1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_{n+1}} \otimes z^{a_0}$ for the algebra  $\tilde{A}_+$ . We always assume that  $n \ge 1$ . Let  $N = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} a_k$  be the total degree of w.

**Definition 6.28.** Define the face maps  $d_i^n : \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{A}_+ \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{A}_+$  as

$$d_j^n(w) = (-1)^j z^{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_j} z^{a_{j+1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_{n+1}} \otimes z^{a_0} \text{ for } 1 \le j \le n+1.$$

**Definition 6.29.** Define the wrap around pinching map  $d_0^n : \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{A}_+ \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{A}_+$  as

$$d_0^n\left(w\right) = z^{a_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_{n+1}} \otimes z^{a_0} z^{a_1}$$

**Definition 6.30.** Define the splitting map  $s_k^n := \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{A}_+ \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{A}_+$  on the k-th variable of an elementary tensor product w as

$$s_k^n(w) = \frac{(-1)^j}{N} z^{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{s}(z^{a_k}) \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_{n+1}} \otimes z^{a_0} \text{ for } 1 \le k \le n+1.$$

Let  $w = w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_n \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}$  be a tensor product of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ . Let the cyclic equivalence relation be generated by the map  $t : \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}$  be defined as

$$t(w) = (-1)^n w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{n+1} \otimes w_1.$$

**Definition 6.31.** The cyclic equivalence class  $\mathcal{CC}_n(\mathcal{A})$  is a subspace of  $\bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}$  generated by the cyclic equivalence relation as  $\mathcal{CC}_n(\mathcal{A}) := \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}/\langle w - t(w) \rangle \subset \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}$ .

Set  $d^n = \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} d_j^n$  and  $s^n = \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} s_k^n$ . Sometimes we write d and s as the abbreviation of  $d^n$  and  $s^n$ .

**Lemma 6.32.** The proof is stated in [20]. For  $w \in CC_n(\tilde{A}_+)$ , we have

$$\left(s^{n-1}d^{n-1} + d^n s^n\right)(w) = w.$$

*Proof.* We expand  $(s^{n-1}d^{n-1} + s^nd^n)(w)$  and obtain the cancellations as the following terms:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} d_k^n s_k^n(w) = w, \\ &s_k^{n-1} d_j^{n-1} + d_j^n s_{k+1}^n = 0, \text{ for } 1 \leq j < k \leq n, \\ &s_k^{n-1} d_j^{n-1} + d_{j+1}^n s_k^n = 0, \text{ for } 1 \leq k < j \leq n, \\ &s_k^{n-1} d_0^{n-1} + d_0^n s_{k+1}^n = 0, \text{ for } 1 \leq k \leq n-1, \\ &s_k^{n-1} d_k^{n-1} + d_{k+1}^n s_k^n + d_k^n s_{k+1}^n = 0, \text{ for } 1 \leq k \leq n \\ &s_n^{n-1} d_0^{n-1} + d_0^n s_{n+1}^n + d_0^n s_1^n \equiv 0, \end{split}$$

which shows that

$$\left(s^{n-1}d^{n-1} + d^n s^n\right)(w) = \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} d_k^n s_k^n(w) = w.$$

**Definition 6.33.** Let  $w = z^{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes z^{a_{n+1}}$  be an elementary product in  $\bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{A}_+$ . We define another split map  $s_0^n := \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{A}_+ \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{A}_+$  on an elementary tensor product

w as

$$s_0^n(w) = \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{a_1} \left( z^{a_1-i} \otimes \dots \otimes z^{a_{n+1}+i} \otimes z^0 \right)$$

for  $a_1 \neq 0$ . And  $s_0^n(w) = 0$  if  $a_1 = 0$ .

Set  $s'^n = s^n + s_0^n$ .

**Lemma 6.34.** For  $w \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{A}_+$ , we have

$$(s'^{n-1}d^{n-1} + d^n s'^n)(w) = w.$$

*Proof.* We consider the additional terms apart from the terms in Lemma 6.32. The additional terms cancel as follows:

$$s_0d_j + d_js_0 = 0, \text{ for } 2 \le j \le n - 1,$$
  

$$d_0s_1 + d_{n+1}s_0 = 0,$$
  

$$s_nd_0 + d_0s_{n+1} + d_0s_0 = 0,$$
  

$$s_0d_0 + s_0d_1 + d_1s_0 = 0.$$

Hence we have  $(s'^{n-1}d^{n-1} + d^n s'^n)(w) = w.$ 

**Remark 6.35.** Note that the maps  $d_j$ ,  $s_k$ ,  $\sum_{j=0}^n d_j$  and  $\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} s_k$  are all continuous on the tensor product of algebra of finite sums of powers of z and the space is dense. The splitting maps are all bounded because of the averaging factor  $\frac{1}{N}$  in the coefficient. Therefore we can apply the same setting to the Banach algebra of infinite sums of powers  $A_+$ .

The two theorems below are presented in [20].

**Theorem 6.36.** Let n be a positive integer greater than 1. We have

- 1.  $\mathcal{HC}^n(A_+) \simeq \mathbb{C}^1$  if n is even.
- 2.  $\mathcal{HC}^n(A_+) \simeq 0$  if n is odd.

*Proof.* Let  $\phi(w)$  be a cyclic *n*-cycle. We consider the function  $\phi$  where  $\phi(z^0, \ldots, z^0)(z^0) = 1$  and 0 elsewhere. If *n* is even and the function  $\psi$  cobounds  $\phi$ , then we have  $\phi = \delta \psi$ . As  $\psi(z^0, \ldots, z^0)(z^0) = 0$  and  $\delta \psi(z^0, \ldots, z^0)(z^0) = 0$ , the function  $\phi$  cannot be cobounded. If *n* is odd, we have  $\phi(z^0, \ldots, z^0)(z^0) = 0$ .

Recall the operator s and d on the predual of the tensor products. Set  $\psi(w) = \phi(s(w))$ . The dual of s on the function  $\psi$  is given by  $s^*\psi(w) = \phi(w)$ .

We apply the identity map (sd + ds) on w in Lemma 6.32 and obtain that

$$\phi\left(\left(sd+ds\right)w\right) = \delta s^*\phi(w) + s^*\delta\phi(w) = \delta\psi(w).$$

**Theorem 6.37.** Let n be a positive integer greater than 1. We have  $\mathcal{HH}^n(A_+) \simeq 0$ .

Proof. Let  $\phi(w)$  be an *n*-cocycle and  $\psi$  be an (n-1)-cochain. If *n* is odd,  $\delta\phi(1,\ldots,1)(1) = \phi(1,\ldots,1)(1) = 0$ . If *n* is even, set  $\psi(1,\ldots,1)(1) = \phi(1,\ldots,1)(1)$ . In general, we set  $\psi = s'^* \phi$ . We apply the identity map (s'd + ds') on *w* in Lemma 6.34 and obtain that

$$\phi\left(\left(s'd+ds'\right)w\right) = \delta s'^*\phi(w) + s'^*\delta\phi(w) = \delta\psi(w).$$

We now move to the invariant subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  with a single generator  $y_1$  and the characteristic functions on  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  multiply as  $y_a y_b = \frac{1}{2} \left( y_{a+b} + y_{|a-b|} \right)$ . We consider the algebra of weighted polynomials  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  given by the finite powers of  $y_1$  with the same multiplication rule to  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$ .

**Definition 6.38.** For  $w = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \alpha_j y_j \in \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$ , the degree of w, deg(w) is defined to be the largest j where  $\alpha_j \neq 0$ .

The algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  can be extended from  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  given by the infinite sums of powers of  $y_1$ . Define the map  $\tilde{s} : \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \otimes \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  as

$$\tilde{s}(y_n) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} y_{n-i} \otimes y_i + y_0 \otimes y_n \tag{6.5}$$

for  $n \ge 2$ . We also define  $\tilde{s}(y_1) = y_0 \otimes y_1$  and  $\tilde{s}(y_0) = 0$ . We define the same product map  $\pi$  as in the algebra  $A_+$  where  $\pi(y_a \otimes y_b) = y_a y_b$ . Note that the map  $\pi \tilde{s}$  on the algebra  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  has got a similar form to the map on  $A_+$  as

 $\pi \tilde{s}(y_n) = ny_n + (\text{terms with degree strictly less than } n).$ 

We can check that the lower terms in this expansion are uniformly bounded against the weight of  $y_n$ .

Given an elementary tensor product  $w = y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_j} \otimes y_{a_{j+1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}} \otimes y_{a_0}$ , we define the pinching and splitting maps similarly to the maps on the tensor product of  $A_+$ . **Definition 6.39.** Define the face maps  $d_j^n : \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  as

$$d_j^n(w) = (-1)^j y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_j} y_{a_{j+1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}} \otimes y_{a_0} \text{ for } 1 \le j \le n+1.$$

**Definition 6.40.** Define the wrap around pinching map  $d_0^n : \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$ as

$$d_0^n\left(w\right) = y_{a_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}} \otimes y_{a_0} y_{a_1}$$

**Definition 6.41.** Define the splitting map  $s_k^n := \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  on the *k*-th variable of a non-trivial elementary tensor product *w* as

$$s_k^n(w) = \frac{(-1)^j}{N} y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{s}(y_{a_k}) \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}} \otimes y_{a_0} \text{ for } 1 \le j \le n+1,$$

where  $N = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k > 0$  is the called the degree of w.

For  $n \geq 2$ , set  $d^n = \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} d_j^n$  and  $s^n = \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} s_k^n$ . We will show that the map  $(s^{n-1}d^{n-1} + s^nd^n)$ , abbreviated as sd + ds, is an approximation of the identity map; i.e., an identity map plus an error term with small norm.

Consider a tensor product  $W = W_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes W_{n+1} \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  where  $W_j \in \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  for  $j = 1, \ldots n + 1$ . Define the map  $t : \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  to be

$$t(W) = (-1)^n W_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes W_{n+1} \otimes W_1.$$

Define the cyclic equivalence class  $\mathcal{CC}_n\left(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}\right) = \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}/\langle W - t(W) \rangle \subseteq \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  to be the subspace which is generated by the cyclic equivalence relation.

**Lemma 6.42.** Let  $w = y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_j} \otimes y_{a_{j+1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}}$  be an elementary tensor product in the cyclic equivalence class  $\mathcal{CC}_n(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R})$  with degree  $N \geq 2$ . Then (sd + ds - 1)(w)has degree at most N - 2.

*Proof.* We expand  $(s^{n-1}d^{n-1} + d^ns^n)$  as

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{j=0}^{n} s_k^{n-1} d_j^{n-1} + \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} d_j^n s_k^n$$

and consider the following different types of terms.

$$\begin{split} \text{Type } 1 &: d_k^n s_k^n, \text{ for } 1 \leq k \leq n+1, \\ \text{Type } 2 &: s_k^{n-1} d_j^{n-1} + d_j^n s_{k+1}^n, \text{ for } 1 \leq j < k \leq n, \\ \text{Type } 3 &: s_k^{n-1} d_j^{n-1} + d_{j+1}^n s_k^n, \text{ for } 1 \leq k < j \leq n, \\ \text{Type } 4 &: s_k^{n-1} d_0^{n-1} + d_0^n s_{k+1}^n, \text{ for } 1 \leq k \leq n-1, \\ \text{Type } 5 &: s_k^{n-1} d_k^{n-1} + d_{k+1}^n s_k^n + d_k^n s_{k+1}^n, \text{ for } 1 \leq k \leq n \\ \text{Type } 6 &: s_n^{n-1} d_0^{n-1} + d_0^n s_{n+1}^n + d_0^n s_1^n. \end{split}$$

For the elementary tensor product  $w = y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_j} \otimes y_{a_{j+1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}}$ , we have

Type 1: for 
$$1 \le k \le n+1$$
,  $d_k^n s_k^n(w)$   

$$= \frac{1}{N} y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \left( a_k y_{a_k} + \sum_{i=1}^{a_k-1} y_{|a_k-2i|} \right) \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}}$$

$$= \frac{a_k}{N} w + \text{terms with degree at most } N-2;$$

Type 2: for 
$$1 \le j < k \le n$$
,  $\left(s_k^{n-1}d_j^{n-1} + d_j^n s_{k+1}^n\right)(w) =$   
 $(-1)^{j+k}\left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_j, a_{j+1}\}}\right)y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{|a_j-a_{j+1}|} \cdots \otimes \tilde{s}\left(y_{a_k}\right) \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}};$ 

Type 3: for 
$$1 \le j < k \le n$$
,  $\left(s_k^{n-1}d_j^{n-1} + d_j^n s_{k+1}^n\right)(w) = (-1)^{j+k} \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_j, a_{j+1}\}}\right) y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{s}(y_{a_k}) \cdots \otimes y_{|a_j - a_{j+1}|} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}};$ 

Type 4: for 
$$1 \le k \le n-1$$
,  $\left(s_k^{n-1}d_0^{n-1} + d_0^n s_{k+1}^n\right)(w) =$   
 $(-1)^k \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_0, a_{n+1}\}}\right) y_{a_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{s}(y_{a_k}) \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes y_{|a_0-a_{n+1}|};$ 

Type 5: for 
$$1 \le k \le n$$
,  $\left(s_k^{n-1}d_k^{n-1} + d_{k+1}^n s_k^n + d_k^n s_{k+1}^n\right)(w) =$   
 $(-1)^k \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_k, a_{k+1}\}}\right) y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{s}\left(y_{|a_k-a_{k-1}|}\right) \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}}$ 

Finally, we have

Type 6: 
$$\left(s_{n}^{n-1}d_{0}^{n-1}+d_{0}^{n}s_{n+1}^{n}+d_{0}^{n}s_{1}^{n}\right)(w)$$
  

$$\equiv \left(\frac{1}{N}-\frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_{1},a_{n+1}\}}\right)y_{a_{2}}\otimes\cdots\otimes y_{a_{n}}\otimes\tilde{s}\left(y_{|a_{1}-a_{n-1}|}\right),$$

which consists of terms of degree at most N-2 under the cyclic equivalence relation.

We rename the terms of degree less than N as the *error terms*. The sum of the type  $d_k s_k$  terms in the summation is precisely w plus error terms which have degree at most N-2. All the other types of terms in the summation have degree at most N-2; i.e., these are all error terms. We will then estimate the size of the error terms.

Set  $w_0 = w$  and  $w_j = (sd + ds - 1)^j (w)$ .

**Corollary 6.43.** For all  $j \ge \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor + 1$ , we have  $w_j = 0$ .

Proof. As  $w_{j+1} = (sd + ds - 1) (w_j)$ , we can see that the highest possible degree of  $w_{j+1}$ is always 2 less than the highest possible degree of  $w_j$ , otherwise 0. Therefore  $w_j = (sd + ds - 1)^j (w)$  has degree at most N - 2j for  $j \leq \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor$ . After apply the (sd + ds - 1)map  $\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor$  times on the original w, the result will have degree 0.

As the norm of  $w_1$  may be greater than the norm of w, we seek an alternative way to estimate the error terms in the inductive process of the map (sd + ds - 1).

**Lemma 6.44.** Given the weight condition  $\omega_R$ , for all R > 1, there exists a positive integer  $N_0$  and a constant  $C_{N_0}$  such that  $\|(sd + ds - 1)(w)\|$  is bounded by  $C_{N_0}\|w\|$  if  $N < N_0$  or bounded by  $\frac{1}{2}\|w\|$  if  $N \ge N_0$ .

*Proof.* For large N, consider different types of error terms in the expansion of  $(sd + ds - 1)(y_N)$  from Lemma 6.42. The norm of Type 1 error terms are estimated by the summation  $\left\|\sum_{i=1}^{a_k-1} y_{|a_k-2i|}\right\|$  with other fixed coefficients, which is a geometric progression. If  $a_j = 0$ , then we get value zero for the coefficient  $\left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_j,a_{j+1}\}}\right)$  in the Type 2, 3, 4 or 5 expansion. The norm of Type 2, 3, 4 and 5 error terms are estimated to  $\frac{1}{N}R^{-2a_j}\|w_0\|$  or  $\frac{1}{N}R^{-2a_{j+1}}\|w_0\|$ , which is bounded by  $\frac{4}{NR^2}$ . We compute the size of the first error terms  $w_1$  by adding up all types of error terms to obtain that

$$||w_1|| = ||(sd + ds - 1)(w)|| \le \left(\frac{4(n+1)^2}{N(R^2 - 1)} + \frac{4n^2}{NR^2}\right)||w_0||.$$

We will later pick a positive integer  $N_0$  and for the degree of w where  $N \ge N_0$  and define

$$w_1 = w_{1,\text{high}} + w_{1,\text{low},0}.$$

For  $N < N_0$ , we write

$$w_1 = w_{1,\text{low},0},$$

where  $w_{1,\text{high}}$  consists of terms with degree at least  $N_0$  of  $w_1$  and  $w_{1,\text{low},0}$  consists of terms with degree less than  $N_0$  of  $w_1$  and  $w_{1,\text{low},0}$ .

When  $N \ge N_0$ , we can compute the size of the two sets of error terms as

$$\|w_{1,\text{high}}\| \leq \frac{4(n+1)^2 R^N}{N(R^2-1)} + \frac{4n^2 R^N}{NR^2}, \\ \|w_{1,\text{low},0}\| \leq \frac{4(n+1)^2 R^{N_0}}{N(R^2-1)} + \frac{4n^2 R^{N_0}}{NR^2}.$$
Fix  $N_0 = \frac{16(n+1)^2}{(R^2-1)}$ . Then for all  $N \ge N_0$ , we have  $||w_1|| \le \frac{1}{2} ||w_0||$ , which indicates both  $||w_{1,\text{high}}||$  and  $||w_{1,\text{low},0}||$  bounded by  $\frac{1}{2} ||w_0||$ .

When  $N < N_0$ , we have

$$||w_{1,\text{low},0}|| = ||w_1|| \le \frac{8(n+1)^2}{R^2 - 1} ||w_0|| = C_{N_0} ||w_0||.$$

For  $N \ge N_0$ , we write  $w_0 = w_{0,\text{high}}$ . Then (sd + ds - 1)(w) may consist of terms of degree both greater or less than  $N_0$ , i.e.  $w_1 = w_1 = w_{1,\text{high}} + w_{1,\text{low},0}$ . We define

$$(sd + ds - 1)(w_{j,\text{high}}) = w_{j+1,\text{high}} + w_{j+1,\text{low},0}$$

and

$$(sd + ds - 1) w_{j,\text{low},k} = w_{j,\text{low},k+1},$$

where the high and low in the subscripts indicate the terms with large and small degree. Every specified error term is precisely obtained from a unique previous error term. Therefore there does not exist any interactions between the error terms with large and small degree during the computation of the powers of (sd + ds - 1) and we use the diagram below to show the relation as



where the vertical arrows indicate the the large error terms and the horizontal arrows indicate the small error terms when applying the (sd + ds - 1) map. The vertical arrows only come out from the large error terms therefore the arrows don't cross. This setting implies that

$$w_j = w_{j,\text{high}} + \sum_{k=0}^{j} w_{j-k,\text{low},k}.$$

We have a norm control of the error terms as

$$\begin{aligned} \|w_{j+1,\text{low},0}\| &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|w_{j,\text{high}}\| \\ \|w_{j+1,\text{high}}\| &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|w_{j,\text{high}}\| \\ \|w_{j,\text{low},k+1}\| &\leq C_{N_0} \|w_{j,\text{low},k}\| \end{aligned}$$

for all  $j, k \ge 0$ . From the degree-decreasing lemma above, we also have  $\frac{1}{2} \|w_{j,\text{high}}\| = 0$  for all  $j \ge \lfloor \frac{N-N_0}{2} \rfloor$  and  $\|w_{j,\text{low},k}\| = 0$  for all  $k \ge \lfloor \frac{N_0}{2} \rfloor$ .

To compute the norm of all error terms precisely, we have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-N_0}{2} \rfloor} \left\| w_{j,\text{high}} \right\| \le \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N-N_0}{2} \rfloor} 2^{-j} \|w\| \le \|w\|$$

and

$$\sum_{k}^{\lfloor \frac{N_0}{2} \rfloor} \left\| w_{j+1, \text{low}, k+1} \right\| \leq \sum_{k}^{\lfloor \frac{N_0}{2} \rfloor} C_{N_0}^k \left\| w_j \right\|$$
$$\leq C_{\text{low}} \left\| w_j \right\|.$$

For  $N < N_0$ , we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} \left\| w_{1,\text{low},k} \right\| \le C_{N_0} \|w\|.$$

As in Remark 6.35, we extend the setting of s and d maps to the Banach algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}$  and compute the simplicial and cyclic cohomology groups with a verification of the boundedness to the coboundaries. We apply the same argument to the *n*-cocycle  $\phi(1,\ldots,1)(1)$  in Theorem 6.36 and Theorem 6.37 to check whether the function supported by terms with zero degree can be cobounded.

**Theorem 6.45.** Let n be a positive integer greater than 1. We have

- 1.  $\mathcal{HC}^n(\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R})\simeq \mathbb{C}^1$  if *n* is even.
- 2.  $\mathcal{HC}^n(\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}) \simeq 0$  if n is odd.

*Proof.* As  $\phi$  is cyclic, we cannot cobound  $\phi(y_0, \ldots, y_0)(y_0)$  and its scalar multiples when n is even. When n is odd, we have  $\phi(y_0, \ldots, y_0)(y_0) = 0$ . Given a bounded function in

the cyclic *n*-cocylce  $\phi \in \mathcal{ZC}^n(\mathcal{A}_{\omega_R})$  where the total degree of the monomials in  $\phi$  are not zero, we shall construct a bounded cyclic function  $\psi$  such that  $\delta \psi = \phi$ .

We write  $\phi(w) = \phi(y_{a_1}, \ldots, y_{a_n})(y_{a_{n+1}})$  for  $w = y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}}$  and  $\psi(w) = \phi(y_{a_1}, \ldots, y_{a_{n-1}})(y_{a_n})$  for  $w = y_{a_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n}$ . The *d* operator in the pre-dual corresponds to the dual operator  $\delta$  where  $\delta \phi(w) = \phi(dw) = 0$ .

Set  $\phi_0 = \phi$ . Define  $\psi_0(w) := s^* \phi(w) = \phi(s(w))$ . We have

$$\phi\left(\left(sd+ds\right)w\right) = \phi\left(w+w_{1}\right) = \delta s^{*}\phi\left(w\right) + s^{*}\delta\phi\left(w\right) = \delta\psi_{0}\left(w\right),$$

which implies

$$\delta\psi_{0}\left(w\right) = \phi\left(w\right) + \phi\left(w_{1}\right)$$

Now define  $w_j = (sd + ds - 1)^j w_0$  and  $\psi_j(w) := s^* \phi(w_j)$ . We have

$$\delta\psi_{j}\left(w\right) = \delta s^{*}\phi\left(w_{j}\right) + s^{*}\delta\phi\left(w_{j}\right) = \phi\left(\left(sd + ds\right)w_{j}\right) = \phi\left(w_{j}\right) + \phi\left(w_{j+1}\right).$$

Let  $\psi = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} (-1)^j \psi_j$ , we have

$$\delta\psi\left(w\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} (-1)^{j} \left(\phi\left(w_{j}\right) + \phi\left(w_{j+1}\right)\right) = \phi\left(w_{0}\right) + (-1)^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \phi\left(w_{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor}\right) = \phi\left(w\right),$$

which shows that  $\psi$  cobounds  $\phi$  when the degree N is nonzero.

We will now show that  $\psi$  is indeed bounded. If  $N < N_0$ , we simply have  $w_1 = w_{1,\text{low},0}$ and

$$||w_1|| = ||w_{1,\text{low},0}|| \le C_{N_0}||w||$$

In this case, we can compute  $\|\phi\|$  straightforwardly as

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\psi\left(w\right)\right| &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \psi_{j}\left(w\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \phi\left(s^{n}w_{j}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \left\|w_{j}\right\| \|s^{n}\| \|\phi\| \\ &\leq (2C_{\text{low}}+2) \|\phi\| \|w\| \end{aligned}$$

When  $N \ge N_0$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\psi\left(w\right)\right| &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \left|\psi_{j}\left(w\right)\right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \left|\phi\left(s^{n}w_{j}\right)\right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N-N_{0}}{2}\rfloor} \left\|s^{n}\right\| \left\|\phi\right\| \left\|w_{j,\text{high}}\right\| + \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor\frac{N-N_{0}}{2}\rfloor} \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \left\|s^{n}\right\| \left\|\phi\right\| \left\|w_{j,\text{low},k}\right\| \\ &\leq \left\|s^{n}\right\| \left\|\phi\right\| \left\|w\right\| + C_{\text{low}} \left\|\phi\right\| \left\|w\right\| \\ &\leq (2C_{\text{low}} + 4) \left\|\phi\right\| \left\|w\right\|, \end{aligned}$$

which shows that  $\psi$  is bounded by  $(2C_{\text{low}} + 4)$  for all  $N \ge 1$ .

	-	-	_	
L	-	-	_	

We define another splitting map  $s_0^n := \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \bigotimes^{n+2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  as

$$s_0^n(w) = \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{a_1-1} 2y_{a_1-i} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes y_{a_{n+1}+i} \otimes y_0$$
$$+ y_0 \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes y_{a_{n+1}+a_1} \otimes y_0$$

for  $a_1 \neq 0$  and  $s_0^n(w) = 0$  for  $a_1 = 0$ .

**Lemma 6.46.** Set  $s' = s + s_0$ . Let  $w \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2,\omega_R}$  with degree  $N \ge 2$ . Then (s'd + ds' - 1)(w) has degree at most N - 2.

*Proof.* We compare the new map to the previous (s'd + ds' - 1) and notice that the following terms are additional to the terms computed in the cyclic case:

 $s_0d_j + d_js_0 \text{ for } 2 \le j \le n - 1,$   $d_0s_1 + d_{n+1}s_0,$   $s_nd_0 + d_0s_{n+1} + d_0s_0,$  $s_0d_0 + s_0d_1 + d_1s_0.$  The expansion of these terms give

$$\begin{aligned} &\text{for } 2 \leq j \leq n-1, \ \left(s_0 d_j + d_j s_0\right)(w) = \\ &(-1)^{j+n+1} \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_j, a_{j+1}\}}\right) \sum_{i=1}^{a_1-1} y_{a_1-i} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{|a_j-a_{j+1}|} \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}+i} \otimes y_0 \\ &+ (-1)^{j+n+1} \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_j, a_{j+1}\}}\right) y_0 \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{|a_j-a_{j+1}|} \cdots \otimes y_{a_{n+1}+a_1} \otimes y_0; \\ &(s_n d_0 + d_0 s_{n+1} + d_0 s_0)(w) = \\ &\left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_1, a_{n+1}\}}\right) y_{a_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes \tilde{s} \left(y_{|a_1-a_{n-1}|}\right); \\ &(s_0 d_0 + s_0 d_1 + d_{1s_0})(w) = \\ &\left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_1, a_2\}}\right) \sum_{i=1}^{|a_1-a_2|} y_{|a_1-a_2|-i} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes y_{a_{n+1}+i} \otimes y_0 \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{N-2\min\{a_1, a_2\}}\right) y_0 \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes y_{a_{n+1}+|a_1-a_2|} \otimes y_0 \\ &\text{for } a_1 \geq 2, \ (d_0 s_1 + d_{n+1} s_0)(w) = -\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{a_1-1} y_{a_1-i} \otimes \cdots \otimes y_{a_n} \otimes y_{|a_{n+1}-i|}, \\ &\text{for } a_1 \leq 2, \ (d_0 s_1 + d_{n+1} s_0)(w) = 0, \end{aligned}$$

which shows that these terms consist of elementary tensor products of degree at most N-2.

Now we estimate the norm of error terms after j steps of inductive process; i.e., to compute the size of  $(s'd + ds' - 1)^j(w)$ .

**Lemma 6.47.** Given the weight condition  $\omega_R$ , for all R not close to 1, there exists  $N'_0$  such that  $\left\| \left( s'd + ds' - 1 \right)(w) \right\|$  is bounded by  $H_{N_0} \|w\|$  if  $N < N'_0$  or bounded by  $\frac{1}{2} \|w\|$  if  $N \ge N'_0$ .

*Proof.* We have computed the extra error terms in (s'd + ds' - 1)(w) which are not included in the calculation of (sd + ds - 1)(w). From the expansions we observe that

$$\left\| \left( s'd + ds' - 1 \right) (w) - \left( sd + ds - 1 \right) (w) \right\| \le \left\| \left( sd + ds - 1 \right) (w) \right\|,$$

which implies  $\left\| \left( s'd + ds' - 1 \right)(w) \right\| \le 2 \left\| (sd + ds - 1)(w) \right\|$ . Note that there is a factor of  $\frac{1}{N}$  in both norms. Therefore we use the value of  $N_0$  obtained from Lemma 6.44, and set  $N'_0 = 2N_0$ . This completes the classification of the high and low error terms similar to the cyclic case.

Set  $w'_0 = w$  and  $w'_j = (s'd + ds' - 1)^j(w)$ . For  $N \ge N'_0$ , we write  $w'_0 = w'_{0,\text{high}}$ . Then (s'd + ds' - 1)(w) may consist of terms both greater or less than  $N'_0$ , i.e.  $w'_1 = w'_{1,\text{high}} + w'_{1,\text{low},0}$ . We define

$$(s'd + ds' - 1)(w'_{j,\text{high}}) = w'_{j+1,\text{high}} + w'_{j+1,\text{low},0}$$

and

$$\left(s'd + ds' - 1\right)w'_{j,\text{low},k} = w'_{j,\text{low},k+1},$$

as we defined  $w_i$  with high and low terms for  $(sd + ds - 1)^j (w)$ 

**Theorem 6.48.** Let n be a positive integer greater than 1. We have  $\mathcal{HH}(\mathcal{A}_{2,\omega_R}) \simeq 0$ .

*Proof.* The proof follows the same the steps as in Theorem 6.45.

## 6.4 Future work

In this section, we consider the higher simplicial cohomology groups for the invariant subalgebras  $\mathcal{A}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{k,\omega_R}$  on the weighted type  $\tilde{A}$  and type  $\tilde{B}$  lattices for  $k \geq 2$ . The computations for the cohomology groups and the verification for the boundedness of the coboundaries are yet to be done. Both  $\mathcal{A}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{k,\omega_R}$  have k generators hence it is natural to consider the analysis of the higher simplicial cohomology groups of the algebra  $\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}_+^k\right)$  in [32].

The algebra  $\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}_+^k\right)$  has k generators, namely the set of variables  $\{z_j\}_{j=1}^k$  for the polynomials. Set  $\mathcal{A} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}_+)$  and  $\mathcal{I} = \ell^1(\mathbb{N})$ , a closed ideal of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Theorem 7.5 in [32] states that up to topological isomorphism,

1. 
$$\mathcal{H}\mathcal{H}^{n}\left(\ell^{1}\left(\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{k}\right)\right)\simeq0$$
 if  $n>k$ .  
2.  $\mathcal{H}\mathcal{H}^{n}\left(\ell^{1}\left(\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{k}\right)\right)=\bigoplus_{n=1}^{\binom{k}{n}}\left[\left(\mathcal{I}^{\hat{\otimes}^{n}}\hat{\otimes}\mathcal{A}^{\hat{\otimes}^{k-n}}\right)'\right]$  if  $n\leq k$ 

We consider the pre-dual  $\hat{\otimes}^{n+1} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$ . For n > k, there exists a bounded contracting homotopy map  $s^{n+1} : \hat{\otimes}^{n+1} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right) \longrightarrow \hat{\otimes}^{n+2} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$  and a bounded face map  $d^{n+1} :$  $\hat{\otimes}^{n+2} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right) \longrightarrow \hat{\otimes}^{n+1} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$ , abbreviated as s and d respectively, such that the map  $\left( s^n d^n + d^{n+1} s^{n+1} \right)$  is the identity map. This shows that given an elementary product  $w \in \hat{\otimes}^{n+1} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$  with positive degree, we have  $\left( s^n d^n + d^{n+1} s^{n+1} \right) (w) = w$ . For a bounded n-cocycle  $\phi$ , we take the dual map  $s^*$  to define  $\psi = s^* \phi$  that cobounds  $\phi$ . The face map d is given by the dual of the  $\delta$  map defined in Definition 6.22 hence the map dpreserves the degree of w. We will analyse the property of the map s and show that it maps an elementary tensor product w to homogeneous terms with the same degree. **Lemma 6.49.** Let the map s be defined as above and  $w \in \hat{\bigotimes}^{n+1} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$  be an elementary tensor product with degree N > 0. There exists a map  $s : \hat{\bigotimes}^{n+1} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right) \longrightarrow \hat{\bigotimes}^{n+2} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$  such that  $s(w) \in \hat{\bigotimes}^{n+2} \ell^1 \left( \mathbb{Z}_+^k \right)$  also has degree N > 0.

*Proof.* Since (sd + ds) is the identity map, (sd + ds)(w) = w has degree N. Let  $w_{\deg j}$  be the terms in w with degree j. Then we have

$$w = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left( \left( ds(w) \right)_{\deg j} + sd(w)_{\deg j} \right) = d \left( \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left( s(w) \right)_{\deg j} \right) + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left( sd(w) \right)_{\deg j} = w_{\deg N}.$$

Without loss of generality, we can set  $(sd(w))_{\deg j}$  and  $(s(w))_{\deg j}$  to be zero for all  $j \neq N$ . Set  $\check{s}(w) = s(w)_{\deg N}$ . Then  $\check{s}$  is a map such that  $(\check{s}d + d\check{s})$  is the identity map. Hence we can use  $\check{s}$  as the contracting homotopy map s where s(w) consists of homogeneous terms of degree N.

We aim to compute the higher simplicial cohomology groups for the algebras on the weighted type  $\tilde{A}$  and type  $\tilde{B}$  lattices and their invariant subalgebras under the Weyl group actions. The statement for the conjecture of the higher simplicial cohomology groups on these algebras are similar. Let A be one of the following algebras or invariant subalgebras:  $\ell^1(\Lambda_k, \omega_R), \, \ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}^k, \omega_R\right), \, \mathcal{A}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{k,\omega_R}$ . Up to an topological isomorphism,

- 1.  $\mathcal{HH}^{n}(A) \simeq 0$  if n > k.
- 2.  $\mathcal{HH}^{n}(A)$  is  $\binom{k}{n}$ -dimensional if  $n \leq k$ .

For n > k, in each one of the cases of the above algebras and subalgebras, there are some computational difficulties to obtain the precise bounded *n*-coboundaries.

The first example is  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{k+1,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\Lambda_k,\omega_R)$ , the algebra of summable functions on the  $\omega_R$ -weighted k-dimensional  $\Lambda_k$  lattice. As described in Section 6.1, the characteristic functions on the vertices of  $\Lambda_k$  are isomorphic to the monomials of k variables with nonnegative powers. The k variables in the monomials can be used as the k generators of the algebra. As the weight condition  $\omega_R$  is multiplicative on the lattice  $\Lambda_k$ , for n > k, we define a bounded contracting homotopy map  $s_{\tilde{A}} : \hat{\bigotimes}^{n+1} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{k+1,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \hat{\bigotimes}^{n+2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  such that for all n-cocycles  $\phi \in \mathcal{ZC}^n\left(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{k+1,\omega_R}\right)$ , the bounded cochain  $\psi = s_{\tilde{A}}^* \phi$  cobounds  $\phi$ . As the contracting homotopy map s on the tensor product of the algebra  $\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}_+^k\right)$  is homogeneous, the contracting homotopy map s on the tensor product of the algebra  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  also preserves the powers of the variables, thus preserve the norm on the  $\omega_R$ weighted  $\Lambda_k$  lattice.

We then consider  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{k,\omega_R} = \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^k,\omega_R)$ , the algebra of summable functions on  $\mathbb{Z}^k$  with the weight condition  $\omega_R$ . The construction of the contracting homotopy map  $s_{\tilde{B}}$ :

 $\hat{\otimes}^{n+1}\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{k,\omega_R} \longrightarrow \hat{\otimes}^{n+2}\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{k,\omega_R}$  on an elementary tensor product  $w \in \hat{\otimes}^{n+1}\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{k,\omega_R}$  is the same as the contracting homotopy map *s* for the algebra  $\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}^k_+\right)$  if the powers on all variables in *w* are all positive or all negative. When there exist both positive and negative powers on the variables of *w*, the contracting homotopy map  $s_{\tilde{B}}$  might be different. The analysis will also base on the construction of the 2-coboundaries of  $\mathcal{HC}^2\left(\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z},\omega_R\right)\right)$ , where we used different constructions of  $\psi$  for vertices on different sections of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ .

The invariant subalgebras under the corresponding Weyl group actions,  $\mathcal{A}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{k,\omega_R}$ , can both be considered as algebras on  $\mathbb{Z}^k_+$  with weight conditions  $\omega_R$  and multiplication rules given by the symmetric Laurent polynomials. The face map d, which is the dual map of  $\delta$  defined in Definition 6.22, is not homogeneous on an elementary tensor product  $w \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{A}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  or  $w \in \bigotimes^{n+1} \mathcal{B}_{k,\omega_R}$ . If we take a similar homogeneous contracting homotopy map  $s_A$  or  $s_B$  on an elementary tensor product w of  $\mathcal{A}_{k+1,\omega_R}$  or  $\mathcal{B}_{k,\omega_R}$  as the contracting map s on an elementary tensor product of  $\ell^1\left(\mathbb{Z}^k_+\right)$ , there might not exist any terms with the same degree of w in  $(s_Ad + ds_A)(w)$  or  $(s_Bd + ds_B)(w)$ ; i.e., the maps  $(s_Ad + ds_A)$  and  $(s_Bd + ds_B)$  might not be the approximations of the identity maps on the two subalgebras.

However it might be possible to construct a contracting homotopy map on an elementary tensor product of the k generators in the invariant subalgebras. In this case, it is hard to estimate the norm of the precise contracting homotopy map obtained from the operations on the powers of generators. One possible route is to analyse the properties of the coefficients used in the transform between the linear sums of symmetric polynomials and the powers of the generators which are the elementary symmetric polynomials.

## Bibliography

- Michael A. Abramson. Generalized blueprints and p-adic buildings. I. Geom. Dedicata, 76(2):127–154, 1999.
- [2] J. Agler and N. J. Young. Operators having the symmetrized bidisc as a spectral set. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (2), 43(1):195–210, 2000.
- [3] J. Agler and N. J. Young. The hyperbolic geometry of the symmetrized bidisc. J. Geom. Anal., 14(3):375–403, 2004.
- [4] David J. Aldous. Stochastic models and descriptive statistics for phylogenetic trees, from Yule to today. *Statist. Sci.*, 16(1):23–34, 2001.
- [5] Nina Amenta, Matthew Godwin, Nicolay Postarnakevich, and Katherine St. John. Approximating geodesic tree distance. *Inform. Process. Lett.*, 103(2):61–65, 2007.
- [6] Federico Ardila, Megan Owen, and Seth Sullivant. Geodesics in CAT(0) cubical complexes. Adv. in Appl. Math., 48(1):142–163, 2012.
- [7] Hyman Bass, Maria Victoria Otero-Espinar, Daniel Rockmore, and Charles Tresser. Cyclic renormalization and automorphism groups of rooted trees, volume 1621 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [8] Louis J. Billera, Clara S. Chan, and Niandong Liu. Flag complexes, labelled rooted trees, and star shellings. In Advances in discrete and computational geometry (South Hadley, MA, 1996), volume 223 of Contemp. Math., pages 91–102. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [9] Louis J. Billera, Susan P. Holmes, and Karen Vogtmann. Geometry of the space of phylogenetic trees. Adv. in Appl. Math., 27(4):733-767, 2001.
- [10] Frank F. Bonsall and John Duncan. Complete normed algebras. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 80.
- [11] Kenneth S. Brown. Buildings. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.

- [12] F. Bruhat and J. Tits. Groupes réductifs sur un corps local. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (41):5–251, 1972.
- [13] Pierre-Emmanuel Caprace and Corina Ciobotaru. Gelfand pairs and strong transitivity for Euclidean buildings. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 35(4):1056–1078, 2015.
- [14] D. I. Cartwright, V. A. Kaĭmanovich, and W. Woess. Random walks on the affine group of local fields and of homogeneous trees. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 44(4):1243–1288, 1994.
- [15] Tullio Ceccherini-Silberstein, Fabio Scarabotti, and Filippo Tolli. Harmonic analysis on finite groups, volume 108 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2008. Representation theory, Gelfand pairs and Markov chains.
- [16] H. Martyn Cundy and A. P. Rollett. *Mathematical models*. 2nd ed. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1961.
- [17] Persi W. Diaconis and Susan P. Holmes. Matchings and phylogenetic trees. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 95(25):14600–14602 (electronic), 1998.
- [18] Jörg Eisfeld. Subsets of association schemes corresponding to eigenvectors of the Bose-Mesner algebra. Bull. Belg. Math. Soc. Simon Stevin, 5(2-3):265-274, 1998.
   Finite geometry and combinatorics (Deinze, 1997).
- [19] Steven N. Evans. Fourier analysis and phylogenetic trees. In Modern signal processing, volume 46 of Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., pages 117–136. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [20] Yasser Farhat. Homologie et cohomologie de quelques algebres de Banach. 2013. Thesis (Ph.D.)-Universite Laval.
- [21] Joseph Felsenstein. The number of evolutionary trees joseph felsenstein. Systematic Zoology, 19(1):27–33, 1978.
- [22] Alessandro Figà-Talamanca and Claudio Nebbia. Harmonic analysis and representation theory for groups acting on homogeneous trees, volume 162 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [23] Sergey Fomin and Nathan Reading. Root systems and generalized associahedra. In Geometric combinatorics, volume 13 of IAS/Park City Math. Ser., pages 63–131. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007.

- [24] Stefan Forcey, Logan Keefe, and William Sands. Facets of the balanced minimal evolution polytope. J. Math. Biol., 73(2):447–468, 2016.
- [25] Stefan Forcey, Logan Keefe, and William Sands. Split-facets for balanced minimal evolution polytopes and the permutoassociahedron. Bull. Math. Biol., 79(5):975–994, 2017.
- [26] L. R. Foulds and R. W. Robinson. Determining the asymptotic number of phylogenetic trees. In Combinatorial mathematics, VII (Proc. Seventh Australian Conf., Univ. Newcastle, Newcastle, 1979), volume 829 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 110– 126. Springer, Berlin, 1980.
- [27] L. R. Foulds and R. W. Robinson. Enumeration of binary phylogenetic trees. In Combinatorial mathematics, VIII (Geelong, 1980), volume 884 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 187–202. Springer, Berlin-New York, 1981.
- [28] L. R. Foulds and R. W. Robinson. Enumerating phylogenetic trees with multiple labels. In Proceedings of the First Japan Conference on Graph Theory and Applications (Hakone, 1986), volume 72, pages 129–139, 1988.
- [29] Steven A. Gaal. Linear analysis and representation theory. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 198.
- [30] Paul Garrett. Buildings and classical groups. Chapman & Hall, London, 1997.
- [31] I. M. Gel'fand, M. M. Kapranov, and A. V. Zelevinsky. Discriminants, resultants, and multidimensional determinants. Mathematics: Theory & Applications. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1994.
- [32] F. Gourdeau, Z. A. Lykova, and M. C. White. A Künneth formula in topological homology and its applications to the simplicial cohomology of l<sup>1</sup>(Z<sup>k</sup><sub>+</sub>). Studia Math., 166(1):29–54, 2005.
- [33] Frédéric Gourdeau, B. E. Johnson, and Michael C. White. The cyclic and simplicial cohomology of l<sup>1</sup>(N). Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 357(12):5097–5113, 2005.
- [34] Frédéric Gourdeau, Zinaida A. Lykova, and Michael C. White. The simplicial cohomology of L<sup>1</sup>(R<sup>k</sup><sub>+</sub>). In Banach algebras and their applications, volume 363 of Contemp. Math., pages 95–109. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
- [35] Mark Haiman. Constructing the associahedron. manuscript, 1994.

- [36] David C. Haws, Terrell L. Hodge, and Ruriko Yoshida. Optimality of the neighbor joining algorithm and faces of the balanced minimum evolution polytope. *Bull. Math. Biol.*, 73(11):2627–2648, 2011.
- [37] M. D. Hendy, L. R. Foulds, and D. Penny. Proving phylogenetic trees minimal with *l*-clustering and set partitioning. *Math. Biosci.*, 51(1-2):71–88, 1980.
- [38] Mark T. Holder and Mike Steel. Estimating phylogenetic trees from pairwise likelihoods and posterior probabilities of substitution counts. J. Theoret. Biol., 280:159– 166, 2011.
- [39] François Jaeger, Makoto Matsumoto, and Kazumasa Nomura. Bose-Mesner algebras related to type II matrices and spin models. J. Algebraic Combin., 8(1):39–72, 1998.
- [40] Mikhail M. Kapranov. The permutoassociahedron, Mac Lane's coherence theorem and asymptotic zones for the KZ equation. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 85(2):119–142, 1993.
- [41] M. Koppinen. On algebras with two multiplications, including Hopf algebras and Bose-Mesner algebras. J. Algebra, 182(1):256–273, 1996.
- [42] Carl W. Lee. The associahedron and triangulations of the n-gon. European Journal of Combinatorics, 10(6):551 – 560, 1989.
- [43] Jean-Louis Loday. Realization of the Stasheff polytope. Arch. Math. (Basel), 83(3):267–278, 2004.
- [44] Zinaida A. Lykova and Michael C. White. Excision in the cohomology of Banach algebras with coefficients in dual bimodules. In *Banach algebras '97 (Blaubeuren)*, pages 341–361. de Gruyter, Berlin, 1998.
- [45] I. G. Macdonald. Spherical functions on groups of p-adic type. In Colloque sur les Fonctions Sphériques et la Théorie des Groupes (Univ. de Nancy, Nancy, 1971), page . 11. Inst. Élie Cartan, Univ. de Nancy, Nancy, 1971.
- [46] A. M. Mantero and A. Zappa. An eigenspace of large dimension for a Hecke algebra on an A<sub>2</sub> building. J. Aust. Math. Soc., 91(1):29–54, 2011.
- [47] A. M. Mantero and A. Zappa. A representation of the chamber set Hecke algebra of an affine building. *Ric. Mat.*, 62(2):341–362, 2013.
- [48] Anna Maria Mantero and Anna Zappa. Eigenvalues of the vertex set Hecke algebra of an affine building. In *Trends in harmonic analysis*, volume 3 of *Springer INdAM Ser.*, pages 291–369. Springer, Milan, 2013.

- [49] T. M. W. Nye and M. C. White. Diffusion on some simple stratified spaces. J. Math. Imaging Vision, 50(1-2):115–125, 2014.
- [50] Megan Owen. Computing geodesic distances in tree space. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 25(4):1506–1529, 2011.
- [51] Massimo A. Picardello, editor. Harmonic analysis and discrete potential theory. Plenum Press, New York, 1992.
- [52] Sanzheng Qiao and W. S-Y Wang. A matrix representation of phylogenetic trees. In Computing and combinatorics (Shanghai, 1997), volume 1276 of Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci., pages 274–283. Springer, Berlin, 1997.
- [53] George Rahonis. DNA tree structures. In Grammars and automata for string processing, volume 9 of Topics in Comput. Math., pages 413–422. Taylor & Francis, London, 2003.
- [54] Victor Reiner and Günter M. Ziegler. Coxeter-associahedra. Mathematika, 41(2):364– 393, 1994.
- [55] Charles Semple and Mike Steel. Phylogenetics, volume 24 of Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2003.
- [56] David Speyer and Bernd Sturmfels. Tropical mathematics. Math. Mag., 82(3):163– 173, 2009.
- [57] Katherine St. John, Tandy Warnow, Bernard M. E. Moret, and Lisa Vawter. Performance study of phylogenetic methods: (unweighted) quartet methods and neighborjoining. J. Algorithms, 48(1):173–193, 2003. Twelfth Annual ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms (Washington, DC, 2001).
- [58] James Dillon Stasheff. Homotopy associativity of *H*-spaces. I, II. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 108 (1963), 275-292; ibid., 108:293–312, 1963.
- [59] M. A. Steel. Distribution of the symmetric difference metric on phylogenetic trees. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 1(4):541–551, 1988.
- [60] Leo van Iersel, Charles Semple, and Mike Steel. Locating a tree in a phylogenetic network. *Inform. Process. Lett.*, 110(23):1037–1043, 2010.
- [61] Michael Graham Walker. Probability estimation for classification trees and DNA sequence analysis. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1992. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Stanford University.

- [62] Tandy Jo Warnow. Combinatorial algorithms for constructing phylogenetic trees. Pro-Quest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1991. Thesis (Ph.D.)–University of California, Berkeley.
- [63] M. S. Waterman and T. F. Smith. On the similarity of dendrograms. J. Theoret. Biol., 73(4):789–800, 1978.
- [64] Magnus J. Wenninger. *Dual models*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1983. With a foreword by John Skilling.
- [65] Joseph A. Wolf. Harmonic analysis on commutative spaces, volume 142 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007.